

University of Dundee

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Molecular and Genetic Mechanisms in Atopic Eczema

Brown, Sara Judith

Award date: 2020

Link to publication

General rights

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

- Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study or research.
 You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Take down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Molecular and Genetic Mechanisms in Atopic Eczema

Sara Judith Brown

Thesis submitted for PhD by publication

University of Dundee September 2020

Table of Contents

Page
Table of Contents 1
List of Figures
Acknowledgements4
Declaration4
Abbreviations
Abstract7
CHAPTER ONE: Introduction8
Atopic eczema
Importance of understanding genetic mechanisms in eczema
Approaches to studying genetic risk in the complex trait of eczema
In vitro modelling of genetic effects16
CHAPTER TWO: Genetic risk in atopic eczema21
<i>FLG</i> null mutation creates a strong genetic risk for atopic eczema
FLG null mutations predispose to some, but not all, forms of inflammatory disease23
Genome-wide association studies have identified eczema risk loci giving mechanistic
Insight
Relevance of genetic risk mechanisms for clinical practice
CHAPTER THREE: Body of work to be considered for PhD
Selected publications from a five-year period, 2014 to 2019
[1] Filaggrin genotype has a global effect on skin transcriptome, with relevance to atopic eczema
[2] Filaggrin haploinsufficiency does not affect the skin's threshold to UV-induced erythema
[3] The filaggrin-deficient skin organoid is a valuable model
[4] An EMSY-deficient organoid model reveals effects on multiple components of skin barrier formation and function

[5] Longitudinal latent class analysis identifies distinct subgroups of paediatric eczema two independent populations	ι in 35
[6] Genome-wide comparative analysis of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis gives insight into opposing genetic mechanisms	36
CHAPTER FOUR: Critical appraisal	38
Contributions to the field of knowledge	38
Impact on clinical guidelines and randomised controlled trials	45
Strengths and weaknesses	46
Outstanding questions and future perspectives	50
Concluding remarks	54
References	55
APPENDIX I: Statement of authorship	78
APPENDIX II: Published manuscripts	80
Filaggrin-stratified transcriptome analysis of paediatric skin identifies mechanistic pathways in atopic dermatitis.	81
Filaggrin-stratified transcriptome analysis of paediatric skin identifies mechanistic pathways in atopic dermatitis Filaggrin genotype does not determine the skin's threshold to UV-induced erythema	81 92
 Filaggrin-stratified transcriptome analysis of paediatric skin identifies mechanistic pathways in atopic dermatitis. Filaggrin genotype does not determine the skin's threshold to UV-induced erythema Functional and proteomic analysis of a full thickness filaggrin-deficient skin organoid model. 	81 92 99
 Filaggrin-stratified transcriptome analysis of paediatric skin identifies mechanistic pathways in atopic dermatitis. Filaggrin genotype does not determine the skin's threshold to UV-induced erythema Functional and proteomic analysis of a full thickness filaggrin-deficient skin organoid model. EMSY expression affects multiple components of skin barrier with relevance to atopic dermatitis. 	81 92 99 128
 Filaggrin-stratified transcriptome analysis of paediatric skin identifies mechanistic pathways in atopic dermatitis. Filaggrin genotype does not determine the skin's threshold to UV-induced erythema Functional and proteomic analysis of a full thickness filaggrin-deficient skin organoid model. EMSY expression affects multiple components of skin barrier with relevance to atopic dermatitis. Identification of atopic dermatitis subgroups in children from two longitudinal birth cohorts. 	81 92 99 128

List of Figures

Figure 1. Diagrammatic representation of factors contributing to the pathogenesis of
atopic eczema
Figure 2. Workflow showing methods used to produce skin organoid model for
candidate gene analysis in vitro in the Brown laboratory
Figure 3. Diagrammatic summary of key features of atopic eczema pathogenesis and
my contributions to understanding its pathogenesis
Figure 4. Annotated Manhattan plot showing information displayed and outstanding
questions

Acknowledgements

My work is motivated by the patients of all ages who live life with atopic eczema and share their daily experiences with me. I will always be grateful to the people who have taught me the precious skills of clinical dermatology, genetics and statistical genetics, those who inspired, challenged and believed in me. I would specifically like to acknowledge: John Burn, Heather Cordell, Peter Farr, Alan Irvine, Irwin McLean, Caroline Relton, Nick Reynolds, Aileen Taylor and Rosemarie Watson. I am very grateful to the current Brown Lab (Sheila, Martina, Kim and William) for joining me in the effort to understand atopic eczema. I would like to thank co-authors of my recent review articles for interesting and thought-provoking discussions: Maria Bradley, Martina Elias and Mari Løset. I am indebted to the Wellcome Trust for funding my work and providing support in many other ways. I am thankful to Frances Fuller-Pace and John Hayes for agreeing to supervise this PhD by publication – a first in the University of Dundee School of Medicine. Finally, and most importantly, I must thank my family (Angus, Lawrence, Aimée and Dan the dog) for their love, patience and understanding.

Declaration

"The candidate, Sara J Brown, is the author of this thesis and all references cited have been consulted by the candidate. The work of which the thesis is a record has been done by the candidate, and it has not been previously accepted for a higher degree. Where collaborative research is included in this thesis, the nature and extent of the candidate's individual contribution is defined in Appendix I."

Signed:

Sara J Brown 01 May 2020

Abbreviations

AhR	Aryl hydrocarbon receptor
AKTI	Gene encoding serine/threonine-protein kinase 1
ANXA6	Gene encoding annexin A6
BEEP	Clinical trial of barrier enhancement for eczema prevention
BRCA2	Gene encoding BRCA2 (breast cancer type 2 susceptibility protein)
ALSPAC	Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children
CAD	Chronic actinic dermatitis
CARD11	Gene encoding Caspase Recruitment Domain Family Member 11
Cas9	CRISPR-associated protein 9
CRISPR	Clustered regularly interspaced palindromic repeat
DRS	Direct (single molecule) RNA sequencing
DSG1	Gene encoding desmoglein 1
DSP	Gene encoding desmoplakin
EDC	Epidermal differentiation complex
EMSY	Gene encoding EMSY
FDR	False discovery rate
FLG	Gene encoding filaggrin
FLG-AS1	Gene encoding filaggrin antisense transcript 1, a long noncoding RNA
GO	Gene ontology
GWAS	Genome-wide association study / studies
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
IgE	Immunoglobulin E
IL	Interleukin
IV	Ichthyosis vulgaris
LEKTI	Lympho-epithelial Kazal-type-related inhibitor
LLCA	Longitudinal latent class analysis
LRRC32	Gene encoding leucine-rich repeat containing 32
MED	Minimum erythemal dose
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MR	Mendelian randomisation
NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
OMIM	Online Mendelian inheritance in Man

OR	Odds ratio
PIAMA	Prevention and Incidence of Asthma and Mite Allergy
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PRIDE	Proteomics identification database (https://www.ebi.ac.uk/pride/)
PRKRA	Gene encoding protein activator of interferon-induced protein kinase
RAD50	Gene encoding RAD50 double strand break repair protein
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex
RNAi	RNA inhibition
SAM	Syndrome of severe dermatitis, multiple allergies and metabolic
	wasting
SIGN	Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
shRNA	Small hairpin RNA
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
SPINK5	Gene encoding serine peptidase inhibitor Kazal-type 5
TGF	Transforming growth factor
TEWL	Transepidermal water loss
TNIP1	Gene encoding TNFAIP3- interacting protein 1
UCA	Urocanic acid
UV	Ultraviolet radiation
WAS	Gene encoding Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein
WES	Whole exome sequencing

Abstract

Atopic eczema is a common, complex trait that is highly heritable. This thesis describes a body of research over 5 years, from 2014 to 2019, highlighting six key publications. These are described on a background of intense activity within the field of atopic eczema genetic research, stimulated by the discovery, in 2006, of loss-offunction mutations in the gene encoding filaggrin (FLG). FLG null mutations play a major role in eczema and other atopic diseases and my work has built on this seminal discovery. I described, for the first time, transcriptomic features of FLG haploinsufficiency (Cole et al. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2014). I tested the effect of FLG null mutations on the skin's response to ultraviolet-induced erythema in vivo (Forbes et al. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2016). I optimised a well-established organoid model, using primary human keratinocytes and fibroblasts to recapitulate aspects of human skin for functional testing of specific genetic effects. Quantitative global proteomic analysis of the organoid model with FLG knockdown has replicated findings from previous transcriptome analyses and showed evidence of keratinocyteimmune cell cross-talk and disordered axon guidance (Elias et al. Wellcome Open Research 2019). Detailed analysis of the organoid model with knockdown of the transcriptional repressor EMSY has shown, for the first time, that this protein is a master-regulator of multiple aspects of skin barrier formation (Elias et al. J Allergy *Clin Immunol* 2019). Taking a statistical approach driven by a clinical question, longitudinal latent class analysis applied to two independent populations identified distinct subgroups of eczema (Paternoster et al. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2018) in which the most long-lasting phenotypes show the greatest genetic risk, including *FLG* null genotype. Finally, leveraging the similarities and differences between eczema and psoriasis, a genome-wide comparative analysis identified opposing genetic mechanisms in these common inflammatory skin diseases (Baurecht et al. Am J Hum Genet 2015) providing a theoretical rationale for therapies designed to rebalance the skin's tendency to atopic versus psoriatic inflammation. Together this body of work has substantially increased understanding of genetic mechanisms in atopic skin, with important clinical applications and opportunities for much-needed therapeutic development.

CHAPTER ONE: Introduction

Atopic eczema

Nomenclature

Atopic eczema is a term used synonymously with 'atopic dermatitis' and 'eczema;'¹ the nomenclature has continued to be a topic for debate in the field over several decades.²⁻¹⁷ For the purposes of this thesis I will use the term 'atopic eczema' when there is evidence of some knowledge relating to an atopic (IgE-mediated) immune response and 'eczema' as an umbrella term, in keeping with the World Allergy Organisation nomenclature,¹ where specific atopic features are not clearly defined.

Clinical features

Atopic eczema is an itchy inflammatory skin condition associated with significant morbidity.^{11,15,18} It is characterised by skin barrier impairment, cutaneous and systemic inflammation.¹⁸

Eczema is highly prevalent, affecting up to 25% of school-aged children (with a range from 0.2% to 24.6% worldwide)^{19,20} and up to 10% of adults.²¹ It characteristically presents in childhood and 70% of cases show onset before 5 years of age.¹⁵ However eczema follows a chronic relapsing and remitting course with over 10% of cases persisting into adult life or recurring in adulthood.¹⁵ A subset of eczema cases develop for the first time in adult life^{22,23} and it is not clear whether they may be atopic eczema, irritant contact or allergic dermatitis, or a combination of these disorders. Approximately 40% of patients with eczema have extra-cutaneous atopic co-morbidities including asthma, allergic rhinitis and IgE-mediated food allergies.^{15,24} Other co-morbidities have been suggested from epidemiological studies,²⁵ including depression,²⁶ attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder,²⁷ rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease,²⁸ hypertension and obesity.^{29,30} The shared risk factors and pathomechanisms of this diverse range of co-morbidities are currently unclear.

Importance

Eczema creates a substantial burden of disease with physical, psychological and social impact;¹⁸ suffering is compounded by the multiple atopic³¹ and non-atopic³²

co-morbidities. In the UK, eczema is the most common condition affecting children aged 0 to 9 years³³ with a period prevalence of ~33%³³ and dermatitis is the most prevalent skin disorder in age groups from 20 to >80 years.³³ The total annual UK expenditure on atopic eczema was approximately £465 million in the mid-1990s³⁴ and this cost is projected to rise considerably with the increasing demand for new treatments including biologic agents (described below). On a global scale, dermatitis is the most prevalent skin disease, accounting for an estimated 11 million years lived with disability.³⁵ Eczema accounts for more disability-adjusted life-years than other common inflammatory diseases, including prevalence of eczema, its chronicity and multi-morbidities indicate that primary prevention and developments in treatment are important goals for improving global public health.

Diagnosis

Eczema is diagnosed on the basis of clinical features: ill-defined, erythematous, scaly and pruritic lesions with a clinical history characterised by childhood onset, flexural inflammation, a background of generalised skin dryness (xerosis and/or ichthyosis vulgaris) and associated atopic disease in the patient and/or first degree relatives.¹⁵ Eczema can occur at any body site and non-flexural sites are usually involved in early infancy. However in atopic patients the skin as a whole organ shows impairment in barrier function and a predisposition to inflammation, even in clinically un-inflamed sites. Barrier dysfunction also manifests as skin dryness (in part because of increased water-loss) and susceptibility to viral and bacterial infections.³⁶

Treatment

The main principles of eczema management are allergen and irritant avoidance, emollient use³⁷ and topical or systemic anti-inflammatory treatment.³⁶ Secondary infection with bacteria (most frequently *S aureus*) is commonly associated with eczema exacerbations and should be treated concomitantly. Eczema herpeticum is an infection of herpes simplex virus within areas of skin affected by eczema³⁶ and this requires urgent anti-viral treatment. The most common allergens leading to sensitisation in childhood are house dust mite, grass pollen, milk, egg and peanut. These allergens induce a type 1, IgEmediated immediate hypersensitivity reaction rather than eczema itself, but there is evidence that reducing exposure in the subset of sensitised patients can improve eczema control.³⁸ The most common irritants encountered in every-day life are soap and detergents. Clinical experience demonstrates the utility of soap substitutes (emollients) when bathing,³⁷ but a recent clinical trial of emollient bath additives showed they have no significant effect when added to the standard management of paediatric eczema.³⁹ Topical corticosteroids should be applied to areas of active eczema at a potency aimed to induce remission, and a steroid of lower potency or less frequent application used to maintain remission.¹⁵

Second- and third-line treatments include topical calcineurin inhibitors, ultraviolet radiation (principally narrow band UVB phototherapy), oral corticosteroids and systemic immunosuppressants, principally ciclosporin, azathioprine, methotrexate and mycophenolate mofetil. However, only ciclosporin is currently licensed in the UK for adults; systemic treatment for eczema in children is currently unlicensed, but ciclosporin, azathioprine and methotrexate are each used by dermatology specialists in the UK and internationally to treat paediatric eczema cases.^{40,41}

Many new treatments for atopic eczema have emerged in the last 5 years, including small molecules and novel biologic treatments, targeting specific aspects of atopic inflammation.⁴² Dupilumab, the first biologic treatment to be licensed for eczema, is a human monoclonal antibody that binds to the alpha-chain of the interleukin (IL)-4 receptor, inhibiting both the IL-4 and IL-13 pathways.⁴³ It is highly effective in some, but interestingly not all, patients.⁴³⁻⁴⁵ A recent analysis of systematic reviews concluded that there is a paucity of evidence for complementary eczema treatments and non-pharmacological interventions such as specialist clothing; further well-designed clinical trials are needed.⁴⁶

Pathogenesis

Despite the high prevalence of eczema, the pathogenesis of this condition remains incompletely understood. Atopic eczema results from the interplay of skin barrier impairment and immunological dysfunction, both of which are determined by multiple genetic and multiple environmental factors (**Figure 1**).



Figure 1. Diagrammatic representation of factors contributing to the pathogenesis of atopic eczema.

Eczema is a complex trait but its high heritability demonstrates the importance of genetic mechanisms in pathogenesis; skin barrier dysfunction and maladaptive immune activation occur as a result of the interactions of multiple genetic and environmental factors; skin barrier and immune activation are themselves closely inter-related.

Atopic eczema is a strongly heritable disease, shown by twin studies and familial clustering. 'Heritability' is defined as the proportion of variation within a clinical feature that is attributable to genetic factors.⁴⁷ Twin studies show 72–86 % concordance in monozygotic pairs and 21–23 % in dizygotic twins.^{48,49} A family history of atopic disease is the strongest risk factor for eczema: atopic disease in one parent increases a child's risk of developing eczema 1.5-fold and the risk is increased ~3-fold if one parent has eczema and ~5-fold if both parents have eczema.^{50,51} The genetic contribution to the development of eczema is 70-80%,^{52,53} which represents high heritability for a complex trait.⁵⁴

This high heritability demonstrates the importance of genetic mechanisms in eczema pathogenesis, but the rapid rise in prevalence over recent decades worldwide indicates the importance of environmental factors.⁵⁵⁻⁵⁹ The notably heterogeneous phenotype of atopic eczema^{18,36} indicates that different aspects of pathogenesis – genetic and environmental, barrier impairment and immune dysfunction – may each play a role to different extents in different cases and at different times in the life-course of disease.

Importance of understanding genetic mechanisms in eczema

Genetic studies have played a major role in transforming the understanding of atopic eczema from a disease seen as an immune-mediated disorder to one that may arise from a primary or secondary skin barrier impairment. Genetic studies have identified a central role for skin barrier impairment in eczema predisposition and perpetuation;²⁴ this brought about a paradigm shift in understanding atopic disease.⁶⁰ The role of Th2-mediated immune dysfunction is also central to atopic inflammation and has proven to be a powerful target for biological therapy in atopic eczema.

Genetic mechanisms controlling skin barrier function remain to be targeted and a more detailed understanding of eczema genetic mechanisms will be required for the era of personalised medicine.⁶¹ Strategic developments in drug discovery will allow the application of genetic insight to the development of novel targeted treatments⁶² and in return a better understanding of genetic mechanisms will facilitate patient stratification in this heterogeneous phenotype. A recent electronic Delphi process defined the ten highest priority research questions for inflammatory skin disease, of which three related specifically to genetic risk mechanisms in eczema.⁶³

Approaches to studying genetic risk in the complex trait of eczema

Atopic eczema is a complex trait (**Figure 1**); strategies for investigating risk have included the study of candidate genes and extreme phenotypes as well as genome-wide analyses, exome and genome sequencing. Mouse models have provided some valuable insights, as reviewed elsewhere,⁶⁴ but murine models are limited in their representation of human skin structure and immune function⁶⁵ and this thesis will focus on human genetic studies.

Candidate gene studies

Many candidate genes have been selected for investigation in relation to eczema pathogenesis because of their theoretical roles in epidermal differentiation, skin or systemic immunity.⁶⁶ Notable findings include a role for variants in the genes encoding IL-4, the IL-4 receptor and IL-13;^{67,68} these associations have been replicated in candidate gene studies and subsequently supported by genome-wide association loci (discussed further, below).

The strongest association and most widely replicated single gene affecting atopic eczema is the gene encoding filaggrin (FLG).^{24,69,70} Filaggrin is expressed in the granular layer of the upper epidermis; it is a multifunctional protein contributing to epidermal differentiation and multiple aspects of barrier function.⁷¹ Filaggrin aggregates keratin filaments, contributing to the compaction of corneocytes; filaggrin breakdown releases amino acids that are hygroscopic and acidic and have antistaphylococcal activity.⁷² Filaggrin deficiency was reported in the common dry skin condition ichthyosis vulgaris (IV) in the mid-1980s⁷³⁻⁷⁵ and IV is known to be a risk factor for atopic eczema. However, because of technical difficulties in sequencing this large and repetitive gene,⁷² loss-of-function mutations in FLG were not identified until 2006.76 FLG null mutations are present in up to 10% of the general population; they cause IV with a semi-dominant mode of inheritance,⁷⁶ such that homozygous (or compound heterozygous) individuals have the full phenotype of dry scaly skin, hyperlinear palms and keratosis pilaris, whilst individuals heterozygous for *FLG* null mutations have a milder dry (xerotic) and/or ichthyotic skin phenotype.⁷⁷ The same null mutations are found in up to 40% of patients with moderate-severe atopic eczema^{24,78} and meta-analysis has shown the risk for eczema in an individual carrying one or more FLG loss-of-function mutation(s) to be increased 3-fold (odds ratio 3.12, 95% confidence interval 2.57-3.79).⁷⁰ This illustrates a remarkably strong effect for a single gene in the context of a complex trait. The central effect of filaggrin in skin physiology has been further demonstrated by my work showing a dose-dependent effect of copy number variation within this repetitive gene sequence⁷⁹ and by the effect of atopic inflammatory cytokines which suppress filaggrin expression in the skin resulting in additional barrier impairment.80,81

Study of extreme phenotypes

Atopic eczema varies from a mild, self-limiting skin disease to a severe, chronic disorder affecting the entire skin surface, with multisystem involvement and life-long morbidity. However, severe phenotypes with monogenic inheritance have also offered insight into mechanisms giving rise to atopic skin inflammation. Netherton syndrome (OMIM #256500) is an autosomal recessive condition caused by mutations in *SPINK5*, encoding a serine protease inhibitor, LEKTI. Features of Netherton syndrome include an ichthyotic (dry, scaly) and eczematous skin

phenotype and markedly raised IgE. Several independent studies have shown an association between *SPINK5* variants and atopic eczema.⁸²⁻⁸⁴ This indicates the importance of the protease-antiprotease balance in maintaining an optimal skin barrier function. The control of proteases by protease inhibitors is crucial in the co-ordinated differentiation and desquamation of the outer epidermis⁸⁵ and also plays an important role in the cutaneous response to allergens, many of which are, or contain proteases.⁸⁶

Another extreme phenotype of atopic skin disease is the syndrome of severe dermatitis, multiple allergies and metabolic wasting (SAM), for which the genes *DSG1* (encoding desmoglein 1) and *DSP* (encoding desmoplakin) have each been implicated.^{87,88} Desmosomes are intercellular junctions which provide mechanical strength to the skin and are degraded in a controlled way during physiological desquamation;⁸⁵ they also play a key role in cell signaling.⁸⁹ The finding of mutations in *DSG1* and *DSP* causing SAM indicates the importance of desmosomal proteins in protecting against local and systemic atopic inflammation. Other 'human knock-out' models include *CARD11* mutations (causing systemic atopic inflammation), *DSG1* and *DSP* mutations (causing severe dermatitis, multiple allergies and metabolic wasting) and various immunodeficiency syndromes with atopic eczema-like skin inflammation, such as Wiskott-Aldrich, caused by mutations in *WAS*.⁶⁵

Importantly, there are forms of more extreme skin barrier impairment which do not appear to predispose to atopic inflammation, such as epidermolysis bullosa. Furthermore, recent molecular profiling of patients with several different rare monogenic ichthyoses has suggested they may share the feature of Th17 immune activation.⁹⁰ This illustrates the complex and specific role of transcutaneous sensitization in allergic disease.

Genome-wide analyses

A genome-wide association study (GWAS) aims to identify regions of the genome that are associated with a specific trait or disease. The technique compares the frequency of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) between cases and controls, similar to a massive case-control study. Large numbers (one-two million) of SNPs are assessed, sampling regions across the whole genome and large numbers (thousands - tens of thousands) of cases and controls are needed to achieve sufficient statistical power. Results are summarized in the form of a Manhattan plot. GWAS is most effective in defining genetic risk loci for common complex traits, because a sufficient sample size can be obtained. It is important to note that the effect sizes detected by GWAS can range from odds ratio (OR) >2 (*ie* risk more than doubled) to very small effect sizes (OR 1.1 or lower *ie* <10% increased risk) because complex traits are a result of multiple genetic effects.

The first genome-wide association study (GWAS) for atopic eczema was published in 2009, representing the white European population.⁹¹ This identified the locus on chromosome 1q21.3 (the epidermal differentiation complex which includes *FLG*) as well as a locus on chromosome 11q13.5, in an intergenic region of unknown function; subsequent GWAS analyses have replicated these findings. A metaanalysis combining published and previously unpublished data was completed in 2015^{92} which included over 15 million genetic variants in >20,000 cases and >95,000 controls from populations of European, African, Japanese and Latino ancestry, followed by replication in >250,000 eczema cases and controls. This powerful meta-analysis detected 10 additional risk loci, bringing the total number of eczema risk loci identified to date to 31. The majority of GWAS loci are in intergenic or intronic regions for which the function remains unclear, but where functions can be inferred these have largely been attributed to skin barrier development, innate and acquired immunity. The most recently identified loci have been proposed to identify genes with roles in the regulation of innate host defence and T cell function, supporting a possible role for autoimmune mechanisms in eczema pathogenesis.92,93

Whole exome sequencing (WES) has contributed to the diagnosis of extreme phenotypes in rare diseases (including SAM, described above⁸⁸) and has offered greater detail in the search for rare variants causing common diseases. To date only one small WES study has been reported for eczema, in which 22 Ethiopian patients with ichthyosis vulgaris and atopic eczema were sequenced. This identified possible disease-causing variants in *FLG* and related genes as well as some novel candidate genes in a heterogenous pattern of risk.⁹⁴ Exome sequencing data has been reported for *FLG* and related genes⁹⁵ as well as for the HLA region,⁹⁶ but larger studies will be required to systemically identify rare variants contributing to atopic eczema. Further, whole genome sequencing and painstaking functional studies will be required to fully assess the complex contribution of non-coding genetic variants, which is anticipated to be substantial.^{97,98}

Transcriptome analyses

The accessibility of skin tissue has allowed the detailed comparison of gene expression patterns in lesional (active eczematous skin) compared with non-lesional (uninflamed skin on a patient with eczema) and normal skin (from a non-atopic individual). Whole transcriptome analyses, using RNA sequencing techniques provide more comprehensive assessment and more detailed quantification of mRNA than previous microarray studies. Several studies have identified networks of differentially expressed genes involved in keratinocyte differentiation in the epidermis, innate and acquired immune responses as well as lipid metabolism.⁹⁹⁻¹⁰¹ Laser capture microdissection has recently been used to separate the dermal and epidermal gene expression signatures, identifying some novel immune and barrier genes¹⁰² which require further validation.

Single cell analysis

Most of the molecular analyses on skin to date have been carried out using whole skin biopsies, or epidermal samples. However single cell analysis is now feasible for DNA and RNA sequencing, as well as protein analysis.¹⁰³ These techniques offer the prospect to study individual cells, define new cell types and gain insight into the functional and structural heterogeneity of skin as a complex organ. The Human Cell Atlas is an international collaboration to make single cell analytical data available to researchers¹⁰⁴ and the skin component of this atlas is eagerly awaited. Several research laboratories have already released data and tools to allow the interrogation of skin transcriptome analysis, for example murine data from the Kasper lab.¹⁰⁵

In vitro modelling of genetic effects

Knockdown of candidate genes using RNA inhibition (RNAi)

Small interfering RNA (siRNA) can be used to bring about a selective reduction in gene expression based on complimentary base pairing. siRNA is a double-stranded molecule 20-25 nucleotides in length. When transfected into the cell type of interest

(principally primary human keratinocytes for eczema studies) siRNA binds with a complex of proteins to form an RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) in which the double-stranded siRNA disassociates to become single-stranded. The single stranded siRNA can then bind to complementary mRNA, bringing an Argonaut protein into proximity to catalyse the cleavage of this mRNA. Translation is prevented, hence silencing the gene expression.

siRNA-mediated knockdown can be carried out in primary cells of low passage, using chemically-enhanced transfection, to minimise interference with physiological conditions. There is, however, still an innate immune response to the siRNA and scrambled or non-targeting siRNA is an essential control condition. The duration of knockdown is short-lived (hours-days, depending on the rate of mRNA turnover) and this can be a limitation to the technique.

Short hairpin RNA (shRNA) is another method for RNAi. shRNA is a synthetic double-stranded RNA molecule with a tight hairpin turn; it is synthesised in the cell type of interest using a plasmid introduced by viral or bacterial vector transfection. The vector integrates into host DNA and shRNA is transcribed in the nucleus, processed by dicer and loaded into the RISC. The sense strand is degraded and the antisense (guide) strand directs RISC to mRNA that has a complementary sequence where RISC cleaves or represses translation of the mRNA. An advantage of shRNA knockdown is the longer lasting duration of effect compared to siRNA; a disadvantage is the need for vector transfection and integration, producing a less physiological condition in primary cells or cell lines.

CRISPR-cas9 gene editing

CRISPR (clustered regularly interspaced palindromic repeat) sequences are found in bacterial DNA and form part of their immune response to phage infection. Cas9 (CRISPR-associated protein 9) is an enzyme that cleaves DNA selectively at sequences containing the CRISPR motif. In 2012 it was reported that this mechanism can be exploited for genetic engineering;^{106,107} guide-RNAs are used to direct the cas9 enzyme to cleave DNA in precisely-targeted editing. Application of CRISPR-cas9 allows the effects of genetic variation to be tested directly and the technique has revolutionised molecular biology. This cost-effective and relatively easy-to-use technology has allowed researchers to precisely and efficiently target, edit, modify

and mark genomic loci in a wide range of cells and organisms.¹⁰⁸ Within dermatology, CRISPR-cas9 can be used to investigate candidate genes *in vitro*, allowing the study of their effect on replicated samples with a controlled genetic background.

Gene over-expression

Over-expression of candidate genes is a key technique to assess their effect. Stable over-expression of a gene of interest can be achieved using plasmid transfection, lentivirus transduction or CRISR-cas9 editing.

In vitro models

Keratinocyte culture *in vitro* was first established by Rheinwald and Green in 1975,¹⁰⁹ opening up the opportunities for detailed study of this cell type. Multi-layered keratinocyte cultures recapitulate many features of human epidermis including morphology, spatiotemporal expression of terminal differentiation markers and lipid content.^{110,111} Multiple different two-dimensional (keratinocyte culture) and three-dimensional (organoid) models of skin and eczema have been described, as recently reviewed.⁶⁵ Some organoid models are epidermal-only whereas others include a model dermis as well as epidermis. The model dermis includes fibroblasts; these cells may be suspended in a fibrin or collagen gel, or an artificial matrix; alternatively, a de-epidermalised dermis may be used. Co-culture with T cells and neurons has been piloted but these models are not yet well validated.⁶⁵

Explanted whole skin has also used been used for *ex vivo* experimentation. Explanted skin has the advantage of including intact skin adnexae and a compliment of resident cell types, but it is tissue that is inevitably beginning a process of demise.

Two main approaches can be used to model eczema pathophysiology *in vitro*: culturing normal human keratinocytes with eczema-relevant cytokines (IL-13 and IL-4);¹¹² alternatively gene silencing or *FLG* mutant keratinocytes can be used to model a filaggrin-deficient state.¹¹³ Organoid models deficient in filaggrin show a lack of keratohyalin granules, increased paracellular permeability^{114,115} and proteomic features consistent with eczema.¹¹⁶ The use of normal keratinocytes (as opposed to cells extracted from eczema biopsies) allows the investigation of specific, selected genetic mechanisms without the complex and confounding effects of multiple genetic and epigenetic risk variants that are co-inherited in atopic eczema.

Organoid models allow the investigation of tissue-specific genetic effects and the opportunity for testing specific eczema candidate genes, by knockdown, over-expression, or CRISPR-cas9 editing of genes of interest. Three-dimensional organoid models of human skin (epidermis and dermis, **Figure 2**) offer a unique opportunity to investigate genetic effects in a tissue context.



Figure 2. Workflow showing methods used to produce skin organoid model for candidate gene analysis *in vitro* in the Brown laboratory.

This human skin organoid takes a total of 3 weeks to produce, but it recapitulates gene expression patterns, biochemical and functional features of epidermis *in vivo*. In this model candidate genes are knocked down using siRNA transfection of primary keratinocytes and the effect may be observed in mature organoids 10 days later. This figure has been reproduced from Elias *et al.* 2019.¹¹⁷

Functional analyses in vitro

Organoid skin grown at the air-liquid interface develops a competent epidermal barrier with biophysical properties analogous to human skin. This allows the quantitative measurement of functional parameters, including hydrophilic dye penetration, water content in the stratum corneum (measured by transepidermal electrical resistance, or capacitance) and water evaporation from the surface (equivalent to transepidermal water loss, TEWL, *in vivo*).^{65,114,118,119}

CHAPTER TWO: Genetic risk in atopic eczema

FLG null mutation creates a strong genetic risk for atopic eczema

Filaggrin haploinsufficiency affects risk of mild, moderate and severe eczema

The identification of genetically-determined skin barrier dysfunction in eczema pathogenesis 10 years ago^{69} brought about a paradigm shift in understanding atopic disease. The strong and highly significant association of *FLG* null mutations with atopic eczema has subsequently been replicated in numerous independent studies, including case-control studies, family studies and unselected population cohorts. Two independent meta-analyses carried out in 2009 estimated the odds ratio of developing atopic eczema in association with *FLG* null genotype to be 4.78^{120} and 3.12^{70} *i.e.* individuals with one or more *FLG* loss-of-function mutations have a 3-5 times greater risk of developing atopic eczema.

The eczema sub-phenotypes that are most strongly associated with FLG null mutations are early-onset, severe, and persistent disease^{121,122} and eczema with the associated 'extrinsic' features of raised total IgE and allergic sensitization.^{123,124} These patients are most frequently referred to secondary care. However, population cohort studies include atopic eczema of milder severity and this phenotype has also demonstrated significant association with FLG null mutations.^{19,31,125} Mild-tomoderate eczema shows a lower odds ratio than severe disease and its association with FLG null mutations may be significant only in individuals carrying two null mutations.¹⁹

Filaggrin deficiency also increases risk of irritant and allergic contact dermatitis

Following on from the strong association of atopic eczema with *FLG* null mutations, several other subgroups of eczema were investigated for their link with filaggrin. There is a well-recognized genetic susceptibility to contact dermatitis,¹²⁶ but it is often difficult to distinguish the subgroups of irritant and allergic contact dermatitis from atopic eczema; hence, these genetic studies are difficult to interpret.¹²⁷⁻¹²⁹ Studies on *FLG* genotype as a risk factor for experimentally-induced irritant dermatitis have given somewhat conflicting results,^{130,131} and this may be because of methodological differences in the concentration of irritant. Subsequent studies reported no association of *FLG* genotype with allergic contact dermatitis defined by

a positive patch test result to one or more substance,¹³² nor with a subset of patients having both atopic eczema and contact allergy.¹³³ In contrast, *FLG* null genotype has shown significant association with nickel sensitization, but only in a subgroup of cases reporting intolerance to costume jewellery¹³⁴ and in a subgroup of women who had not had their ears pierced.¹³⁵ This illustrates the importance of environmental exposures in allergy development, as well as the need for careful phenotype definition in genetic studies.

FLG null mutations contribute to risk of multiple atopic disorders

The term 'atopic march'¹³⁶⁻¹³⁸ refers to the observation that atopic eczema may precede the development of food allergies, asthma, and allergic rhinitis in a temporal sequence, although it is now recognised that this sequence and trajectory are far from inevitable.^{137,139-141} *FLG* null mutations represent a risk factor for each step in the atopic march: atopic eczema;⁷⁸ allergic sensitization;¹²⁰ the subgroup of asthma in association with eczema;^{19,31,142} allergic rhinitis;^{142,143} and IgE-mediated peanut allergy.¹⁴⁴ *FLG* null alleles are therefore a significant risk factor for all aspects of atopy, with differing odds ratios for each specific phenotype. The odds ratio (OR) for eczema is ~1.3, whilst allergic rhinitis is ~2.8, atopic asthma ~1.5 and peanut allergy ~3.8. These studies have brought new understanding about the need to address skin barrier dysfunction as a driver of allergic disease.

Pathomechanisms associated with filaggrin-deficiency are identified by in vitro studies

As described above, filaggrin and its precursor profilaggrin are multifunctional proteins and it is unclear which of these functions are most relevant to eczema pathogenesis. The precise molecular pathways leading from filaggrin haploinsufficiency to atopic diathesis have been the focus of a large amount of research work over recent years. The accessibility of human skin and established methods for the culture of primary cells and immortalised cell-lines, in addition to organoid modelling has facilitated progress considerably.⁶⁵

One promising line of enquiry is the role of aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) signalling in increasing filaggrin expression^{145,146} but the control of keratinocyte differentiation is complex and some aspects of the AhR signalling pathway are

detrimental to skin health.¹⁴⁷ The cytokines most prominent in atopic inflammation, IL-4 and IL-13, have been shown to reduce *FLG* expression.¹⁴⁸ TNF-alpha⁸¹ and IL-17¹⁴⁹ may also downregulate filaggrin expression. Caspase-14 is required for filaggrin breakdown, to release amino acids as part of the natural moisturising factors in the stratum corneum¹⁵⁰ and an mTORC1/AKT1/Cathepsin H axis has been described, playing a role in the control of filaggrin expression and processing in skin.¹⁵¹ There is evidence that hypoxia-inducible factors regulate filaggrin expression¹⁵² and filaggrin-deficiency itself promotes an inflammatory phenotype.¹¹⁶

It is, however, salutary to note that multiple gaps in knowledge persist, including questions about the control of filaggrin expression, the relative role of filaggrin and its breakdown products in structural versus microbiological and immunological barrier functions. Despite the reported opportunities for therapeutic targeting, no treatments are currently available that can directly upregulate filaggrin expression for the treatment or prevention of eczema.

FLG null mutations predispose to some, but not all, forms of inflammatory disease

FLG mutations in other inflammatory conditions

The strong effect of filaggrin on atopic inflammation does not extend to all inflammatory disease. Psoriasis shows association with the 1q21 locus in genomewide studies¹⁵³ and this locus is within the epidermal differentiation complex (EDC), a dense cluster of over 60 genes, including *FLG*.¹⁵⁴ Filaggrin shows increased expression in psoriasis, but *FLG* mutations (loss- or gain-of-function) are not associated with psoriasis in the multiple European populations studied to date.¹⁵⁵⁻¹⁶⁰ Variants in *FLG* have been associated with psoriasis in Chinese populations^{161,162} but the functional effect of these variants has not been defined, therefore an association with other genetic effects in linkage disequilibrium remains a possibility. The psoriasis-chromosome 1q21.3 association appears more likely to be driven by a deletion affecting two of the late cornified envelope genes (*LCE3C* to *LCE3B*) within the EDC.^{163,164}

In one report *FLG* null mutations showed a possible protective effect against acne vulgaris¹⁶⁵ but a larger and more adequately powered study in the Singaporean Chinese population effectively excluded an association.¹⁶⁶ Other inflammatory

barrier diseases, including Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, and sarcoidosis, share common susceptibility loci with atopic eczema¹⁶⁷ but do not show association with *FLG* null mutations.^{168,169} This indicates that additional genetic mechanisms are responsible for barrier perturbations in these diseases.

Filaggrin haploinsufficiency in autoimmune skin disease

Autoantibody formation to citrullinated profilaggrin is a sensitive and specific serological marker for rheumatoid arthritis¹⁷⁰ and can predate the onset of joint disease.¹⁷¹ Levels of anti-filaggrin antibody may also correlate with arthritis activity.¹⁷² However, filaggrin is not expressed in articular tissues and these autoantibodies appear to be produced as a result of cross-reaction between deiminated peptide sequences, which are present within fibrin chains in the synovium and deiminated sequences produced during the post-translational processing of profilaggrin. Anti-filaggrin antibodies are therefore not believed to be pathogenic.¹⁷³ FLG null mutations R501X, 2282del4, and 3702delG have been studied in rheumatoid arthritis patients and controls,¹⁷⁴ and *FLG* mutation carriers showed no increased risk of developing rheumatoid arthritis. However, in a separate study, FLG heterozygotes did show significantly elevated levels of autoantibodies to citrullinated peptides compared with controls¹⁷³ and *FLG* null mutations may therefore contribute to the development of humoral autoimmunity in early rheumatoid arthritis¹⁷⁴ by an as yet undefined mechanism. Alopecia areata is a tissuespecific autoimmune disease and genetic factors make a significant contribution to its aetiology.¹⁷⁵ Alopecia areata is known to be associated with atopic disease and it has been shown that comorbidity with atopic eczema, as well as prevalent FLG null variants (R501X and 2282del4), predict a more severe form of alopecia areata.^{176,177} The specific mechanism remains unknown.

FLG null mutations and chronic photosensitivity

Another inflammatory condition associated with atopic eczema is chronic actinic dermatitis (CAD). CAD is a photosensitivity dermatitis in which individuals show abnormal reactions to UVB, UVA and in severe cases to visible light, plus an increased incidence of contact sensitivity to airborne allergens. Whilst *FLG* mutations may obviously contribute to the underlying atopic eczema, they are not strongly associated with CAD.¹⁷⁸

Taken together, these observations indicate that filaggrin deficiency creates a pathogenic tissue environment in which <u>atopic</u> inflammation predominates, but the propensity to other forms of non-atopic inflammation is also of importance.

Genome-wide association studies have identified eczema risk loci giving mechanistic insight

GWAS loci confirm and extend knowledge

GWAS have been performed in large populations sampled from European and Asian ethnicities. Some eczema risk loci have confirmed pre-existing knowledge, including the role of skin barrier and type 2 inflammation in the pathogenesis of this disease: the epidermal differentiation complex on chromosome 1q21.3 includes *FLG* and the cytokine cluster on chr5q31.1 includes genes encoding IL-13 and IL-4. Other loci have provided newer insights, including evidence for auto-immunity ⁹² and a role for Langerhans cells, indicated by variants in a locus on 2p13.3 which affect the expression levels of CD207/langerin in skin.⁹²

An extension to GWAS, focusing on protein-coding variants, used exome genotype and skin transcriptome data.¹⁷⁹ This study identified an additional 12% of AD heritability explained by rare protein-coding variation in genes including *IL4R*, *IL13*, *JAK1*, *JAK2* and *TYK2* (current therapeutic targets in the IL-13 pathway) and novel candidate genes *DOK2* and *CD200R1* for which eczema susceptibility mechanisms remain to be defined.¹⁷⁹

GWAS of multiple atopic traits has shown considerable overlap in genetic risk profiles for eczema, asthma and allergic rhinitis^{180,181} attributed predominantly to lymphocyte-mediated immunity. It is interesting to note that only two loci indicate eczema-specific effects and these are both within the epidermal differentiation complex on chromosome 1q21.3, attributed to *FLG* and *HRNR-RPTN*.¹⁸⁰

The GWAS performed to date have been conducted in white European and selected Asian populations. The lack of ethnic diversity in genetic research has been highlighted as a critical weakness in the field, in terms of equity in access to medical and scientific knowledge and also as a missed opportunity for genetic discovery.¹⁸² Eczema GWAS studies in more diverse ethnicities are ongoing.

Epistatic effects are likely to be common but most remain undefined

Genetic risk loci are likely to have multiple interactions in their contributions to complex traits,¹⁸³ but the identification of these interactions using a statistical approach is challenging, because of the burden of multiple testing. One epistatic interaction that appears to occur is the effect of *FLG* null mutations in the context of a variant on chromosome 11q13.5: the effects of these two GWAS peaks are multiplicative at a population level.¹⁸⁴ This indicates that an interaction or overlap in the molecular pathogenesis is likely. Another epistatic effect has been demonstrated in variants of the high affinity IgE receptor gene *FCER1A*¹⁸⁵ indicating that multiple variants may have synergistic effects on this pathomechanism.

Relevance of genetic risk mechanisms for clinical practice

FLG null mutations produce a recognisable clinical phenotype

Ichthyosis vulgaris in an individual with two *FLG* null mutations (*i.e.* homozygous or compound heterozygous) is a triad of ichthyosis with fine scaling, palmer hyperlinearity and keratosis pilaris. These features indicate *FLG* null genotype without the need for genetic testing.⁷⁷ Furthermore, when combining all the milder clinical signs that may be attributable to *FLG* haploinsufficiency (atopic eczema, ichthyosis, xerosis, palmar hyperlinearity, and keratosis pilaris), *FLG* null mutations are seen to be highly penetrant.⁷⁷ Careful clinical examination of patients and their relatives can therefore be used to implement understanding of *FLG*-related genetic risk in the clinical setting. However, there are likely to be multiple other genetic effects of relevance to clinical practice which we cannot yet apply in clinic.

Skin barrier impairment is a central pathomechanism

The filaggrin story demonstrates how the study of a monogenic disorder can provide insight into complex trait disease, and the striking significance of FLG null mutations as a genetic risk factor for atopic eczema has placed a new focus on the role of barrier impairment in eczema pathogenesis. This offers the opportunity for therapeutic intervention – simple emollients to protect and improve skin barrier function – and also a rationale for patient education, encouraging the use of emollients, through an explanation of skin barrier impairment.

In light of the strong association between atopic eczema and peanut allergy, it was important to consider whether the association of FLG genotype with peanut allergy occurs through atopic eczema on the skin,¹⁸⁶ or whether the risk occurs as a genetic mechanism independent of eczema, in order to target prevention appropriately. It is likely that both mechanisms are active, but there are various sources of evidence favouring an effect of FLG null genotype that is independent of eczema. In a study that I co-led¹⁴⁴ the association of FLG genotype with peanut allergy was not dependent on co-existent eczema. A separate study showed a dose-dependent effect of environmental peanut exposure on children with FLG null mutations, after adjustment for infantile eczema, supporting the hypothesis that peanut allergy can develop through transcutaneous sensitization even without eczema.¹⁸⁷ Therefore it appears that risk of peanut allergy is mediated via the FLG genetic risk independently, or at least it is not dependent on, the presence of eczema.

Stratification of patients in clinical trials

Given the strong and central effect of FLG genotype on eczema, this has been used to stratify clinical trials, to assess whether patients with filaggrin haploinsufficiency may be more or less likely to benefit from a specific treatment. There is some evidence that FLG wild-type genotype is associated with a more favourable response to omalizumab therapy for atopic eczema.¹⁸⁸ In contrast there was no difference in response to silk clothing for the treatment of eczema in a carefully designed randomised controlled trial.^{189,190}

Opportunities for therapy development

Many of the novel biologics and small molecule drugs for treating atopic eczema have been designed to target specific aspects of the atopic immune response.⁴² These pathways were previously identified by research in the field of immunology, but their importance has been supported by GWAS hits.

Novel therapies targeting aspects of skin barrier formation or function are yet to show a transformative effect on eczema management. Conventional simple emollient formulations transiently improve water retention properties of skin *in vivo*.¹⁹¹ Novel emollients aiming to replace physiological doses of ceramides and amino acids to the stratum corneum have been developed. These complex preparations show a more long-lasting increase in hydration parameters in paediatric eczema¹⁹²and elderly

xerotic skin.¹⁹³ The position for these more expensive emollients in atopic eczema management remains to be defined.

An attractive opportunity arising from the application of knowledge of genetic risk mechanisms is the possibility of primary prevention of eczema and other atopic diseases, which would have an enormous public health benefit. This will be considered further in the critical appraisal in Chapter Four.

CHAPTER THREE: Body of work to be considered for PhD

Selected publications from a five-year period, 2014 to 2019

The publications that I wish to be considered within this thesis are as follows:

- [1] Cole C, Kroboth K, Schurch NJ, Sandilands A, Sherstnev A, et al., Watson RM, McLean WHI, Barton GJ, Irvine AD and Brown SJ. Filaggrin-stratified transcriptome analysis of paediatric skin identifies mechanistic pathways in atopic dermatitis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2014; 134(1):82-91.
- [2] Forbes D, Johnston L, Gardner J, MacCallum SF, Campbell LE, Dinkova-Kostova A, McLean WHI, Ibbotson SH, Dawe RS and Brown SJ. Filaggrin genotype does not determine the skin's threshold to UV-induced erythema. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2016;137(4):1280-2.
- [3] Elias MS, Wright SC, Nicholson WV, Morrison KD, Prescott AR, Ten Have S, Whitfield PD, Lamond AI and Brown SJ. Functional and proteomic analysis of a full thickness filaggrin-deficient skin organoid model. *Wellcome Open Res.* 2019, 4:134.
- [4] Elias MS, Wright SC, Remenyi J, Abbott JC, Bray SE, Cole C, Edwards S, Gierlinski M, Glok M, McGrath JA, Nicholson WV, Paternoster L, Prescott AR, Have ST, Whitfield PD, Lamond AI and Brown SJ. EMSY expression affects multiple components of skin barrier with relevance to atopic dermatitis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2019 Aug;144(2):470-481.
- [5] Paternoster, L Savenije OEM, Heron J, Evans DM, Vonk JM, Brunekreef B, Wijga AH, Henderson AJ, Koppelman GH* and Brown SJ*. Identification of atopic dermatitis subgroups in children from two longitudinal birth cohorts. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2018;141(3):964-971. [* denotes equal contribution]
- [6] Baurecht H,* Hotze M,* Brand S, Büning C, Cormican P, Corvin A, Ellinghaus D, Ellinghaus E, Esparza-Gordillo J, Fölster-Holst R, Franke A, Gieger C,

Hubner N, Illig T, Irvine AD, Kabesch M, Lee Y AE, Lieb W, Marenholz I, McLean WHI, Morris DW, Mrowietz U, Nair R, Nöthen MM, Novak N, O'Regan GM, PAGE consortium, Schreiber S, Smith C, Strauch K, Stuart PE, Trembath R, Tsoi LC, Weichenthal M, Barker J, Elder JT, Weidinger S,* Cordell HJ* and **Brown SJ**.* Genome-wide comparative analysis of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis gives insight into opposing genetic mechanisms. *Am J Hum Genet*. 2015; 96(1):104-20. [* denotes equal contribution]

The contributions made by each of these publications to the understanding of atopic eczema are summarised in **Figure 3**. The rationale, key aspects of study design and main findings for each publication will be considered in turn.



Figure 3. Diagrammatic summary of key features of atopic eczema pathogenesis and my contributions to understanding its pathogenesis.

The diagram of epidermal structure is modified from a diagram created by M. Elias; the contributions from each of my publications selected for this PhD thesis^{101,117,194-197} are listed in the right half of the figure.

[1] Filaggrin genotype has a global effect on skin transcriptome, with relevance to atopic eczema

Single molecule direct RNA sequencing of skin samples

Having previously described the clinical phenotype of filaggrin haploinsufficiency in detail as part of a population-based study,⁷⁷ I proceeded to study this at a molecular level. I chose to use a forefront technique at the time, single molecule RNA sequencing, because this allows analysis of a small quantity of RNA (such as that available from paediatric skin biopsies). The technology captures and sequences mRNA from the poly-A tail. Digital quantitative analysis is facilitated by counting each messenger RNA (mRNA) molecule.¹⁹⁸

The skin transcriptome varies considerably in different body sites, in different sexes and at different ages, as demonstrated on a macroscopic scale by the clinical features and on a biochemical and molecular genetic level.^{199,200} I therefore recruited volunteers specifically for control sampling, to allow the closest possible match in age, sex and body site. The 26 eczema cases were aged between 6 and 16 years; controls were aged 16-19 years.

Stratification by FLG genotype

Transcriptome analysis creates a large and complex dataset and this is further complicated by the inter-individual variation that is inherent in clinical samples. Since *FLG* genotype has the single greatest genetic effect on eczema phenotype, 18,24,70,72,77,201 this was used to stratify the transcriptome data. In this study, because of the relatively small numbers of cases and controls, it was possible to carry out very comprehensive *FLG* genotype analysis, including next generation sequencing of all coding regions in *FLG* and confirmation of mutations by Sanger sequencing.

Main findings

2430 genes were differentially expressed (false discovery rate (FDR) P<0.05) of which 211 genes were upregulated and 490 downregulated >2-fold. The gene ontology terms 'extracellular space' and 'defence response' were enriched, whereas 'lipid metabolic processes' were downregulated. The subset of *FLG* wild-type cases showed dysregulation of genes involved with lipid metabolism, whereas filaggrin

haploinsufficiency affected global gene expression and was characterized by a type 1 interferon-mediated stress response.

[2] Filaggrin haploinsufficiency does not affect the skin's threshold to UVinduced erythema

Evidence for filaggrin breakdown products contributing to skin photoprotection in vitro *requires testing* in vivo

A role for filaggrin breakdown products in photoprotection is suggested on the basis of their biochemical and physicochemical properties.⁷² Filaggrin is a histidine-rich protein⁷⁵ and histidine is metabolized to trans-urocanic acid (trans-UCA). The photoisomerization of trans-UCA to cis- UCA²⁰² produces a molecule with an action spectrum of 280–310nm,²⁰³ which is within the UVB range. There is evidence from *in vitro* studies that cis-UCA has immunomodulatory actions in human keratinocytes and leukocytes.^{203,204} There is also *in vitro* evidence from an organotypic siRNA *FLG* knockdown model that lack of filaggrin leads to a reduction in UCA concentration and an increased sensitivity to UV-induced apoptosis.¹¹⁴ Histidinaemic mice, deficient in cutaneous UCA because of a mutation in *Hal*, the gene encoding histidase, show increased propensity to UVB-induced DNA damage.²⁰⁵ However, evidence of a photoprotective effect in humans *in vivo* was lacking.

Detailed phototesting of healthy volunteers

In collaboration with expert photobiologists (Drs Robert Dawe and Sally Ibbotson) in Dundee, I gained access to detailed monochromator phototesting data that had previously been generated for 71 adult volunteers with clinically normal skin, as part of a drug phototoxicity study. All participants were of white European ethnicity; this was required to minimise inter-individual variation in photo-response and to standardise *FLG* genotyping as far as possible. All of the participants were requested to provide saliva samples to allow testing for the 6 most prevalent loss-of-function mutations in *FLG* in this white European population (R501X, 2282del4, R2447X, S3247X, 3673delC, and 3702delG) using previously published methodology.^{19,206}

Main findings

Contrary to expectations, there was no significant effect of FLG genotype on UVinduced skin erythema. This study was sufficiently powered to exclude a large effect of FLG genotype on photosensitivity (>1.8-fold difference in MED) at any of the wavebands tested. Furthermore, monochromator phototesting did not indicate a differential erythemal sensitivity within the wavelengths representing UVB, as would be predicted from the known absorption spectrum of UCA.

[3] The filaggrin-deficient skin organoid is a valuable model

Opportunities to investigate genetic mechanisms in skin

Skin is more amenable than the many other human organs to modelling and genetic manipulation *in vitro;* organoid cultures facilitate a bridge in understanding from genetic and cellular level to physiological effects and potential therapeutic targets. A skin organoid created from adult stem cells²⁰⁷ (primary fibroblasts and basal keratinocytes) forms stratified layers, recapitulating the structure and gene expression patterns of human skin.^{117,195,208} This avoids some of the limitations of mouse models that are most pertinent to inflammatory skin disease, including the limited numbers of cell layers in the epidermis, frequent hair follicles and variation in genetic effects on different background strains.⁶⁵

Optimisation of model for assessment of molecular and functional parameters in skin barrier

Primary human keratinocytes and donor-matched primary fibroblasts from healthy individuals were used to create skin organoid models with and without siRNAmediated knockdown of *FLG*. Biological and technical replicate sets of organoids were assessed using histological, functional and biochemical measurements. Quantitative global mass spectrometry proteomics was used to identify >8000 proteins per sample. The model was optimised to produce sensitive, reproducible functional and biochemical measurements.¹¹⁷

Main findings

FLG knockdown led to subtle changes in histology and ultrastructure. Immature organoids showed evidence of barrier impairment with *FLG* knockdown, but the

mature organoids showed no difference in transepidermal water loss, water content or dye penetration. Gene ontology (GO) and pathway analyses identified an increase in transcriptional and translational activity but a reduction in proteins contributing to terminal differentiation, including caspase 14, dermokine, AKT1 and TGF-beta-1. The GO term 'axon guidance' and aspects of innate and adaptive immunity were represented in both the up-regulated and down-regulated protein groups. This work provides further evidence for keratinocyte-specific mechanisms contributing to immune and neurological, as well as structural, aspects of skin barrier dysfunction. All methods and data were shared in detail, as a resource for the field.

[4] An EMSY-deficient organoid model reveals effects on multiple components of skin barrier formation and function

EMSY is the nearest gene to the risk locus on chr11q13.5 and it has no known function in skin

The chr11q13.5 locus, identified in multiple GWAS, lies in a large (~104kb) intergenic region between *EMSY* and *LRRC32* in one topologically-associated domain. This locus has also been associated with other immune-mediated barrier disorders including atopic sensitisation^{180,209} and inflammatory bowel disease.²¹⁰ *EMSY* encodes a BRCA2-interacting protein, implicated in nuclear hormone regulated transcription and repression²¹¹ but it has not previously been studied in skin. The organoid model, optimised for barrier assessment, is therefore an ideal platform with which to assess a role for this candidate gene in atopic eczema.

EMSY knockdown and over-expression, with functional and biochemical analyses

The commercially available antibodies for EMSY required time-consuming testing and careful validation. Knockdown of *EMSY* in primary keratinocytes was achieved using siRNA; importantly, persistence of knockdown was demonstrated at day 10 in organoid culture. mRNA showed a mean 36% reduction and EMSY protein was reduced to ~50% compared to a nontargeting control. Detailed analyses included histological, ultrastructural, functional (water content, water evaporation, dye penetration) proteomic and lipid mass spectrometry. Over-expression of *EMSY* was achieved by viral vector transfection of primary keratinocytes, to compare the effect with *EMSY* knockdown.
Main findings

EMSY acts as a transcriptional repressor in human keratinocytes. Knockdown leads to a marked change in skin organoid phenotype, including acceleration of barrier formation and upregulation of multiple aspects of skin barrier function. Overexpression in cells shows opposite effects. EMSY knockdown is therefore a novel therapeutic target for eczema treatment and/or prevention.

[5] Longitudinal latent class analysis identifies distinct subgroups of paediatric eczema in two independent populations

Rationale

Atopic eczema is a highly heterogeneous disorder, with variation in age of onset, chronicity, severity and comorbidities. One approach to sub-classify eczema cases is to define 'atopic' (extrinsic) and 'non-atopic' (intrinsic) forms, based on the presence or absence of IgE elevation. It is well recognised that the majority of eczema cases present within the first two years of life and most resolve during childhood,¹⁵ but some persist into adulthood.²¹² The heterogeneity of longitudinal disease course is relatively un-studied, but it could offer valuable insight into eczema sub-phenotypes.

Latent class analysis applied to longitudinal birth cohorts with detailed phenotype data

Longitudinal latent class analysis (LLCA) is a statistical technique which can be used to model distinct subgroups within a dataset to identify different longitudinal patterns of disease, where the aim is to identify distinct subgroups in longitudinal multivariate categorical data. LLCA is somewhat similar to cluster analysis, but it allows for assignment based on mathematical probability, rather than definitive partitioning of individuals into classes. Starting with a single latent class, additional classes are added until measures that estimate the degree of model fitting are optimised. Statistical criteria (including a low Bayesian Information Criterion) are used to determine the optimal number of classes within the data.

This work applied LLCA to data from two independent longitudinal cohort studies: The Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALPSAC) in the UK and Prevention and Incidence of Asthma and Mite Allergy (PIAMA) in The Netherlands.

Main findings

The independent cohorts gave remarkably similar results, offering confidence in this mathematical modelling approach. Six distinct subtypes of eczema were defined (one of which was essentially unaffected), including a previously unrecognised class with peak onset at the age of 5-6 years, associated with male sex and asthma. The classes of early onset and persistent or late-resolving eczema showed the strongest association with eczema risk variants from GWAS.

[6] Genome-wide comparative analysis of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis gives insight into opposing genetic mechanisms

Comparing and contrasting two common inflammatory skin diseases

Eczema and psoriasis are highly prevalent inflammatory skin disorders but they very rarely co-exist.²¹³ Clinically, these diseases have similarities as well as differences. They are both erythematous and scaly; both sometimes itchy; both may be generalised, but eczema is characteristically flexural whilst psoriasis affects some flexures (*e.g.* umbilicus, groin, axillae and retro-auricular) but is classically extensor; eczema has atopic co-morbidities whilst both share the co-morbidities of cardiovascular disease^{30,214,215} and psychological/psychiatric burden.^{32,216} On a genome-wide level the two diseases show considerable overlap in risk loci, including the epidermal differentiation complex (chromosome 1q21.3), the Th2 locus control region (chromosome 5q31.1) and the major histocompatibility complex (chromosome 6p21-22).

These observations provide the rationale for a genome-wide comparative analysis, to investigate shared and opposing mechanisms leading to eczema or psoriasis.¹⁹⁷

Collaborative work and statistical method development

Genome-wide genotype data were obtained on samples from six case-control cohorts (three each of eczema and psoriasis), totalling 2,262 eczema cases, 4,489 psoriasis cases and 12,333 controls. Meta-GWAS was performed on each disease using standard methodologies. Novel meta-analysis techniques were developed, in collaboration with an expert in statistical genetics (Heather Cordell, Newcastle upon Tyne. UK) and applied to the datasets to compare and contrast genetic effects between the two diseases.

Main findings

Opposing risk variants were identified within the epidermal differentiation complex, the Th2 locus control region and the major histocompatibility complex. Previously unreported pleiotropic alleles with opposing effects on eczema and psoriasis risk were also identified in *PRKRA* and *ANXA6/TNIP1*. In contrast, there were no shared loci with effects operating in the same direction on both diseases. Atopic eczema and psoriasis therefore appear to have distinct genetic mechanisms with opposing effects in pathways influencing epidermal differentiation and immune response.

CHAPTER FOUR: Critical appraisal

Contributions to the field of knowledge

Each of the six publications featured in the thesis have contributed knowledge to the field of eczema genetic research. The main contributions are summarized in turn below.

First global transcriptomic analysis of atopic skin¹⁰¹

Patients with atopic eczema have a generalised abnormality in skin biology that is not restricted to the areas affected by eczematous inflammation. Atopic skin demonstrates a greater transepidermal water loss and greater penetration of external allergens and irritants.²¹ A subset of patients with eczema also show greater susceptibility to bacterial¹⁵ and viral²¹⁷ infection. Furthermore, *FLG* haploinsufficiency is a specific risk factor for eczema herpeticum,²¹⁸ a complication in which herpes simplex infection spreads rapidly in areas of skin affected with active eczema, causing a severe and sometimes life-threatening condition.³⁶ The molecular mechanisms underpinning these abnormalities are not fully understood.

I was fortunate to have the opportunity to collect, with ethical approval, skin biopsies from a series of children who had been cared for in Our Lady's Children's Hospital Crumlin, Dublin, for their lifelong atopic eczema. These precious samples warranted very careful analysis. At that time, previous studies had investigated the skin transcriptome using microarray and quantitative PCR. These had identified abnormalities in epidermal differentiation,^{219,220} inflammation^{221,222} and lipid structures.²²³ However, microarray analysis is limited by the requirement to preselect genes for inclusion in an array, hence RNA-sequencing has become the method of choice for global transcriptome analysis. Single-molecule direct RNA sequencing (DRS)^{224,225} was used as the optimal methodology for quantification of the small amounts of mRNA available from the paediatric skin biopsies. 'Uninvolved' skin (*i.e.* skin that appears normal on clinical examination) was studied to avoid the confounding effects of inflammation and secondary infection. My work represented the first comprehensive analysis of primary molecular abnormalities in atopic skin.

One striking finding was the global effect of *FLG* genotype on skin transcriptome, illustrating the central role that filaggrin plays in epidermal biology. Analysis of the

whole dataset (all cases compared to all controls) showed significantly differentially expressed genes, when classified by gene ontology (GO) in keeping with previous micro-array studies – an important proof-of concept. However, GO analysis stratified by *FLG* genotype revealed key differences in *FLG* mutant and wild-type cases compared with controls: *FLG* wild-type cases showed dysregulation of genes involved with lipid metabolism and upregulation of extracellular matrix genes whilst *FLG* mutant cases displayed upregulation of a functional network of proteins in the type 1 interferon–mediated defence response. I have speculated that this network of 'defence response' might relate to the dysfunctional cutaneous response to viral infection in patients with eczema, or it may represent the reduced threshold for inflammation that is apparent clinically in many atopic patients.^{226,227}

Together these transcriptomic analyses provided insight into the mechanistic pathways in atopic skin, which are both dependent and independent of *FLG* genotype, including the importance of extracellular space, lipid metabolic pathways, apoptotic pathways, innate and acquired immunity. Together these findings contribute to the future development of stratified and personalised medicine.

FLG genotype has no substantial effect on photo-response in normal skin¹⁹⁴

This study was designed to address a widely-quoted hypothesis stating that the filaggrin breakdown product *trans*-UCA contributes to skin photoprotection by its absorption of UVB to produce *cis*-UCA, which in turn has immunomodulatory effects.⁷² There is evidence of these effects in human cells *in vitro* and in mice *in vivo*, but no previous studies in human skin *in vivo*. The response of skin to UV radiation ranges from erythema and oedema, to blister formation and necrosis. The molecular mechanisms are complex and multifaceted, but they include DNA damage and apoptosis. This study aimed to use erythemal response as a quantitative parameter of clinical relevance; clinically-relevant wavebands and doses of UV radiation were used, including the UVA and UVB wavelengths used for eczema treatment.

Somewhat surprisingly, there was no difference in erythemal sensitivity between the *FLG* heterozygous and wild-type volunteers, even in the UV wavelengths known to be absorbed by UCA as it undergoes *trans* to *cis* isomerisation. Importantly, our post-hoc power estimation showed that the sample size (71 individuals, including 10

FLG heterozygotes) was sufficient to exclude an effect size of >1.8-fold difference in MED; a smaller effect could not be excluded. However, there was no differential effect in the wavebands expected to be absorbed by *trans*-UCA and those not known to be absorbed by this photochemical, suggesting that the hypothesized mechanism of photoprotection does not have an impact on erythemal sensitivity.

This work represents an important negative finding. The fact that observations of UVB-induced damage in murine and *in vitro* models have not been supported by clinical data suggests that different mechanisms lead to cutaneous erythema *in vivo*. This is perhaps un-surprising, given the more complex and multifaceted mechanisms of photoprotection *versus* photodamage in human skin *in vivo* compared to *in vitro*. Epidemiological studies by other research groups have shown an increase in actinic damage in patients with *FLG* null mutations²²⁸ and it is possible that the photoprotective effect of the *FLG* wild-type genotype might be attributable to a mechanical filtering of UV by the stratum corneum, rather than by photo-immunosuppression. However, it is not clear whether the observational association of *FLG* mutant genotype and actinic damage is the result of filaggrin deficiency or confounding factors, for example sun-seeking behavior by patients with chronic eczema or their use of immunosuppressant medications.

Another important impact of these findings is that they demonstrate the need for future work to define predictors of patient response to phototherapy for eczema. The treatment dose of UV radiation is currently based on reported skin phototype and cutaneous response to MED testing. There are no reliable predictors of response to UVA or UVB phototherapy for atopic eczema. A greater understanding of factors predicting response would clearly be superior to the current approach of using a therapeutic trial, with the inherent risk in UV exposure.

Skin organoid models allow detailed functional and molecular assessment of eczema GWAS loci^{117,195}

Multiple independent research groups have developed skin organoid models with important technical differences, including the presence or absence of a model dermis and the source(s) of keratinocytes for model epidermis. Immortalised cell lines or primary human keratinocytes from patients with normal skin (from foreskin or other surgical waste tissue, pooled or single-donor), active eczema or *FLG* mutant skin

samples have each been used. This diversity of modelling has produced a range of findings, summarised by Niehues *et al.*¹¹³ and listed in a review that I co-authored.⁶⁵ The somewhat conflicting findings in skin barrier assessment *in vitro* may be accounted for, at least in part, by methodological differences in organoid culture as well as details with respect to the measurement of barrier function. The duration of dye exposure, for example, may affect sensitivity to detect barrier impairment. In our model, the immature organoids showed some limited evidence of barrier impairment with *FLG* knockdown, but the mature organoids showed no difference in transepidermal water loss, water content or dye penetration. The concordance of these three sensitive measurements gives confidence to the findings.

Our work used a model developed and optimised for barrier assessment, informed by a detailed protocol shared by Mildner *et al.*¹¹⁴ I chose to use primary human keratinocytes from normal skin donors, allowing matched controls and technical replicates, in addition to multiple biological replicates to allow for inter-individual variation.

The filaggrin-deficient phenotype *in vitro* had previously been studied in detail.¹¹⁶ Elias *et al.* used pooled foreskin keratinocytes and shRNA knockdown, in an epidermal-only model; each of these aspects are likely to reduce, to some degree, the physiological relevance of the model. In contrast, the siRNA knockdown in my work allowed the use of low passage keratinocytes which produce organoid histology that more closely resembles skin *in vivo*. The use of single donor tissue also allowed separate biological replicate experiments for comparison and the matching of keratinocytes and fibroblasts for the epidermal and dermal compartments.

My work added greater detail in the mass spectrometry proteomic analysis: Fractionation to increase the sensitivity allowed detection of more than 8000 proteins compared to 1640 proteins by Elias *et al.*¹¹⁶ The findings from my work are complimentary to those of Elias *et al.* and have replicated the finding that filaggrin deficiency affects the abundance of multiple proteins of relevance to eczema pathophysiology, even in the absence of inflammation. However, the greater detail and closer physiological relevance of my work offered additional insights, including evidence of mechanisms contributing to immune and neurological, as well as structural, aspects of skin barrier dysfunction. This work *in vitro* is complimentary to previous studies of eczema skin biopsies in my own work described above¹⁰¹ and carried out by other groups.^{100,229} The nature of our model and analysis of isolated epidermal tissue means that the mechanisms are keratinocyte-specific and cannot be confounded by differential components of immune cells, neural tissue, blood vessels *etc* that may be present in whole skin biopsies to differing degrees. Furthermore, the skin organoid model is important in that it provides an opportunity to study keratinocyte-specific genetic mechanisms as well as opportunities for the development of treatments which may be most effective when applied topically in direct contact with keratinocytes. My work was published in *Wellcome Open Research*¹¹⁷ because this journal allowed sharing of detailed methodology as well as data. The detailed proteomic data have been shared in raw and processed form using the open access platform provided by the European Bioinformatics Institute (EMBL-EBI) PRIDE (https://www.ebi.ac.uk/pride/) as a resource for the field.

Mass spectrometry lipidomic analysis of the filaggrin-deficient skin organoid model was also carried out, using spiked-in standards to aid identification of ceramide subsets. This work produced findings in keeping with previous lipid analyses *in vitro*^{230,231} and *in vivo*²³² providing further proof of concept that the skin organoid provides an effective recapitulation of skin barrier physiology.

I next applied the organoid model to the investigation of a novel eczema candidate gene – EMSY – which had not previously been studied in skin. siRNA knockdown of EMSY led to a marked phenotype change. An acceleration of the skin barrier formation was observed, with upregulation of multiple proteins involved in skin differentiation, as well as lipid components of the stratum corneum. These findings demonstrate an important role for EMSY in transcriptional regulation and skin barrier formation.

To investigate the relevance for clinical disease, I studied EMSY expression in eczema and control skin biopsies. Here, the intensity of nuclear expression at the basal layer and throughout the epidermis, was a marker of active eczema. In subsequent work, I have shown a correlation between the risk SNP genotype and EMSY expression in primary keratinocytes (unpublished data) which further validates the link between *EMSY* and the GWAS risk locus.

Together these findings strongly support EMSY inhibition as a novel therapeutic approach for atopic eczema. Recent therapeutic advances have effectively targeted atopic inflammation and therapies specifically aiming to increase skin barrier function are not currently available. I am now working in collaboration with experts in the fields of high-throughput screening and drug discovery to assess the feasibility of targeting EMSY as a treatment for eczema and other skin barrier defects.

There are distinct subgroups of atopic eczema within the human population¹⁹⁶

Atopic eczema is a very diverse phenotype in clinical appearance, age of onset, comorbidities, response to therapy and disease trajectory. Loss-of-function mutations in *FLG* are known to be a risk factor for early-onset, persistent and severe disease; the presence of elevated total and specific IgEs are also associated with more severe disease, but this may be an epiphenomenon, rather than a true marker of pathophysiological process. There are well-recognised clinical subsets of eczema, with remission in infancy, later childhood, or evolution into a life-long chronic disease. However, it was not clear whether the observed differences represent a continuum, or distinct subgroups, since the definition of longitudinal disease subsets had not previously been studied.

Collaboration with two large, well designed, longitudinal birth cohort studies allowed the technique of longitudinal latent class analysis to be used to test for distinct subgroups. This was the first application of LLCA to atopic eczema. Adjustment of the modelling parameters defined 6 groups as providing the optimal balance between fitting and over-fitting the data. Findings from each of the independent populations gave remarkable replication, supporting the validity of these latent classes.

The majority of eczema cases in the birth cohorts were, as expected, in a large class of early onset and resolving disease. The cases with *FLG* mutations (and other GWAS risk SNPs) were most strongly associated with classes of persistent or late-resolving eczema; this was also as expected from previous knowledge. Novel findings included evidence for <u>distinct</u> subgroups of atopic eczema in childhood, and the presence of a previously unrecognised class with onset at 5-6 years of age, associated with atopic asthma and male sex.

The finding of distinct latent classes provides support for the future application of personalised medicine tailored to the specific subsets of eczema. However, this LLCA is observational. Further research is needed to apply our findings for the <u>prediction</u> of eczema trajectory (rather than the retrospective definition supplied by the longitudinal data) before pro-active personalised care can be made available.

*Eczema and psoriasis show opposing genetic mechanisms in epidermal differentiation and immune response*¹⁹⁷

It has long been recognised that eczema and psoriasis rarely co-occur, but the molecular mechanisms for this exclusivity are not well defined. It is a striking observation that atopic eczema and psoriasis share genetic risk loci, and these have been attributed to both immune and skin barrier mechanisms.²³³ Previous work investigated whether SNPs reported to be associated with psoriasis were also associated with atopic eczema.²³⁴ Of the 13 risk variants in the overlapping loci reaching statistical significance, approximately two-thirds showed opposing effects on eczema and psoriasis (consistent with the diseases being mutually exclusive) whilst one-third of variants contributed risk to both diseases. This may be representative of the shared features of the two inflammatory skin diseases.²³⁴

My work took a more systematic exploratory approach, using statistical analysis to compare and contrast genetic risk for eczema and psoriasis across the whole genome. Our results confirm shared regions of genetic risk on chromosomes 1, 5 and 6, representing the epidermal differentiation complex, Th2 locus control region and the major histocompatibility complex (MHC). Within these regions there were variants with shared and opposing effects on eczema and psoriasis, but the variants increasing risk of both diseases were not statistically significant, emphasising the divergence of these conditions.

There were 6 loci associated with both diseases (with genome-wide significance) and each showed opposing effects. A variant within the antisense transcript *FLG-AS1* may mediate opposing effects on epidermal differentiation through transcriptional regulation of nearby genes, as has been described for other long non-coding RNA species.^{235,236} Opposing effects at 5q31.1 are within *RAD50* and *IL13*, therefore likely to reflect the divergent immune signalling in eczema *versus* psoriasis. Two other loci (2q31.2, 5q33.1) had not previously been reported as showing co-association with

eczema and psoriasis. The pleiotropic alleles in these two loci with opposing effects on eczema and psoriasis risk lie in exon 6 of PRKRA and in an intergenic region in linkage disequilibrium with ANXA6 and TNIP1. PRKRA encodes protein kinase interferon-inducible double-stranded RNA-dependent activator (PACT), a cellular dsRNA-binding protein originally identified as a binding partner and activator of PKR in response to extracellular stress.²³⁷ More recently, it has been shown to be an essential factor in the PKR-independent initiation of RIG-I-induced antiviral response.²³⁸ This may be of relevance to the differential susceptibility of individuals with eczema and psoriasis to viral skin infections.²³⁹ ANXA6 encodes a calciumdependent membrane and phospholipid binding protein that is upregulated in atopic skin compared to control skin but expression is decreased in skin with active psoriasis. Since calcium signalling is important in epidermal differentiation this may contribute to differential susceptibility to the inflammatory skin diseases, but further fine mapping and functional testing is required. TNIP1 is involved in TNF signalling and regulation of the transcription factor NF-kB and it has previously been implicated in psoriasis risk²⁴⁰ but not eczema. *TNIP1* shows increased expression in both eczema and psoriatic lesions compared to control skin, which supports this mechanism as an opposing effect in these disorders. It is tempting to speculate that the reported observations of eczematous eruptions or paradoxical psoriasis developing in patients receiving anti-TNF biologic therapies²⁴¹ and psoriatic eruptions in response to dupilumab for eczema²⁴² may all be manifestations of the balance that is required in healthy skin to maintain an immune homeostasis to avoid either eczema or psoriasis. Greater understanding of this immunological balance may be applied to therapeutic optimisation in the future.

Looking outside Dermatology, the statistical analysis methods developed in the conduct of this study are likely to be applicable to the investigation of the genetic basis of other complex traits with overlapping and distinct clinical features.

Impact on clinical guidelines and randomised controlled trials

The role of *FLG* null mutations in causing dry skin, barrier dysfunction and eczema has informed the development of therapeutic guidelines. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines state: '*Atopic eczema often has a genetic component that leads to the breakdown of the skin barrier. This makes the*

skin susceptible to trigger factors, including irritants and allergens, which can make the eczema worse'.²⁴³ The NICE guideline on treatment emphasises the importance of emollient use to improve skin barrier function, now a key quality statement: '*Children with atopic eczema are prescribed sufficient quantities (250-500 g weekly) from a choice of unperfumed emollients for daily use*.' The Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) also quote filaggrin research in their rationale for a guideline: '...defects in epithelial barrier function arising from abnormalities in structural proteins such as filaggrin [make] the skin both excessively permeable and more prone to damage from environmental irritants and allergens.'²⁴⁴ This new understanding has been conveyed in undergraduate and postgraduate teaching as well as lay health education including the NHS educational web pages `NHS inform' and `NHS choices'.

The strong effect of FLG null genotype has also been used for patient stratification in randomised controlled clinical trials, including therapeutic silk clothing¹⁹⁰ and emollients for eczema prevention.²⁴⁵

Strengths and weaknesses

Many of the strengths and weaknesses of my published research have been discussed in relevant sections above; additional key points will be summarised here.

Atopic skin transcriptome analysis

A major strength of direct RNA sequencing (DRS) is that it offers accurate quantification of polyadenylated RNA, avoiding the bias that is introduced by the steps of reverse transcription, ligation, and amplification in other forms of RNA sequencing. In addition, DRS provides information on the DNA strand from which the mRNA is transcribed, allowing more accurate alignment of reads to genes in complex regions. The disadvantages of DRS are that relatively short reads are produced, hence the technique is better for accurate quantification than novel sequencing. However, the main aim of my analysis was to quantify the transcriptome in the most sensitive, accurate and comprehensive way, rather than to detect novel transcript sequences, therefore DRS was the optimal method for this detailed study of tissue-specific gene expression data from small amounts of tissue. Another strength of the skin transcriptome study was the very thorough FLG genotyping by full sequencing, rather than selected mutation analysis. This identified several mutations that would otherwise have been overlooked. The application of FLG genotype – known to have a functional effect on skin biology – for stratification was a strength allowing more information to be leveraged from the large dataset. This is illustrated by the differing but complimentary findings obtained from analysis of the whole dataset compared with FLG genotype subgroups.¹⁰¹

A weakness of the skin transcriptome analysis was that I did not have sufficient tissue to allow protein quantification to investigate correlation with mRNA levels. This was a limitation because of the biopsy size (3 or 4mm diameter punch) which was the maximum that could be requested from our paediatric patients. I made the decision to use the entire sample for optimal RNA extraction, since my pilot data from similar sized skin samples showed that attempts to bisect the sample or protocols to extract RNA and protein simultaneously compromised the quality and quantity of RNA.

Erythemal response to UV radiation

A major strength of this study was the use of clinically-relevant wavebands and physiological doses of UV radiation. A relative weakness was the sample size with detailed phototesting data, meaning that the study was only powered to detect a modest-large effect size (>1.8-fold difference in MED). Another possible weakness of the study was the lack of *FLG* homozygous or compound heterozygous individuals; this was not unexpected since the prevalence of *FLG* -/- is only ~1:100 within the normal population. We therefore have not excluded the possibility that *FLG* homozygous (or compound heterozygous) subjects might show greater erythemal sensitivity than wild-type subjects. However, *FLG* null heterozygosity has a significant effect on filaggrin expression *in vivo*, ^{101,126} therefore I would anticipate an effect to be detectable in this study (within the parameters of the posthoc power calculation) reducing the likelihood of a false negative finding.

Organoid modelling of genetic effects in skin

The skin organoid model optimised in my laboratory uses low passage primary human keratinocytes and donor-matched primary fibroblasts; this is a major strength in obtaining as near to physiological conditions as possible *in vitro*. Other important cell types, notably resident and circulating immune cells of the haematopoietic lineage are absent; supportive and adnexal structures including blood vessels, neurons, sweat glands *etc* are also absent. The reductionist model may clearly be a weakness but it can also be viewed as a strength. My approach focuses on epidermal keratinocytes because there is clear evidence of specific genetic effects in keratinocytes in disorders of cornification with atopic features^{78,195,246} and barrier epithelial cells are crucial in determining the outcome of allergen-encounter.²⁴⁷ Keratinocyte biology is likely to play a central role in eczema risk and resolution. Studying keratinocytes in a tissue model without other immune cells offers the opportunity to identify initiating mechanisms in eczema, as well as keratinocyte-specific contributions to barrier function.^{78,195,248} The potential weaknesses in using the keratinocyte and fibroblast organoid model are further circumvented by validation of key findings in whole skin biopsies from eczema patients.^{117,195}

Longitudinal latent class analysis defining eczema subgroups

A major strength of this study is the use of data from two large and complimentary longitudinal epidemiological studies. Despite the large sample size, a limitation inherent in latent class analysis is that the dataset is divided into smaller subsets, which lowers the statistical power to detect association. The similarity in case definitions, using prospective questions to capture diagnostic features of eczema from infancy to later childhood and the similar high frequency of eczema in ALSPAC and PIAMA are strengths. However, these studies were limited in their inclusion of data relating to atopic traits, comorbidities and important environmental factors. Another limitation inherent in LLCA was the fact that the analysis is not designed to test for causality of direction of effect. This is pertinent because some of the risk factors in this study did not unequivocally precede the onset of disease. Therefore further work is needed to investigate causality (discussed below).

Comparative analysis of eczema and psoriasis

A major strength of this work was the large sample sizes, but weaknesses included the different platforms used for genotyping in different cohorts, meaning that imputation and careful integration of data were needed. These steps may have introduced bias. A further limitation in the interpretation and application of key findings is that genome-wide analysis identifies loci and variants in association with disease, but not a mechanism of effect. Further work is therefore needed to fine-map and validate key findings by demonstrating functional effects *in vitro* or *in vivo*. Work is now on-going in my lab to investigate one of the loci showing an opposing effect within the *FLG-AS1* transcript. Preliminary (unpublished) findings show an effect of *FLG-AS1* on the expression levels of *FLG* and *FLG2*.

Genetic diversity

The lack of ethnic diversity in all six publications arose because of study design, in which genetic homogeneity was needed to allow screening for *FLG* null mutations that are prevalent in white European populations and to reduce inter-individual variation to some extent. However, this lack of diversity is a weakness that has been highlighted as a widespread problem in the field of genetic research.¹⁸² An increasing number of studies are investigating eczema genetic risk in more ethnically diverse populations²⁴⁹ including African people-groups.^{94,250-253}

Sex-differences are also an important consideration in genetic research. Participant sex has been matched or controlled for throughout my work wherever possible. An exception is in the skin organoid work, since the primary cells for these studies are harvested from predominantly female skin, reflecting the plastic surgical procedures (breast and abdominal reduction surgery) that most frequently supply excess tissue. Ideally future work would test for replication using XY cells and tissues.

Complimentary approaches

A variety of complimentary experimental approaches are used in my work and this is, I believe, an important strength. Complimentary approaches offer a more comprehensive understanding of the very complex and diverse disease, atopic eczema. The integration of different perspectives obtained from clinical observation, epidemiological and population-based studies, molecular and genetic analyses has provided opportunities to inform and direct future research. For example, the skin transcriptome findings from DRS have informed the *FLG* knockdown *in vitro* and clinical studies *in vivo;* GWAS findings led to assessment of *EMSY* in skin models *in vitro* and validation of EMSY expression in clinical biopsy samples, leading to a phenotypic screen for drug discovery.

Outstanding questions and future perspectives

Despite rapid progress in the field of eczema genetic research there remain important gaps in knowledge and understanding.

Molecular mechanisms attributable to filaggrin

Some fundamental questions remain to be answered in relation to the filaggrin molecule, profilaggrin and the constituent amino acids with respect to how filaggrin deficiency leads to eczema and other atopic diseases. More specific understanding of the relative importance of different aspects of the profilaggrin-filaggrin-amino acid pathways and their control mechanisms could allow for more effective targeting of this central pathomechanism for treatment and/or prevention. My work and others' has shown that filaggrin plays a role in skin biology beyond the mechanical barrier function of filament aggregation to susceptibility to infection, threshold for inflammation, control of apoptosis and neurological abnormalities. Effective therapeutic application may require specific targeting of one or more of these aspects of skin biology.

Insights from GWAS

Multiple GWAS studies and meta-analyses have identified risk loci, emphasizing the importance of genetic risk mechanisms controlling both the skin barrier and immune responses in eczema, but for the majority of risk loci the mechanisms leading to atopic skin inflammation remain unknown. Furthermore, many of the loci are intergenic, therefore detailed molecular studies, carried out in cells and tissues of relevance to eczema are needed to characterise the relevant functional effects. The threshold for statistical significance is necessarily stringent in GWAS because of the extreme multiple testing that occurs (**Figure 4**). Larger GWAS studies, including hundreds of thousands of cases and controls could reveal additional risk loci, but each new effect size is likely to be small. GWAS findings to date account for <20% of AD heritability ⁹² and even with the additional risk attributed to protein-coding variants, ~70% of heritability remains to be explained ²⁵⁴. Considerable further work is therefore needed to fully understand individual risk and functional effects.

In addition to the main GWAS 'hits', multiple gene–gene and gene-environment interactions that are likely to contribute to the heritability that remains to be

explained in atopic eczema (**Figure 4**). Gene-gene interaction analysis is statistically challenging because of the issues of multiple testing and similarly gene-environment interactions, whilst likely to be of importance in eczema, are challenging to detect on a genome-wide level. These mechanisms therefore require alternative, more targeted functional assessment. A clearer understanding of gene–environment interaction is needed in order to explain the significant rise in incidence of atopic disease in industrialized nations over the recent decades. This will require careful epidemiological study of human populations, but the use of mouse models of atopic disease will also be useful in allowing experimental manipulation of both genetic and environmental effects. Gene–environment interactions are key to future preventative strategies, with the ultimate aim of preventing atopic eczema and halting the atopic march.



Figure 4. Annotated Manhattan plot showing information displayed and outstanding questions.

A Manhattan plot is the conventional method for displaying results from GWAS. Each SNP is represented by a dot on the plot, and its position is determined by genomic location and a statistical test of association with the trait of interest. Figure reproduced from an invited commentary that I have written, currently under review for *J Invest Dermatology* 2020.

Causal effects

Population genetic studies including GWAS and LLCA identify <u>association</u> but do not test for <u>causal</u> effects. Causality can be tested *in vitro* using skin organoid models (as described above), but this detailed work is very time-consuming. An alternative statistical approach is Mendelian randomisation (MR), a technique that uses genetic risk variants, single or groups of SNPS from GWAS, as a proxy for phenotype or exposures. Genetic variants are inherited randomly at conception, therefore they are less prone to the confounding and reverse causation which limit the usefulness of observational epidemiology.²⁵⁵ MR studies in eczema have previously investigated causal links with prenatal alcohol exposure²⁵⁶ and vitamin D levels,²⁵⁷ each of which have no causal effect on eczema. Another approach has combined MR and multipletrait colocalization to define cell-specific inflammatory drivers of autoimmune and atopic disease.²⁵⁸ A recent MR study has shown that there is a causal effect of obseity on psoriasis, but conversely psoriasis does not cause an increase in obesity.²⁵⁹ We have recently completed a similar MR analysis to investigate a causal effect of obesity on eczema, or *vice versa* (manuscript in press, *J Allergy Clin Immunol*).

Therapeutic targets

It is known that drugs targeting molecules or pathways informed by human genetic studies have a greater chance of clinical success than targets defined using other experimental or theoretical approaches.²⁶⁰ GWAS hits and variants in protein-coding regions have identified multiple proteins in the IL-13 pathway, all of which have been successfully targeted in novel AD treatments.²⁵⁴ In contrast, specific molecular targets to improve skin barrier function remain elusive and, as discussed above, in this respect *EMSY* is a particularly promising discovery. The distinct genetic mechanisms in atopic eczema and psoriasis include opposing effects in pathways influencing epidermal differentiation and immune response, suggesting that both may need to be targeted simultaneously to achieve optimal disease control. Further investigation of disease mechanisms will offer the opportunity to understand not only inflammatory skin disease but also the substantial burden of co-morbidities. Translational genomics, drug development and personalised medicine are closely inter-dependent and will progress together.^{61,261} Dermatological research is poised to be at the forefront of these exciting developments in clinical care.

Another area of intensive research interest is the complex interaction of skin and gut microbiome with cutaneous inflammation.²⁶² These studies have been made possible by modern sequencing technologies to circumvent the need for selective bacterial cultures.²⁶³ The approach has illustrated a reduction in microbial diversity in active eczema in addition to the well-established over-growth of *S aureus*.²⁶² Further work is needed to match genetic risk effects in human skin with microbial diversity or overgrowth²³² and to date these interactions have not been targeted for therapy.

Can eczema be prevented?

There is considerable interest in the possibility that eczema and other atopic diseases may be amenable to primary prevention through targeted intervention early in life. Hope was raised by two independent studies which both showed an ~50% reduction in eczema prevalence in high-risk infants treated with intensive emollient therapy.^{264,265} However, a recent more definitive study (the BEEP study, Barrier Enhancement for Eczema Prevention), including 1394 newborns in a randomised controlled study, has shown no protective effect.²⁴⁵ This study included planned subgroup analysis based on *FLG* genotype (for which I co-ordinated the genotyping). It could be hypothesised that either filaggrin-deficient or filaggrin-replete skin would benefit more from emollient therapy: filaggrin-deficient because this skin stands to derive greater benefit from the hydration provided by emollient therapy; filaggrinreplete because these infants' skin does not have an inherent predisposition to inflammation. The fact that neither of these genetic subgroups showed a protective effect from emollient application provides further support for the whole study's negative result.

A similar study from Sweden, including 2397 newborn infants has replicated the finding that emollient therapy does not protect against atopic eczema.²⁶⁶ These are both well-designed, sufficiently powered and carefully conducted studies. Possible reasons behind the negative results include: true lack of effect in emollient for eczema prevention, since the independent studies gave strikingly similar results; inadequate emollient application, although there was adherence to emollient use in >70% of the intervention group in the BEEP study; delayed commencement, possibly after a critical early window for eczema initiation; or an insufficiently complex intervention to improve skin barrier.

Interestingly, analysis of side effects and secondary effects of emollient showed some evidence of increased skin infection (adjusted incidence rate ratio 1.55 (95% confidence interval 1.15 to 2.09) and a non-significant increase food allergy.²⁴⁵ Therefore intensive emollient application may not be entirely harm-free. Further work is needed to identify the most effective way to improve skin barrier early in life and assess whether this can safely be used to prevent eczema or other atopic diseases.

Concluding remarks

The work comprised in these six selected publications illustrates a program of research that has contributed substantially to understanding genetic risk mechanisms in atopic eczema. The field has shifted from a focus on atopic inflammation to a broader understanding of skin barrier-immune dysregulation as a complex interplay, with multiple genetic as well as environmental effects. Much has been learned from genetic studies, allowing a detailed interrogation of the primary mechanisms in atopic skin disease and there is great potential for this knowledge to be applied in future therapeutic development.

References

- Johansson, S.G., Bieber, T., Dahl, R., Friedmann, P.S., Lanier, B.Q., Lockey, R.F., Motala, C., Ortega Martell, J.A., Platts-Mills, T.A., Ring, J. *et al.* Revised nomenclature for allergy for global use: Report of the Nomenclature Review Committee of the World Allergy Organization, October 2003. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 113, 832-6 (2004).
- 2. Zutavern, A., Hirsch, T., Leupold, W., Weiland, S., Keil, U. & von Mutius, E. Atopic dermatitis, extrinsic atopic dermatitis and the hygiene hypothesis: results from a cross-sectional study. *Clin Exp Allergy* **35**, 1301-8 (2005).
- 3. Williams, H.C. Diagnostic criteria for atopic dermatitis. *Lancet* **348**, 1391-2 (1996).
- 4. Bieber, T. Atopic dermatitis: a paradigmatic allergic skin disease. *Mediators Inflamm* **10**, 291-2 (2001).
- 5. Sampson, H.A. Atopic dermatitis: immunological mechanisms in relation to phenotype. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* **12 Suppl 14**, 62-8 (2001).
- Schmid-Grendelmeier, P., Simon, D., Simon, H.U., Akdis, C.A. & Wuthrich, B. Epidemiology, clinical features, and immunology of the "intrinsic" (non-IgE-mediated) type of atopic dermatitis (constitutional dermatitis). *Allergy* 56, 841-9 (2001).
- 7. Hanifin, J.M. Atopiform dermatitis: do we need another confusing name for atopic dermatitis? *Br J Dermatol* **147**, 430-2 (2002).
- 8. Ingordo, V., D'Andria, G., D'Andria, C. & Tortora, A. Results of atopy patch tests with house dust mites in adults with 'intrinsic' and'extrinsic' atopic dermatitis. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol* **16**, 450-4 (2002).
- Kluken, H., Wienker, T. & Bieber, T. Atopic eczema/dermatitis syndrome a genetically complex disease. New advances in discovering the genetic contribution. *Allergy* 58, 5-12 (2003).
- 10. Spergel, J.M. & Paller, A.S. Atopic dermatitis and the atopic march. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **112**, S118-27 (2003).
- 11. Flohr, C., Johansson, S.G., Wahlgren, C.F. & Williams, H. How atopic is atopic dermatitis? *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **114**, 150-8 (2004).
- 12. Bieber, T. [News on atopic dermatitis: new nomenclature, genetics and natural evolution]. *Ann Dermatol Venereol* **132**, 6S3-6S6 (2005).
- 13. Johansson, S.G., Flohr, C., Wahlgren, C.F. & Williams, H. Role of immunoglobulin E sensitization in eczema, previously referred to as atopic dermatitis. *Expert review of clinical immunology* **1**, 257-62 (2005).
- 14. Ozkaya, E. Adult-onset atopic dermatitis. *J Am Acad Dermatol* **52**, 579-82 (2005).

- 15. Williams, H.C. Clinical practice. Atopic dermatitis. *N Engl J Med* **352**, 2314-24 (2005).
- Brown, S. & Reynolds, N.J. Atopic and non-atopic eczema. *BMJ* 332, 584-8 (2006).
- Silverberg, J.I., Thyssen, J.P., Paller, A.S., Drucker, A.M., Wollenberg, A., Lee, K.H., Kabashima, K., Todd, G., Schmid-Grendelmeier, P. & Bieber, T. What's in a name? Atopic dermatitis or atopic eczema, but not eczema alone. *Allergy* 72, 2026-2030 (2017).
- 18. Weidinger, S. & Novak, N. Atopic dermatitis. Lancet 387, 1109-22 (2016).
- Brown, S.J., Relton, C.L., Liao, H., Zhao, Y., Sandilands, A., Wilson, I.J., Burn, J., Reynolds, N.J., McLean, W.H. & Cordell, H.J. Filaggrin null mutations and childhood atopic eczema: a population-based case-control study. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 121, 940-46 e3 (2008).
- Odhiambo, J.A., Williams, H.C., Clayton, T.O., Robertson, C.F., Asher, M.I. & Group, I.P.T.S. Global variations in prevalence of eczema symptoms in children from ISAAC Phase Three. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 124, 1251-8 e23 (2009).
- 21. Bieber, T. Atopic dermatitis. N Engl J Med 358, 1483-94 (2008).
- Silverwood, R.J., Forbes, H.J., Abuabara, K., Ascott, A., Schmidt, M., Schmidt, S.A.J., Smeeth, L. & Langan, S.M. Severe and predominantly active atopic eczema in adulthood and long term risk of cardiovascular disease: population based cohort study. *BMJ* 361, k1786 (2018).
- Hanifin, J.M. Adult-Onset Atopic Dermatitis: Fact or Fancy? *Dermatol Clin* 35, 299-302 (2017).
- 24. Irvine, A.D., McLean, W.H. & Leung, D.Y. Filaggrin mutations associated with skin and allergic diseases. *N Engl J Med* **365**, 1315-27 (2011).
- 25. Deckert, S., Kopkow, C. & Schmitt, J. Nonallergic comorbidities of atopic eczema: an overview of systematic reviews. *Allergy* **69**, 37-45 (2014).
- 26. Schmitt, J., Romanos, M., Pfennig, A., Leopold, K. & Meurer, M. Psychiatric comorbidity in adult eczema. *Br J Dermatol* **161**, 878-83 (2009).
- 27. Strom, M.A., Fishbein, A.B., Paller, A.S. & Silverberg, J.I. Association between atopic dermatitis and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder in U.S. children and adults. *Br J Dermatol* **175**, 920-929 (2016).
- Schmitt, J., Schwarz, K., Baurecht, H., Hotze, M., Folster-Holst, R., Rodriguez, E., Lee, Y.A., Franke, A., Degenhardt, F., Lieb, W. *et al.* Atopic dermatitis is associated with an increased risk for rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory bowel disease, and a decreased risk for type 1 diabetes. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 137, 130-6 (2016).

- 29. Zhang, A. & Silverberg, J.I. Association of atopic dermatitis with being overweight and obese: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *J Am Acad Dermatol* **72**, 606-16 e4 (2015).
- Silverberg, J.I., Becker, L., Kwasny, M., Menter, A., Cordoro, K.M. & Paller, A.S. Central obesity and high blood pressure in pediatric patients with atopic dermatitis. *JAMA Dermatol* 151, 144-52 (2015).
- Henderson, J., Northstone, K., Lee, S.P., Liao, H., Zhao, Y., Pembrey, M., Mukhopadhyay, S., Smith, G.D., Palmer, C.N., McLean, W.H. *et al.* The burden of disease associated with filaggrin mutations: a population-based, longitudinal birth cohort study. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 121, 872-7 e9 (2008).
- 32. Patel, K.R. Association between atopic dermatitis, depression, and suicidal ideation: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *et al. J Am Acad Dermatol* **80**, 402-410 (2019).
- Kuan, V. A chronological map of 308 physical and mental health conditions from 4 million individuals in the English National Health Service. *Lancet Digital Health* 1, e63-7 (2019).
- 34. Herd, R.M. The cost of atopic eczema. et al. Br J Dermatol 135, 20-3 (1996).
- GBD-Collaborators. Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted lifeyears (DALYs) for 359 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE) for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. *Lancet* 392, 1789-858 and 1859-1922 (2018).
- 36. Brown, S.J. Atopic eczema. Clin Med (Lond) 16, 66-9 (2016).
- van Zuuren, E.J., Fedorowicz, Z., Christensen, R., Lavrijsen, A. & Arents, B.W.M. Emollients and moisturisers for eczema. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2, CD012119 (2017).
- Nankervis, H., Pynn, E.V., Boyle, R.J., Rushton, L., Williams, H.C., Hewson, D.M. & Platts-Mills, T. House dust mite reduction and avoidance measures for treating eczema. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 1, CD008426 (2015).
- Santer, M., Ridd, M.J., Francis, N.A., Stuart, B., Rumsby, K., Chorozoglou, M., Becque, T., Roberts, A., Liddiard, L., Nollett, C. *et al.* Emollient bath additives for the treatment of childhood eczema (BATHE): multicentre pragmatic parallel group randomised controlled trial of clinical and cost effectiveness. *BMJ* 361, k1332 (2018).
- Proudfoot, L.E., Powell, A.M., Ayis, S., Barbarot, S., Baselga Torres, E., Deleuran, M., Folster-Holst, R., Gelmetti, C., Hernandez-Martin, A., Middelkamp-Hup, M.A. *et al.* The European TREatment of severe Atopic eczema in children Taskforce (TREAT) survey. *Br J Dermatol* 169, 901-9 (2013).

- 41. Flohr, C. & Irvine, A.D. Systemic therapies for severe atopic dermatitis in children and adults. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **132**, 774-774 e6 (2013).
- 42. Paller, A.S., Kabashima, K. & Bieber, T. Therapeutic pipeline for atopic dermatitis: End of the drought? *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **140**, 633-643 (2017).
- 43. Beck, L.A., Thaci, D., Hamilton, J.D., Graham, N.M., Bieber, T., Rocklin, R., Ming, J.E., Ren, H., Kao, R., Simpson, E. *et al.* Dupilumab treatment in adults with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis. *N Engl J Med* **371**, 130-9 (2014).
- Simpson, E.L., Bieber, T., Guttman-Yassky, E., Beck, L.A., Blauvelt, A., Cork, M.J., Silverberg, J.I., Deleuran, M., Kataoka, Y., Lacour, J.P. *et al.* Two Phase 3 Trials of Dupilumab versus Placebo in Atopic Dermatitis. *N Engl J Med* 375, 2335-2348 (2016).
- 45. Brown, S. What progress have we made in the treatment of atopic eczema? Putting the new biological therapies into a wider context. *Br J Dermatol* **177(1)**, 4-6 (2017).
- 46. Madhok, V., Futamura, M., Thomas, K.S. & Barbarot, S. What's new in atopic eczema? An analysis of systematic reviews published in 2012 and 2013. Part 2. Treatment and prevention. *Clin Exp Dermatol* **40**, 349-54; quiz 354-5 (2015).
- 47. NIH. Genetics Home Reference: What is heritability? (2019).
- 48. Schultz Larsen, F. Atopic dermatitis: a genetic-epidemiologic study in a population-based twin sample. *J Am Acad Dermatol* **28**, 719-23 (1993).
- Larsen, F.S., Holm, N.V. & Henningsen, K. Atopic dermatitis. A geneticepidemiologic study in a population-based twin sample. *J Am Acad Dermatol* 15, 487-94 (1986).
- 50. Apfelbacher, C.J., Diepgen, T.L. & Schmitt, J. Determinants of eczema: population-based cross-sectional study in Germany. *Allergy* **66**, 206-13 (2011).
- Wadonda-Kabondo, N., Sterne, J.A., Golding, J., Kennedy, C.T., Archer, C.B. & Dunnill, M.G. Association of parental eczema, hayfever, and asthma with atopic dermatitis in infancy: birth cohort study. *Arch Dis Child* 89, 917-21 (2004).
- 52. Thomsen, S.F., Ulrik, C.S., Kyvik, K.O., Hjelmborg, J.B., Skadhauge, L.R., Steffensen, I. & Backer, V. Importance of genetic factors in the etiology of atopic dermatitis: a twin study. *Allergy Asthma Proc* **28**, 535-9 (2007).
- 53. Thomsen, S.F., Kyvik, K.O. & Backer, V. Etiological relationships in atopy: a review of twin studies. *Twin Res Hum Genet* **11**, 112-20 (2008).
- 54. Timpson, N.J., Greenwood, C.M.T., Soranzo, N., Lawson, D.J. & Richards, J.B. Genetic architecture: the shape of the genetic contribution to human traits and disease. *Nat Rev Genet* **19**, 110-124 (2018).

- 55. Williams, H.C. Is the prevalence of atopic dermatitis increasing? *Clin Exp Dermatol* **17**, 385-91 (1992).
- 56. Blakeway, H., Van-de-Velde, V., Allen, V.B., Kravvas, G., Palla, L., Page, M.J., Flohr, C., Weller, R.B., Irvine, A.D., McPherson, T. *et al.* What is the evidence for interactions between filaggrin null mutations and environmental exposures in the aetiology of atopic dermatitis? A systematic review. *Br J Dermatol* (2019).
- 57. Jabbar-Lopez, Z.K., Craven, J., Logan, K., Greenblatt, D., Marrs, T., Radulovic, S., McLean, W.H.I., Lack, G., Strachan, D.P., Perkin, M.R. *et al.* Longitudinal analysis of the effect of water hardness on atopic eczema: evidence for gene-environment interaction. *Br J Dermatol* (2019).
- Tsakok, T., Weinmayr, G., Jaensch, A., Strachan, D.P., Williams, H.C., Flohr, C. & Group, I.P.S. Eczema and indoor environment: lessons from the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) Phase 2. *Lancet* 385 Suppl 1, S99 (2015).
- Rutter, C.E., Silverwood, R.J., Williams, H.C., Ellwood, P., Asher, I., Garcia-Marcos, L., Strachan, D.P., Pearce, N., Langan, S.M. & Group, I.P.T.S. Are Environmental Factors for Atopic Eczema in ISAAC Phase Three due to Reverse Causation? *J Invest Dermatol* 139, 1023-1036 (2019).
- 60. Irvine, A.D. & McLean, W.H. Breaking the (un)sound barrier: filaggrin is a major gene for atopic dermatitis. *J Invest Dermatol* **126**, 1200-2 (2006).
- 61. Zeggini, E., Gloyn, A.L., Barton, A.C. & Wain, L.V. Translational genomics and precision medicine: Moving from the lab to the clinic. *Science* **365**, 1409-1413 (2019).
- 62. Barrett, J.C., Dunham, I. & Birney, E. Using human genetics to make new medicines. *Nat Rev Genet* **16**, 561-2 (2015).
- Healy, E., Brown, S.J., Langan, S.M., Nicholls, S.G., Shams, K., Reynolds, N.J. & Uk, T. Identification of Translational Dermatology Research Priorities in the UK: Results of an e-Delphi Exercise. *Br J Dermatol* (2015).
- 64. Boguniewicz, M. & Leung, D.Y. Atopic dermatitis: a disease of altered skin barrier and immune dysregulation. *Immunol Rev* **242**, 233-46 (2011).
- Eyerich, K., Brown, S.J., Perez White, B.E., Tanaka, R.J., Bissonette, R., Dhar, S., Bieber, T., Hijnen, D.J., Guttman-Yassky, E., Irvine, A. *et al.* Human and computational models of atopic dermatitis: A review and perspectives by an expert panel of the International Eczema Council. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 143, 36-45 (2019).
- 66. Brown, S.J. & McLean, W.H. Eczema genetics: current state of knowledge and future goals. *J Invest Dermatol* **129**, 543-52 (2009).
- 67. He, J.Q., Chan-Yeung, M., Becker, A.B., Dimich-Ward, H., Ferguson, A.C., Manfreda, J., Watson, W.T. & Sandford, A.J. Genetic variants of the IL13 and

IL4 genes and atopic diseases in at-risk children. *Genes Immun* **4**, 385-9 (2003).

- Liu, X., Nickel, R., Beyer, K., Wahn, U., Ehrlich, E., Freidhoff, L.R., Bjorksten, B., Beaty, T.H. & Huang, S.K. An IL13 coding region variant is associated with a high total serum IgE level and atopic dermatitis in the German multicenter atopy study (MAS-90). *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 106, 167-70 (2000).
- Palmer, C.N., Irvine, A.D., Terron-Kwiatkowski, A., Zhao, Y., Liao, H., Lee, S.P., Goudie, D.R., Sandilands, A., Campbell, L.E., Smith, F.J. *et al.* Common loss-of-function variants of the epidermal barrier protein filaggrin are a major predisposing factor for atopic dermatitis. *Nat Genet* 38, 441-6 (2006).
- Rodriguez, E., Baurecht, H., Herberich, E., Wagenpfeil, S., Brown, S.J., Cordell, H.J., Irvine, A.D. & Weidinger, S. Meta-analysis of filaggrin polymorphisms in eczema and asthma: robust risk factors in atopic disease. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 123, 1361-70 e7 (2009).
- 71. Sandilands, A., Sutherland, C., Irvine, A. & McLean, W. Filaggrin in the frontline: role in skin barrier function and disease. *J Cell Sci* **122**, 1285-94 (2009).
- 72. Brown, S.J. & McLean, W.H. One remarkable molecule: filaggrin. *J Invest Dermatol* **132**, 751-62 (2012).
- 73. Sybert, V.P., Dale, B.A. & Holbrook, K.A. Ichthyosis vulgaris: identification of a defect in synthesis of filaggrin correlated with an absence of keratohyaline granules. *J Invest Dermatol* **84**, 191-4 (1985).
- Harding, C.R. & Scott, I.R. Histidine-rich proteins (filaggrins): structural and functional heterogeneity during epidermal differentiation. *J Mol Biol* 170, 651-73 (1983).
- Lynley, A.M. & Dale, B.A. The characterization of human epidermal filaggrin. A histidine-rich, keratin filament-aggregating protein. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 744, 28-35 (1983).
- Smith, F.J., Irvine, A.D., Terron-Kwiatkowski, A., Sandilands, A., Campbell, L.E., Zhao, Y., Liao, H., Evans, A.T., Goudie, D.R., Lewis-Jones, S. *et al.* Loss-of-function mutations in the gene encoding filaggrin cause ichthyosis vulgaris. *Nat Genet* 38, 337-42 (2006).
- 77. Brown, S.J., Relton, C.L., Liao, H., Zhao, Y., Sandilands, A., McLean, W.H., Cordell, H.J. & Reynolds, N.J. Filaggrin haploinsufficiency is highly penetrant and is associated with increased severity of eczema: further delineation of the skin phenotype in a prospective epidemiological study of 792 school children. *Br J Dermatol* 161, 884-9 (2009).
- 78. Palmer, C.N., Irvine, A.D., Terron-Kwiatkowski, A., Zhao, Y., Liao, H., Lee, S.P., Goudie, D.R., Sandilands, A., Campbell, L.E., Smith, F.J. *et al.* Common

loss-of-function variants of the epidermal barrier protein filaggrin are a major predisposing factor for atopic dermatitis. *Nature Genetics* **38**, 441-6 (2006).

- Brown, S.J., Kroboth, K., Sandilands, A., Campbell, L.E., Pohler, E., Kezic, S., Cordell, H.J., McLean, W.H. & Irvine, A.D. Intragenic copy number variation within filaggrin contributes to the risk of atopic dermatitis with a dosedependent effect. *J Invest Dermatol* 132, 98-104 (2012).
- Howell, M.D., Kim, B.E., Gao, P., Grant, A.V., Boguniewicz, M., Debenedetto, A., Schneider, L., Beck, L.A., Barnes, K.C. & Leung, D.Y. Cytokine modulation of atopic dermatitis filaggrin skin expression. *The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology* 120, 150-5 (2007).
- Kim, B.E., Howell, M.D., Guttman-Yassky, E., Gilleaudeau, P.M., Cardinale, I.R., Boguniewicz, M., Krueger, J.G. & Leung, D.Y. TNF-alpha downregulates filaggrin and loricrin through c-Jun N-terminal kinase: role for TNF-alpha antagonists to improve skin barrier. *J Invest Dermatol* 131, 1272-9 (2011).
- Walley, A.J., Chavanas, S., Moffatt, M.F., Esnouf, R.M., Ubhi, B., Lawrence, R., Wong, K., Abecasis, G.R., Jones, E.Y., Harper, J.I. *et al.* Gene polymorphism in Netherton and common atopic disease. *Nat Genet* 29, 175-8 (2001).
- Hubiche, T., Ged, C., Benard, A., Leaute-Labreze, C., McElreavey, K., de Verneuil, H., Taieb, A. & Boralevi, F. Analysis of SPINK 5, KLK 7 and FLG genotypes in a French atopic dermatitis cohort. *Acta Derm Venereol* 87, 499-505 (2007).
- 84. Weidinger, S., Baurecht, H., Wagenpfeil, S., Henderson, J., Novak, N., Sandilands, A., Chen, H., Rodriguez, E., O'Regan, G., Watson, R. *et al.* Analysis of the individual and aggregate genetic contributions of previously identified serine peptidase inhibitor Kazal type 5 (SPINK5), kallikrein-related peptidase 7 (KLK7), and filaggrin (FLG) polymorphisms to eczema risk. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **122**, 560-8.e4 (2008).
- Caubet, C., Jonca, N., Brattsand, M., Guerrin, M., Bernard, D., Schmidt, R., Egelrud, T., Simon, M. & Serre, G. Degradation of corneodesmosome proteins by two serine proteases of the kallikrein family, SCTE/KLK5/hK5 and SCCE/KLK7/hK7. *J Invest Dermatol* 122, 1235-44 (2004).
- 86. Takai, T. & Ikeda, S. Barrier dysfunction caused by environmental proteases in the pathogenesis of allergic diseases. *Allergol Int* **60**, 25-35 (2011).
- Samuelov, L., Sarig, O., Harmon, R.M., Rapaport, D., Ishida-Yamamoto, A., Isakov, O., Koetsier, J.L., Gat, A., Goldberg, I., Bergman, R. *et al.* Desmoglein 1 deficiency results in severe dermatitis, multiple allergies and metabolic wasting. *Nat Genet* 45, 1244-8 (2013).
- 88. McAleer, M.A., Pohler, E., Smith, F.J., Wilson, N.J., Cole, C., MacGowan, S., Koetsier, J.L., Godsel, L.M., Harmon, R.M., Gruber, R. *et al.* Severe dermatitis, multiple allergies, and metabolic wasting syndrome caused by a

novel mutation in the N-terminal plakin domain of desmoplakin. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **136**, 1268-76 (2015).

- 89. Broussard, J.A., Getsios, S. & Green, K.J. Desmosome regulation and signaling in disease. *Cell Tissue Res* **360**, 501-12 (2015).
- Paller, A.S., Renert-Yuval, Y., Suprun, M., Esaki, H., Oliva, M., Huynh, T.N., Ungar, B., Kunjravia, N., Friedland, R., Peng, X. *et al.* An IL-17-dominant immune profile is shared across the major orphan forms of ichthyosis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2016).
- Esparza-Gordillo, J., Weidinger, S., Folster-Holst, R., Bauerfeind, A., Ruschendorf, F., Patone, G., Rohde, K., Marenholz, I., Schulz, F., Kerscher, T. *et al.* A common variant on chromosome 11q13 is associated with atopic dermatitis. *Nat Genet* 41, 596-601 (2009).
- 92. Paternoster, L., Standl, M., Waage, J., Baurecht, H., Hotze, M., Strachan, D.P., Curtin, J.A., Bonnelykke, K., Tian, C., Takahashi, A. *et al.* Multi-ancestry genome-wide association study of 21,000 cases and 95,000 controls identifies new risk loci for atopic dermatitis. *Nat Genet* 47, 1449-56 (2015).
- 93. Tang, T.S., Bieber, T. & Williams, H.C. Does "autoreactivity" play a role in atopic dermatitis? *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **129**, 1209-1215 e2 (2012).
- Taylan, F., Nilsson, D., Asad, S., Lieden, A., Wahlgren, C.F., Winge, M.C., Bilcha, K.D., Nordenskjold, M. & Bradley, M. Whole-exome sequencing of Ethiopian patients with ichthyosis vulgaris and atopic dermatitis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 136, 507-9 e19 (2015).
- 95. Margolis, D.J., Gupta, J., Apter, A.J., Hoffstad, O., Papadopoulos, M., Rebbeck, T.R., Wubbenhorst, B. & Mitra, N. Exome sequencing of filaggrin and related genes in African-American children with atopic dermatitis. *J Invest Dermatol* **134**, 2272-4 (2014).
- Margolis, D.J., Mitra, N., Kim, B., Gupta, J., Hoffstad, O.J., Papadopoulos, M., Wubbenhorst, B., Nathanson, K.L., Duke, J.L., Monos, D.S. *et al.* Association of HLA-DRB1 genetic variants with the persistence of atopic dermatitis. *Hum Immunol* 76, 571-7 (2015).
- Adoue, V., Schiavi, A., Light, N., Almlof, J.C., Lundmark, P., Ge, B., Kwan, T., Caron, M., Ronnblom, L., Wang, C. *et al.* Allelic expression mapping across cellular lineages to establish impact of non-coding SNPs. *Mol Syst Biol* 10, 754 (2014).
- 98. He, L. & Sedwick, C. Lin He: "Junk" DNA isn't. J Cell Biol 211, 4-5 (2015).
- 99. Ghosh, D., Ding, L., Sivaprasad, U., Geh, E., Biagini Myers, J., Bernstein, J.A., Khurana Hershey, G.K. & Mersha, T.B. Multiple Transcriptome Data Analysis Reveals Biologically Relevant Atopic Dermatitis Signature Genes and Pathways. *PLoS One* 10, e0144316 (2015).

- 100. Suarez-Farinas, M., Ungar, B., Correa da Rosa, J., Ewald, D.A., Rozenblit, M., Gonzalez, J., Xu, H., Zheng, X., Peng, X., Estrada, Y.D. *et al.* RNA sequencing atopic dermatitis transcriptome profiling provides insights into novel disease mechanisms with potential therapeutic implications. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 135, 1218-27 (2015).
- 101. Cole, C., Kroboth, K., Schurch, N.J., Sandilands, A., Sherstnev, A., O'Regan, G.M., Watson, R.M., Irwin McLean, W.H., Barton, G.J., Irvine, A.D. *et al.* Filaggrin-stratified transcriptomic analysis of pediatric skin identifies mechanistic pathways in patients with atopic dermatitis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 134, 82-91 (2014).
- 102. Esaki, H., Ewald, D.A., Ungar, B., Rozenblit, M., Zheng, X., Xu, H., Estrada, Y.D., Peng, X., Mitsui, H., Litman, T. *et al.* Identification of novel immune and barrier genes in atopic dermatitis by means of laser capture microdissection. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **135**, 153-63 (2015).
- 103. Heath, J.R., Ribas, A. & Mischel, P.S. Single-cell analysis tools for drug discovery and development. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **15**, 204-16 (2016).
- 104. https://www.humancellatlas.org/. Human Skin Atlas (2019).
- 105. Joost, S. The molecular anatomy of mouse skin during hair growth and rest. *bioRxiv* (2019).
- 106. Cong, L., Ran, F.A., Cox, D., Lin, S., Barretto, R., Habib, N., Hsu, P.D., Wu, X., Jiang, W., Marraffini, L.A. *et al.* Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. *Science* **339**, 819-23 (2013).
- 107. Mali, P., Yang, L., Esvelt, K.M., Aach, J., Guell, M., DiCarlo, J.E., Norville, J.E. & Church, G.M. RNA-guided human genome engineering via Cas9. *Science* 339, 823-6 (2013).
- 108. Doudna, J.A. & Charpentier, E. Genome editing. The new frontier of genome engineering with CRISPR-Cas9. *Science* **346**, 1258096 (2014).
- Rheinwald, J.G. & Green, H. Serial cultivation of strains of human epidermal keratinocytes: the formation of keratinizing colonies from single cells. *Cell* 6, 331-43 (1975).
- 110. Mertsching, H., Weimer, M., Kersen, S. & Brunner, H. Human skin equivalent as an alternative to animal testing. *GMS Krankenhhyg Interdiszip* **3**, Doc11 (2008).
- 111. Thakoersing, V.S., van Smeden, J., Mulder, A.A., Vreeken, R.J., El Ghalbzouri, A. & Bouwstra, J.A. Increased presence of monounsaturated fatty acids in the stratum corneum of human skin equivalents. *J Invest Dermatol* 133, 59-67 (2013).
- 112. Danso, M.O., van Drongelen, V., Mulder, A., van Esch, J., Scott, H., van Smeden, J., El Ghalbzouri, A. & Bouwstra, J.A. TNF-alpha and Th2 cytokines induce atopic dermatitis-like features on epidermal differentiation proteins and

stratum corneum lipids in human skin equivalents. *J Invest Dermatol* **134**, 1941-1950 (2014).

- 113. Niehues, H., Schalkwijk, J., van Vlijmen-Willems, I., Rodijk-Olthuis, D., van Rossum, M.M., Wladykowski, E., Brandner, J.M., van den Bogaard, E.H.J. & Zeeuwen, P. Epidermal equivalents of filaggrin null keratinocytes do not show impaired skin barrier function. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **139**, 1979-1981 e13 (2017).
- 114. Mildner, M., Jin, J., Eckhart, L., Kezic, S., Gruber, F., Barresi, C., Stremnitzer, C., Buchberger, M., Mlitz, V., Ballaun, C. *et al.* Knockdown of filaggrin impairs diffusion barrier function and increases UV sensitivity in a human skin model. *J Invest Dermatol* 130, 2286-94 (2010).
- 115. Pendaries, V., Malaisse, J., Pellerin, L., Le Lamer, M., Nachat, R., Kezic, S., Schmitt, A.M., Paul, C., Poumay, Y., Serre, G. *et al.* Knockdown of filaggrin in a three-dimensional reconstructed human epidermis impairs keratinocyte differentiation. *J Invest Dermatol* **134**, 2938-2946 (2014).
- 116. Elias, M.S., Long, H.A., Newman, C.F., Wilson, P.A., West, A., McGill, P.J., Wu, K.C., Donaldson, M.J. & Reynolds, N.J. Proteomic analysis of filaggrin deficiency identifies molecular signatures characteristic of atopic eczema. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 140, 1299-1309 (2017).
- 117. Elias, M.S., Wright, S.C., Nicholson, W.V., Morrison, K.D., Prescott, A.R., Ten Have, S., Whitfield, P.D., Lamond, A.I. & Brown, S.J. Functional and proteomic analysis of a full thickness filaggrin-deficient skin organoid model. *Wellcome Open Res* 4, 134 (2019).
- 118. Zhang, Z. & Michniak-Kohn, B.B. Tissue engineered human skin equivalents. *Pharmaceutics* **4**, 26-41 (2012).
- 119. Alexander, H., Brown, S., Danby, S. & Flohr, C. Research Techniques Made Simple: Transepidermal Water Loss Measurement as a Research Tool. *J Invest Dermatol* 138, 2295-2300 e1 (2018).
- 120. van den Oord, R. & Sheikh, A. Filaggrin gene defects and risk of developing allergic sensitisation and allergic disorders: systematic review and metaanalysis. *BMJ* **339**, b2433 (2009).
- 121. Barker, J.N., Palmer, C.N., Zhao, Y., Liao, H., Hull, P.R., Lee, S.P., Allen, M.H., Meggitt, S.J., Reynolds, N.J., Trembath, R.C. *et al.* Null mutations in the filaggrin gene (FLG) determine major susceptibility to early-onset atopic dermatitis that persists into adulthood. *J Invest Dermatol* **127**, 564-7 (2007).
- 122. Brown, S.J., Sandilands, A., Zhao, Y., Liao, H., Relton, C.L., Meggitt, S.J., Trembath, R.C., Barker, J.N., Reynolds, N.J., Cordell, H.J. *et al.* Prevalent and low-frequency null mutations in the filaggrin gene are associated with earlyonset and persistent atopic eczema. *J Invest Dermatol* **128**, 1591-4 (2008).
- 123. Weidinger, S., Illig, T., Baurecht, H., Irvine, A.D., Rodriguez, E., Diaz-Lacava, A., Klopp, N., Wagenpfeil, S., Zhao, Y., Liao, H. *et al.* Loss-of-function

variations within the filaggrin gene predispose for atopic dermatitis with allergic sensitizations. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **118**, 214-9 (2006).

- 124. Weidinger, S., Rodriguez, E., Stahl, C., Wagenpfeil, S., Klopp, N., Illig, T. & Novak, N. Filaggrin mutations strongly predispose to early-onset and extrinsic atopic dermatitis. *J Invest Dermatol* **127**, 724-6 (2007).
- 125. Gruber, R., Janecke, A.R., Grabher, D., Horak, E., Schmuth, M. & Lercher, P. Lower prevalence of common filaggrin mutations in a community sample of atopic eczema: is disease severity important? *Wien Klin Wochenschr* 122, 551-7 (2010).
- 126. Kezic, S., O'Regan, G.M., Yau, N., Sandilands, A., Chen, H., Campbell, L.E., Kroboth, K., Watson, R., Rowland, M., McLean, W.H. *et al.* Levels of filaggrin degradation products are influenced by both filaggrin genotype and atopic dermatitis severity. *Allergy* 66, 934-40 (2011).
- 127. Lerbaek, A., Bisgaard, H., Agner, T., Ohm Kyvik, K., Palmer, C.N. & Menne, T. Filaggrin null alleles are not associated with hand eczema or contact allergy. *Br J Dermatol* 157, 1199-204 (2007).
- Brown, S.J. & Cordell, H.J. Are filaggrin mutations associated with hand eczema or contact allergy?--we do not know. *Br J Dermatol* 158, 1383-4 (2008).
- 129. de Jongh, C.M., Khrenova, L., Verberk, M.M., Calkoen, F., van Dijk, F.J., Voss, H., John, S.M. & Kezic, S. Loss-of-function polymorphisms in the filaggrin gene are associated with an increased susceptibility to chronic irritant contact dermatitis: a case-control study. *Br J Dermatol* **159**, 621-7 (2008).
- Jungersted, J.M., Scheer, H., Mempel, M., Baurecht, H., Cifuentes, L., Hogh, J.K., Hellgren, L.I., Jemec, G.B., Agner, T. & Weidinger, S. Stratum corneum lipids, skin barrier function and filaggrin mutations in patients with atopic eczema. *Allergy* 65, 911-8 (2010).
- 131. Angelova-Fischer, I., Mannheimer, A.C., Hinder, A., Ruether, A., Franke, A., Neubert, R.H., Fischer, T.W. & Zillikens, D. Distinct barrier integrity phenotypes in filaggrin-related atopic eczema following sequential tape stripping and lipid profiling. *Exp Dermatol* 20, 351-6 (2011).
- Carlsen, B.C., Johansen, J.D., Menne, T., Meldgaard, M., Szecsi, P.B., Stender, S. & Thyssen, J.P. Filaggrin null mutations and association with contact allergy and allergic contact dermatitis: results from a tertiary dermatology clinic. *Contact Dermatitis* 63, 89-95 (2010).
- 133. Carlsen, B.C., Thyssen, J.P., Menne, T., Meldgaard, M., Linneberg, A., Nielsen, N.H., Szecsi, P.B., Stender, S. & Johansen, J.D. Association between filaggrin null mutations and concomitant atopic dermatitis and contact allergy. *Clin Exp Dermatol* 36, 467-72 (2011).
- 134. Novak, N., Baurecht, H., Schafer, T., Rodriguez, E., Wagenpfeil, S., Klopp, N., Heinrich, J., Behrendt, H., Ring, J., Wichmann, E. *et al.* Loss-of-function

mutations in the filaggrin gene and allergic contact sensitization to nickel. J Invest Dermatol **128**, 1430-5 (2008).

- 135. Thyssen, J.P., Johansen, J.D., Linneberg, A., Menne, T., Nielsen, N.H., Meldgaard, M., Szecsi, P.B., Stender, S. & Carlsen, B.C. The association between null mutations in the filaggrin gene and contact sensitization to nickel and other chemicals in the general population. *Br J Dermatol* 162, 1278-85 (2010).
- 136. Wuthrich, B. & Schmid-Grendelmeier, P. The atopic eczema/dermatitis syndrome. Epidemiology, natural course, and immunology of the IgE-associated ("extrinsic") and the nonallergic ("intrinsic") AEDS. *J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol* **13**, 1-5 (2003).
- Hahn, E.L. & Bacharier, L.B. The atopic march: the pattern of allergic disease development in childhood. *Immunol Allergy Clin North Am* 25, 231-46, v (2005).
- 138. Spergel, J.M. From atopic dermatitis to asthma: the atopic march. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* **105**, 99-106; quiz 107-9, 117 (2010).
- Busse, W.W. The atopic march: Fact or folklore? Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 120, 116-118 (2018).
- 140. Gray, L.E.K., Ponsonby, A.L., Collier, F., O'Hely, M., Sly, P.D., Ranganathan, S., Tang, M.L.K., Carlin, J.B., Saffery, R., Vuillermin, P.J. *et al.* Deserters on the atopic march: Risk factors, immune profile, and clinical outcomes of foodsensitized-tolerant infants. *Allergy* (2019).
- 141. Barberio, G., Pajno, G.B., Vita, D., Caminiti, L., Canonica, G.W. & Passalacqua, G. Does a 'reverse' atopic march exist? *Allergy* **63**, 1630-2 (2008).
- 142. Weidinger, S., O'Sullivan, M., Illig, T., Baurecht, H., Depner, M., Rodriguez, E., Ruether, A., Klopp, N., Vogelberg, C., Weiland, S.K. *et al.* Filaggrin mutations, atopic eczema, hay fever, and asthma in children. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **121**, 1203-1209 e1 (2008).
- 143. Schuttelaar, M.L., Kerkhof, M., Jonkman, M.F., Koppelman, G.H., Brunekreef, B., de Jongste, J.C., Wijga, A., McLean, W.H. & Postma, D.S. Filaggrin mutations in the onset of eczema, sensitization, asthma, hay fever and the interaction with cat exposure. *Allergy* 64, 1758-65 (2009).
- 144. Brown, S.J., Asai, Y., Cordell, H.J., Campbell, L.E., Zhao, Y., Liao, H., Northstone, K., Henderson, J., Alizadehfar, R., Ben-Shoshan, M. *et al.* Loss-offunction variants in the filaggrin gene are a significant risk factor for peanut allergy. *The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology* **127**, 661-7 (2011).
- 145. Tsuji, G., Hashimoto-Hachiya, A., Kiyomatsu-Oda, M., Takemura, M., Ohno, F., Ito, T., Morino-Koga, S., Mitoma, C., Nakahara, T., Uchi, H. *et al.* Aryl hydrocarbon receptor activation restores filaggrin expression via OVOL1 in atopic dermatitis. *Cell Death Dis* 8, e2931 (2017).

- 146. van den Bogaard, E.H., Bergboer, J.G., Vonk-Bergers, M., van Vlijmen-Willems, I.M., Hato, S.V., van der Valk, P.G., Schroder, J.M., Joosten, I., Zeeuwen, P.L. & Schalkwijk, J. Coal tar induces AHR-dependent skin barrier repair in atopic dermatitis. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **123**, 917-27 (2013).
- 147. Hidaka, T., Ogawa, E., Kobayashi, E.H., Suzuki, T., Funayama, R., Nagashima, T., Fujimura, T., Aiba, S., Nakayama, K., Okuyama, R. *et al.* The aryl hydrocarbon receptor AhR links atopic dermatitis and air pollution via induction of the neurotrophic factor artemin. *Nat Immunol* 18, 64-73 (2017).
- 148. Howell, M.D., Kim, B.E., Gao, P., Grant, A.V., Boguniewicz, M., Debenedetto, A., Schneider, L., Beck, L.A., Barnes, K.C. & Leung, D.Y. Cytokine modulation of atopic dermatitis filaggrin skin expression. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **120**, 150-5 (2007).
- 149. Gutowska-Owsiak, D., Schaupp, A.L., Salimi, M., Selvakumar, T.A., McPherson, T., Taylor, S. & Ogg, G.S. IL-17 downregulates filaggrin and affects keratinocyte expression of genes associated with cellular adhesion. *Experimental dermatology* 21, 104-10 (2012).
- 150. Hoste, E., Kemperman, P., Devos, M., Denecker, G., Kezic, S., Yau, N., Gilbert, B., Lippens, S., De Groote, P., Roelandt, R. *et al.* Caspase-14 is required for filaggrin degradation to natural moisturizing factors in the skin. *J Invest Dermatol* 131, 2233-41 (2011).
- 151. Naeem, A.S., Tommasi, C., Cole, C., Brown, S.J., Zhu, Y., Way, B., Willis Owen, S.A., Moffatt, M., Cookson, W.O., Harper, J.I. *et al.* A mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1/2 (mTORC1)/V-Akt murine thymoma viral oncogene homolog 1 (AKT1)/cathepsin H axis controls filaggrin expression and processing in skin, a novel mechanism for skin barrier disruption in patients with atopic dermatitis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 139, 1228-1241 (2017).
- 152. Wong, W.W., Richardson, T., Seykora, J.T., Cotsarelis, G. & Simon, M.C. Hypoxia inducible factors regulate filaggrin expression and epidermal barrier function. *J Invest Dermatol* (2014).
- 153. Bowcock, A.M., Shannon, W., Du, F., Duncan, J., Cao, K., Aftergut, K., Catier, J., Fernandez-Vina, M.A. & Menter, A. Insights into psoriasis and other inflammatory diseases from large-scale gene expression studies. *Hum Mol Genet* 10, 1793-805 (2001).
- 154. Mischke, D., Korge, B., Marenholz, I., Volz, A. & Ziegler, A. Genes encoding structural proteins of epidermal cornification and S100 calcium-binding proteins form a gene complex ("epidermal differentiation complex") on human chromosome 1q21. *J Invest Dermatol* **106**, 989-92 (1996).
- 155. Zhao, Y., Terron-Kwiatkowski, A., Liao, H., Lee, S.P., Allen, M.H., Hull, P.R., Campbell, L.E., Trembath, R.C., Capon, F., Griffiths, C.E. *et al.* Filaggrin null alleles are not associated with psoriasis. *J Invest Dermatol* **127**, 1878-82 (2007).

- 156. Giardina, E., Paolillo, N., Sinibaldi, C. & Novelli, G. R501X and 2282del4 filaggrin mutations do not confer susceptibility to psoriasis and atopic dermatitis in Italian patients. *Dermatology* 216, 83-4 (2008).
- 157. Weichenthal, M., Ruether, A., Schreiber, S., Nair, R., Voorhees, J.J., Schwarz, T., Kabelitz, D., Christophers, E., Elder, J.T. & Jenisch, S. Filaggrin R501X and 2282del4 mutations are not associated with chronic plaque-type psoriasis in a German cohort. *J Invest Dermatol* **127**, 1535-7 (2007).
- 158. Huffmeier, U., Traupe, H., Oji, V., Lascorz, J., Stander, M., Lohmann, J., Wendler, J., Burkhardt, H. & Reis, A. Loss-of-function variants of the filaggrin gene are not major susceptibility factors for psoriasis vulgaris or psoriatic arthritis in German patients. *J Invest Dermatol* **127**, 1367-70 (2007).
- 159. Thyssen, J.P., Johansen, J.D., Carlsen, B.C., Linneberg, A., Meldgaard, M., Szecsi, P.B., Stender, S. & Menne, T. The filaggrin null genotypes R501X and 2282del4 seem not to be associated with psoriasis: results from general population study and meta-analysis. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol* 26, 782-4 (2012).
- Winge, M.C., Suneson, J., Lysell, J., Nikamo, P., Lieden, A., Nordenskjold, M., Wahlgren, C.F., Bradley, M. & Stahle, M. Lack of association between filaggrin gene mutations and onset of psoriasis in childhood. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol* 27, e124-7 (2013).
- 161. Chang, Y.C., Wu, W.M., Chen, C.H., Hu, C.F. & Hsu, L.A. Association between P478S polymorphism of the filaggrin gene and risk of psoriasis in a Chinese population in Taiwan. *Arch Dermatol Res* 300, 133-7 (2008).
- 162. Hu, Z., Xiong, Z., Xu, X., Li, F., Lu, L., Li, W., Su, J., Liu, Y., Liu, D., Xie, Z. et al. Loss-of-function mutations in filaggrin gene associate with psoriasis vulgaris in Chinese population. *Human genetics* 131, 1269-74 (2012).
- 163. Zhang, X.J., Huang, W., Yang, S., Sun, L.D., Zhang, F.Y., Zhu, Q.X., Zhang, F.R., Zhang, C., Du, W.H., Pu, X.M. *et al.* Psoriasis genome-wide association study identifies susceptibility variants within LCE gene cluster at 1q21. *Nature Genetics* 41, 205-10 (2009).
- 164. Huffmeier, U., Bergboer, J.G., Becker, T., Armour, J.A., Traupe, H., Estivill, X., Riveira-Munoz, E., Mossner, R., Reich, K., Kurrat, W. *et al.* Replication of LCE3C-LCE3B CNV as a risk factor for psoriasis and analysis of interaction with other genetic risk factors. *J Invest Dermatol* 130, 979-84 (2010).
- 165. Sergeant, A., Campbell, L.E., Hull, P.R., Porter, M., Palmer, C.N., Smith, F.J., McLean, W.H. & Munro, C.S. Heterozygous null alleles in filaggrin contribute to clinical dry skin in young adults and the elderly. *J Invest Dermatol* 129, 1042-5 (2009).
- 166. Common, J.E., Brown, S.J., Haines, R.L., Goh, C.S., Chen, H., Balakrishnan, A., Munro, C.S., Tan, A.W., Tan, H.H., Tang, M.B. *et al.* Filaggrin null mutations are not a protective factor for acne vulgaris. *The Journal of investigative dermatology* **131**, 1378-80 (2011).

- 167. Schreiber, S., Rosenstiel, P., Albrecht, M., Hampe, J. & Krawczak, M. Genetics of Crohn disease, an archetypal inflammatory barrier disease. *Nat Rev Genet* 6, 376-88 (2005).
- Ruether, A., Stoll, M., Schwarz, T., Schreiber, S. & Folster-Holst, R. Filaggrin loss-of-function variant contributes to atopic dermatitis risk in the population of Northern Germany. *Br J Dermatol* 155, 1093-4 (2006).
- 169. Van Limbergen, J., Russell, R.K., Nimmo, E.R., Zhao, Y., Liao, H., Drummond, H.E., Davies, G., Gillett, P.M., McGrogan, P., Bisset, W.M. *et al.* Filaggrin loss-of-function variants are associated with atopic comorbidity in pediatric inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* 15, 1492-8 (2009).
- 170. Sanmarti, R., Graell, E., Perez, M.L., Ercilla, G., Vinas, O., Gomez-Puerta, J.A., Gratacos, J., Balsa, A., Gomara, M.J., Larrosa, M. *et al.* Diagnostic and prognostic value of antibodies against chimeric fibrin/filaggrin citrullinated synthetic peptides in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Res Ther* **11**, R135 (2009).
- 171. Perez, M.L., Gomara, M.J., Ercilla, G., Sanmarti, R. & Haro, I. Antibodies to citrullinated human fibrinogen synthetic peptides in diagnosing rheumatoid arthritis. *J Med Chem* **50**, 3573-84 (2007).
- 172. Choi, K.H., Lee, E.B., Yoo, C.D., Baek, H.J., Kang, S.W., Shin, K.C., Lee, Y.J., Kim, H.A., Jeon, J.H., Kim, C.W. *et al.* Clinical significance of antifilaggrin antibody recognizing uncitrullinated filaggrin in rheumatoid arthritis. *Exp Mol Med* 37, 546-52 (2005).
- 173. Van Steendam, K., Tilleman, K. & Deforce, D. The relevance of citrullinated vimentin in the production of antibodies against citrullinated proteins and the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* **50**, 830-7 (2011).
- 174. Huffmeier, U., Boiers, U., Lascorz, J., Reis, A. & Burkhardt, H. Loss-offunction mutations in the filaggrin gene: no contribution to disease susceptibility, but to autoantibody formation against citrullinated peptides in early rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann Rheum Dis* 67, 131-3 (2008).
- 175. Petukhova, L., Duvic, M., Hordinsky, M., Norris, D., Price, V., Shimomura, Y., Kim, H., Singh, P., Lee, A., Chen, W.V. *et al.* Genome-wide association study in alopecia areata implicates both innate and adaptive immunity. *Nature* 466, 113-7 (2010).
- 176. Goh, C., Finkel, M., Christos, P.J. & Sinha, A.A. Profile of 513 patients with alopecia areata: associations of disease subtypes with atopy, autoimmune disease and positive family history. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol* 20, 1055-60 (2006).
- 177. Betz, R.C., Pforr, J., Flaquer, A., Redler, S., Hanneken, S., Eigelshoven, S., Kortum, A.K., Tuting, T., Lambert, J., De Weert, J. *et al.* Loss-of-function mutations in the filaggrin gene and alopecia areata: strong risk factor for a severe course of disease in patients comorbid for atopic disease. *J Invest Dermatol* 127, 2539-43 (2007).

- 178. Harkins, C.P., Waters, A., Kerr, A., Campbell, L., Irwin McLean, W.H., Brown, S.J. & Ibbotson, S.H. Loss-of-Function Mutations in the Gene Encoding Filaggrin Are Not Strongly Associated with Chronic Actinic Dermatitis. *J Invest Dermatol* 135, 1919-1921 (2015).
- 179. Mucha, S., Baurecht, H., Novak, N., Rodriguez, E., Bej, S., Mayr, G., Emmert, H., Stolzl, D., Gerdes, S., Jung, E.S. *et al.* Protein-coding variants contribute to the risk of atopic dermatitis and skin-specific gene expression. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 145, 1208-1218 (2020).
- 180. Ferreira, M.A., Vonk, J.M., Baurecht, H., Marenholz, I., Tian, C., Hoffman, J.D., Helmer, Q., Tillander, A., Ullemar, V., van Dongen, J. *et al.* Shared genetic origin of asthma, hay fever and eczema elucidates allergic disease biology. *Nat Genet* 49, 1752-1757 (2017).
- 181. Ferreira, M.A.R., Vonk, J.M., Baurecht, H., Marenholz, I., Tian, C., Hoffman, J.D., Helmer, Q., Tillander, A., Ullemar, V., Lu, Y. *et al.* Eleven loci with new reproducible genetic associations with allergic disease risk. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 143, 691-699 (2019).
- Hindorff, L.A., Bonham, V.L., Brody, L.C., Ginoza, M.E.C., Hutter, C.M., Manolio, T.A. & Green, E.D. Prioritizing diversity in human genomics research. *Nat Rev Genet* 19, 175-185 (2018).
- Bergboer, J.G.M., Zeeuwen, P. & Schalkwijk, J. Genetics of psoriasis: evidence for epistatic interaction between skin barrier abnormalities and immune deviation. *J Invest Dermatol* 132, 2320-2331 (2012).
- 184. O'Regan, G.M., Campbell, L.E., Cordell, H.J., Irvine, A.D., McLean, W.H. & Brown, S.J. Chromosome 11q13.5 variant associated with childhood eczema: an effect supplementary to filaggrin mutations. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 125, 170-4 e1-2 (2010).
- 185. Mahachie John, J.M., Baurecht, H., Rodriguez, E., Naumann, A., Wagenpfeil, S., Klopp, N., Mempel, M., Novak, N., Bieber, T., Wichmann, H.E. *et al.* Analysis of the high affinity IgE receptor genes reveals epistatic effects of FCER1A variants on eczema risk. *Allergy* 65, 875-82 (2010).
- 186. Brough, H.A., Liu, A.H., Sicherer, S., Makinson, K., Douiri, A., Brown, S.J., Stephens, A.C., Irwin McLean, W.H., Turcanu, V., Wood, R.A. *et al.* Atopic dermatitis increases the effect of exposure to peanut antigen in dust on peanut sensitization and likely peanut allergy. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **135**, 164-70 (2015).
- 187. Brough, H.A., Simpson, A., Makinson, K., Hankinson, J., Brown, S., Douiri, A., Belgrave, D.C., Penagos, M., Stephens, A.C., McLean, W.H. *et al.* Peanut allergy: effect of environmental peanut exposure in children with filaggrin loss-of-function mutations. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **134**, 867-875 e1 (2014).
- 188. Hotze, M., Baurecht, H., Rodriguez, E., Chapman-Rothe, N., Ollert, M., Folster-Holst, R., Adamski, J., Illig, T., Ring, J. & Weidinger, S. Increased efficacy of omalizumab in atopic dermatitis patients with wild-type filaggrin
status and higher serum levels of phosphatidylcholines. *Allergy* **69**, 132-5 (2014).

- 189. Harrison, E.F., Haines, R.H., Cowdell, F., Sach, T.H., Dean, T., Pollock, I., Burrows, N.P., Buckley, H., Batchelor, J., Williams, H.C. *et al.* A multi-centre, parallel group superiority trial of silk therapeutic clothing compared to standard care for the management of eczema in children (CLOTHES Trial): study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. *Trials* **16**, 390 (2015).
- 190. Thomas, K.S., Bradshaw, L.E., Sach, T.H., Batchelor, J.M., Lawton, S., Harrison, E.F., Haines, R.H., Ahmed, A., Williams, H.C., Dean, T. *et al.* Silk garments plus standard care compared with standard care for treating eczema in children: A randomised, controlled, observer-blind, pragmatic trial (CLOTHES Trial). *PLoS Med* 14, e1002280 (2017).
- 191. Danby, S.G., Chalmers, J., Brown, K., Williams, H.C. & Cork, M.J. A functional mechanistic study of the effect of emollients on the structure and function of the skin barrier. *Br J Dermatol* **175**, 1011-1019 (2016).
- 192. Chamlin, S.L., Kao, J., Frieden, I.J., Sheu, M.Y., Fowler, A.J., Fluhr, J.W., Williams, M.L. & Elias, P.M. Ceramide-dominant barrier repair lipids alleviate childhood atopic dermatitis: changes in barrier function provide a sensitive indicator of disease activity. *J Am Acad Dermatol* 47, 198-208 (2002).
- 193. Danby, S.G., Brown, K., Higgs-Bayliss, T., Chittock, J., Albenali, L. & Cork, M.J. The Effect of an Emollient Containing Urea, Ceramide NP, and Lactate on Skin Barrier Structure and Function in Older People with Dry Skin. *Skin Pharmacol Physiol* 29, 135-47 (2016).
- 194. Forbes, D., Johnston, L., Gardner, J., MacCallum, S.F., Campbell, L.E., Dinkova-Kostova, A.T., McLean, W.H.I., Ibbotson, S.H., Dawe, R.S. & Brown, S.J. Filaggrin genotype does not determine the skin's threshold to UVinduced erythema. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 137, 1280-1282 e3 (2016).
- 195. Elias, M.S., Wright, S.C., Remenyi, J., Abbott, J.C., Bray, S.E., Cole, C., Edwards, S., Gierlinski, M., Glok, M., McGrath, J.A. *et al.* EMSY expression affects multiple components of the skin barrier with relevance to atopic dermatitis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **144**, 470-481 (2019).
- 196. Paternoster, L., Savenije, O.E.M., Heron, J., Evans, D.M., Vonk, J.M., Brunekreef, B., Wijga, A.H., Henderson, A.J., Koppelman, G.H. & Brown, S.J. Identification of atopic dermatitis subgroups in children from 2 longitudinal birth cohorts. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 141, 964-971 (2018).
- 197. Baurecht, H., Hotze, M., Brand, S., Buning, C., Cormican, P., Corvin, A., Ellinghaus, D., Ellinghaus, E., Esparza-Gordillo, J., Folster-Holst, R. *et al.* Genome-wide comparative analysis of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis gives insight into opposing genetic mechanisms. *Am J Hum Genet* **96**, 104-20 (2015).
- Kapranov, P., Ozsolak, F. & Milos, P.M. Profiling of short RNAs using Helicos single-molecule sequencing. *Methods in molecular biology* 822, 219-32 (2012).

- 199. Lynch, M.D. & Watt, F.M. Fibroblast heterogeneity: implications for human disease. *J Clin Invest* **128**, 26-35 (2018).
- 200. Okubo, T., Hayashi, R., Shibata, S., Kudo, Y., Honma, Y. & Nishida, K. Use of homeobox gene expression patterns to determine anatomical regions of origin for body surface tissues derived from adult mice. *J Tissue Eng Regen Med* 12, 1412-1419 (2018).
- 201. Brown, S.J. Molecular mechanisms in atopic eczema: insights gained from genetic studies. *J Pathol* **241**, 140-145 (2017).
- Elias, P.M. & Choi, E.H. Interactions among stratum corneum defensive functions. *Exp Dermatol* 14, 719-26 (2005).
- McLoone, P., Simics, E., Barton, A., Norval, M. & Gibbs, N.K. An action spectrum for the production of cis-urocanic acid in human skin in vivo. *J Invest Dermatol* 124, 1071-4 (2005).
- 204. Gilmour, J.W., Vestey, J.P., George, S. & Norval, M. Effect of phototherapy and urocanic acid isomers on natural killer cell function. *J Invest Dermatol* 101, 169-74 (1993).
- 205. Barresi, C., Stremnitzer, C., Mlitz, V., Kezic, S., Kammeyer, A., Ghannadan, M., Posa-Markaryan, K., Selden, C., Tschachler, E. & Eckhart, L. Increased sensitivity of histidinemic mice to UVB radiation suggests a crucial role of endogenous urocanic acid in photoprotection. *J Invest Dermatol* **131**, 188-94 (2011).
- 206. Sandilands, A., Terron-Kwiatkowski, A., Hull, P., O'Regan, G., Clayton, T., Watson, R., Carrick, T., Evans, A., Liao, H., Zhao, Y. *et al.* Comprehensive analysis of the gene encoding filaggrin uncovers prevalent and rare mutations in ichthyosis vulgaris and atopic eczema. *Nat Genet* **39**, 650-4 (2007).
- 207. Clevers, H. Modeling Development and Disease with Organoids. *Cell* **165**, 1586-1597 (2016).
- Sen, G.L., Reuter, J.A., Webster, D.E., Zhu, L. & Khavari, P.A. DNMT1 maintains progenitor function in self-renewing somatic tissue. *Nature* 463, 563-7 (2010).
- Amaral, A.F., Minelli, C., Guerra, S., Wjst, M., Probst-Hensch, N., Pin, I., Svanes, C., Janson, C., Heinrich, J. & Jarvis, D.L. The locus C11orf30 increases susceptibility to poly-sensitization. *Allergy* 70, 328-33 (2015).
- 210. de Lange, K.M., Moutsianas, L., Lee, J.C., Lamb, C.A., Luo, Y., Kennedy, N.A., Jostins, L., Rice, D.L., Gutierrez-Achury, J., Ji, S.G. *et al.* Genome-wide association study implicates immune activation of multiple integrin genes in inflammatory bowel disease. *Nat Genet* 49, 256-261 (2017).
- 211. Hughes-Davies, L., Huntsman, D., Ruas, M., Fuks, F., Bye, J., Chin, S., Milner, J., Brown, L., Hsu, F., Gilks, B. *et al.* EMSY links the BRCA2 pathway to sporadic breast and ovarian cancer. *Cell* **115**, 523-35 (2003).

- 212. Abuabara, K., Ye, M., McCulloch, C.E., Sullivan, A., Margolis, D.J., Strachan, D.P., Paternoster, L., Yew, Y.W., Williams, H.C. & Langan, S.M. Clinical onset of atopic eczema: Results from 2 nationally representative British birth cohorts followed through midlife. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 144, 710-719 (2019).
- 213. Eyerich, S., Onken, A.T., Weidinger, S., Franke, A., Nasorri, F., Pennino, D., Grosber, M., Pfab, F., Schmidt-Weber, C.B., Mempel, M. *et al.* Mutual antagonism of T cells causing psoriasis and atopic eczema. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 365, 231-8 (2011).
- 214. Ascott, A., Mulick, A., Yu, A.M., Prieto-Merino, D., Schmidt, M., Abuabara, K., Smeeth, L., Roberts, A. & Langan, S.M. Atopic eczema and major cardiovascular outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis of population-based studies. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 143, 1821-1829 (2019).
- 215. Manolis, A.A., Manolis, T.A., Melita, H. & Manolis, A.S. Psoriasis and cardiovascular disease: the elusive link. *Int Rev Immunol* **38**, 33-54 (2019).
- 216. Strober, B., Gooderham, M., de Jong, E., Kimball, A.B., Langley, R.G., Lakdawala, N., Goyal, K., Lawson, F., Langholff, W., Hopkins, L. *et al.* Depressive symptoms, depression, and the effect of biologic therapy among patients in Psoriasis Longitudinal Assessment and Registry (PSOLAR). *J Am Acad Dermatol* **78**, 70-80 (2018).
- 217. Beck, L.A., Boguniewicz, M., Hata, T., Schneider, L.C., Hanifin, J., Gallo, R., Paller, A.S., Lieff, S., Reese, J., Zaccaro, D. *et al.* Phenotype of atopic dermatitis subjects with a history of eczema herpeticum. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **124**, 260-9, 269 e1-7 (2009).
- 218. Gao, P.S., Rafaels, N.M., Hand, T., Murray, T., Boguniewicz, M., Hata, T., Schneider, L., Hanifin, J.M., Gallo, R.L., Gao, L. *et al.* Filaggrin mutations that confer risk of atopic dermatitis confer greater risk for eczema herpeticum. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **124**, 507-13, 513 e1-7 (2009).
- 219. Sugiura, H., Ebise, H., Tazawa, T., Tanaka, K., Sugiura, Y., Uehara, M., Kikuchi, K. & Kimura, T. Large-scale DNA microarray analysis of atopic skin lesions shows overexpression of an epidermal differentiation gene cluster in the alternative pathway and lack of protective gene expression in the cornified envelope. *Br J Dermatol* **152**, 146-9 (2005).
- 220. Lu, Z.R., Kim, W.S., Cho, I.H., Park, D., Bhak, J., Shi, L., Zhou, H.W., Lee, D.Y., Park, Y.D., Yang, J.M. *et al.* DNA microarray analyses and interactomic predictions for atopic dermatitis. *J Dermatol Sci* 55, 123-5 (2009).
- 221. Nomura, I., Gao, B., Boguniewicz, M., Darst, M.A., Travers, J.B. & Leung, D.Y. Distinct patterns of gene expression in the skin lesions of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis: a gene microarray analysis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 112, 1195-202 (2003).
- 222. Plager, D.A., Leontovich, A.A., Henke, S.A., Davis, M.D., McEvoy, M.T., Sciallis, G.F., 2nd & Pittelkow, M.R. Early cutaneous gene transcription

changes in adult atopic dermatitis and potential clinical implications. *Exp Dermatol* **16**, 28-36 (2007).

- 223. Saaf, A.M., Tengvall-Linder, M., Chang, H.Y., Adler, A.S., Wahlgren, C.F., Scheynius, A., Nordenskjold, M. & Bradley, M. Global expression profiling in atopic eczema reveals reciprocal expression of inflammatory and lipid genes. *PLoS One* **3**, e4017 (2008).
- 224. Ozsolak, F., Platt, A.R., Jones, D.R., Reifenberger, J.G., Sass, L.E., McInerney, P., Thompson, J.F., Bowers, J., Jarosz, M. & Milos, P.M. Direct RNA sequencing. *Nature* 461, 814-8 (2009).
- 225. Ozsolak, F. & Milos, P.M. Single-molecule direct RNA sequencing without cDNA synthesis. *Wiley interdisciplinary reviews. RNA* **2**, 565-70 (2011).
- 226. Landeck, L., Visser, M., Skudlik, C., Brans, R., Kezic, S. & John, S.M. Clinical course of occupational irritant contact dermatitis of the hands in relation to filaggrin genotype status and atopy. *Br J Dermatol* 167, 1302-9 (2012).
- 227. Visser, M.J., Verberk, M.M., Campbell, L.E., McLean, W.H., Calkoen, F., Bakker, J.G., van Dijk, F.J., Bos, J.D. & Kezic, S. Filaggrin loss-of-function mutations and atopic dermatitis as risk factors for hand eczema in apprentice nurses: part II of a prospective cohort study. *Contact Dermatitis* **70**, 139-50 (2014).
- 228. Andersen, Y.M.F., Egeberg, A., Balslev, E., Jorgensen, C.L.T., Szecsi, P.B., Stender, S., Kaae, J., Linneberg, A., Gislason, G., Skov, L. *et al.* Filaggrin lossof-function mutations, atopic dermatitis and risk of actinic keratosis: results from two cross-sectional studies. *J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol* **31**, 1038-1043 (2017).
- 229. Ewald, D.A., Malajian, D., Krueger, J.G., Workman, C.T., Wang, T., Tian, S., Litman, T., Guttman-Yassky, E. & Suarez-Farinas, M. Meta-analysis derived atopic dermatitis (MADAD) transcriptome defines a robust AD signature highlighting the involvement of atherosclerosis and lipid metabolism pathways. *BMC Med Genomics* **8**, 60 (2015).
- 230. van Drongelen, V., Alloul-Ramdhani, M., Danso, M.O., Mieremet, A., Mulder, A., van Smeden, J., Bouwstra, J.A. & Ghalbzouri, A.E. Knockdown of filaggrin does not affect lipid organization and composition in stratum corneum of reconstructed human skin equivalents. *Experimental dermatology* (2013).
- 231. Vavrova, K., Henkes, D., Struver, K., Sochorova, M., Skolova, B., Witting, M.Y., Friess, W., Schreml, S., Meier, R.J., Schafer-Korting, M. *et al.* Filaggrin deficiency leads to impaired lipid profile and altered acidification pathways in a 3D skin construct. *J Invest Dermatol* **134**, 746-753 (2014).
- 232. Baurecht, H., Ruhlemann, M.C., Rodriguez, E., Thielking, F., Harder, I., Erkens, A.S., Stolzl, D., Ellinghaus, E., Hotze, M., Lieb, W. *et al.* Epidermal lipid composition, barrier integrity, and eczematous inflammation are

associated with skin microbiome configuration. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **141**, 1668-1676 e16 (2018).

- 233. Cookson, W.O., Ubhi, B., Lawrence, R., Abecasis, G.R., Walley, A.J., Cox, H.E., Coleman, R., Leaves, N.I., Trembath, R.C., Moffatt, M.F. *et al.* Genetic linkage of childhood atopic dermatitis to psoriasis susceptibility loci. *Nat Genet* 27, 372-3 (2001).
- 234. Weidinger, S., Willis-Owen, S.A., Kamatani, Y., Baurecht, H., Morar, N., Liang, L., Edser, P., Street, T., Rodriguez, E., O'Regan G, M. *et al.* A genomewide association study of atopic dermatitis identifies loci with overlapping effects on asthma and psoriasis. *Human molecular genetics* (2013).
- 235. Kretz, M., Siprashvili, Z., Chu, C., Webster, D.E., Zehnder, A., Qu, K., Lee, C.S., Flockhart, R.J., Groff, A.F., Chow, J. *et al.* Control of somatic tissue differentiation by the long non-coding RNA TINCR. *Nature* 493, 231-5 (2013).
- 236. Cai, P., Otten, A.B.C., Cheng, B., Ishii, M.A., Zhang, W., Huang, B., Qu, K. & Sun, B.K. A genome-wide long noncoding RNA CRISPRi screen identifies PRANCR as a novel regulator of epidermal homeostasis. *Genome Res* 30, 22-34 (2020).
- Patel, C.V., Handy, I., Goldsmith, T. & Patel, R.C. PACT, a stress-modulated cellular activator of interferon-induced double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase, PKR. *J Biol Chem* 275, 37993-8 (2000).
- 238. Kok, K.H., Lui, P.Y., Ng, M.H., Siu, K.L., Au, S.W. & Jin, D.Y. The doublestranded RNA-binding protein PACT functions as a cellular activator of RIG-I to facilitate innate antiviral response. *Cell Host Microbe* 9, 299-309 (2011).
- Guttman-Yassky, E., Nograles, K.E. & Krueger, J.G. Contrasting pathogenesis of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis--part II: immune cell subsets and therapeutic concepts. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 127, 1420-32 (2011).
- Elder, J.T., Bruce, A.T., Gudjonsson, J.E., Johnston, A., Stuart, P.E., Tejasvi, T., Voorhees, J.J., Abecasis, G.R. & Nair, R.P. Molecular dissection of psoriasis: integrating genetics and biology. *J Invest Dermatol* 130, 1213-26 (2010).
- 241. Fania, L., Morelli, M., Scarponi, C., Mercurio, L., Scopelliti, F., Cattani, C., Scaglione, G.L., Tonanzi, T., Pilla, M.A., Pagnanelli, G. *et al.* Paradoxical psoriasis induced by TNF-alpha blockade shows immunological features typical of the early phase of psoriasis development. *J Pathol Clin Res* 6, 55-68 (2020).
- 242. Varma, A. & Levitt, J. Dupilumab-induced phenotype switching from atopic dermatitis to psoriasis. *JAAD Case Rep* **6**, 217-218 (2020).
- 243. NICE. http://guidance.nice.org.uk/CG57/QuickRefGuide/pdf/English.
- 244. SIGN. https://www.sign.ac.uk/assets/sign125.pdf.

- 245. Chalmers, J.R., Haines, R.H., Bradshaw, L.E., Montgomery, A.A., Thomas, K.S., Brown, S.J., Ridd, M.J., Lawton, S., Simpson, E.L., Cork, M.J. *et al.* Daily emollient during infancy for prevention of eczema: the BEEP randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* **395**, 962-972 (2020).
- 246. Samuelov, L. & Sprecher, E. Peeling off the genetics of atopic dermatitis-like congenital disorders. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **134**, 808-15 (2014).
- 247. Lambrecht, B.N. & Hammad, H. The immunology of the allergy epidemic and the hygiene hypothesis. *Nat Immunol* **18**, 1076-1083 (2017).
- 248. Weidinger, S. & Novak, N. Atopic dermatitis. Lancet 387, 1109-1122 (2016).
- 249. Kaufman, B.P., Guttman-Yassky, E. & Alexis, A.F. Atopic dermatitis in diverse racial and ethnic groups-Variations in epidemiology, genetics, clinical presentation and treatment. *Exp Dermatol* **27**, 340-357 (2018).
- 250. Thawer-Esmail, F., Jakasa, I., Todd, G., Wen, Y., Brown, S.J., Kroboth, K., Campbell, L.E., O'Regan, G.M., McLean, W.H., Irvine, A.D. *et al.* South African amaXhosa patients with atopic dermatitis have decreased levels of filaggrin breakdown products but no loss-of-function mutations in filaggrin. J Allergy Clin Immunol 133, 280-2 e1-2 (2014).
- Asad, S., Tapia-Paez, I., Montano Montes, A., Wahlgren, C.F., Bilcha, K.D., Nordenskjold, M. & Bradley, M. Evaluation of Single Nucleotide Variants in Ethiopian Patients with Atopic Dermatitis. *Acta Derm Venereol* 99, 101-102 (2019).
- 252. Winge, M.C., Bilcha, K.D., Lieden, A., Shibeshi, D., Sandilands, A., Wahlgren, C.F., McLean, W.H., Nordenskjold, M. & Bradley, M. Novel filaggrin mutation but no other loss-of-function variants found in Ethiopian patients with atopic dermatitis. *Br J Dermatol* 165, 1074-80 (2011).
- 253. Gurdasani, D., Carstensen, T., Fatumo, S., Chen, G., Franklin, C.S., Prado-Martinez, J., Bouman, H., Abascal, F., Haber, M., Tachmazidou, I. *et al.* Uganda Genome Resource Enables Insights into Population History and Genomic Discovery in Africa. *Cell* **179**, 984-1002 e36 (2019).
- 254. Mucha, S., Baurecht, H., Novak, N., Rodriguez, E., Bej, S., Mayr, G., Emmert, H., Stolzl, D., Gerdes, S., Jung, E.S. *et al.* Protein-coding variants contribute to the risk of atopic dermatitis and skin-specific gene expression. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2019).
- Budu-Aggrey, A. & Paternoster, L. Research Techniques Made Simple: Using Genetic Variants for Randomization. *J Invest Dermatol* 139, 1416-1421 e1 (2019).
- Shaheen, S.O., Rutterford, C., Zuccolo, L., Ring, S.M., Davey Smith, G., Holloway, J.W. & Henderson, A.J. Prenatal alcohol exposure and childhood atopic disease: a Mendelian randomization approach. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 133, 225-32 e1-5 (2014).

- 257. Manousaki, D., Paternoster, L., Standl, M., Moffatt, M.F., Farrall, M., Bouzigon, E., Strachan, D.P., Demenais, F., Lathrop, M., Cookson, W. *et al.* Vitamin D levels and susceptibility to asthma, elevated immunoglobulin E levels, and atopic dermatitis: A Mendelian randomization study. *PLoS Med* 14, e1002294 (2017).
- 258. McGowan, L.M., Davey Smith, G., Gaunt, T.R. & Richardson, T.G. Integrating Mendelian randomization and multiple-trait colocalization to uncover cell-specific inflammatory drivers of autoimmune and atopic disease. *Hum Mol Genet* 28, 3293-3300 (2019).
- 259. Budu-Aggrey, A., Brumpton, B., Tyrrell, J., Watkins, S., Modalsli, E.H., Celis-Morales, C., Ferguson, L.D., Vie, G.A., Palmer, T., Fritsche, L.G. *et al.* Evidence of a causal relationship between body mass index and psoriasis: A mendelian randomization study. *PLoS Med* 16, e1002739 (2019).
- Kamb, A., Harper, S. & Stefansson, K. Human genetics as a foundation for innovative drug development. *Nat Biotechnol* **31**, 975-8 (2013).
- 261. Dugger, S.A., Platt, A. & Goldstein, D.B. Drug development in the era of precision medicine. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **17**, 183-196 (2018).
- 262. Kong, H.H., Oh, J., Deming, C., Conlan, S., Grice, E.A., Beatson, M.A., Nomicos, E., Polley, E.C., Komarow, H.D., Murray, P.R. *et al.* Temporal shifts in the skin microbiome associated with disease flares and treatment in children with atopic dermatitis. *Genome research* 22, 850-9 (2012).
- 263. Grice, E.A. The intersection of microbiome and host at the skin interface: genomic- and metagenomic-based insights. *Genome Res* **25**, 1514-20 (2015).
- 264. Simpson, E.L., Chalmers, J.R., Hanifin, J.M., Thomas, K.S., Cork, M.J., McLean, W.H., Brown, S.J., Chen, Z., Chen, Y. & Williams, H.C. Emollient enhancement of the skin barrier from birth offers effective atopic dermatitis prevention. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 134, 818-23 (2014).
- 265. Horimukai, K., Morita, K., Narita, M., Kondo, M., Kitazawa, H., Nozaki, M., Shigematsu, Y., Yoshida, K., Niizeki, H., Motomura, K. *et al.* Application of moisturizer to neonates prevents development of atopic dermatitis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 134, 824-830 e6 (2014).
- Skjerven, H.O., Rehbinder, E.M., Vettukattil, R., LeBlanc, M., Granum, B., Haugen, G., Hedlin, G., Landro, L., Marsland, B.J., Rudi, K. *et al.* Skin emollient and early complementary feeding to prevent infant atopic dermatitis (PreventADALL): a factorial, multicentre, cluster-randomised trial. *Lancet* 395, 951-961 (2020).

Publication	Proportion and nature of contribution				
Cole C, Kroboth K, Schurch NJ,	I contributed to the conception, design				
Sandilands A, Sherstnev A, et al.,	and conduct of this study; I carried out all				
Watson RM, McLean WHI, Barton	practical procedures and sample				
GJ, Irvine AD and Brown SJ.	processing; I guided and supervised the				
Filaggrin-stratified transcriptome	statistical analysis of DRS data; I led the				
analysis of paediatric skin identifies	interpretation and validation of findings; I				
mechanistic pathways in atopic	wrote the first draft of the manuscript and				
dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol.	coordinated all edits before submission				
2014; 134(1):82-91.	for publication.				
Forbes D, Johnston L, Gardner J,	I contributed to the conception, design				
MacCallum SF, Campbell LE,	and conduct of this study; I contributed to				
Dinkova-Kostova A, McLean WHI,	the statistical analysis of data and				
Ibbotson SH, Dawe RS and Brown SJ.	interpretation of the findings; I wrote the				
Filaggrin genotype does not determine	first draft of the manuscript and				
the skin's threshold to UV-induced	coordinated all edits before submission				
erythema. J Allergy Clin Immunol	for publication.				
2016;137(4):1280-2.					
Elias MS, Wright SC, Nicholson WV,	I designed this study and contributed to				
Morrison KD, Prescott AR, Ten Have	the practical work; I guided and				
S, Whitfield PD, Lamond AI and	supervised all aspects of the analysis and				
Brown SJ. Functional and proteomic	led the interpretation and validation of				
analysis of a full thickness filaggrin-	findings; I wrote the first draft of the				
deficient skin organoid model.	manuscript and coordinated all edits				
Wellcome Open Res. 2019, 4:134.	before submission for publication.				
Elias MS, Wright SC, Remenyi J,	I designed this study and contributed to				
Abbott JC, Bray SE, Cole C, Edwards	the practical work; I guided and				
S, Gierlinski M, Glok M, McGrath JA,	supervised all aspects of the analysis and				
Nicholson WV, Paternoster L, Prescott	led the interpretation and validation of				
AR, Have ST, Whitfield PD, Lamond	findings; I wrote the first draft of the				

APPENDIX I: Statement of authorship

AI and Brown SJ. EMSY expression	manuscript and coordinated all edits
affects multiple components of skin	before submission for publication.
barrier with relevance to atopic	
dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol.	
2019 Aug;144(2):470-481.	
Paternoster, L Savenije OEM, Heron	I contributed to the conception, design
J, Evans DM, Vonk JM, Brunekreef B,	and conduct of this study; the latent class
Wijga AH, Henderson AJ, Koppelman	analyses were carried out by
GH and Brown SJ. Identification of	collaborators (Paternoster and Savenije)
atopic dermatitis subgroups in children	with my guidance; I led the interpretation
from two longitudinal birth cohorts. J	of findings; I co-wrote the first and final
Allergy Clin Immunol	drafts of the manuscript with major
2018;141(3):964-971.	contributions to the clinical
	interpretations and discussion.
Baurecht H, Hotze M, Brand S,	I conceived this study and contributed to
Büning C, Cormican P, Corvin A,	the design; novel methods of statistical
Ellinghaus D, Ellinghaus E, Esparza-	analysis were designed by Cordell and
Gordillo J, Fölster-Holst R, Franke A,	analysis was conducted principally by
Gieger C, Hubner N, Illig T, Irvine	Cordell and Baurecht with discussion and
AD, Kabesch M, Lee Y AE, Lieb W,	guidance from Weidinger and myself; I
Marenholz I, McLean WHI, Morris	led the interpretation and discussion of
DW, Mrowietz U, Nair R, Nöthen	findings; I wrote the first draft of the
MM, Novak N, O'Regan GM, PAGE	manuscript and coordinated all edits
consortium, Schreiber S, Smith C,	before submission for publication.
Strauch K, Stuart PE, Trembath R,	
Tsoi LC, Weichenthal M, Barker J,	
Elder JT, Weidinger S, Cordell HJ and	
Brown SJ. Genome-wide comparative	
analysis of atopic dermatitis and	
psoriasis gives insight into opposing	
genetic mechanisms. Am J Hum	
Genet. 2015; 96(1):104-20.	

APPENDIX II: Published manuscripts

Filaggrin-stratified transcriptome analysis of paediatric skin identifies mechanistic pathways in atopic dermatitis.

Filaggrin-stratified transcriptomic analysis of pediatric skin identifies mechanistic pathways in patients with atopic dermatitis

Christian Cole, PhD,^a Karin Kroboth, MSc,^b Nicholas J. Schurch, PhD,^a Aileen Sandilands, PhD,^b Alexander Sherstnev, PhD,^a Grainne M. O'Regan, MRCPI,^c Rosemarie M. Watson, MD,^c W. H. Irwin McLean, DSc,^b Geoffrey J. Barton, PhD,^a Alan D. Irvine, MD,^{c,d,e} and Sara J. Brown, MD^{b,d} Dundee, United Kingdom, and Dublin, Ireland

Background: Atopic dermatitis (AD; eczema) is characterized by a widespread abnormality in cutaneous barrier function and propensity to inflammation. Filaggrin is a multifunctional protein and plays a key role in skin barrier formation. Loss-of-function mutations in the gene encoding filaggrin (*FLG*) are a highly significant risk factor for atopic disease, but the molecular mechanisms leading to dermatitis remain unclear. Objective: We sought to interrogate tissue-specific variations in the expressed genome in the skin of children with AD and to investigate underlying pathomechanisms in atopic skin. Methods: We applied single-molecule direct RNA sequencing to analyze the whole transcriptome using minimal tissue samples.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2014.04.021

Uninvolved skin biopsy specimens from 26 pediatric patients with AD were compared with site-matched samples from 10 nonatopic teenage control subjects. Cases and control subjects were screened for FLG genotype to stratify the data set. **Results:** Two thousand four hundred thirty differentially expressed genes (false discovery rate, P < .05) were identified, of which 211 were significantly upregulated and 490 downregulated by greater than 2-fold. Gene ontology terms for "extracellular space" and "defense response" were enriched, whereas "lipid metabolic processes" were downregulated. The subset of FLG wild-type cases showed dysregulation of genes involved with lipid metabolism, whereas filaggrin haploinsufficiency affected global gene expression and was characterized by a type 1 interferon-mediated stress response. Conclusion: These analyses demonstrate the importance of extracellular space and lipid metabolism in atopic skin pathology independent of FLG genotype, whereas an aberrant defense response is seen in subjects with FLG mutations. Genotype stratification of the large data set has facilitated functional interpretation and might guide future therapy development. (J Allergy Clin Immunol 2014;134:82-91.)

Key words: Atopic dermatitis, direct RNA sequencing, eczema, filaggrin, gene expression, single molecule, skin, tissue, transcriptome

Atopic dermatitis (AD; atopic eczema or eczema) is an itchy inflammatory skin disease with a spectrum of clinical skin phenotypes.^{1,2} The pathology of eczematous skin is characterized by epidermal intercellular edema and a barrier dysfunction resulting in increased transcutaneous water loss and increased penetration of external allergens and irritants.³ A subset of patients with AD show greater susceptibility to bacterial⁴ and viral⁵ infection.

Previous studies have investigated the transcriptome in atopic and eczematous skin by using microarray technologies and quantitative PCR, identifying a variety of pathomechanisms, including abnormalities in epidermal differentiation,⁶⁻⁸ inflammatory pathways,⁹⁻¹⁴ and lipid homeostasis.^{12,15,16} However, microarray analysis is intrinsically restricted by preselection of genes represented on an array and by annotations from which gene expression is quantified.¹⁷ Sequencing RNA is now an established methodology to study gene expression without the restriction of gene preselection.¹⁸ We chose to use single-molecule direct RNA sequencing (DRS)^{19,20} as the optimal methodology for quantification of the relatively small amounts of mRNA available from pediatric skin biopsy samples. DRS offers accurate quantification of polyadenylated RNA, avoiding bias that might

From ^athe Division of Computational Biology, College of Life Sciences, University of Dundee; ^bthe Centre for Dermatology and Genetic Medicine, Division of Molecular Medicine, Colleges of Life Sciences and Medicine, Dentistry & Nursing, University of Dundee; ^cthe Department of Dermatology and ^dNational Children's Research Centre, Our Lady's Children's Hospital, Crumlin, Dublin; and ^eClinical Medicine, Trinity College Dublin.

Supported by the Wellcome Trust (Intermediate Clinical Fellowship WT086398MA to SJB and Programme Grant 092530/Z/10/Z to W.H.I.M., G.J.B., and A.D.I.). The Centre for Dermatology and Genetic Medicine, University of Dundee is supported by a Wellcome Trust Strategic Award (098439/Z/12/Z to W.H.I.M. and G.J.B.). This work was supported by the National Children's Research Centre Dublin, Ireland (grant E/10/3 to A.D.I. and S.J.B.) and the Anonymous Trustees, Dundee, United Kingdom (to S.J.B.).

Disclosure of potential conflict of interest: C. Cole has received research support from the Wellcome Trust (098439/Z/12/Z) and has received travel support from Nottingham University. K. Kroboth, A. Sandilands, W. H. Irwin McLean, and G. J. Barton have received research support from the Wellcome Trust. N. J. Schurch has received research support from SULSA (the Scottish Universities Life Sciences Alliance). A. D. Irvine has received research support from the Wellcome Trust and the National Children's Research Centre (E/10/3); has received lecture fees from Nutricia, Janssen, and Nestlé; and has received royalties from Blackwell Wiley. S. J. Brown has received research support from the Wellcome Trust Intermediate Clinical Fellowship (WT086398MA) and has received honoraria for speaking at the AAAAI annual meetings in 2012 and 2013. The rest of the authors declare that they have no relevant conflicts of interest.

Received for publication March 5, 2014; revised March 28, 2014; accepted for publication April 24, 2014.

Available online May 28, 2014.

Corresponding author: Sara J. Brown, MD, Centre for Dermatology and Genetic Medicine, Division of Molecular Medicine, Colleges of Life Sciences and Medicine, Dentistry & Nursing, University of Dundee, Dundee DD1 5EH, United Kingdom. E-mail: s.j.brown@dundee.ac.uk. Or: Alan D. Irvine, MD, Department of Dermatology, Our Lady's Children's Hospital, Crumlin, Dublin 12, Ireland. E-mail: irvinea@tcd.ie. Or: Geoffrey J. Barton, PhD, Division of Computational Biology, College of Life Sciences, University of Dundee, Dundee DD1 5EH, United Kingdom. E-mail: g.j.barton@dundee.ac.uk.

⁰⁰⁹¹⁻⁶⁷⁴⁹

^{© 2014} The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. on behalf of the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

Abbreviations used	
AD: Atopic dermatitis	
CILP: Cartilage intermediate layer protein gene	
DRS: Direct RNA sequencing	
eQTL: Expression quantitative trait loci	
FDR: False discovery rate	
FLG: Filaggrin gene	
GO: Gene ontology	
STAT: Signal transducer and activator of transcription	

be introduced by the steps of reverse transcription, ligation, and amplification in other forms of RNA sequencing. In addition, DRS provided information on the DNA strand from which the mRNA was transcribed; this facilitates more accurate alignment of reads to genes in the complex overlapping regions that are common in the human genome.²¹

The finding that loss-of-function mutations in the skin barrier gene encoding filaggrin (FLG) are strongly and significantly associated with AD risk^{22,23} has focused attention on skin barrier dysfunction as a primary pathogenic mechanism. Filaggrin deficiency appears to play a central role in the pathogenesis of AD. Filaggrin expression can be downregulated by T_{H2} cytokines²⁴⁻²⁶ and atopic inflammation,^{27,28} whereas *FLG* intragenic copy number variation influences AD risk in a dose-dependent fashion, even in the absence of FLG null mutations.²⁹ Filaggrin is expressed initially as a long insoluble polyprotein, profilaggrin, which is cleaved to produce functional monomers that aggregate and align keratin filaments.³ Filaggrin is thereafter degraded in a multistep proteolysis to release hygroscopic amino acids, contributing to the skin's "natural moisturizing factor."^{31,32} The mechanisms by which the multifunctional profilaggrin/filaggrin proteins lead to AD, as well as atopic asthma, allergic rhinitis, food sensitization, and peanut allergy, have been the focus of intense study over recent years.³³

We sought to undertake a comprehensive analysis of the primary molecular abnormalities in atopic skin using accurate quantification of the transcriptome in pediatric patients with AD compared with nonatopic teenage control subjects. *FLG* genotype was used to define subphenotypes for the stratification of this large data set. Uninvolved skin was chosen to study the underlying pathomechanisms of AD without the confounding effects of secondary inflammation or infection. Our strategy for analysis was stepwise, as follows: (1) all cases compared with all control subjects, (2) case-control comparison stratified by *FLG* genotype, and (3) case-case comparison stratified by *FLG* genotype (Fig 1).

METHODS Study subjects: Patients with AD

This study was reviewed and approved by the research ethics board at Our Lady's Children's Hospital, Dublin, Ireland (reference: SAC/119/09 26). Pediatric patients with AD of Irish ethnicity attending the dermatology department were invited to participate. Twenty-six children aged 6 to 16 years and their parents/guardians provided written informed consent; 19 were male, and 7 were female (Table I). Each child had a history of chronic relapsing AD diagnosed by experienced pediatric dermatologists (G.M.O'R., R.M.W., A.D.I., and S.J.B.) and moderate or severe disease, as defined according to the Nottingham Eczema Severity Score.³⁴ Children with a history of current or previous treatment with systemic

immunomodulatory medication were excluded. The area of biopsy was not treated with topical steroids for 4 weeks before sampling, and emollients were not applied for 2 days before biopsy. A single punch biopsy specimen of 3 to 4 mm in diameter was taken from each child after local anesthetic injection and standard aseptic technique from the upper outer buttock skin. Clinically uninvolved skin was sampled and protected skin on the buttock was chosen to minimize differences resulting from UV exposure and variation in environmental humidity.³⁵ Batch effects and RNA degradation were minimized because samples were collected by 2 clinicians (G.M.O'R. and S.J.B.), and the biopsy specimens were immediately snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen before storage in a single -80° C freezer before simultaneous processing. The study subjects had previously provided blood samples for DNA extraction as part of the ongoing National Children's Research Centre AD Case Collection.³⁶

Study subjects: Nonatopic control subjects

The collection of samples from healthy volunteers was reviewed and approved by the East of Scotland Research Ethics Service, United Kingdom (LR/11/ES/0043). Nonatopic teenage volunteers with 4 grandparents of Irish or Scottish descent were recruited. Skin biopsy specimens were collected in the same way as for the patients with pediatric AD, and 5 mL of venous blood was collected for DNA extraction.

RNA extraction and quality control

The protocol for extraction of total RNA of greater than 200 nucleotides in length from tissue by using the Qiagen RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Manchester, United Kingdom) was modified and optimized, as follows. Working on dry ice, subcutaneous fat was trimmed from the skin biopsy specimen, and the remaining sample was placed in a 2-mL sample tube RB (Qiagen, UK) with 600 µL of Buffer RLT (Qiagen, UK) and one 7-mm stainless steel bead (Qiagen, UK). The sample was disrupted and homogenized at 4°C in a Qiagen TissueLyser LT for 5 minutes at 50 oscillations per second. RNA extraction then proceeded according to a standard protocol with 2 final elution steps each using 30 µL of RNase-free water and centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 90 seconds. Spectrophotometry (Nano-Drop ND-1000 spectrophotometer; Thermo Scientific, Uppsala, Sweden) and a microfluidics platform for size analysis and quantification (Agilent 2100 Bioanalyser; Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, Calif) were used for quality control. This protocol yielded 2.5 to 10.8 µg per sample of RNA with an $A_{260/280}$ ratio of 1.9 to 2.1.

FLG genotyping

Genomic DNA samples extracted from blood were initially screened for *FLG* null mutations with TaqMan allelic discrimination assays (TaqMan, Applied Biosystems 7700 sequence detection system; Applied Biosystems, Foster City, Calif), as previously described.³⁷ Next-generation deep sequencing of 25 cases and all 10 control subjects identified additional mutations that were confirmed by using Sanger sequencing.

Measurement of global transcript abundance

DRS was performed on a HeliScope Sequencer (Helicos, Cambridge, Mass) with 500 ng of extracted RNA, as previously described.¹⁹ RNA molecules are captured by the poly-A tail, and the single molecule of mRNA is directly sequenced from the 3' end, producing reads up to 70 bp in length (median, 32 bp).

DRS read processing

Details of sequence alignment and analysis are presented in the Methods section in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org. DRS resulted in 480 million reads across all 36 samples, providing gene expression data for 11,259 genes. The raw data are deposited at the European Genome-Phenome Archive (EGAS00001000823/EGAC00001000200); processed data are available at polyAdb (http://www.compbio.dundee.ac.uk/polyAdb)



FIG 1. Flow diagram summarizing study design and analysis strategy. het, Heterozygous.

TABLE I. *FLG* genotype and demographic data for 26 pediatric patients with moderate-to-severe AD and 10 nonatopic control subjects

Phenotype	FLG genotype	No. (%)	Mean age (y [range; SD])	Male sex, no. (%)
Cases	Wild-type	7 (27)	12.3 (9-15; 2.8)	7 (100)
	Heterozygous	12 (46)	11.6 (6-16; 3.4)	8 (67)
	Compound heterozygous	7 (27)	10.7 (6-13; 3.4)	4 (57)
	Total	26	11.5 (6-16; 3.2)	19 (73)
Control subjects	Wild-type	8 (80)	17.9 (16-19; 0.8)	4 (50)
	Heterozygous	2 (20)	18.0 (18-18; 0.0)	2 (100)
	Compound heterozygous	0 (0)	NA	0 (0)
	Total	10	17.9 (16-19; 0.7)	6 (60)

Cases were diagnosed by experienced pediatric dermatologists (G.M.O'R., R.M.W., A.D.I., and S.J.B.), and severity was defined by using the Nottingham eczema severity score.³⁴ Heterozygous mutations in the cases were p.R501X (n = 6) and c.2282del4 (n = 6), and those in the control subjects were p.R501X (n = 1) and c.5690delA (n = 1). Compound heterozygous genotypes (each n = 1) were p.R501X/c.2282del4, p.R501X/p.S3247X, p.R501X/p.G1139X, p.R501X/p.S1280X, c.2282del4/p.R1474X, p.S1040X/c.10885delC, and p.S608X/p.Y2092X.

NA, Not applicable.

and can be viewed in the Integrated Genome Browser or as data tracks at www. ensembl.org. Scripts for performing analysis and generating the figures that accompany this article are available at polyAdb (http://www.compbio. dundee.ac.uk/polyAdb).

Differential gene expression and *FLG* correlation analyses

EdgeR (version 2.6.12 in R version 2.15.1) analysis was performed with generalized linear models to control for sex bias between comparisons. Unless otherwise stated, genes were called as significantly differentially expressed if the Benjamini-Hochberg corrected false discovery rate (FDR) was less than 0.05.³⁸ All-against-all correlation of gene expression across individual samples was performed with the Pearson method. Further details are presented in the Methods section in this article's Online Repository.

Gene ontology analysis and functional protein network analysis

Gene ontology (GO) has been developed to provide a controlled vocabulary of terms to describe the characteristics of genes and gene products with standardization across species and between databases. This allows the bioinformatic analysis of GO terms in large data sets for thematic classification. GO analyses were performed with AmiGO gene ontology version 1.8 (http://amigo.geneontology.org/cgi-bin/amigo/search.cgi?action=advanced_query). Functional protein association networks were investigated *in silico* by using STRING_{9.05} (http://string-db.org/).

Quantitative PCR analysis

RNA (1.4 ng) was converted to cDNA by using the High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems), according to a standard protocol. Aliquots of RNA extracted from atopic skin samples were analyzed in triplicate by using real-time quantitative PCR performed according to standard protocols with the TaqMan 7900HT Fast (Applied Biosystems) with normalization to glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (*GAPDH*).



Correlation with FLG expression (r)

FIG 2. Scatterplots showing correlation of gene expression levels with *FLG* expression. The fold change of significantly differentially expressed genes (FDR P < .05) is plotted against the Pearson correlation coefficient for correlation with *FLG* expression. Each point represents expression of a single gene. *FLG* is marked in *orange*. **A**, Correlation of *FLG* wild-type (n = 7) compared with *FLG* heterozygous (n = 12) samples. **B**, Correlation of *FLG* wild-type (n = 7) versus *FLG* compound heterozygous (n = 7) samples.

RESULTS

Seventy-three percent of patients with AD carry 1 or more *FLG* null mutations

Our comprehensive screen for *FLG* null mutations revealed a high proportion of mutation carriers (19/26 [73%] of cases, Table I), reflecting the severity of disease and enrichment for coexisting ichthyotic skin phenotype. One heterozygous mutation, p.Y2092X, is reported for the first time. Two (20%) of 10 control subjects were heterozygous for an *FLG* null mutation (Table I).

FLG genotype affects global gene expression

Gene expression between samples was highly correlated (Pearson r = 0.81-0.99, see Fig E1 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org), and comparison of the control samples with AD cases revealed no obvious clustering by phenotype or *FLG* genotype (see Fig E2 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org). This highlights the subtlety of changes in gene expression in uninvolved atopic skin. The samples do not cluster according to age, providing some assurance that the use of samples from older subjects in the control group does not result in bias to account for the observed differences in transcriptional profile. However, in contrast, correlation with *FLG* gene expression showed a striking global change between samples of different *FLG* genotypes (Fig 2).

"Defence response" and "extracellular region" genes are overexpressed in atopic skin, whilst "lipid metabolic processes" and "small molecule metabolic processes" are downregulated

Comparing all 26 cases with all 10 control subjects showed 2430 differentially expressed genes with an FDR of less than 0.05,

including 211 with a fold change of greater than 2.0 and 490 genes with a fold change of less than 0.5. The full list is shown in Table E1 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline. org. GO analysis identified the most highly significant terms in the greater than 2.0-fold upregulated genes as "defense response" (28 genes, FDR: $P = 7.1 \times 10^{-07}$), the "extracellular region" or "extracellular space" (each 32 genes, FDR: $P = 1.8 \times 10^{-3}$) and "receptor binding" (23 genes, FDR: $P = 5.7 \times 10^{-3}$). The most highly significant terms in the less than 0.5-fold downregulated genes were "lipid metabolic process" (52 genes, FDR: $P = 6.6 \times 10^{-11}$), "small molecule metabolic process" (76 genes, FDR: $P = 6.6 \times 10^{-11}$), and "organic acid metabolic process" (44 genes, FDR: $P = 6.6 \times 10^{-11}$). The full list is shown in Table E2 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org.

Analysis of the significantly upregulated genes identified predicted protein interaction networks classified as "defense response," "extracellular region," and "receptor binding" (see Fig E3 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org). Significantly downregulated genes show predicted functional networks within "lipid metabolic processes," "small molecule metabolism," and "organic acid metabolic processes" (see Fig E4 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org).

FLG wild-type subjects show dysregulation of genes involved with lipid metabolism and upregulation of extracellular matrix terms

Analysis of the 8 *FLG* wild-type control subjects compared with the 7 *FLG* wild-type cases identified 401 differentially expressed genes with an FDR of less than 0.05, including 105 with a fold change of greater than 2.0 and 87 with a fold change of less than 0.5 (the full list can be found in Table E3 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org).



FIG 3. Network analysis of lipid metabolism genes differentially expressed in *FLG* wild-type AD cases compared with *FLG* wild-type control subjects. Twenty-one significantly differentially expressed genes (defined as FDR: *P* < .05 and fold change >2.0 or <0.05) were classified with the GO terms "lipid metabolic process" (n = 13), "cellular lipid metabolism" (n = 13), "lipid particle" (n = 4), and "triglyceride catabolism" (n = 3). Linear connectors indicate evidence for association in published data sets (STRING_{9.05}; accessed March 3, 2014).

Significant GO terms in the transcripts upregulated more than 2.0fold included "extracellular region" (17 genes, FDR: $P = 3.0 \times 10^{-3}$) and "lipid particle" (4 genes, FDR: $P = 3.0 \times 10^{-3}$). Significantly downregulated transcripts (fold change <0.5) were classified with the GO terms "cellular lipid metabolic process" (13 genes, FDR: $P = 1.6 \times 10^{-3}$) and "lipid metabolic process" (13 genes, FDR: $P = 2.7 \times 10^{-2}$; the full list can be found in Table E2). In silico protein network analysis of the differentially expressed lipid metabolism genes shows a predicted network involving both upregulated and downregulated transcripts (Fig 3).

Case-control analysis stratified by *FLG* genotype shows upregulated defense response cytokines and downregulated "steroid metabolic process"

Analysis stratified according to *FLG* genotype was performed to investigate the mechanisms by which filaggrin haploinsufficiency might predispose to the development of AD. The 8 *FLG* wild-type control subjects were compared with the 7 compound heterozygous cases, revealing 816 differentially expressed transcripts (FDR <0.05). These included 137 with a fold change of greater than 2.0 and 266 with a fold change of less than 0.5 (the full list can be found in Table E4 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org). Significant GO terms in the upregulated transcripts included "defense response" (17 genes, FDR: $P = 2.3 \times 10^{-4}$) and "response to biotic stimulus" (14 genes, FDR: $P = 2.3 \times 10^{-4}$), "chemokine activity" (5 genes, FDR: $P = 1.3 \times 10^{-3}$), and "chemokine receptor binding" (5 genes, FDR: $P = 1.3 \times 10^{-3}$; full list shown Table E2). In silico protein network analysis of the upregulated transcripts demonstrated a functional network of chemokines and cytokines in the defense response, including both T_H1- and T_H2-associated transcripts: *CXCL9*, *CXCL10*, *CCL13*, *CCL18*, *SELE*, *IFI27*, and *IRF1* (see Fig E5, *A*, in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org). The most significant GO term in the transcripts downregulated less than 0.5-fold was "steroid metabolic process" (14 genes, FDR: $P = 3.6 \times 10^{-3}$, see Table E2).

Analysis of the 8 *FLG* wild-type control subjects compared with 12 *FLG* heterozygous cases revealed 1139 differentially expressed transcripts (FDR, <0.05) in which 104 are significantly upregulated (fold change, >2.0) and 313 are significantly downregulated (fold change, <0.5; the full list can be found in Table E5 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org). The upregulated transcripts showed enrichment for GO terms in the "defense response" (16 genes, FDR: $P = 7.6 \times 10^{-3}$) forming a predicted protein network analogous to that seen in the wild-type control subject versus compound heterozygous case comparison, with the addition of *GRIN2B*, *GRIK2*, and *MNDA* (see Fig E5, *B*). Genes classified for the ontology terms "receptor binding" (15 genes, FDR: $P = 2.9 \times 10^{-12}$), "cytokine activity" (7 genes, FDR: $P = 3.2 \times 10^{-6}$) were also significantly upregulated. The most highly significant GO term in the transcripts downregulated less than 0.5-fold were "small molecule metabolic process" (60 genes, FDR: $P = 3.1 \times 10^{-10}$), "carboxylic acid metabolic process," and "oxoacid metabolic process" (each 35 genes and FDR: $P = 3.1 \times 10^{-10}$; the full list can be found in Table E2).

FLG mRNA shows a stepwise reduction in patients with AD, and there might be upregulation of expression in *FLG* wild-type atopic skin

FLG mRNA–normalized read counts show a stepwise reduction from *FLG* wild-type to *FLG* heterozygous and compound heterozygous patients with AD (Fig 4). This indicates that a form of nonsense-mediated decay occurs in the context of an *FLG* null mutation, although mature mRNA transcripts are still detectable even in those subjects with 2 *FLG* null mutations (Fig 4). Comparison of all cases with all control subjects showed no significant difference in *FLG* mRNA levels (P > .05), but there is significantly greater mRNA expression in wild-type AD cases than wild-type control subjects ($P = 3.0 \times 10^{-3}$), suggesting that there might be a compensatory upregulation of *FLG* mRNA in atopic skin of *FLG* wild-type subjects.

Differentially expressed transcripts at loci near to regions identified by genome-wide association studies indicate expression quantitative trait loci

Significantly differentially expressed transcripts in the case-control analysis were compared with AD-associated single nucleotide polymorphisms from published genome-wide association studies (see the Methods section in this article's Online Repository). Seventeen putative expression quantitative trait loci (*cis*-eQTLs) were identified on the basis of a transcript proximity of less than 250 kb between the single nucleotide polymorphism site and the 5' end of the transcript (see Table E6 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org).³⁹ Four of the proposed *cis*-eQTLs correspond to previously reported AD candidate genes (*FLG, TNXB, C110RF30*, and *ZNF652*), whereas 13 represent novel candidates (see Table E6).

Analysis of cases stratified by *FLG* genotype shows differential expression of cartilage intermediate layer protein *(CILP)*

A comparison of the 26 cases stratified by FLG genotype was performed to investigate filaggrin-associated mechanisms in AD pathogenesis; this comparison also represents the most closely matched samples to control for age-specific differences. A total of 201 genes were differentially expressed (unadjusted P < .01): 87 genes were differentially expressed in the FLG wild-type cases versus compound heterozygous cases, and 127 were differentially expressed in the wild-type versus heterozygote comparison (see Table E7 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org). Forty-one genes showed a fold change of greater than 2.0 or less than 0.5. After controlling for multiple testing, 2 genes showed a statistically significant difference in expression: *FLG* (FDR: $P = 6.1 \times 10^{-12}$; fold change, 0.3) and cartilage intermediate layer protein (CILP; FDR: P = .03; fold change, 0.2). The differential expression of FLG, CILP, and selected other transcripts was validated by using quantitative PCR with aliquots of the previously extracted RNA samples



FIG 4. Box plot showing *FLG* mRNA read counts in different AD phenotypes and *FLG* genotypes. Gene expression was normalized across all samples with EdgeR: 8 wild-type control subjects, 7 wild-type AD cases, 12 heterozygous cases, and 7 compound heterozygous cases.

(see Table E8 in this article's Online Repository at www. jacionline.org).

GO analysis of the 127 transcripts showing differential expression between *FLG* wild-type and compound heterozygous cases showed the highest number of genes to be associated with "extracellular region" (28 genes, including *FLG* and *CILP*; FDR: $P = 8.7 \times 10^{-3}$), "carbohydrate binding" (12 genes, FDR: $P = 5.6 \times 10^{-3}$), and "calcium ion binding" (14 genes, including *FLG*; FDR: P = .02; the full list can be found in Table E9 in this article's Online Repository at www. jacionline.org).

FLG expression correlates with gene expression in the extracellular space and is anticorrelated with a network of defense response genes

Correlation of gene expression with *FLG* expression was used to investigate filaggrin-related mechanisms and pathways in atopic skin. Twenty genes show strong correlation with *FLG* expression (each r > 0.98 and P < .05), including 7 classified within the extracellular region: *CA2* (carbonic anhydrase 2), *COL12A1* (collagen, type XII, alpha 1), *MUCL1* (mucin-like 1), *PIP* (prolactin-induced protein), *PRELP* (proline/arginine-rich and leucine-rich repeat protein), *SCGB1D2* (secretoglobin, family 1D, member 2), and *ZG16B* (zymogen granule protein 16 homolog B; the full list can be found in Table E10 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org).

The expression levels of 6 genes were strongly anticorrelated with *FLG* expression (each r < -0.98, see Table E10); 5 of these 6 genes formed a predicted network (Fig 5). Significant GO terms associated with this network include "response to virus" (4 genes, FDR: $P = 5.1 \times 10^{-3}$), "cellular response to type I interferon," "response to type I interferon," and "type I interferon–mediated signaling pathway" (each 3 genes, FDR: $P = 6.3 \times 10^{-3}$). Combining these 6 anticorrelated and upregulated genes with the 17 defense response genes that are upregulated in the *FLG* genotype–stratified case-control analyses (see Table E2) shows a common predicted functional network of "defense response" (20 genes, FDR: 5.6×10^{-18} ; Fig 6).

DISCUSSION

The identification of genes involved in the pathogenesis of AD represents a significant challenge because of the clinical heterogeneity and complexity of multiple interrelated genetic and environmental mechanisms in patients with this disease. The identification of null mutations within the gene encoding filaggrin *(FLG)* as a strong and significant risk factor for AD^{22} represented a fundamental breakthrough in understanding pathogenesis.³³ The strong effect of filaggrin haploinsufficiency can be used to define AD subphenotypes clinically,⁴⁰ and we have applied this insight for stratification of the large and complex data set generated by using transcriptomic analysis.

This study used DRS to quantify the whole transcriptome of atopic skin in a unique collection of pediatric AD skin biopsy specimens; it represents the largest collection of AD skin transcriptomes reported to date. Skin offers the advantage of sampling the tissue of interest, maximizing power to detect expression traits correlating with clinical phenotype.⁴¹ Importantly, the histopathology of clinically uninvolved atopic skin demonstrates an absence of inflammatory cell infiltrate, and gene expression changes are therefore likely to represent keratinocyte-related mechanisms rather than those from any other cell type. The skin of patients with AD shows epidermal barrier dysfunction, which can be demonstrated in nonlesional (clinically uninvolved) skin, as well as areas of active eczema.^{42,43} Nonlesional skin was sampled to focus on the intrinsic biological abnormality in atopic skin and to exclude, as far as possible, the secondary effects of inflammation in patients with active dermatitis and secondary infection, which would confound the mRNA profile.^{6,10} The cutaneous gene expression profile is known to vary by age, sex, and, most significantly, body site.⁴⁴ This study included case-case comparison for optimal matching in age and skin site, and our case-control samples were carefully matched for body site and sex. Age matching in the case-control analysis was limited by the availability of skin biopsy samples from healthy children; however, the data obtained from biopsy specimens of teenage volunteers showed no clustering by age (see Fig E2). Furthermore, the differentially expressed defense response genes formed an overlapping network with the age-matched case-case analyses. DRS allows accurate quantification of mRNA species. The confirmation of findings from previous microarray studies and consistency with our own quantitative PCR studies provide support for the validity of DRS as a novel technique for the investigation of AD pathogenesis.

We have shown that genes encoding proteins in the extracellular space are differentially expressed in atopic skin, with upregulation in patients with AD compared with that seen in control subjects (see Table E2). Conversely, 7 genes encoding proteins in the extracellular region are downregulated in strong correlation with *FLG* expression (see Table E10). These genes are likely to contribute to mechanisms by which a quantitative reduction in intracellular filaggrin levels results in the paracellular barrier defect that is observed *in vitro*.^{45,46} Expression of *CILP* shows the most significantly reduced expression in *FLG* null cases compared with *FLG* wild-type cases and might represent a novel AD candidate gene. The protein encoded by *CILP* is expressed in many tissues,



FIG 5. Network analysis of 6 genes with expression strongly anticorrelated with *FLG* expression: *TRIM22* (tripartite motif containing 22), *KCNK1* (potassium channel, subfamily K, member 1), *PARP9* (poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase family, member 9), *IFITM2* (interferon induced transmembrane protein 2), *IFITM1* (interferon induced transmembrane protein 1), and *STAT1* (STRING_{9.05}; accessed October 27, 2013).

including skin and blood, as well as articular cartilage. It is secreted into the extracellular space and sequesters growth factors, cytokines, and matrix metalloproteases in the extracellular matrix. Also, it has been shown to antagonize the actions of TGF- β 1 and insulin-like growth factor 1.^{47,48} We hypothesize that a reduction in expression of the cartilage intermediate layer protein permits increased activity of insulin-like growth factor 1 and TGF- β 1, leading to cellular proliferation, whereas a reduction in the sequestration of proinflammatory cytokines and metalloproteases in the extracellular space might simultaneously contribute to skin barrier dysfunction in cases of AD associated with filaggrin deficiency.

The second major finding of this global transcriptomic analysis is the dysregulation of lipid metabolic pathways both in the unstratified case-control comparison (see Fig E4, A) and in the FLG wild-type case-control comparison (Fig 3). The demonstration of lipid dysregulation predominantly in the cases without *FLG* mutations is in keeping with *in vivo*⁴⁹ and *in vitro*⁵⁰ findings that filaggrin deficiency does not affect lipid composition in the stratum corneum. Previous microarray analyses have shown a reduction in expression of lipid homeostatic genes¹² and reduced intercellular lipid levels.¹⁵ Organotypic culture of primary keratinocytes has shown increased expression of a cluster of genes associated with lipid metabolism throughout differentiation in parallel with increasing barrier properties.⁵¹ Lipid raft disruption produces transcriptomic changes in cultured keratinocytes, including disruption of cholesterol biosynthesis, that mimic changes seen in patients with AD.¹⁶ The predicted functional network in Fig 3 comprises upregulated and downregulated lipid metabolism genes and might offer insight into the complex interplay of metabolic dysfunction with systemic inflammation.⁵² Genes encoding proteins involved with very long-chain fatty acid CoA ligase activity are downregulated, which is in keeping with the observation that ceramides and long-chain fatty acids play an important role in skin barrier formation.49,53,54 Our stratified analysis indicates that therapies aimed to restore skin lipid composition might be most beneficial to FLG wild-type patients.

The *FLG*-stratified case-control and case-case comparisons have identified an overlapping functional network of proteins forming a type 1 interferon–mediated defense response (Fig 6). The upregulation of this network might relate to the dysfunctional cutaneous response to viral infection in patients with AD, which



FIG 6. Genes anticorrelated with *FLG* and upregulated in *FLG* mutant cases show a common network of stress response. Six genes are anticorrelated (upregulated) with *FLG* expression, and 17 genes are upregulated in the *FLG* genotype–stratified case-control analyses. Proteins encoded by genes classified with the GO term "response to stress" are colored red (STRING_{9.05}; accessed November 16, 2013).

can be a significant problem in clinical practice.⁵ Alternatively, it might represent a suboptimal, partially functional mechanism to compensate for the increased frequency of viral infections, including eczema herpeticum,55 seen in filaggrin-deficient subjects. The signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) encoded by STAT1 contributes to the transcriptional control of several interferon-stimulated genes, including IFITM1, IFITM2, IFI27, and GBP1. The Janus kinase/STAT signaling pathway plays a key role in transmembrane signaling from the T_H2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-13, which predominate in acute AD.⁵⁶ IFITM1 and IFITM2 encode interferon-induced transmembrane proteins, which contribute to the control of cell growth through a multimeric complex involved in the transduction of antiproliferative and homotypic adhesion signals; they are induced by IFN- γ in primary keratinocytes in vitro and have been proposed to play a role in keratinocyte apoptosis in patients with AD.⁵⁷ The chemokine network encoded by genes including CCL13, CCL18, CXCL9, and CXCL10 has been implicated in the pathogenesis of AD in some of the previous microarray studies.^{9,11,13,58} Filaggrin haploinsufficiency increases the risk of eczema herpeticum,⁵⁹ and the functional network predicted by transcriptomic analysis indicates a pathway that might be targeted for therapeutic intervention in susceptible patients.

The quantitative reduction in filaggrin mRNA with FLG null mutations (Fig 4) is consistent with previous studies showing a stepwise reduction in filaggrin breakdown products

in FLG heterozygotes and FLG homozygotes or compound heterozygotes.27,60 One previous microarray study has used FLG genotype-stratified analysis⁸ and reported no significant difference in FLG mRNA levels between FLG wild-type cases and control subjects. In our analysis comparison of all cases with all control subjects also showed no difference in FLG mRNA counts (P > .05), but we have shown a significant difference between FLG expression in wild-type control subjects compared with wild-type cases (Fig 4). This is compatible with the confidence range of data published previously⁸ but suggests that there might be compensatory upregulation of FLG expression in our pediatric AD cases. An alternative explanation is that there might be lower filaggrin expression in our control subjects, possibly reflecting the slightly older age, but detailed studies of filaggrin expression changes with aging are not currently available.

Intercellular edema (spongiosis) is a characteristic feature in patients with AD, but the underlying mechanisms are unclear. The differential expression of genes encoding proapoptotic and antiapoptotic proteins (including *IGFBP6*, *CLU*, *IFITM1*, *IFITM2*, *SELE*, *CXCL10*, *PRF1*, and *IRF1*) might contribute to the propensity to keratinocyte apoptosis that some authors consider to be a key pathomechanism in atopic spongiosis.^{57,61,62} Alternatively, the dysregulation of proteins in cell death pathways might reflect the specialized process of keratinocyte cell death, cornification.^{63,64}

The majority of AD risk loci identified by using genome-wide association studies are located within intergenic regions of unknown function. Our analysis has offered insight into possible genetic mechanisms associated with 14 of the previously reported AD risk loci. We propose *cis*-eQTLs indicating a range of pathomechanisms, including structural (*FLG, LCE3E*, and *TNXB*), immune response (*CST6, HLA-DRA, IRF1*, and *PRRT1*), transcriptional regulation (*ATF6B, C11orf30, RP11-21L23.4, RPL3P2, RPSAP47, SIPA1*, and *ZNF652*), mitochondrial (*TST*), and lipid biosynthetic (*AGPAT1*).

The use of DRS has allowed detailed study of tissue-specific gene expression data from small amounts of tissue. This transcriptomic analysis has provided new insight into the mechanistic pathways in atopic skin, which are both dependent and independent of FLG genotype. The strength of using a functional genotype for phenotype stratification is apparent, and this approach might prove useful for other tissue-specific inflammatory disorders and personalized medicine in the future.

We thank the children with AD who provided skin biopsy samples for this study, and we also thank the Tayside Tissue Bank, Dundee, United Kingdom, for secure sample storage of skin tissue from the cases and control subjects. Finally, we thank Mrs Linda Campbell for her expert assistance in DNA extraction and *FLG* genotyping.

Key messages

- Atopic skin shows differential gene expression in pathways classified in the extracellular space, lipid metabolism, and stress response.
- Substratification of the whole transcriptome data set according to *FLG* genotype reveals a type 1 interferon-mediated stress response in filaggrin-deficient skin.
- These findings offer insight into the underlying abnormalities in uninflamed atopic skin and might guide future therapy development.

REFERENCES

- Eichenfield LF, Tom WL, Chamlin SL, Feldman SR, Hanifin JM, Simpson EL, et al. Guidelines of care for the management of atopic dermatitis: section 1. Diagnosis and assessment of atopic dermatitis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2014;70:338-51.
- Bieber T. Atopic dermatitis 2.0: from the clinical phenotype to the molecular taxonomy and stratified medicine. Allergy 2012;67:1475-82.
- 3. Bieber T. Atopic dermatitis. N Engl J Med 2008;358:1483-94.
- 4. Williams HC. Clinical practice. Atopic dermatitis. N Engl J Med 2005;352: 2314-24.
- Beck LA, Boguniewicz M, Hata T, Schneider LC, Hanifin J, Gallo R, et al. Phenotype of atopic dermatitis subjects with a history of eczema herpeticum. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009;124:260-9, e1-7.
- 6. Sugiura H, Ebise H, Tazawa T, Tanaka K, Sugiura Y, Uehara M, et al. Large-scale DNA microarray analysis of atopic skin lesions shows overexpression of an epidermal differentiation gene cluster in the alternative pathway and lack of protective gene expression in the cornified envelope. Br J Dermatol 2005;152: 146-9.
- Lu ZR, Kim WS, Cho IH, Park D, Bhak J, Shi L, et al. DNA microarray analyses and interactomic predictions for atopic dermatitis. J Dermatol Sci 2009;55:123-5.
- Winge MC, Hoppe T, Berne B, Vahlquist A, Nordenskjold M, Bradley M, et al. Filaggrin genotype determines functional and molecular alterations in skin of patients with atopic dermatitis and ichthyosis vulgaris. PLoS One 2011;6: e28254.

- Nomura I, Gao B, Boguniewicz M, Darst MA, Travers JB, Leung DY. Distinct patterns of gene expression in the skin lesions of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis: a gene microarray analysis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003;112: 1195-202.
- Plager DA, Leontovich AA, Henke SA, Davis MD, McEvoy MT, Sciallis GF 2nd, et al. Early cutaneous gene transcription changes in adult atopic dermatitis and potential clinical implications. Exp Dermatol 2007;16:28-36.
- Guttman-Yassky E, Lowes MA, Fuentes-Duculan J, Whynot J, Novitskaya I, Cardinale I, et al. Major differences in inflammatory dendritic cells and their products distinguish atopic dermatitis from psoriasis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007;119:1210-7.
- Saaf AM, Tengvall-Linder M, Chang HY, Adler AS, Wahlgren CF, Scheynius A, et al. Global expression profiling in atopic eczema reveals reciprocal expression of inflammatory and lipid genes. PLoS One 2008;3:e4017.
- Choy DF, Hsu DK, Seshasayee D, Fung MA, Modrusan Z, Martin F, et al. Comparative transcriptomic analyses of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis reveal shared neutrophilic inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2012;130: 1335-43.e5.
- Gittler JK, Krueger JG, Guttman-Yassky E. Atopic dermatitis results in intrinsic barrier and immune abnormalities: implications for contact dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2013;131:300-13.
- Guttman-Yassky E, Suarez-Farinas M, Chiricozzi A, Nograles KE, Shemer A, Fuentes-Duculan J, et al. Broad defects in epidermal cornification in atopic dermatitis identified through genomic analysis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009; 124:1235-44.e58.
- Mathay C, Pierre M, Pittelkow MR, Depiereux E, Nikkels AF, Colige A, et al. Transcriptional profiling after lipid raft disruption in keratinocytes identifies critical mediators of atopic dermatitis pathways. J Invest Dermatol 2011;131: 46-58.
- Mudge JM, Frankish A, Harrow J. Functional transcriptomics in the post-ENCODE era. Genome Res 2013;23:1961-73.
- Mortazavi A, Williams BA, McCue K, Schaeffer L, Wold B. Mapping and quantifying mammalian transcriptomes by RNA-Seq. Nat Methods 2008;5:621-8.
- Ozsolak F, Platt AR, Jones DR, Reifenberger JG, Sass LE, McInerney P, et al. Direct RNA sequencing. Nature 2009;461:814-8.
- Ozsolak F, Milos PM. RNA sequencing: advances, challenges and opportunities. Nat Rev Genet 2011;12:87-98.
- Schurch N, Cole C, Sherstnev A, Song J, Duc C, Storey KG, et al. Improved annotation of 3' untranslated regions and complex loci by combination of strand-specific Direct RNA Sequencing, RNA-seq and ESTs. PLoS One 2014; 9:e94270.
- 22. Palmer CN, Irvine AD, Terron-Kwiatkowski A, Zhao Y, Liao H, Lee SP, et al. Common loss-of-function variants of the epidermal barrier protein filaggrin are a major predisposing factor for atopic dermatitis. Nat Genet 2006;38:441-6.
- 23. Rodriguez E, Baurecht H, Herberich E, Wagenpfeil S, Brown SJ, Cordell HJ, et al. Meta-analysis of filaggrin polymorphisms in eczema and asthma: robust risk factors in atopic disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009;123:1361-70.e7.
- Howell MD, Kim BE, Gao P, Grant AV, Boguniewicz M, Debenedetto A, et al. Cytokine modulation of atopic dermatitis filaggrin skin expression. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007;120:150-5.
- Gutowska-Owsiak D, Schaupp AL, Salimi M, Taylor S, Ogg GS. Interleukin-22 downregulates filaggrin expression and affects expression of profilaggrin processing enzymes. Br J Dermatol 2011;165:492-8.
- Gutowska-Owsiak D, Schaupp AL, Salimi M, Selvakumar TA, McPherson T, Taylor S, et al. IL-17 downregulates filaggrin and affects keratinocyte expression of genes associated with cellular adhesion. Exp Dermatol 2012;21:104-10.
- Kezic S, O'Regan GM, Yau N, Sandilands A, Chen H, Campbell LE, et al. Levels of filaggrin degradation products are influenced by both filaggrin genotype and atopic dermatitis severity. Allergy 2011;66:934-40.
- McAleer MA, Irvine AD. The multifunctional role of filaggrin in allergic skin disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2013;131:280-91.
- 29. Brown SJ, Kroboth K, Sandilands A, Campbell LE, Pohler E, Kezic S, et al. Intragenic copy number variation within filaggrin contributes to the risk of atopic dermatitis with a dose-dependent effect. J Invest Dermatol 2012;132:98-104.
- Sandilands A, Sutherland C, Irvine A, McLean W. Filaggrin in the frontline: role in skin barrier function and disease. J Cell Sci 2009;122:1285-94.
- Scott IR, Harding CR. Filaggrin breakdown to water binding compounds during development of the rat stratum corneum is controlled by the water activity of the environment. Dev Biol 1986;115:84-92.
- 32. O'Regan GM, Kemperman PM, Sandilands A, Chen H, Campbell LE, Kroboth K, et al. Raman profiles of the stratum corneum define 3 filaggrin genotypedetermined atopic dermatitis endophenotypes. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010; 126:574-80.e1.

- Irvine AD, McLean WH, Leung DY. Filaggrin mutations associated with skin and allergic diseases. N Engl J Med 2011;365:1315-27.
- Emerson R, Charman C, Williams H. The Nottingham Eczema Severity Score: preliminary refinement of the Rajka and Langeland grading. Br J Dermatol 2000;142:288-97.
- Cheung VG, Spielman RS. Genetics of human gene expression: mapping DNA variants that influence gene expression. Nat Rev Genet 2009;10:595-604.
- 36. O'Regan GM, Campbell LE, Cordell HJ, Irvine AD, McLean WH, Brown SJ. Chromosome 11q13.5 variant associated with childhood eczema: an effect supplementary to filaggrin mutations. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010;125:170-4, e1-2.
- 37. Sandilands A, Terron-Kwiatkowski A, Hull P, O'Regan G, Clayton T, Watson R, et al. Comprehensive analysis of the gene encoding filaggrin uncovers prevalent and rare mutations in ichthyosis vulgaris and atopic eczema. Nat Genet 2007;39: 650-4.
- Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. J R Stat Soc Series B 1995;57:289-300.
- **39.** Gilad Y, Rifkin SA, Pritchard JK. Revealing the architecture of gene regulation: the promise of eQTL studies. Trends Genet 2008;24:408-15.
- 40. Brown SJ, Relton CL, Liao H, Zhao Y, Sandilands A, McLean WH, et al. Filaggrin haploinsufficiency is highly penetrant and is associated with increased severity of eczema: further delineation of the skin phenotype in a prospective epidemiological study of 792 school children. Br J Dermatol 2009;161:884-9.
- Emilsson V, Thorleifsson G, Zhang B, Leonardson AS, Zink F, Zhu J, et al. Genetics of gene expression and its effect on disease. Nature 2008;452:423-8.
- Jakasa I, Verberk MM, Esposito M, Bos JD, Kezic S. Altered penetration of polyethylene glycols into uninvolved skin of atopic dermatitis patients. J Invest Dermatol 2007;127:129-34.
- 43. Taieb A, Hanifin J, Cooper K, Bos JD, Imokawa G, David TJ, et al. Proceedings of the 4th Georg Rajka International Symposium on Atopic Dermatitis, Arcachon, France, September 15-17, 2005. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006;117:378-90.
- 44. Rinn JL, Wang JK, Liu H, Montgomery K, van de Rijn M, Chang HY. A systems biology approach to anatomic diversity of skin. J Invest Dermatol 2008;128: 776-82.
- 45. Scharschmidt TC, Man MQ, Hatano Y, Crumrine D, Gunathilake R, Sundberg JP, et al. Filaggrin deficiency confers a paracellular barrier abnormality that reduces inflammatory thresholds to irritants and haptens. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009; 124:496-506, e1-6.
- 46. Gruber R, Elias PM, Crumrine D, Lin TK, Brandner JM, Hachem JP, et al. Filaggrin genotype in ichthyosis vulgaris predicts abnormalities in epidermal structure and function. Am J Pathol 2011;178:2252-63.
- 47. Mori M, Nakajima M, Mikami Y, Seki S, Takigawa M, Kubo T, et al. Transcriptional regulation of the cartilage intermediate layer protein (CILP) gene. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006;341:121-7.
- 48. Johnson K, Farley D, Hu SI, Terkeltaub R. One of two chondrocyte-expressed isoforms of cartilage intermediate-layer protein functions as an insulin-like growth factor 1 antagonist. Arthritis Rheum 2003;48:1302-14.
- 49. Janssens M, Mulder AA, van Smeden J, Pilgram GS, Wolterbeek R, Lavrijsen AP, et al. Electron diffraction study of lipids in non-lesional stratum

corneum of atopic eczema patients. Biochim Biophys Acta 2013;1828: 1814-21.

- 50. van Drongelen V, Alloul-Ramdhani M, Danso MO, Mieremet A, Mulder A, van Smeden J, et al. Knockdown of filaggrin does not affect lipid organization and composition in stratum corneum of reconstructed human skin equivalents. Exp Dermatol 2013;22:807-12.
- Taylor JM, Street TL, Hao L, Copley R, Taylor MS, Hayden PJ, et al. Dynamic and physical clustering of gene expression during epidermal barrier formation in differentiating keratinocytes. PLoS One 2009;4:e7651.
- McGettrick AF, O'Neill LA. How metabolism generates signals during innate immunity and inflammation. J Biol Chem 2013;288:22893-8.
- Elias PM, Hatano Y, Williams ML. Basis for the barrier abnormality in atopic dermatitis: outside-inside-outside pathogenic mechanisms. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2008;121:1337-43.
- 54. Janssens M, van Smeden J, Gooris GS, Bras W, Portale G, Caspers PJ, et al. Increase in short-chain ceramides correlates with an altered lipid organization and decreased barrier function in atopic eczema patients. J Lipid Res 2012;53: 2755-66.
- 55. Leung DY, Gao PS, Grigoryev DN, Rafaels NM, Streib JE, Howell MD, et al. Human atopic dermatitis complicated by eczema herpeticum is associated with abnormalities in IFN-gamma response. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2011;127: 965-73, e1-5.
- Eyerich K, Novak N. Immunology of atopic eczema: overcoming the Th1/Th2 paradigm. Allergy 2013;68:974-82.
- 57. Rebane A, Zimmermann M, Aab A, Baurecht H, Koreck A, Karelson M, et al. Mechanisms of IFN-gamma-induced apoptosis of human skin keratinocytes in patients with atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2012;129:1297-306.
- Kamsteeg M, Jansen PA, van Vlijmen-Willems IM, van Erp PE, Rodijk-Olthuis D, van der Valk PG, et al. Molecular diagnostics of psoriasis, atopic dermatitis, allergic contact dermatitis and irritant contact dermatitis. Br J Dermatol 2010; 162:568-78.
- 59. Gao PS, Rafaels NM, Hand T, Murray T, Boguniewicz M, Hata T, et al. Filaggrin mutations that confer risk of atopic dermatitis confer greater risk for eczema herpeticum. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009;124:507-13, e1-7.
- 60. Kezic S, Kemperman PM, Koster ES, de Jongh CM, Thio HB, Campbell LE, et al. Loss-of-function mutations in the filaggrin gene lead to reduced level of natural moisturizing factor in the stratum corneum. J Invest Dermatol 2008; 128:2117-9.
- Trautmann A, Akdis M, Kleemann D, Altznauer F, Simon HU, Graeve T, et al. T cell-mediated Fas-induced keratinocyte apoptosis plays a key pathogenetic role in eczematous dermatitis. J Clin Invest 2000;106:25-35.
- 62. van den Bogaard EH, Bergboer JG, Vonk-Bergers M, van Vlijmen-Willems IM, Hato SV, van der Valk PG, et al. Coal tar induces AHR-dependent skin barrier repair in atopic dermatitis. J Clin Invest 2013;123:917-27.
- 63. Candi E, Schmidt R, Melino G. The cornified envelope: a model of cell death in the skin. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2005;6:328-40.
- Eckhart L, Lippens S, Tschachler E, Declercq W. Cell death by cornification. Biochim Biophys Acta 2013;1833:3471-80.

Filaggrin genotype does not determine the skin's threshold to UV-induced erythema.

Medicine Research Career Development Program (grant no. 5K12HL109005-03). H.A.S. is supported in part by grants from the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (grant nos. AI44236 and AI066738) and the National Center for Advancing Translation Sciences (grant no. RR026134), National Institutes of Health.

Disclosure of potential conflicts of interest: H. A. Sampson and J. D. Kattan received research support from the National Institutes of Health. The rest of the authors declare that they have no relevant conflicts of interest.

REFERENCES

- Sicherer SH, Wood RA, Sicherer SH, Abramson S, Chipps BE, Fleisher T, et al. Allergy testing in childhood: using allergen-specific IgE tests. Pediatrics 2011. Available from: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/content/early/2011/12/21/ peds.2011-2382. Accessed March 1, 2014.
- Bernstein IL, Li JT, Bernstein DI, Hamilton R, Spector SL, Tan R, et al. Allergy diagnostic testing: an updated practice parameter. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2008;100:S1-148.
- **3.** Twardosz-Kropfmüller A, Singh MB, Niederberger V, Horak F, Kraft D, Spitzauer S, et al. Association of allergic patients' phenotypes with IgE reactivity to recombinant pollen marker allergens. Allergy 2010;65: 296-303.
- Ott H, Baron JM, Heise R, Ocklenburg C, Stanzel S, Merk H-F, et al. Clinical usefulness of microarray-based IgE detection in children with suspected food allergy. Allergy 2008;63:1521-8.
- Radauer C, Nandy A, Ferreira F, Goodman RE, Larsen JN, Lidholm J, et al. Update of the WHO/IUIS Allergen Nomenclature Database based on analysis of allergen sequences. Allergy 2014;69:413-9.
- Eggleston PA, Rosenstreich D, Lynn H, Gergen P, Baker D, Kattan M, et al. Relationship of indoor allergen exposure to skin test sensitivity in inner-city children with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998;102:563-70.
- Stoltz DJ, Jackson DJ, Evans MD, Gangnon RE, Tisler CJ, Gern JE, et al. Specific patterns of allergic sensitization in early childhood and asthma & rhinitis risk. Clin Exp Allergy 2013;43:233-41.
- Brockow I, Zutavern A, Hoffmann U, Grübl A, von Berg A, Koletzko S, et al. Early allergic sensitizations and their relevance to atopic diseases in children aged 6 years: results of the GINI study. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 2009; 19:180-7.
- Konradsen JR, Nordlund B, Onell A, Borres MP, Grönlund H, Hedlin G. Severe childhood asthma and allergy to furry animals: refined assessment using molecular-based allergy diagnostics. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2014;25: 187-92.

Available online November 12, 2015. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2015.09.035

Filaggrin genotype does not determine the skin's threshold to UV-induced erythema

To the Editor:

Profilaggrin and filaggrin play multiple roles in the formation and function of the epidermal barrier, contributing to protection against dehydration, mechanical stress, infection, and, it has been proposed, photodamage.¹ Loss-of-function mutations in the gene encoding filaggrin (*FLG*) represent the strongest and most significant genetic risk factor for atopic dermatitis (AD) identified to date.¹ Proteolysis of filaggrin releases histidine and other amino acids into the stratum corneum. Histidine is converted by the enzyme histidase (histidine ammonia-lyase) to *trans*-urocanic acid (*trans*-UCA), which can then undergo photoisomerization on absorption of UVB to produce *cis*-UCA (see Fig E1 in this article's Online Repository at www. jacionline.org). There is experimental evidence to suggest that *cis*-UCA has immunomodulatory and photoprotective effects.

TABLE I. Demographic data and FLG genotype results for 71	
volunteers with clinically normal skin	

Sex	43 male/28 female
Age (y), range (median)	22-70 (41)
FLG wild-type subjects (no.)	61
FLG heterozygotes (no.)	10
Total (no.)	71

Volunteers were screened for the 6 most prevalent *FLG* loss-of-function mutations in the population. Five subjects were heterozygous for R501X, 3 were heterozygous for 2282del4, 1 was heterozygous for R2447X, and 1 was heterozygous for S3247X. No 3673delC or 3702delG mutations were detected, and there were no homozygotes or compound heterozygotes. Fitzpatrick skin phototype was recorded for 45 of 71 subjects, and there was no significant difference (P = .14, χ^2 test) in skin phototypes between the genotype subgroups.

The local and systemic immunosuppressive effects of cis-UCA were initially demonstrated in murine models, and more recently, histidinemic mice deficient in cutaneous UCA because of a mutation in Hal, the gene encoding histidase, have been reported to show increased propensity to UVB-induced DNA damage.² Mice deficient in caspase-14 (an enzyme in the profilaggrinfilaggrin proteolytic pathway) show accumulation of cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers in response to UVB radiation and increased apoptosis in the epidermis, indicating a role for caspase-14 in UVB scavenging within the stratum corneum.³ The immunosuppressive effects of cis-UCA have been demonstrated in human keratinocytes and leukocytes in vitro; knockdown of FLG in organotypic culture results in increased susceptibility of keratinocytes to UV-induced apoptosis.⁴ Loss-of-function mutations and copy number variation in FLG are known to result in lower levels of filaggrin breakdown products, including UCA, in human stratum corneum. Therefore it has been postulated that FLG genotype might in part determine the photoprotective capacity of human skin (see Fig E1),¹ but experimental evidence *in vivo* is lacking.

We aimed to test the hypothesis that filaggrin deficiency resulting from loss-of-function mutations in FLG is associated with increased erythemal sensitivity to UV radiation. Cutaneous response to UV radiation was assessed by using the minimal erythema dose (MED; the lowest dose of UV causing just perceptible skin redness) as a quantifiable surrogate end point for cutaneous damage. We used detailed monochromator phototesting of 71 adult volunteers of white European ethnicity with clinically normal skin; the demographic characteristics are summarized in Table I. A calculation performed before this study commenced indicated that 7 or 8 FLG mutation carriers within a total study size of 70 to 80 subjects would provide sufficient statistical power to detect a 1.8-fold difference in MED. This sample size estimation was based on known variability in MEDs from previous studies and assuming comparisons of arithmetic means of log-transformed data (therefore able to backtransform differences into fold differences). Details of the power calculation are shown in the Methods section in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org.

This work was approved by the East of Scotland Research Ethics Committee (reference 14/ES/0030), and the study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Participants were screened for the 6 most prevalent loss-offunction mutations in *FLG* in the white European population (R501X, 2282del4, R2447X, S3247X, 3673delC, and 3702delG) by using published methodology.⁵ Ten (14%) of 71



^{© 2016} The Authors. Published by Elsevier, Inc. on behalf of the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).



FIG 1. Box plots showing monochromator phototesting MED results in healthy volunteers of different *FLG* genotypes. The findings for 5 distinct wavebands are shown. Results for the 400 \pm 30 and 430 \pm 30 nm wavebands showed no difference between *FLG* wild-type and heterozygotes (see Table E1); these data are not displayed because the median MEDs and ranges are not quantifiable. *Boxes* indicate interquartile ranges, and the *bar within each box* marks the median result. The difference in median MEDs (and 95% Cls) are shown above each plot. All values are in millijoules per square centimeter. Median MEDs were compared by using the Mann-Whitney *U* test. There were 61 *FLG* wild-type subjects and 10 *FLG* heterozy-gous subjects tested in each group, with the exception of the 295 nm and 300 nm wavebands, in which data were obtained on 53 *FLG* wild-type subjects.

were found to be heterozygous for a loss-of-function mutation in *FLG* (Table I). Fitzpatrick sun-reactive skin phototype was recorded for 45 of 71 subjects, and no difference was detected (P = .14, χ^2 test) in skin phototypes between the genotype subgroups.

Up to 7 separate wavebands from 295 to 430 nm, representing a spectrum from UVB to UVA and visible light, were tested on the 71 subjects. A detailed description of phototesting methods is given in the Methods section in this article's Online Repository. Subjects were grouped according to *FLG* genotype, and MEDs were compared by using nonparametric rank-based methods (because some MED values were greater than or less than test dose ranges) with the Mann-Whitney *U* test (see the Methods section in this article's Online Repository) to derive CIs for differences in median MEDs (see Table E1 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org). We detected no significant differences in MEDs (defined as $P \leq .05$) between the *FLG*

wild-type and *FLG* heterozygous groups at any of the wavebands tested (Fig 1 and see Table E1). The CIs for differences were sufficiently narrow to make any large differences in MEDs between the genotype groups unlikely.

It has previously been reported that AD might be associated with photosensitivity,⁶ a lower threshold to UVB-induced erythema,⁷ or both. Some epidemiologic data also suggest a higher incidence of multiple nonmelanoma skin cancers in subjects with a history of AD.⁸ Loss-of-function mutations in *FLG* are strongly associated with AD, and there is widespread downregulation of filaggrin expression in the skin of patients with atopic eczema, which has been demonstrated at the transcriptome level by means of direct RNA sequencing,⁹ and in the breakdown products of filaggrin in the stratum corneum, which was quantified by means of HPLC.¹⁰ A partial reduction in expression of filaggrin might result from the effect of circulating inflammatory cytokines, whereas a more profound deficiency results from loss-of-function mutations in *FLG* leading to near-complete absence of profilaggrin in the homozygous or compound heterozygous state. Therefore it can be hypothesized that filaggrin deficiency contributes to the observed photosensitivity and/or reduced threshold to UVB-induced erythema in patients with AD. We have performed a detailed analysis of cutaneous photoresponse in clinically normal skin to avoid the confounding effects of atopic inflammation. Our findings have excluded a large effect of *FLG* genotype on photosensitivity (\geq 1.8-fold difference in MED) at any of the wavebands tested. In addition, the results of our monochromator phototesting did not indicate a differential erythemal sensitivity within the wavelengths representing UVB, as would be predicted from the known absorption spectrum of UCA.

One limitation of our study is that the healthy volunteers did not include any subjects with ichthyosis vulgaris, and therefore we have not excluded the possibility that *FLG* homozygous (or compound heterozygous) subjects might show greater erythemal sensitivity than wild-type subjects. However, *FLG*-null heterozygosity has a significant effect on filaggrin expression *in vivo*,^{9,10} and therefore we would expect an effect to be observed in *FLG* heterozygotes if this was substantial.

The fact that observations of UVB-induced damage in murine and *in vitro* models have not been supported by clinical data suggest that different mechanisms lead to cutaneous erythema *in vivo* than the markers of UV damage studied *in vitro* and in mice. For example, apoptosis is known to occur within areas of skin damaged by UV exposure, and this is associated with cutaneous erythema, but the relationship is nonlinear. Furthermore, the photoprotective effect of the *FLG* wild-type genotype might be attributable to a mechanical filtering of UV radiation by the stratum corneum rather than by chemical photoimmunosuppression.

In conclusion, our *FLG* genotype–stratified analysis of responses to UV and visible radiation in clinically normal skin does not support the hypothesis that the breakdown products of filaggrin play a major role in the sensitivity of human skin to UV-induced erythema. This has relevance to the ongoing search for predictors of patient response in phototherapy for AD and for the development of personalized medicine.

We thank the patients and volunteers who participated in this study and Lynn Fullerton, who provided technical support in the photobiology investigations. We are very grateful to Professors James Ferguson and Peter Farr for their expert advice in the design and conduct of these studies.

> Deborah Forbes^a Leona Johnston, MSc^b June Gardner, RGN^b Stephanie F. MacCallum, MSc^c Linda E. Campbell, BSc^c Albena T. Dinkova-Kostova, PhD^d W. H. Irwin McLean, DSc^c Sally H. Ibbotson, MD^b Robert S. Dawe, MD^b Sara J. Brown, MD^e

From aNinewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee, United Kingdom; ^bthe Photobiology Unit, Dermatology Department, and ^dthe Division of Cancer Research, Medical Research Institute, Jacqui Wood Cancer Centre, University of Dundee, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee, United Kingdom; ^cDermatology and Genetic Medicine, Division of Molecular Medicine, College of Life Sciences and College of Medicine, Dentistry and Nursing, University of Dundee, United Kingdom; and ^cDermatology and Genetic Medicine, Medical Research Institute, College of Medicine, Dentistry and Nursing, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee, United Kingdom: E-mail: s.j.brown@dundee.ac.uk.

- D.F. was supported by the Muir Russell studentship. S.J.B. holds a Wellcome Trust Intermediate Fellowship (086398/Z/08/Z) and is supported by the Manknell Charitable Trust and the Tayside Dermatology Research Fund. The Centre for Dermatology and Genetic Medicine, University of Dundee, is funded by a Wellcome Trust Strategic Award (098439/Z/12/Z; to W.H.I.M.).
- Disclosure of potential conflict of interest: D. Forbes has received research support in the form of a summer studentship from the Dundee Academic Clinical Track and has received travel support from DCAT Travel Bursary and the Tayside Dermatological Research Charity. W. H. I. McLean has received research support from the Wellcome Trust. S. J. Brown has received research support in the form of Fellowships from the Wellcome Trust and research grants from the Manknell Charitable Trust and the Tayside Dermatologyl Research Fund and has received speaker's honorarium from the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology. The rest of the authors declare that they have no relevant conflicts of interest.

REFERENCES

- 1. Sandilands A, Sutherland C, Irvine A, McLean W. Filaggrin in the frontline: role in skin barrier function and disease. J Cell Sci 2009;122:1285-94.
- Barresi C, Stremnitzer C, Mlitz V, Kezic S, Kammeyer A, Ghannadan M, et al. Increased sensitivity of histidinemic mice to UVB radiation suggests a crucial role of endogenous urocanic acid in photoprotection. J Invest Dermatol 2011; 131:188-94.
- Denecker G, Hoste E, Gilbert B, Hochepied T, Ovaere P, Lippens S, et al. Caspase-14 protects against epidermal UVB photodamage and water loss. Nat Cell Biol 2007;9:666-74.
- 4. Mildner M, Jin J, Eckhart L, Kezic S, Gruber F, Barresi C, et al. Knockdown of filaggrin impairs diffusion barrier function and increases UV sensitivity in a human skin model. J Invest Dermatol 2010;130:2286-94.
- Sandilands A, Terron-Kwiatkowski A, Hull P, O'Regan G, Clayton T, Watson R, et al. Comprehensive analysis of the gene encoding filaggrin uncovers prevalent and rare mutations in ichthyosis vulgaris and atopic eczema. Nat Genet 2007;39: 650-4.
- ten Berge O, van Weelden H, Bruijnzeel-Koomen CA, de Bruin-Weller MS, Sigurdsson V. Throwing a light on photosensitivity in atopic dermatitis: a retrospective study. Am J Clin Dermatol 2009;10:119-23.
- Tajima T, Ibe M, Matsushita T, Kamide R. A variety of skin responses to ultraviolet irradiation in patients with atopic dermatitis. J Dermatol Sci 1998;17:101-7.
- Dyer RK, Weinstock MA, Cohen TS, Rizzo AE, Bingham SF, Group VT. Predictors of basal cell carcinoma in high-risk patients in the VATTC (VA Topical Tretinoin Chemoprevention) trial. J Invest Dermatol 2012;132:2544-51.
- Cole C, Kroboth K, Schurch NJ, Sandilands A, Sherstnev A, O'Regan GM, et al. Filaggrin-stratified transcriptomic analysis of pediatric skin identifies mechanistic pathways in patients with atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2014;134: 82-91.
- Kezic S, O'Regan GM, Yau N, Sandilands A, Chen H, Campbell LE, et al. Levels of filaggrin degradation products are influenced by both filaggrin genotype and atopic dermatitis severity. Allergy 2011;66:934-40.

Available online January 29, 2016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2015.11.022

Epidermal thymic stromal lymphopoietin predicts the development of atopic dermatitis during infancy

To the Editor:

To establish a primary prevention strategy for atopic dermatitis (AD), it is important to identify biomarkers that can predict the occurrence of AD. This study aimed to evaluate the expression level of epidermal proteins by using a tape stripping method to determine whether these proteins can be used as biomarkers predictive of AD development in infants.

In this prospective birth cohort study, we followed 75 infants in a risk group and 12 in a control group for 2 years (Fig 1). The control group consisted of infants with both parents who had neither allergy nor immediate skin test reactivity to 8 common inhalant allergens (*Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus*, *Dermatophagoides farinae*, tree pollen mixture I & II, weed pollen mixture, grass pollen mixture, cat, and cockroach). The risk group was defined



METHODS

Assessment of MEDs of different wavebands in healthy volunteers

Healthy adults with clinically normal skin of phototypes I to III^{E1} who had previously participated in research studies within the National Photobiology Unit (Dundee, Scotland, United Kingdom) were invited to participate in this study. Exclusion criteria were history of skin allergy, eczema/AD, psoriasis or polymorphic light eruption, immunosuppression caused by medications or disease, photosensitizing medication, and a holiday abroad or sunbed use within the preceding 4 weeks. A total of 71 subjects provided written informed consent and a saliva sample for DNA extraction. Emollient application to skin test sites was not allowed within the 48 hours before photoesting.

Detailed phototesting was undertaken by using an irradiation monochromator, which is a diffraction grating device with a 1.6-kW or 450-W xenon arc lamp.^{E2,E3} This instrument allows irradiation of small areas of the skin over a range of wavebands, which are included in the solar spectrum (UVB to UVA/visible). Monochromator phototesting was performed as follows. On day 1, approximately 1-cm² areas of the skin on the volunteer's back were exposed to UV and visible light according to a standardized procedure established in the National Photobiology Unit. A range of doses of UV and visible light at specific narrow wavebands was used for all subjects centered on (with half-maximum bandwidth) 295 \pm 5, 300 \pm 5, 305 \pm 5, 335 \pm 30, 365 \pm 30, 400 \pm 30, and 430 \pm 30 nm.

The MED, which was defined as the minimum dose producing just perceptible erythema for each waveband tested, was determined 24 hours after irradiation. The irradiation procedure was repeated on day 2 on a separate area of back skin using smaller dose increments (10% to 20%) across a narrower range of doses at each waveband selected on the basis of the MEDs seen 24 hours after first irradiation to establish the MED precisely. Final MEDs were assessed 24 hours later (day 3).

Power calculation

Our prestudy sample size calculation was performed to determine how many subjects were likely to be needed to detect a clinically important difference in MEDs between the *FLG* genotype groups within the 305 ± 30 nm waveband. MED data derived from testing with a geometric dose series do not follow a normal distribution, and therefore we based our sample size on the minimum difference in arithmetic means of natural logtransformed MEDs. This method was used because differences in arithmetic means of log-transformed data can be "back-transformed" to fold differences (eg, 1.8-fold), which is more understandable than the difference in log-transformed MEDs that equates to this.

MEDs for the 305 \pm 5 nm waveband (representing a narrow waveband in the UVB region, the waveband of interest) from 120 healthy volunteers tested at the National Photobiology Unit were used to derive variance. These nonnormal data were log-transformed, and the numbers needed to detect a 1.5-, 1.8-, and 2-fold difference in geometric means were estimated by using Stata 12.1 software (StataCorp, College Station, Tex). Assuming that approximately 10% of the study participants would have 1 or more *FLG* loss-of-function mutations,^{E4} to obtain an 80% power with a *P* value of .05, we required at least 7 or 8 subjects with *FLG* mutations (expected within a total sample size of 70-80 subjects) to detect a difference of 1.8-fold in mean natural log-transformed MEDs at this waveband between the wild-type and *FLG*-null groups. Similarly, 55 volunteers, including 5 or 6 *FLG* mutation carriers, were needed to detect a 2-fold difference in mean natural log-transformed UVB MEDs.

Therefore the results arising from our sample size, including 71 volunteers and 10 *FLG* mutation carriers, have sufficient statistical power to effectively exclude an association with *FLG* genotype and erythemal response of a 1.8-fold or greater difference at the wavebands tested.

Statistical analysis of monochromator phototesting data

When analyzing our data, we used nonparametric methods reliant on ranks, rather than absolute values, instead of parametric methods based on transformed data. This was for the practical reason that although we obtained ranks for all MEDs, the precise values for some were unknown (greater than or less than our test dose range). Some MEDs were determined to be greater than or less than the test irradiation ranges. A small number was added to all MEDs at greater than the top dose tested for wavebands of 305 nm and longer and a small number was subtracted from MEDs of less than the lowest dose tested to allow appropriate rank-based analyses. The phototesting results were compared with *FLG* genotype status (*FLG* wild-type or *FLG* mutant) by using the Mann-Whitney *U* test to analyze these nonparametric data to test the null hypothesis that there was no association of MEDs with genotype. Corresponding CIs around medians were derived by using the methods of Altman and Gardner.^{E5} We took a *P* value of .05 or less to be significant.

REFERENCES

- E1. Fitzpatrick TB. The validity and practicality of sun-reactive skin types I through VI. Arch Dermatol 1988;124:869-71.
- E2. MacKenzie LA, Frain-Bell W. The construction and development of a grating monochromator and its application to the study of the reaction of the skin to light. Br J Dermatol 1973;89:251-64.
- E3. Moseley H, Naasan H, Dawe RS, Woods J, Ferguson J. Population reference intervals for minimal erythemal doses in monochromator phototesting. Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed 2009;25:8-11.
- E4. Irvine AD, McLean WH, Leung DY. Filaggrin mutations associated with skin and allergic diseases. N Engl J Med 2011;365:1315-27.
- E5. Campbell MJ, Gardner MJ. Calculating confidence intervals for some nonparametric analyses. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1988;296:1454-6.
- E6. Smith FJ, Irvine AD, Terron-Kwiatkowski A, Sandilands A, Campbell LE, Zhao Y, et al. Loss-of-function mutations in the gene encoding filaggrin cause ichthyosis vulgaris. Nat Genet 2006;38:337-42.
- E7. Brown SJ, Kroboth K, Sandilands A, Campbell LE, Pohler E, Kezic S, et al. Intragenic copy number variation within filaggrin contributes to the risk of atopic dermatitis with a dose-dependent effect. J Invest Dermatol 2012;132: 98-104.
- E8. Kezic S, Kemperman PM, Koster ES, de Jongh CM, Thio HB, Campbell LE, et al. Loss-of-function mutations in the filaggrin gene lead to reduced level of natural moisturizing factor in the stratum corneum. J Invest Dermatol 2008;128: 2117-9.
- E9. Kim BE, Howell MD, Guttman-Yassky E, Gilleaudeau PM, Cardinale IR, Boguniewicz M, et al. TNF-alpha downregulates filaggrin and loricrin through c-Jun N-terminal kinase: role for TNF-alpha antagonists to improve skin barrier. J Invest Dermatol 2011;131:1272-9.
- E10. Howell MD, Kim BE, Gao P, Grant AV, Boguniewicz M, Debenedetto A, et al. Cytokine modulation of atopic dermatitis filaggrin skin expression. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007;120:150-5.
- E11. Denecker G, Hoste E, Gilbert B, Hochepied T, Ovaere P, Lippens S, et al. Caspase-14 protects against epidermal UVB photodamage and water loss. Nat Cell Biol 2007;9:666-74.
- E12. Lynley AM, Dale BA. The characterization of human epidermal filaggrin. A histidine-rich, keratin filament-aggregating protein. Biochim Biophys Acta 1983;744:28-35.
- E13. Brown SJ, McLean WH. One remarkable molecule: filaggrin. J Invest Dermatol 2012;132:751-62.
- E14. Eckhart L, Schmidt M, Mildner M, Mlitz V, Abtin A, Ballaun C, et al. Histidase expression in human epidermal keratinocytes: regulation by differentiation status and all-trans retinoic acid. J Dermatol Sci 2008;50:209-15.
- E15. McLoone P, Simics E, Barton A, Norval M, Gibbs NK. An action spectrum for the production of cis-urocanic acid in human skin in vivo. J Invest Dermatol 2005;124:1071-4.
- E16. Gilmour JW, Vestey JP, George S, Norval M. Effect of phototherapy and urocanic acid isomers on natural killer cell function. J Invest Dermatol 1993;101:169-74.
- E17. Walterscheid JP, Nghiem DX, Kazimi N, Nutt LK, McConkey DJ, Norval M, et al. Cis-urocanic acid, a sunlight-induced immunosuppressive factor, activates immune suppression via the 5-HT2A receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2006;103:17420-5.
- E18. Elias PM, Choi EH. Interactions among stratum corneum defensive functions. Exp Dermatol 2005;14:719-26.
- E19. Finlay-Jones JJ, Hart PH. Photoprotection: sunscreens and the immunomodulatory effects of UV irradiation. Mutat Res 1998;422:155-9.
- E20. Noonan FP, De Fabo EC. Immunosuppression by ultraviolet B radiation: initiation by urocanic acid. Immunol Today 1992;13:250-4.



FIG E1. Diagrammatic summary of factors affecting the profilaggrin–*cis*-UCA pathwayPrevious studies have demonstrated the effects of variation within FLG^{E6-E8} and levels of T_H2 cytokines^{E9,E10} on filaggrin expression. The role of caspase-14 in profilaggrin processing has been illustrated in mice.^{E11} Filaggrin is degraded to release a pool of amino acids rich in histidine^{E12} in the stratum corneum, contributing to barrier function through hydration and acidification.^{E13} The conversion of histidine to *trans*-UCA is catalyzed by histidase,^{E14} and the *trans*-isomer is converted to *cis*-UCA by UVB.^{E15} UVB absorption might contribute to cutaneous photoprotection, and *cis*-UCA might have additional immunomodulatory effects.^{E16-E20}

TABLE E1. Results of monochromator phototesting of	I healthy volunteers stratified	according to FLG genotype
--	---------------------------------	---------------------------

	295 ± 5 nm	300 ± 5 nm	305 ± 5 nm	335 ± 30 nm	365 ± 30 nm	400 ± 30 nm	430 ± 30 nm
Waveband	Median MED (mJ/cm ²)						
FLG wild-type subjects	10.0 (n = 53)	18.0 (n = 53)	47.0 (n = 61)	5,600 (n = 61)	24,000 (n = 61)	>82,000 (n = 61)	>82,000 (n = 61)
FLG heterozygous subjects	8.2 (n = 8)	15.0 (n = 8)	47.0 (n = 10)	4,950 (n = 10)	20,000 (n = 10)	82,000 (n = 10)	>82,000 (n = 10)
Difference	1.8 mJ/cm ² higher in <i>FLG</i> wild-type	3.0 mJ/cm ² higher in <i>FLG</i> wild-type	No difference	650 mJ/cm ² higher in <i>FLG</i> wild-type	4,000 mJ/cm ² higher in <i>FLG</i> wild-type	Not quantifiable	Not quantifiable
95% CI for difference	-2.6 to 5.0	-3.0 to 7.0	-9.0 to 14.0	-1,200 to 2,300	-7,000 to 9,000	Not quantifiable	Not quantifiable
P value (Mann- Whitney U test)	.41	.35	.79	.62	.74	.58	.70

Some cells are "not quantifiable" because results of greater than the highest test dose were recorded.

Functional and proteomic analysis of a full thickness filaggrin-deficient skin organoid model.



RESEARCH ARTICLE

Check for updates

EVISED Functional and proteomic analysis of a full thickness filaggrin-deficient skin organoid model [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]

Previously titled: Proteomic analysis of a filaggrin-deficient skin organoid model shows evidence of increased transcriptional-translational activity, keratinocyte-immune crosstalk and disordered axon guidance

Martina S. Elias¹, Sheila C. Wright¹, William V. Nicholson¹, Kimberley D. Morrison¹, Alan R. Prescott ¹², Sara Ten Have³, Phillip D. Whitfield ¹, Angus I. Lamond ¹, Sara J. Brown 1,5

¹Skin Research Group, Division of Molecular and Clinical Medicine, School of Medicine, University of Dundee, Dundee, Scotland, DD1 9SY, UK

²Dundee Imaging Facility, School of Life Sciences, University of Dundee, Dundee, Scotland, DD1 5EH, UK

³Centre for Gene Regulation and Expression, School of Life Sciences, University of Dundee, Dundee, Scotland, DD1 5EH, UK ⁴Lipidomics Research Facility, Division of Biomedical Sciences, University of the Highlands and Islands, Inverness, Scotland, IV2 3JH, UK ⁵Department of Dermatology, Ninewells Hospital, Dundee, Scotland, DD1 9SY, UK

First published: 09 Sep 2019, 4:134 (**v2** https://doi.org/10.12688/wellcomeopenres.15405.1) Latest published: 26 Nov 2019, 4:134 (https://doi.org/10.12688/wellcomeopenres.15405.2)

Abstract

Background: Atopic eczema is an itchy inflammatory disorder characterised by skin barrier dysfunction. Loss-of-function mutations in the gene encoding filaggrin (FLG) are a major risk factor, but the mechanisms by which filaggrin haploinsufficiency leads to atopic inflammation remain incompletely understood. Skin as an organ that can be modelled using primary cells in vitro provides the opportunity for selected genetic effects to be investigated in detail.

Methods: Primary human keratinocytes and donor-matched primary fibroblasts from healthy individuals were used to create skin organoid models with and without siRNA-mediated knockdown of FLG. Biological replicate sets of organoids were assessed using histological, functional and biochemical measurements.

Results: FLG knockdown leads to subtle changes in histology and ultrastructure including a reduction in thickness of the stratum corneum and smaller, less numerous keratohyalin granules. Immature organoids showed some limited evidence of barrier impairment with FLG knockdown, but the mature organoids showed no difference in transepidermal water loss, water content or dye penetration. There was no difference in epidermal ceramide content. Mass spectrometry proteomic analysis detected >8000 proteins per sample. Gene ontology and pathway analyses identified an increase in transcriptional and translational activity but a reduction in proteins contributing to terminal differentiation, including caspase 14, dermokine, AKT1 and TGF-beta-1. Aspects of innate and adaptive immunity were

Open Peer Review

Reviewer Status 🗹 🗸 🗸



1 Sabine Werner, ETH Zurich (Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zürich), Zürich, Switzerland

Ulrich auf dem Keller, Technical University of Denmark, Kongens Lyngby, Denmark

- 2 Neil Rajan (D), Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
- 3 Sanja Kezic, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

represented in both the up-regulated and down-regulated protein groups, as was the term 'axon guidance'.

Conclusions: This work provides further evidence for keratinocyte-specific mechanisms contributing to immune and neurological, as well as structural, aspects of skin barrier dysfunction. Individuals with filaggrin deficiency may derive benefit from future therapies targeting keratinocyte-immune crosstalk and neurogenic pruritus.

Keywords

Axon guidance, atopic dermatitis, eczema, filaggrin, gene ontology, keratinocyte-immune crosstalk, organoid, proteomics

Any reports and responses or comments on the article can be found at the end of the article.

Corresponding authors: Martina S. Elias (m.elias@dundee.ac.uk), Sara J. Brown (s.j.brown@dundee.ac.uk)

Author roles: Elias MS: Conceptualization, Data Curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Supervision, Validation, Visualization, Writing – Original Draft Preparation, Writing – Review & Editing; Wright SC: Data Curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Validation, Visualization, Writing – Review & Editing; Nicholson WV: Formal Analysis, Methodology, Visualization, Writing – Review & Editing; Morrison KD: Formal Analysis, Methodology, Validation, Visualization, Writing – Review & Editing; Prescott AR: Data Curation, Investigation, Methodology, Resources, Supervision, Visualization, Writing – Original Draft Preparation, Writing – Review & Editing; Ten Have S: Data Curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Resources, Software, Visualization, Writing – Original Draft Preparation, Writing – Review & Editing; Whitfield PD: Data Curation, Formal Analysis, Funding Acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Resources, Supervision, Writing – Original Draft Preparation, Writing – Review & Editing; Conceptualization, Writing – Conceptualization, Methodology, Project Administration, Resources, Supervision, Visualization, Data Curation, Formal Analysis, Funding Acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Resources, Supervision, Writing – Original Draft Preparation, Writing – Review & Editing; Conceptualization, Data Curation, Formal Analysis, Funding Acquisition, Methodology, Project Administration, Resources, Supervision, Visualization, Pormal Analysis, Funding Acquisition, Methodology, Project Administration, Resources, Supervision, Visualization, Writing – Original Draft Preparation, Methodology, Project Administration, Resources, Supervision, Writing – Original Draft Preparation, Methodology, Project Administration, Resources, Supervision, Writing – Original Draft Preparation, Methodology, Project Administration, Resources, Supervision, Visualization, Writing – Original Draft Preparation, Methodology, Project Administration, Resources, Supervision, Visualization, Writing – Original Draf

Competing interests: No competing interests were disclosed.

Grant information: This work was supported by the Wellcome Trust [106865], a Senior Research Fellowship in Clinical Science awarded to SJB; the Brown laboratory has also received financial support from the Manknell Charitable Trust, the Tayside Dermatology Research Charity and the British Skin Foundation. The mass spectrometry proteomic analysis was supported by grants to AIL from the Wellcome Trust [105024]. Dundee Imaging Facility is supported by a Wellcome Trust Technology Platform award [097945]. UHI Lipidomics Research Facility acknowledges the support of European Regional Development Fund, Scottish Funding Council and Highlands and Islands Enterprise. *The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.*

Copyright: © 2019 Elias MS *et al.* This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

How to cite this article: Elias MS, Wright SC, Nicholson WV *et al.* Functional and proteomic analysis of a full thickness filaggrin-deficient skin organoid model [version 2; peer review: 3 approved] Wellcome Open Research 2019, 4:134 (https://doi.org/10.12688/wellcomeopenres.15405.2)

First published: 09 Sep 2019, 4:134 (https://doi.org/10.12688/wellcomeopenres.15405.1)

REVISED Amendments from Version 1

The main aim of this publication is to facilitate sharing of the global mass spectrometry data generated from the skin organoid models with *FLG* knockdown (described in detail) and functional analyses (described and reported); this main aim has been clarified.

In response to the interest from Reviewers 1 and 3, we have provided an explanation as to why knockdown of *FLG* at mRNA level is demonstrated to a lesser degree than the knockdown at protein level, reflecting the prolonged duration (10 days) of organoid culture.

We have emphasised that increased dye penetration was observed in some but not all of the immature organoids, as requested by Reviewer 1.

Additional details have been provided to explain how the protein false discovery rate was determined for the removal of false positives, as requested by Reviewer 1.

We have included a fuller explanation of the analysis approach, in which we focus on consistent differences observed across the biological replicate experiments and use thresholds for increased and decreased expression to include roughly equal numbers of proteins.

We have corrected the use of the terms 'ratio' and 'fold-change' where necessary.

A new Figure 10 is provided, following advice from reviewer 2. The colour-coding has been removed and we have labelled selected data points. During revision of this figure we discovered an error in the plotting of this figure; this detail has been corrected in the revised Methods section and in the re-drawn volcano plot.

The title has been modified to include the term 'full thickness', to clarify the complexity of our model (as recommended by reviewer 2). The list of main findings has now been removed from the title because it had become too long.

Minor typos have been corrected, including two references numbered incorrectly in the previous manuscript.

Any further responses from the reviewers can be found at the end of the article

Introduction

Atopic eczema (also termed atopic dermatitis or eczema^{1,2}) is an itchy inflammatory skin disorder with complex and multifactorial aetiology³. The phenotype is heterogeneous and pathogenic mechanisms vary between affected individuals⁴. The pathogenesis may include differential contributions of: immune activation and skin barrier dysfunction; local and systemic effects; multiple genetic and environmental factors⁵. Loss-of-function mutations in *FLG*, encoding filaggrin, cause the common Mendelian disorder of keratinization, ichthyosis vulgaris (OMIM # 146700). *FLG* null mutations are also strongly associated with increased risk of atopic eczema^{6,7} and multiple other atopic traits^{8–10}.

Skin is an organ that can be modelled *in vitro* to effectively recapitulate the multi-layered structure and gene expression patterns of human skin *in vivo*¹¹. This offers the opportunity for selected molecular mechanisms to be investigated in relative isolation from a complex disease state, using relevant primary cells. Replicate experiments can be performed using primary cells with the same genetic background or cells from different donors¹². Detailed functional and biochemical analyses may then be applied to define potential therapeutic targets^{12,13}.

Filaggrin is a marker of keratinocyte differentiation; it is expressed in the granular layer of the upper epidermis as a polymer - profilaggrin - which undergoes post-translational modification and stepwise proteolysis to release monomeric filaggrin¹⁴. Profilaggrin and filaggrin have multiple functions, each of which have been described as contributing to the mechanical, biochemical, immunological and microbiological aspects of skin barrier function¹⁵. Clinical studies have shown that filaggrin haploinsufficiency is associated with xerosis and ichthyosis (dry and scaly skin), keratosis pilaris (increased keratin within skin follicles), palmar hyperlinearity¹⁶ and increased transepidermal water loss¹⁷. Transcriptomic analysis of full thickness skin biopsies have shown evidence of an abnormal defence response in FLG haploinsufficient atopic skin¹⁸; proteomic analysis to assess the effect of FLG knockdown in an epidermal organoid has also shown features of inflammation and stress protease activity¹⁹. However, in vitro studies have not shown consistent histological or functional effects of filaggrin deficiency in the various different skin organoid models published to date²⁰ and the multiple mechanisms by which filaggrin deficiency contributes to atopic disease remain incompletely understood⁵.

We have optimised a skin organoid model, with dermal and epidermal compartments cultured using donor-matched primary cells, for functional assessments and global mass spectrometry proteomic analysis. The work aims to investigate in more detail the effect of *FLG* siRNA-mediated knockdown on one cell type - the keratinocyte - to increase understanding of the filaggrin-deficient phenotype and to further define molecular mechanisms predisposing to atopic skin inflammation.

Methods

Source of primary human cells

Primary keratinocytes and primary fibroblasts were isolated from human skin tissue samples obtained, with written informed consent and Ethical Committee approval (East of Scotland Research Ethics Service reference 17/ES/0130 renewal 12/ ES/0083) under governance of the Tayside Biorepository. Surgical surplus samples of clinically normal skin from four adult donors (all females aged 29–65 years; one abdominal and three breast skin reductions) were used for the organoid cultures. Similar samples (n=5) were used for independent biological replicates to test for reproducibility of the functional effects of *FLG* knockdown.

Organoid culture methods

Primary keratinocytes and dermal fibroblasts were isolated from human skin by sequential trypsin EDTA and collagenase D digestion²¹. Using our previously reported methods¹², the keratinocytes were co-cultured with mitomycin C inactivated 3T3 feeder cells in RM media (3:1 DMEM : Hams F12, 10% FCS, 0.4µg/ml hydrocortisone, 5µg/ml insulin, 10ng/ml EGF, 5µg/ml transferrin, 8.4ng/ml cholera toxin and 13ng/ml liothyronine) (Sigma Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK)²². Epidermal growth factor (EGF) was omitted for the first day of culture. The fibroblasts were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FCS under standard conditions.

Fibrin gel dermal equivalents¹² were prepared using 0.5ml fibrinogen (35 mg/ml in NaCl) (Sigma Aldrich, Gillingham,

Dorset, UK) and 0.5ml thrombin (3U/ml in 2 mM CaCl₂ / 1.1% NaCl) (Sigma Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK) combined on ice, with 200,000 fibroblasts and aprotinin (0.1 U/ml) (Sigma Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK) then transferred to a 12-well plate. After 30 minutes incubation at 37°C, the gels were covered in medium (DMEM, 10% FCS, 0.1 U/ml Aprotinin) and cultured overnight (day 1). On day 2, the medium was replaced with RM excluding EGF, 0.1U/ml aprotinin and 2×10^6 suspended keratinocytes. Culture medium was refreshed daily on days 3 and 4 using RM containing 0.1ng/ml EGF and 0.1U/ml aprotinin. On day 5 the gels were carefully removed from wells and lifted onto custom-made steel grids lined with nylon gauze (Millipore, Livingston, Scotland, UK). RM medium supplemented with 0.1ng/ml EGF and 0.1U/ml aprotinin was added up to the base of the dermal equivalent so that the epidermis

remained at the air-liquid interface. Medium was refreshed on alternate days sand the cultures were used for analysis up to day 12 (representing three, five and seven days after lifting to the air-liquid interface).

A diagrammatic summary of the process of skin organoid culture is shown in Figure 1.

Epidermis was separated from the fibrin gel using hypertonic saline-induced split (4 hours, 1M NaCl, 4°C) to obtain a keratinocyte-only tissue sample for biochemical analyses.

FLG genotyping

DNA was extracted from donor skin samples using standard techniques and genotyping was performed for the four



Figure 1. Diagrammatic summary of skin organoid culture. Dermal and epidermal equivalents produced using our published methodology optimised for skin barrier assessment¹².

most prevalent loss-of-function mutations in *FLG* in this white European population (R501X, 2282del4, R2447X and S3247X)²³ using validated KASPTM technology (LGC Genomics, Hoddesdon, Hertfordshire, UK), as previously reported^{4,24}. Briefly, KASPTM SNP genotyping consists of two competitive, allelespecific forward primers and one common reverse primer. Each forward primer incorporates an additional tail sequence that corresponds with one of two universal FRET (fluorescent resonance energy transfer) cassettes (FAM and HEX). ROXTM passive reference dye, Taq polymerase, free nucleotides and MgCl2 in an optimised buffer solution make up the reaction master mix.

siRNA mediated knockdown

Keratinocytes were reverse transfected immediately prior to inclusion in the organoid cultures using RNAiMax transfection reagent (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, California, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, siRNA complexes were formed in OPTIMEM medium (20uM siRNA, 5µl RNAiMAX) and following 20 minutes incubation, combined with 2×10^6 suspended normal human keratinocytes and transferred to the pre-prepared dermal substrate. A pool of four siRNA duplexes was used [FLG: LQ-021718-00-0002, Control: ON-TARGETplus non-targeting siRNA #4 D.001810-04-20] (Dharmacon, Lafayette, Colorado, USA).

Quantitative PCR

RNA was extracted from organoid epidermis using the Directzol RNA kit (R2071, Zymo Research, Irvine, California, USA) following homogenisation in RNA-Bee (CS-104B, Amsbio, Abingdon, Oxfordhire, UK) using the TissueLyser LT (Qiagen, Manchester, UK) 5 mins at 50 Hz. cDNA was prepared from 1µg total RNA using random priming (2.5µM final) (Integrated DNA Technologies, Coralville, Iowa, USA) in combination with Moloney murine leukemia virus (MMLV) enzyme (100 units) and buffer systems (28025013, Life Technologies, Carlsbad, California, USA). qPCR reactions were performed using exon spanning probe-based assays (FLG: HS.PT.58.24292320FAM, EF1A: HS.PT.58.24345862FAM) [Integrated DNA Technologies, California, USA]) with TaqMan gene expression Mastermix (4369016, Life Technologies, Carlsbad, California, USA). Reactions were prepared and run using the Oiagility robot in combination with the Rotor-Gene O (Qiagen, Manchester, UK). EF1A was used as a reference gene. PCR cycling conditions were: 95°C for 10 mins, [95°C for 15 seconds, 60°C for 60 seconds] × 40 cycles. Fold changes were derived via the 2(-Delta Delta C[T]) method.

Western blotting

Organoid epidermis was homogenized in RIPA buffer (Cell Signalling Technologies, London, UK) using the TissueLyser LT (Qiagen, Manchester, UK) 5 mins at 50 Hz. Protein lysates were normalized by Pierce BCA assay (23225, Thermo Fisher, Waltham, Massachussets, USA) and resolved under reducing conditions using the NuPage® gel electrophoresis system (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, California, USA). Primary antibodies (monoclonal mouse filaggrin [RRID: AB_1122916, catalogue # sc66192, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Texas, USA] and monoclonal mouse GAPDH [RRID: AB_2756824, catalogue # 97166,

Cell Signalling Technologies, Boston, USA]) were prepared in 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) and incubated overnight at 4°C with agitation. Immunoblots were developed using either goat anti rabbit (P0448, RRID: AB_2617138) or goat anti mouse (P0447, RRID: AB_2617137) peroxidase conjugated secondary antibodies (DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark, 1:5000) in combination with chemiluminescent HRP substrate (Immobilon, Millipore, Billerica, Massachussets, USA) onto photographic film. Densitometry was performed using Fuji ImageJ (May 2017).

Structural assessments

(i) Histology

Formalin-fixed, paraffin embedded full thickness organoids were sectioned and stained using haematoxylin and eosin and imaged using Visiscope LT384P (VWR International, Lutterworth, UK).

(ii) Transmission electron microscopy (TEM)

Organoid skin samples were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, 2.5% gluteraldehyde in 0.1M sodium cacodylate buffer (pH 7.2) for one hour then cut into small pieces, washed in buffer and post-fixed in 1% osmium tetroxide in cacodylate buffer for one hour or 1% ruthenium tetroxide in cacodylate buffer for one hour. The pieces were dehydrated through alcohol series, into propylene oxide and embedded in Durcupan resin. Ultrathin sections were stained with 3% aqueous uranyl acetate and Reynold's lead citrate and examined on a JEOL 1200EX electron microscope. TEM images were collected on a SIS Megaview III camera.

Functional assessments

(i) Trans-epidermal water loss (TEWL)

Organoid cultures were equilibrated at room temperature and atmospheric conditions for 30 minutes before TEWL was measured at two locations on the epidermal surface using an Aquaflux AF200 instrument (Biox Systems Ltd, London, UK) with a closed chamber and a custom (5mm diameter) probe head. TEWL measurements were taken every second for a minimum of 60 seconds until a stable reading, as determined by the software, was obtained. TEWL directly measures water evaporation from the skin surface but it may be considered as a measurement of 'inside-outside' barrier function²⁵.

(ii) Capacitance

To inform the interpretation of TEWL, we measured electrical capacitance; this is directly proportional to water content of the uppermost 10–20 μ m of tissue. Organoid cultures were equilibrated at room temperature and atmospheric conditions for 30 minutes prior to measurement of epidermal surface capacitance, using a CorneometerTM and multiprobe adapter (CM825 and MPA2, Courage and Khazaka, Cologne, Germany). Three measurements were recorded from each organoid and the mean was calculated.

(iii) Fluorescent dye penetration

 50μ l of 1mM lucifer yellow dye (Sigma Aldrich) was added to the epidermal surface of the organoid and incubated at

 37° C for 4 hours. Metal cloning rings were used to control uniform dosing on the epidermal surface. The lucifer yellow was removed and the organoids washed in PBS before formalin fix-paraffin embedding under standard conditions. 4µM sections were deparaffinized, counterstained with DAPI (1µg/ml for 10 mins) (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, California, USA) and imaged by confocal Zeiss LSM710 microscope. Quantification of dye penetration in the upper dermis (average intensity in upper 40µm) was performed using Zeiss Zen Blue lite version 2.3 software and compared using paired t-tests. Dye penetration represents a measurement of the 'outside-inside' barrier function.

Mass spectrometry proteomic analysis

Frozen organoid epidermal samples were ground on dry ice, solubilized in 200µl of Cellular and Organelle Membrane Solubilizing Reagent (C0356-4BTL, also called Protein Extraction Reagent Type 4, Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK), 7.0 M urea, 2.0 M thiourea, 40 mM Trizma® base (Sigma Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, UK) and 1.0% C7BzO, pH 10.4 buffer with protease inhibitors. The lysate was acetone precipitated for 1 hour at -20°C and spun for 20 mins at 2°C at 15,000 rpm. The pellet was re-suspended in 200µl of 50mM ammonium bicarbonate. 100µl was taken for in-solution digest. 22µl of dithiothreitol was added and samples heated to 50°C for 15mins. 24ul of iodoacetamide was added and the samples incubated at 22°C for 30 mins. 1µl of RapiGest[™] (186001860, Waters, Herts, UK) was added, followed by 2.5µl of trypsin, for a 12-hour digest. A further 1µl trypsin was added for an additional 4-hour digest. The peptide samples were fractionated into 24 fractions with high pH Reversed Phase C18 chromatography, run on a O Exactive Classic or Plus for 160 mins and the top 15 ions selected for sequencing. Mass spectrometry resolution was 70,000 and tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS) resolution 17,500. Data were processed using MaxQuant (v1.6.0.13) and Human UniProt Database (Dec 2017) with a protein and peptide false discovery rate of 0.01.

Proteins identified as contaminants (trypsin and other lab originating proteins) and contained within the MaxQuant database were removed. To account for the possibility of keratin as a contaminant, we analysed the blank runs for keratin peptide intensity and subtracted this from the measured keratin intensities. A reversed database was used to identify false positives. The peptide and protein false discovery rate was set at 1%, and these were removed from further analysis.

Total intensities of the samples were normalized to total protein abundance, with adjustment to the lowest total protein yield. All samples were run in quadruplicate and reproducibility was assessed by Pearson correlation.

Mass spectrometry lipidomic analysis

Organoid samples were sonicated in phosphate buffered saline (pH7.4) and then extracted according to the method of Folch *et al.*²⁶. The samples were analysed by liquid chromatographymass spectrometry (LC-MS) on a Thermo Exactive Orbitrap mass spectrometer (Thermo Scientific, Hemel Hempsted, UK)

coupled to a Thermo Accela 1250 ultra high pressure liquid chromatography (UHPLC) system. Samples were injected on to C18 column (Thermo Hypersil Gold, 2.1 mm x 100 mm, 1.9 μm) and separated using a water/acetonitrile/isopropanol gradient²⁷. Ceramide 17:0 (Avanti Polar Lipids, Alabaster, AL, USA) was included as an internal standard. Ion signals corresponding to individual ceramide molecular species were extracted from raw LC-MS data sets. Concentration of ceramide was expressed as pmol/mg after normalisation to mg of wet weight tissue.

Data analysis of qPCR, immunoblotting and functional assessments

Measurements were compared between non-targeting controltreated organoid models and *FLG*-siRNA-treated models, using paired t-test.

Histological sections of 10 replicate skin organoid experiments were measured using a standardized technique to minimize bias, as follows: three points were measured on each slide, at the right side, middle and left of each sample, across viable cell layers and stratum corneum; measurements were generated using Fuji ImageJ (May 2017) and the mean of the three measurements calculated.

Proteomic data analysis

The total intensities of the samples were normalised to total protein abundance, with adjustment to the lowest total protein yield. Log2 ratio of protein expression (log2 FLG knockdown – log2 NT control) was visualised as a volcano plot, using GraphPad Prism (version 5) for human proteins detected in (three or all four) of the replicate experiments. P values were calculated by paired t-test applied to log 10 transformed data. Because of the burden of multiple testing in this large dataset, rather than defining arbitrary thresholds for 'statistical significance', our analyses focussed on changes that showed consistency across the biological replicate experiments. Approximately 1000 of the >8000 proteins were selected as showing consistently increased or decreased abundance, defined as follows:

Proteins were considered to be reduced in abundance if they showed a reduction in all four biological replicate experiments comparing FLG-knockdown organoid samples to matched non-targeting controls and ratio ≤0.5 in three or four out of four of the replicates and reduced to undetectable levels of protein in a maximum of two replicates. Proteins were considered to be increased in abundance if they showed an increase in all four biological replicate experiments comparing FLGknockdown organoid samples to matched controls treated with non-targeting controls and ratio ≥ 1.2 in three or four out of four of the replicates. These magnitudes of change were used to define roughly equal proportions of up- and down-regulated proteins for pathway analysis. The groups were then assessed using gene ontology and network analysis in STRING, version 11²⁸ and pathway prediction using the Reactome Knowledgebase, version 68²⁹. This analysis, based on consistency of findings across multiple biological replicate experiments was used in preference to a defined threshold of statistical significance,

with the aim to identify proteins and pathways of importance in the context of a common complex but heterogenous trait.

Lipidomic data analysis

The ratio of ceramide and omega-hydroxy ceramide species were compared between the *FLG* knockdown organoids and matched control samples in five biological replicate experiments.

Results

All samples are wild-type for the prevalent *FLG* null mutations and filaggrin shows knockdown at mRNA and protein level

Genotyping of DNA from tissue samples from the four skin donors did not detect any of the prevalent *FLG* null mutations³⁰; this does not, however, exclude the possibility of rare (<0.01 allele frequency) null mutations.

FLG knockdown in the skin organoids persisted to day 10 after siRNA transfection, as demonstrated by qPCR (Figure 2) and western blotting (Figure 3). We note the greater magnitude of knockdown quantified at mRNA than protein level in the organoid epidermis 10-days after transfection. This is likely to reflect the inherent differences in mRNA and protein stabilities: FLG mRNA has a half-life of ~2.2 hours³¹ whereas the half-lives of profilaggrin and filaggrin are approximately 6 and 24 hours respectively³².

FLG knockdown results in morphological changes in the epidermis

Histological examination confirmed a reduction of the granular layer, in keeping with a reduction in profilaggrin (Figure 4A). There was also a slight reduction in thickness

of the stratum corneum (ratio 0.83 + - 0.05 (mean + - SEM), but no difference in thickness of the keratinocyte cell layers (Figure 4B).

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) of the skin organoid model shows an effective recapitulation of the physiological layers of keratinocyte differentiation within skin, including a mature, multi-layered stratum corneum with corneodesmosomes and a granular layer with keratohyalin granules and desmosomes (Figure 5A). TEM of the *FLG*-knockdown organoid shows a similarly mature epidermis, but the stratum corneum has fewer layers and the granular layer contains keratohyalin



Figure 2. qPCR analysis of epidermis from skin organoids with and without *FLG* **siRNA-mediated knockdown.** Probes and primers are listed in Methods; n=8 biological replicates; error bars show SEM; *paired t-test p<0.05.



Figure 3. Quantification of filaggrin in organoid epidermis. (A) Representative western blot. (B) Approximated quantification by densitometry. NT, non-targeting; n=7; ***p<0.0005 compared to non-targeting control.


Figure 4. Structural changes in organoid models. (A) Histological examination (representative images from 8 biological replicates). NT, non-targeting. (B) Measurement of relative thickness of epidermal layers: VCL, viable cell layer and SC, stratum corneum; n=8; compared using paired t-test; **p<0.005.



(B) Ultrastructure of organoid with FLG knockdown

Figure 5. Ultrastructural features of control and FLG knockdown organoids. (A) Control organoid sample, showing elements of normal human skin structure including stratified differentiation. (B) Organoid with FLG siRNA-mediated knockdown, showing thinner stratum corneum, reduced prominence if the corneodesmosomes and desmosomes, and smaller keratohyalin granules (organelles containing profilaggrin).

granules that are generally smaller and less numerous than in the control organoid (Figure 5B).

FLG knockdown shows some evidence of a barrier defect in the immature organoids but no functional effect on skin barrier in the mature organoid model

The organoid model described here shows progressive development of skin barrier function after lifting to the air-liquid interface: there is a progressive reduction in TEWL (Figure 6), progressive reduction in capacitance (Figure 7) and the hydrophilic dye, lucifer yellow, is excluded from the epidermis by day 7 in both the control and *FLG*-knockdown organoids (Figure 8).

Results from five biological replicate experiments showed there was no difference in the mean TEWL (Figure 6), or mean capacitance measurements (Figure 7) between the mature organoid models with *FLG* knockdown and donor-matched non-targeting siRNA-treated controls. Capacitance was increased in the immature



Figure 6. Transepidermal water loss (TEWL) measurements. TEWL measured under standard conditions at days 3, 5 and 7 after the organoid is lifted to the air-liquid interface, using an Aquaflux AF200 instrument (Biox Systems Ltd, London, UK) with a 5mm diameter probe head. NT, non-targeting; N=5; error bars show SEM.



Figure 7. Epidermal capacitance measurements. Electrical capacitance, directly proportional to water content of the uppermost 10–20µm of tissue, was measured under standard conditions at days 3, 5 and 7 after the organoid is lifted to the air-liquid interface, using a Corneometer[™] (Courage and Khazaka, Cologne, Germany); the mean of three measurements is recorded. NT, non-targeting; N=5; error bars show SEM; paired t test **p<0.005.



Figure 8. Lucifer yellow dye penetration of organoid samples. The hydrophilic lucifer yellow dye (Sigma Aldrich) was added to the epidermal surface of the organoid and incubated at 37°C for 4 hours before sectioning for microscopic examination. (**A**) Representative image from three of the five biological replicate experiments showing delayed maturation of barrier function. (**B**) Dot-plot of densitometry data from all five biological replicates. NT, non-targeting.

FLG-knockdown model (day 5 after air-exposure, Figure 7) and lucifer yellow dye was not fully excluded by the stratum corneum in some of the the *FLG*-knockdown replicate experiments until day 7 (Figure 8). However, this delay in maturation of the 'outside-to-inside' barrier function was not consistently demonstrated in all biological replicates.

Mass spectrometry proteomic analysis identifies over 8000 protein species per sample

After removal of contaminants and false positive results, >8000 proteins were identified in each epidermal sample. The proteomic data have been deposited to the ProteomeXchange Consortium via the PRIDE³³ partner repository with dataset identifier PXD014875. Quality control analysis confirmed that similar distributions of proteins were identified in each experiment (Figure 9A); protein extracts were analysed in quadruplicate to test for technical reproducibility and the Pearson correlations were 0.869-0.938 (Figure 9B). The protein expression changes were visualised using a volcano plot (Figure 10).



Figure 9. Mass spectrometry proteomic analysis quality control assessments. (A) Histograms showing the distribution of proteins quantified in each experiment. Bins on the x-axis contain the log2 intensity-based absolute quantification (iBAQ, sum of intensities of tryptic peptides for each protein divided by number of theoretically observable peptides); normalised counts of the proteins in each bin are shown on the y-axis; MS2, MS3, MS5 and MS6 are biological replicate experiments from different human donors; mock, untreated control organotypic; C4, non-targeting control treated organotypic; Filaggrin, FLG si-RNA treated organotypic. (B) Correlation of protein abundance from replicate analyses. x and y axes show iBAQ intensities of samples mapped against replicate analysis; biological replicates are highly correlated (Pearson correlation coefficient ≥ 0.86).



Figure 10. Volcano plot to visualise changes in protein expression between control and *FLG* **siRNA-treated organoids.** Adjusted protein intensity data were filtered to include only human proteins detected in three or four replicate experiments. The log2 ratio (log2 FLG knockdown – log2 NT control) for each donor was calculated and averaged; p-values from paired t-test were derived from log10 transformed data and are unadjusted. Selected data-points with more extreme values are labelled using the abbreviated protein name. NT, non-targeting.

648 proteins show a consistent reduction in expression in skin organoids with FLG knockdown

648 human proteins showed a reduction in expression in all four of the replicates and ratio ≤ 0.5 in three out of four replicates. This list is available as *Underlying data*, uploaded to Figshare³⁰.

645 of the proteins are identified in STRING and this group showed significant enrichment for interactions (p<1.0e-16) computed by combining the probabilities from the different evidence channels and corrected for the probability of randomly observing an interaction²¹. Gene ontology (GO) analysis in STRING showed evidence for functional enrichment of GOterms including RNA processing (false discovery rate (FDR) 4.40e-11), catalytic activity (FDR 8.59e-08) and intracellular component (FDR 3.88e-26). A list of the 10 most significant GO analysis results in each of the GO domains is shown in Table 1 (see *Underlying data*)³⁴.

Pathway analysis of down-regulated proteins identifies themes including RNA metabolism, adaptive immunity and axon guidance

Reactome detected 39 pathways in this set of proteins (Table 2, *Underlying data*)³⁵. Descriptions include: metabolism of RNA (including 67 out of the 652 genes in this pathway, FDR 3.36e-12); class I MHC mediated antigen processing and presentation (30/365 genes in pathway, FDR 0.0031); and axon guidance (34/541 genes, FDR 0.0207).

Down-regulated proteins indicate molecular mechanisms of relevance to atopic eczema

Manual searching of the list of down-regulated proteins identified several of specific interest based on a priori knowledge of eczema pathomechanisms. These highlight several putative therapeutic targets: the aryl hydrocarbon receptor plays a role in signalling pathways for skin barrier repair²² and has been proposed as a therapeutic target for the treatment of skin inflammation³⁶; caspase 14 plays a role in filaggrin processing³⁷ and is required for epidermal protection against water loss and UVB-induced damage³⁸; dermokine is a soluble regulator of keratinocyte differentiation³⁹; sequence similarity to a murine protein (UniProtKB:Q8R1R3) indicates that StAR-related lipid transfer protein 7 may play a role in protecting mucosal tissues from exaggerated allergic responses; a reduction in the cytokine TGF-beta 1 may predispose to atopic eczema⁴⁰; and loss-of-function mutations in CYP4F22 cause lamellar ichthyosis⁴¹, suggesting that a reduction in CYP4F22 protein expression may contribute to the ichthyotic phenotype observed in ichthyosis vulgaris and atopic skin.

376 proteins show a consistent increase in expression in organoids with FLG knockdown

376 human proteins showed an increase in expression in all four of the replicates and ratio ≥ 1.2 in three or four out of the four replicates. This list is available as *Underlying data*, uploaded to Figshare³⁰.

374 proteins are identified in STRING and the group showed significant enrichment for interactions (p<1.0e-16). GO analysis revealed enrichment of terms including translation (FDR 4.12e-19), RNA binding (FDR 9.77e-12) and cytoplasmic part (FDR 9.64-36). A list of the 10 most significant GO analysis results in each of the GO domains is shown in Table 3 (see *Underlying data*)⁴².

Pathway analysis of up-regulated proteins identifies themes including translation, innate and adaptive immunity and axon guidance

Reactome detected 113 pathways in this set of proteins with FDR p<0.05 (Table 4, *Underlying data*)⁴³. Descriptions include: Translation (including 44 out of the 288 genes in this pathway, FDR 1.17e-21); innate immune system (47/1012 genes in pathway, FDR 9.90e-7); cytokine signalling in immune system (32/654 genes in pathway, FDR 5.16e-05); and axon guidance (40/541, FDR 4.69e-11).

Up-regulated proteins indicate molecular mechanisms of relevance to atopic eczema

Manual searching of the list of up-regulated proteins identified several of relevance to atopic eczema, including: STAT1, an intracellular signalling molecule that shows increased expression in atopic eczema, and as part of the JAK-STAT pathway is targeted by several traditional herbal remedies⁴⁴ as well as novel small molecule therapies⁴⁵; carbonic anhydrase 2, which is increased in skin in a variety of forms of eczema⁴⁶; and FK binding protein, which binds to tacrolimus, an established topical treatment for atopic eczema.

The type I keratins 10, 16 and 17 each show increased expression in the *FLG*-siRNA-treated organoid models with mean ratio 1.7, 1.3 and 1.3, respectively. Keratin 10 is an intermediate filament protein of structural importance in the skin; keratin 16 is an epidermis-specific keratin that plays a role in innate immunity in response to skin barrier breach⁴⁷; keratin 17 is expressed in epidermal appendages, including the hair follicle.

Finally, it is noteworthy that GAPDH, which is often considered to be a stable 'housekeeping' gene, is in the dataset of consistently up-regulated proteins. However, in the context of this work, filaggrin knockdown is clearly apparent at a greater magnitude than the more subtle change in GAPDH (Figure 3).

Epidermal ceramide content shows no significant difference in FLG-knockdown organoids compared with controls

Ceramide and omega-hydroxy ceramide species in five biological replicate experiments showed no consistent difference between the *FLG* knockdown organoids and matched control samples (Figure 11).

Discussion

The functional and biochemical analyses of a filaggrin-deficient skin model have provided findings that are consistent with our and others' previous analyses *in vitro*¹⁹ and *in vivo*⁴⁸. We have



Figure 11. Ratio of ceramides and omega-hydroxy ceramides in organoid epidermis. Dots represent values for five individual experiments; bars show 95% confidence interval.

included both epidermal and dermal compartments in this model (to allow for dermal-epidermal cross-talk^{49,50}) and our more detailed proteomic analysis has revealed additional evidence of molecular mechanisms with relevance to atopic skin. These datasets are shared as a resource for the research community.

Analysis of the immature organoid identified a delay in epidermal maturation following *FLG* knockdown, but the lack of a replicable functional effect in our model, when mature, reflects previous reports in which epidermal equivalents created from *FLG*-null keratinocytes do not show impairment in barrier function²⁰. This is in keeping with the observation that *FLG*null mutations are not fully penetrant with respect to ichthyosis vulgaris or atopic eczema^{16,51}.

Because of the nature of our data, generated using biological replicate samples, and the focus on modelling a common complex trait with considerable inter-individual variation, we elected to use the criterion of consistency across the biological replicates to define proteins of interest, followed by network and pathway analyses. We recognise that other, more complex data analytical approaches may be applied, and/or more focussed interrogation of specific pathways; we share the proteomics data and welcome such further analysis.

Our analysis has highlighted aspects of keratinocyte-immune signalling. This is an important component of the immunological barrier that may be overlooked in tissue with multiple different cell types. The predicted pathways entitled 'innate immunity' and 'adaptive immunity' included proteins showing both increased and decreased expression (Table 2 and Table 4, *Underlying data*)^{35,43}. This immune dysregulation is likely to contribute to the predisposition to infection and inflammation observed in filaggrin-deficient skin *in vivo*: filaggrin-deficient patients show increased viral infection of the skin⁵² and increased incidence of irritant^{53,54} and allergic contact dermatitis⁵⁵. The regulation of innate and adaptive immune pathways within keratinocytes (in addition to cells of the haematopoietic lineage) may therefore represent a worthwhile target for future therapeutic interventions.

The lack of effect of *FLG* knockdown on the ceramide content in the model epidermis is also consistent with previously reported findings *in vitro*^{56,57} and *in vivo*⁵⁸. We did not analyse in detail the other epidermal lipids and therefore we cannot comment on whether there were relevant changes. Differences in lamellar body structure⁵⁹ have been reported in *FLG*-mutant skin biopsies but this was not clearly observed in the organoid model. However, ultrastructural examination of the model stratum corneum did reveal abnormalities in the lamellar bilayer structure and less prominent corneodesmosomes (Figure 5), as previously reported *in vivo*⁵⁹. It is also noteworthy that pathway analysis in Reactome identified the terms 'metabolism of lipids' and 'phospholipid metabolism' from the group of consistently down-regulated proteins (Table 4, *Underlying data*)⁴³.

The most significant themes identified in the groups of proteins showing increased expression upon *FLG* knockdown relate to RNA binding and translation; this is in contrast to RNA metabolism and RNA processing, which are demonstrated in the proteins showing decreased expression. The functional significance of this increase in transcriptional and translational activity cannot be determined from the gene ontology and pathway analysis. We may hypothesise that it reflects the increased 'stress' response, as we have previously observed in *FLG* genotype-stratified transcriptome analysis of atopic skin biopsies¹⁸ and/or the activation of innate and adaptive immune mechanisms.

It is tempting to speculate that the increased expression of keratins 10 and 16 may contribute to palmar hyperlinearity and keratin 17 may contribute to keratosis pilaris. These are characteristic features of ichthyosis vulgaris but their pathogenesis has not yet been explained as a direct result of filaggrin haploinsufficiency^{16,60}.

Several of the proteins showing reduced expression relate to aspects of differentiation, including filaggrin itself, and caspase 14 which plays a role in the terminal degradation of filaggrin³⁷. The aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) is a ligandactivated transcription factor that responds to multiple different environmental and metabolic stimuli to control transcriptional pathways of relevance to atopic eczema, including immunity and differentiation⁶¹. Activation of AhR reduces skin inflammation⁶² and enhances barrier repair⁶³; therefore, a reduction in AhR expression in the *FLG* knockdown organoid would be anticipated to increase the eczema diathesis by opposing these effects. AKT1 activity is known to be reduced in atopic skin, leading to an alteration in protease expression and reduced filaggrin expression and processing⁶⁴. This mechanism may further exacerbate the filaggrin deficiency in our *FLG* knockdown organoid. Dermokine acts as a soluble regulator of keratinocyte differentiation and mice deficient in the epidermal dermokines (beta and gamma isoforms) show defective cornification⁶⁵. Transforming growth factor (TGF) beta-1 is a multifunctional protein: it regulates the growth and differentiation of multiple cell types, including keratinocytes and it can promote either Th17 or T-regulatory cell lineage differentiation in a concentration-dependent manner; it appears to have an immunosuppressive effect in atopic disease since a geneticallydetermined lower production of TGF-beta-1 is associated with increased risk of atopic dermatitis⁴⁰.

The Reactome term 'axon guidance' was detected in proteins showing increased and decreased expression. It has long been recognised that there is an increase in the density of sensory neurons in eczematous skin⁶⁶ and nerve growth factor expression is upregulated in the keratinocytes of patients with atopic eczema⁶⁷. Therefore, dysregulation of axon guidance may be of relevance to the pruritus that is so characteristic of atopic eczema and contributes substantially to the morbidity of this condition³. Antagonists of transient receptor potential vanilloid subfamily member 1 (TRPV1), expressed on sensory nerves and keratinocytes, are now being investigated for the control of pruritus^{68,69}.

Taken together, our data demonstrate that filaggrin haploinsufficiency leads to abnormalities in both structural and immune features within the keratinocyte compartment of the epidermis. Keratinocytes display immune activity, producing multiple cytokines and chemokines in addition to their roles in innate immunity^{70,71}. Together with the evidence of dysregulation in axon guidance, these findings indicate that patients with filaggrin deficiency – either haploinsufficiency or a reduction in filaggrin expression that occurs secondary to atopic inflammation⁷² – may derive clinical benefit from future therapies targeting keratinocyte-immune crosstalk mechanisms and neurogenic pruritus.

The skin organoid model described here represents a valuable opportunity to study genetic effects on keratinocytes in relative isolation. However, the lack of other cell types (notably T cells, B cells, dermal dendritic cells and innate lymphoid cells), the absence of complex dermal structures (including neurons and blood vessels) and skin appendages (for example hair follicles, sweat and sebaceous glands) is also a limitation in that it precludes assessment of the complex interactions that are likely to occur between different tissue compartments in skin.

In conclusion, we share these experimental results in detailed form, because of the additional insight provided by this *in vitro* analysis of filaggrin deficiency in a skin organoid model; our findings compliment and extend previous work *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Our analyses have re-emphasised the role of keratinocyte-specific mechanisms in contributing to immune and neurological as well as structural aspects of skin barrier function and offer new insight into molecular mechanisms for the ichthyosis vulgaris phenotype.

Data availability

Underlying data

Mass spectrometry proteomics data deposited in the ProteomeXchange Consortium via the PRIDE partner repository³³, Accession number PXD014875: https://identifiers.org/pride. project:PXD014875

Figshare: Proteomic analysis of *FLG* knockdown in skin organoid. https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.c.4606052.v3³⁰.

This project contains the following underlying data:

- TEM images (zip file containing raw, unedited TEM images in .tif format)
- TEWL and corneometer readings (raw readings in .xlsx format)
- Western blots (zip file containing unedited western blot scans, plus an annotated composite image with labels in .tif format)
- Lucifer yellow dye penetration quantification.xlsx
- Lucifer yellow dye penetration (zip file containing raw, unedited microscopy images for five replicates in .czi format)
- Histology quantification (raw histology quantification data in .xlsx format)
- H&E images (raw, unedited histology images for replicates 1-11 in .bmp and .tif format)
- Filaggrin densitometry (densitometry measurements for seven replicate experiments in .xlsx format)

- FLG qPCR data (raw qPCR data in .xlsx format)
- FLG genotyping results (raw genotyping results in .xlsx format)
- Consistently down-regulated proteins in FLG kd organoids. xlsx
- Consistently up-regulated proteins in FLG kd organoids. xlsx

Figshare: Table 1. Gene Ontology (GO) analysis of proteins showing a consistent reduction in expression with FLG knockdown. https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.9710585.v1³⁴.

Figshare: Table 2. Reactome pathway analysis of down-regulated proteins. https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.9710666.v1³⁵.

Figshare: Table 3. Gene Ontology (GO) analysis of proteins showing a consistent increase in expression with *FLG* knockdown. https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.9710738.v1⁴².

Figshare: Table 4. Reactome pathway analysis of up-regulated proteins. https://doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.9710783.v1⁴³.

Data are available under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International license (CC-BY 4.0).

Acknowledgements

We are very grateful to the anonymous skin donors who gave consent for their samples to be accessed for research and the governance of the NHS Research Scotland Biorepository Tayside in collecting these samples. We thank Dr Andrew South, Dr Celine Pourreyron, Dr Michael Mildner and Prof Erwin Tschachler for expert advice on skin organoid culture methods; Dr Paul Appleton for technical expertise and advice on microscopy; and Mr Seshu Tammireddy for his technical work in lipid analysis.

References

- Johansson SG, Bieber T, Dahl R, et al.: Revised nomenclature for allergy for global use: Report of the Nomenclature Review Committee of the World Allergy Organization, October 2003. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2004; 113(5): 832–6. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Silverberg JI, Thyssen JP, Paller AS, et al.: What's in a name? Atopic dermatitis or atopic eczema, but not eczema alone. Allergy. 2017; 72(12): 2026–2030. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Weidinger S, Novak N: Atopic dermatitis. Lancet. 2016; 387(10023): 1109–1122. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Paternoster L, Savenije OEM, Heron J, et al.: Identification of atopic dermatitis subgroups in children from 2 longitudinal birth cohorts. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2018; 141(3): 964–971.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Brown SJ: Molecular mechanisms in atopic eczema: insights gained from genetic studies. J Pathol. 2017; 241(2): 140–145. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Rodriguez E, Baurecht H, Herberich E, et al.: Meta-analysis of filaggrin polymorphisms in eczema and asthma: robust risk factors in atopic disease. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2009; 123(6): 1361–70.e7.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text

- Palmer CN, Irvine AD, Terron-Kwiatkowski A, et al.: Common loss-of-function variants of the epidermal barrier protein filaggrin are a major predisposing factor for atopic dermatitis. Nat Genet. 2006; 38(4): 441–6.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Ferreira MA, Vonk JM, Baurecht H, et al.: Shared genetic origin of asthma, hay fever and eczema elucidates allergic disease biology. Nat Genet. 2017; 49(12): 1752–1757.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Zhu Z, Lee PH, Chaffin MD, et al.: A genome-wide cross-trait analysis from UK Biobank highlights the shared genetic architecture of asthma and allergic diseases. Nat Genet. 2018; 50(6): 857–864.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Brown SJ, Asai Y, Cordell HJ, et al.: Loss-of-function variants in the filaggrin gene are a significant risk factor for peanut allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2011; 127(3): 661–7.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Kretz M, Siprashvili Z, Chu C, *et al.*: Control of somatic tissue differentiation by the long non-coding RNA TINCR. *Nature*. 2013; 493(7431): 231–5.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- 12. Elias MS, Wright SC, Remenyi J, et al.: EMSY expression affects multiple

components of the skin barrier with relevance to atopic dermatitis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* 2019; 144(2): 470–481. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text

- Finan C, Gaulton A, Kruger FA, et al.: The druggable genome and support for target identification and validation in drug development. Sci Transl Med. 2017; 9(383): pii: eaag1166.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Sandilands A, Sutherland C, Irvine AD, et al.: Filaggrin in the frontline: role in skin barrier function and disease. J Cell Sci. 2009; 122(Pt 9): 1285–94. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Brown SJ, McLean WH: One remarkable molecule: filaggrin. J Invest Dermatol. 2012; 132(3 Pt 2): 751–62.
- PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text

 16.
 Brown SJ, Relton CL, Liao H, et al.: Filaggrin haploinsufficiency is highly penetrant and is associated with increased severity of eczema: further
- delineation of the skin phenotype in a prospective epidemiological study of 792 school children. Br J Dermatol. 2009; 161(4): 884–9. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Flohr C, England K, Radulovic S, et al.: Flaggrin loss-of-function mutations are associated with early-onset eczema, eczema severity and transepidermal water loss at 3 months of age. Br J Dermatol. 2010; 163(6): 1333–6.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Cole C, Kroboth K, Schurch NJ, et al.: Filaggrin-stratified transcriptomic analysis of pediatric skin identifies mechanistic pathways in patients with atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2014; 134(1): 82–91.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Elias MS, Long HA, Newman CF, et al.: Proteomic analysis of filaggrin deficiency identifies molecular signatures characteristic of atopic eczema. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2017; 140(5): 1299–1309. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Niehues H, Schalkwijk J, van Vlijmen-Willems IMJJ, et al.: Epidermal equivalents of filaggrin null keratinocytes do not show impaired skin barrier function. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2017; 139(6): 1979–1981.e13. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Purdie KJ, Pourreyron C, South AP: Isolation and culture of squamous cell carcinoma lines. *Methods Mol Biol*. 2011; 731: 151–159.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Rheinwald JG, Green H: Serial cultivation of strains of human epidermal keratinocytes: the formation of keratinizing colonies from single cells. *Cell.* 1975; 6(3): 331–343.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Sandilands A, Terron-Kwiatkowski A, Hull PR, et al.: Comprehensive analysis of the gene encoding filaggrin uncovers prevalent and rare mutations in ichthyosis vulgaris and atopic eczema. Nat Genet. 2007; 39(5): 650–4. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- He C, Holme J, Anthony J: SNP genotyping: the KASP assay. Methods Mol Biol. 2014; 1145: 75–86.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Alexander H, Brown S, Danby S, et al.: Research Techniques Made Simple: Transepidermal Water Loss Measurement as a Research Tool. J Invest Dermatol. 2018; 138(11): 2295–2300.e1. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Folch J, Lees M, Sloane Stanley GH: A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues. J Biol Chem. 1957; 226(1): 497–509.

PubMed Abstract

 McIlroy GD, Tammireddy SR, Maskrey BH, et al.: Fenretinide mediated retinoic acid receptor signalling and inhibition of ceramide biosynthesis regulates adipogenesis, lipid accumulation, mitochondrial function and nutrient stress signalling in adipocytes and adipose tissue. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 2016; 100: 86–97.

PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text

- Szklarczyk D, Franceschini A, Wyder S, et al.: STRING v10: protein-protein interaction networks, integrated over the tree of life. Nucleic Acids Res. 2015; 43(Database issue): D447–52.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Fabregat A, Jupe S, Matthews L, et al.: The Reactome Pathway Knowledgebase. Nucleic Acids Res. 2018; 46(D1): D649–D655.
- PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text 30. Brown S: Proteomic analysis of FLG knockdown in skin organoid. 2019.
- http://www.doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.c.4606052.v3
 Nirunsuksiri W, Zhang SH, Fleckman P: Reduced stability and bi-allelic, coequal
- Nirunsuksiri W, Zhang SH, Fleckman P: Reduced stability and bi-allelic, coequal expression of profilaggrin mRNA in keratinocytes cultured from subjects with ichthyosis vulgaris. J Invest Dermatol. 1998; 110(6): 854–61.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Markova NG, Marekov LN, Chipev CC, et al.: Profilaggrin is a major epidermal calcium-binding protein. Mol Cell Biol. 1993; 13(1): 613–25.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Perez-Riverol Y, Csordas A, Bai J, et al.: The PRIDE database and related tools and resources in 2019: improving support for quantification data. Nucleic Acids Res. 2019; 47(D1): D442–D450.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Brown S: Table 1. Gene Ontology (GO) analysis of proteins showing a consistent reduction in expression with FLG knockdown. 2019. http://www.doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.9710585.v1

- Brown S: Table 2. Reactome pathway analysis of down-regulated proteins. 2019. http://www.doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.9710666.v1
- Smith SH, Jayawickreme C, Rickard DJ, et al.: Tapinarof Is a Natural AhR Agonist that Resolves Skin Inflammation in Mice and Humans. J Invest Dermatol. 2017; 137(10): 2110–2119.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Hoste E, Kemperman P, Devos M, et al.: Caspase-14 is required for filaggrin degradation to natural moisturizing factors in the skin. J Invest Dermatol. 2011; 131(11): 2233–41.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Denecker G, Hoste E, Gilbert B, et al.: Caspase-14 protects against epidermal UVB photodamage and water loss. Nat Cell Biol. 2007; 9(6): 666–74.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Matsui T, Hayashi-Kisumi F, Kinoshita Y, et al.: Identification of novel keratinocyte-secreted peptides dermokine-alpha/-beta and a new stratified epithelium-secreted protein gene complex on human chromosome 19q13.1. *Genomics*. 2004; 84(2): 384–97.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Arkwright PD, Chase JM, Babbage S, et al.: Atopic dermatitis is associated with a low-producer transforming growth factor beta(1) cytokine genotype. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2001; 108(2): 281–4.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Lefèvre C, Bouadjar B, Ferrand V, et al.: Mutations in a new cytochrome P450 gene in lamellar ichthyosis type 3. Hum Mol Genet. 2006; 15(5): 767–76. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Brown S: Table 3. Gene Ontology (GO) analysis of proteins showing a consistent increase in expression with FLG knockdown. 2019. http://www.doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.9710738.v1
- Brown S: Table 4. Reactome pathway analysis of up-regulated proteins. 2019. http://www.doi.org/10.6084/m9.figshare.9710783.v1
- Gil TY, Kang YM, Eom YJ, et al.: Anti-Atopic Dermatitis Effect of Seaweed Fulvescens Extract via Inhibiting the STAT1 Pathway. Mediators Inflamm. 2019; 2019: 3760934.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Damsky W, King BA: JAK inhibitors in dermatology: The promise of a new drug class. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2017; 76(4): 736–744.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Kamsteeg M, Jansen PA, van Vlijmen-Willems IM, et al.: Molecular diagnostics of psoriasis, atopic dermatitis, allergic contact dermatitis and irritant contact dermatitis. Br J Dermatol. 2010; 162(3): 568–78. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Elango T, Sun J, Zhu C, et al.: Mutational analysis of epidermal and hyperproliferative type I keratins in mild and moderate psoriasis vulgaris patients: a possible role in the pathogenesis of psoriasis along with disease severity. Hum Genomics. 2018; 12(1): 27.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Cole C, et al.: Transcriptome analysis of atopic skin characterises filaggrindependent differences in the extracellular space and response to viral infection. Manuscript in preparation. 2013.
- Mateu R, Živicová V, Krejčí ED, et al.: Functional differences between neonatal and adult fibroblasts and keratinocytes: Donor age affects epithelialmesenchymal crosstalk in vitro. Int J Mol Med. 2016; 38(4): 1063–74. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Hausmann C, Zoschke C, Wolff C, et al.: Fibroblast origin shapes tissue homeostasis, epidermal differentiation, and drug uptake. Sci Rep. 2019; 9(1): 2913.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Smith FJ, Irvine AD, Terron-Kwiatkowski A, et al.: Loss-of-function mutations in the gene encoding filaggrin cause ichthyosis vulgaris. Nat Genet. 2006; 38(3): 337–42.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Gao PS, Rafaels NM, Hand T, et al.: Filaggrin mutations that confer risk of atopic dermatitis confer greater risk for eczema herpeticum. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2009; 124(3): 507–13, 513.e1–7.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Timmerman JG, Heederik D, Spee T, et al.: Contact dermatitis in the construction industry: the role of filaggrin loss-of-function mutations. Br J Dermatol. 2016; 174(2): 348–55.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Visser MJ, Landeck L, Campbell LE, et al.: Impact of atopic dermatitis and loss-of-function mutations in the filaggrin gene on the development of occupational irritant contact dermatitis. Br J Dermatol. 2013; 168(2): 326–32. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Novak N, Baurecht H, Schäfer T, *et al.*: Loss-of-function mutations in the filaggrin gene and allergic contact sensitization to nickel. *J Invest Dermatol.* 2008; 128(6): 1430–5.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- van Drongelen V, Alloul-Ramdhani M, Danso MO, et al.: Knock-down of filaggrin does not affect lipid organization and composition in stratum corneum of reconstructed human skin equivalents. Exp Dermatol. 2013; 22(12): 807–12. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- 57. Vávrová K, Henkes D, Strüver K, et al.: Filaggrin deficiency leads to impaired lipid profile and altered acidification pathways in a 3D skin construct. J Invest

Dermatol. 2014; 134(3): 746–753. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text

- Baurecht H, Rühlemann MC, Rodríguez E, et al.: Epidermal lipid composition, barrier integrity, and eczematous inflammation are associated with skin microbiome configuration. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2018; 141(5): 1668–1676.e16. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Gruber R, Elias PM, Crumrine D, et al.: Filaggrin genotype in ichthyosis vulgaris predicts abnormalities in epidermal structure and function. Am J Pathol. 2011; 178(5): 2252–63.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Gruber R, Sugarman JL, Crumrine D, *et al.*: Sebaceous gland, hair shaft, and epidermal barrier abnormalities in keratosis pilaris with and without filaggrin deficiency. *Am J Pathol.* 2015; 185(4): 1012–21. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Rothhammer V, Quintana FJ: The aryl hydrocarbon receptor: an environmental sensor integrating immune responses in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2019; 19(3): 184–197.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Di Meglio P, Duarte JH, Ahlfors H, et al.: Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor dampens the severity of inflammatory skin conditions. *Immunity*. 2014; 40(6): 989–1001.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- van den Bogaard EH, Bergboer JG, Vonk-Bergers M, et al.: Coal tar induces AHRdependent skin barrier repair in atopic dermatitis. J Clin Invest. 2013; 123(2): 917–27.

PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text

64. Naeem AS, Tommasi C, Cole C, et al.: A mechanistic target of rapamycin complex 1/2 (mTORC1)/V-Akt murine thymoma viral oncogene homolog 1 (AKT1)/cathepsin H axis controls filaggrin expression and processing in skin, a novel mechanism for skin barrier disruption in patients with atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2017; 139(4): 1228–1241. PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text

- Leclerc EA, Huchenq A, Kezic S, *et al.*: Mice deficient for the epidermal dermokine β and γ isoforms display transient cornification defects. *J Cell Sci.* 2014; 127(Pt 13): 2862–72.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Tobin D, Nabarro G, Baart de la Faille H, et al.: Increased number of immunoreactive nerve fibers in atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 1992; 90(4 Pt 1): 613–22.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Dou YC, Hagströmer L, Emtestam L, et al.: Increased nerve growth factor and its receptors in atopic dermatitis: an immunohistochemical study. Arch Dermatol Res. 2006; 298(1): 31–7.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Xie Z, Hu H: TRP Channels as Drug Targets to Relieve Itch. Pharmaceuticals (Basel). 2018; 11(4): pii: E100.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Lee YW, Won CH, Jung K, et al.: Efficacy and safety of PAC-14028 cream a novel, topical, nonsteroidal, selective TRPV1 antagonist in patients with mildto-moderate atopic dermatitis: a phase IIb randomized trial. Br J Dermatol. 2019; 180(5): 1030–1038.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Bergboer JGM, Zeeuwen PLJM, Schalkwijk J: Genetics of psoriasis: evidence for epistatic interaction between skin barrier abnormalities and immune deviation. *J Invest Dermatol*. 2012; 132(10): 2320–2331.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text
- Han H, Roan F, Ziegler SF: The atopic march: current insights into skin barrier dysfunction and epithelial cell-derived cytokines. *Immunol Rev.* 2017; 278(1): 116–130.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text | Free Full Text
- Kim BE, Howell MD, Guttman-Yassky E, et al.: TNF-α downregulates filaggrin and loricrin through c-Jun N-terminal kinase: role for TNF-α antagonists to improve skin barrier. J Invest Dermatol. 2011; 131(6): 1272–9.
 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text

Open Peer Review

Current Peer Review Status: 🗸 🗸 🗸

Version 2

Reviewer Report 26 November 2019

https://doi.org/10.21956/wellcomeopenres.17095.r37163

© 2019 Werner S et al. This is an open access peer review report distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.



Ulrich auf dem Keller

Technical University of Denmark, Kongens Lyngby, Denmark

Sabine Werner

Institute for Molecular Health Sciences, Department of Biology, ETH Zurich (Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zürich), Zürich, Switzerland

The authors have appropriately responded to the comments of the reviewers and the manuscript is further improved. The purpose of the publication has been further clarified and I understand that the authors prefer not to include validations into this article.

In general, this is a very valuable dataset that will be of interest to researchers in the field of inflammatory skin diseases.

Competing Interests: No competing interests were disclosed.

Reviewer Expertise: Skin Biology, Inflammatory Skin Disease, Wound Healing, Tissue Repair

We confirm that we have read this submission and believe that we have an appropriate level of expertise to confirm that it is of an acceptable scientific standard.

Version 1

Reviewer Report 09 October 2019

https://doi.org/10.21956/wellcomeopenres.16840.r36479

© 2019 Kezic S. This is an open access peer review report distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.



Sanja Kezic

Amsterdam UMC, Coronel Institute of Occupational Health, Amsterdam Public Health research institute, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Elias *et al.* investigated the effect of filaggrin deficiency in an optimized skin organoid model. Next to the inside/out and outside/in barrier function assessed respectively by TEWL and penetration of a hydrophilic dye, a global mass proteomic analysis has been done. As discussed by authors, the used model has important advantage that the changes related to filaggrin deficiency could be studied in specific cells (keratinocytes) and both epidermal and epidermal compartments were present. On the other side, the model misses other relevant cell types. The study is well designed and presented.

Specific points

1. Skin barrier function assessment

Although Lucifer yellow is a commonly used model penetrant it has to be realized that owing to its hydrophilicity and a large molar mass (444 Da) it has quite low penetration rate and a long lag time. The incubation time of 4 hours before microscopic examination is likely too short to detect penetration across the SC unless the barrier damage is substantial. In general, it would be good to include in functional studies both, hydrophilic and lipophilic penetrants and measure their penetration at different time points. This might provide more detailed insight into alterations in the structure and composition of the SC and relate them to the structural changes. As noted by the authors, the Flg-knock down "reveal various abnormalities: in the lamellar bilayer structure and less prominent corneodesmosomes" and furthermore down-regulation of proteins involved in metabolism of lipids' and 'phospholipid metabolism" and thinner stratum corneum. Though, no changes in either TEWL or dye penetration have been found. This model would be of great value to further study functional consequences of filaggrin deficiency, including previous damage of the skin e.g. by skin irritants.

2. Other points

The authors note that "FLG knockdown in the skin organoids persisted to day 10 after siRNA transfection, as demonstrated by qPCR (Figure 2) and western blotting (Figure 3)". In Fig. 2 it is obvious that the knock-down at the RNA level was not complete and lower than achieved in similar studies (van Dongelen *et al.*, 2013¹, Wang *et al.*, 2017²). On which day was the mRNA expression measured and what might be reason for quite a low knock-down efficiency?

Ceramide analysis has been carried out in the model epidermis. Performing ceramide analysis in the isolated stratum corneum might have been more relevant.

References

1. van Drongelen V, Alloul-Ramdhani M, Danso MO, Mieremet A, Mulder A, van Smeden J, Bouwstra JA, El Ghalbzouri A: Knock-down of filaggrin does not affect lipid organization and composition in stratum corneum of reconstructed human skin equivalents. *Exp Dermatol*. 2013; **22** (12): 807-12 PubMed Abstract I Publisher Full Text

2. Wang XW, Wang JJ, Gutowska-Owsiak D, Salimi M, Selvakumar TA, Gwela A, Chen LY, Wang YJ, Giannoulatou E, Ogg G: Deficiency of filaggrin regulates endogenous cysteine protease activity, leading to impaired skin barrier function. *Clin Exp Dermatol*. 2017; **42** (6): 622-631 PubMed Abstract I Publisher Full Text

Is the work clearly and accurately presented and does it cite the current literature? $\gamma_{\mbox{es}}$

Is the study design appropriate and is the work technically sound? $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Yes}}$

Are sufficient details of methods and analysis provided to allow replication by others? $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Yes}}$

If applicable, is the statistical analysis and its interpretation appropriate? I cannot comment. A qualified statistician is required.

Are all the source data underlying the results available to ensure full reproducibility? Yes

Are the conclusions drawn adequately supported by the results? $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Yes}}$

Competing Interests: No competing interests were disclosed.

Reviewer Expertise: Skin barrier in inflammatory skin diseases, dermatotoxicology.

I confirm that I have read this submission and believe that I have an appropriate level of expertise to confirm that it is of an acceptable scientific standard.

Author Response 19 Nov 2019

Sara J. Brown, Ninewells Hospital, Dundee, UK

Specific points

1. Skin barrier function assessment

We agree that Lucifer yellow has a slow penetration rate hence our long incubation (4 hours, compared to some other publications reporting 1 hour or less). We will, in future work, consider use of a hydrophobic dye as an additional, complimentary assessment - thank you for this useful suggestion.

2. Other points

The mRNA quantification was carried out 10 days after siRNA transfection and we agree it is interesting to note this decay in knockdown at transcriptome level, whilst the protein knockdown persists to a greater degree. This is likely to reflect the different half-lives of *FLG* mRNA (approximately 2.2 hours¹) whereas the half-lives of profilaggrin and filaggrin are approximately 6 and 24 hours respectively.² We have added this additional explanation to the updated manuscript.

Thank you for the knowledgeable advice about ceramide analysis. We agree that the stratum corneum is the most relevant tissue layer in which to perform lipidomic analysis, but an accurate separation of the whole stratum corneum (without upper epidermal cells) proved to be technically

challenging in the organoid model. We therefore chose to analyse full thickness epidermis to ensure consistency between the replicate experiments.

References

1. Nirunsuksiri, W., Zhang, S.H. & Fleckman, P. Reduced stability and bi-allelic, coequal expression of profilaggrin mRNA in keratinocytes cultured from subjects with ichthyosis vulgaris. *J Invest Dermatol* **110**, 854-61 (1998).

2. Markova, N.G. *et al.* Profilaggrin is a major epidermal calcium-binding protein. *Mol Cell Biol* **13**, 613-25 (1993).

Competing Interests: No competing interests were disclosed.

Reviewer Report 01 October 2019

https://doi.org/10.21956/wellcomeopenres.16840.r36429

© 2019 Rajan N. This is an open access peer review report distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.



Neil Rajan 🔟

Institute of Genetic Medicine, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK

Elias *et al.* present data on a manuscript titled "Proteomic analysis of a filaggrin-deficient skin organoid model shows evidence of increased transcriptional-translational activity, keratinocyte-immune crosstalk and disordered axon guidance".

In this study, primary keratinocytes from 4 female filaggrin wild-type genotyped individuals were subject to siRNA *FLG* kd and a nontargeting siRNA control. These were grown in a skin equivalent model with matched donor fibroblasts, and then keratinocytes alone were harvested after the model had been in at the air liquid interface for 7 days. This was used to carry out proteomic and lipidomic analysis. Additional samples were used for validation work.

The work has been meticulously described in the methods and is an exemplar for human primary keratinocyte research. Filaggrin knockdown was demonstrated at the transcriptomic and protein level, and is evident in the mass spec data across all samples. A phenotype is seen on TEM and is elegantly presented Fig 5. Barrier function as assessed by TEWL and dye penetration is not impaired following FLG knockdown at Day 7, which is consistent with prior reports using skin equivalent models.

The key findings are the differentially expressed proteins in this novel model, and unlike prior skin equivalent papers, here dermal fibroblasts are used, allowing for better modelling of human skin where cross talk happens. Notably, lipidomic studies did not show a difference in epidermal ceramides.

Comments:

1. The authors highlight the proteins that have relevance to the known pathogenetic mechanisms of eczema. It would be helpful to emphasise the novel findings detected in this model compared to

the prior proteomic analysis published on filaggrin knockdown keratinocytes (Elias *et al.*, 2017¹), as that model did not include matched donor fibroblasts.

- 2. Table 2 presents Reactome data and highlights Axon guidance, and it would be helpful to see this in the context of the other pathways described. I would favour this being included in the PDF, rather than Fig 9, which may be moved to supplementary data.
- 3. The volcano plot (Fig 10) is of interest, but more data could be presented here, for example, the 7 points which are log2 fold change >+5 could be identified to make this more informative for the reader. I am uncertain if the colour scheme with p value cut offs is helpful; the authors carefully justify using selected fold change thresholds in the methods section over arbitrary thresholds that are p-value driven and this depiction is at odds with this.
- 4. Could the title be improved to reflect the more complete nature of this skin equivalent model that incorporates fibroblasts? Also, how were the three elements "increased transcriptional-translational activity, keratinocyte-immune crosstalk and disordered axon guidance" selected or prioritised from the list of Reactome findings?

There is a minor typographical error on page 3. "Medium was refreshed on alternate day <u>sand</u> the cultures were used for analysis up to day 12 (representing three, five and seven days after lifting to the air-liquid interface)".

References

1. Elias MS, Long HA, Newman CF, Wilson PA, West A, McGill PJ, Wu KC, Donaldson MJ, Reynolds NJ: Proteomic analysis of filaggrin deficiency identifies molecular signatures characteristic of atopic eczema. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*. 2017; **140** (5): 1299-1309 PubMed Abstract | Publisher Full Text

Is the work clearly and accurately presented and does it cite the current literature? $\gamma_{\mbox{es}}$

Is the study design appropriate and is the work technically sound? $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Yes}}$

Are sufficient details of methods and analysis provided to allow replication by others? $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Yes}}$

If applicable, is the statistical analysis and its interpretation appropriate? $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Yes}}$

Are all the source data underlying the results available to ensure full reproducibility? $\gamma_{\mbox{es}}$

Are the conclusions drawn adequately supported by the results?

Yes

Competing Interests: No competing interests were disclosed.

Reviewer Expertise: Dermatology, Genetics, Primary cell culture models.

I confirm that I have read this submission and believe that I have an appropriate level of expertise to confirm that it is of an acceptable scientific standard.

Author Response 19 Nov 2019

Sara J. Brown, Ninewells Hospital, Dundee, UK

Comments:

The authors highlight the proteins that have relevance to the known pathogenetic mechanisms of eczema. It would be helpful to emphasise the novel findings detected in this model compared to the prior proteomic analysis published on filaggrin knockdown keratinocytes (Elias et al., 20171), as that model did not include matched donor fibroblasts.

Thank you for this insightful comment. The current work differs in several ways from the previous work (performed by the same first author in different research institutions):

(i) The current work used FLG wild-type primary keratinocytes isolated from female breast skin and co-cultured with 3T3 feeder cells in the presence of serum, whereas the previous publication used keratinocytes isolated from foreskin donors and cultured in serum-free conditions.

(ii) The current work used a full-thickness skin organoid model ((Keratinocytes seeded on top of donor matched fibroblasts embedded in a fibrin dermal matrix) whereas the previous work was anepidermal equivalent model (Keratinocyes grown in a transwell).

(iii) The current work benefited from advancements in proteomic technology and generated a more extensive, detailed proteomic dataset.

The previous work provided, for the first time, evidence that filaggrin deficiency can alter the expression levels of proteins relevant to the pathogenesis of AE, even without an external inflammatory stimulus and the current work supports this.

Mechanistic themes emerging from this study, including inflammatory, proteolytic and cytoskeletal pathways, broadly overlap with findings from this previous work. However, novel findings detected in the current model compared to the prior proteomic analysis (Elias et al., 2017) may be summarised as follows:

- Evidence that filaggrin-deficient keratinocytes are a source of immune signalling.
- Filaggrin deficiency leads to an increase in transcriptional and translational activity but a reduction in multiple markers of terminal differentiation.
- There is a dysregulation of axon guidance (with elements of this pathway represented in both the up- and down-regulated protein sets).

Table 2 presents Reactome data and highlights Axon guidance, and it would be helpful to see this in the context of the other pathways described. I would favour this being included in the PDF, rather than Fig 9, which may be moved to supplementary data.

Thank you for this suggestion. We agree that Table 2 is a valuable summary of the findings from Reactome, but it is too large (including detailed lists of protein IDs, which we are keen to include) to fit into the .pdf. We hope that readers will easily access the full table via the direct link provided to FigShare. We have considered alternative methods to present our Reactome pathway analyses, but the visualisation of pathways within a global over-view does not lend itself to our data where relatively small numbers of pathways (39 and 113) show significant dysregulation.

The volcano plot (Fig 10) is of interest, but more data could be presented here, for example, the 7 points which are log2 fold change >+5 could be identified to make this more informative for the reader. I am uncertain if the colour scheme with p value cut offs is helpful; the authors carefully justify using selected fold change thresholds in the methods section over arbitrary thresholds that are p-value driven and this depiction is at odds with this.

Thank you for this advice. On further consideration we agree that the colour-coding is not helpful and the addition of labels to the most extreme data points is informative for readers. These changes have been made in a corrected version of Fig 10 in the updated manuscript.

Could the title be improved to reflect the more complete nature of this skin equivalent model that incorporates fibroblasts? Also, how were the three elements "increased transcriptional-translational activity, keratinocyte-immune crosstalk and disordered axon guidance" selected or prioritised from the list of Reactome findings?

In response to your helpful suggestion we have added the words 'full thickness' to the title to emphasise the nature of our model. Because the title was already very long we have truncated it, since the main findings ('increased transcriptional-translational activity, keratinocyte-immune crosstalk and disordered axon guidance') are clearly stated in the abstract.

These three elements were prioritised as noteworthy findings based on a combination of GO and pathway analyses as follows:

(a) Aspects of transcriptional and translational activity are represented in all 10 of the most significant GO terms for Biological process in the consistently down-regulated (Table 1) and up-regulated (Table 3) proteins; 'Metabolism of RNA' is the top Reactome term in the down-regulated protein dataset (Table 2) and the Reactome term 'Translation' is top in the upregulated proteins (Table 4).

(b) Keratinocyte-immune crosstalk is highlighted to emphasise that these experiments, in which epidermal keratinocytes are isolated from other cells of the immune system, still generate signals classified within the terms 'innate' and 'acquired immunity'. In the Reactome analyses of consistently down-regulated proteins 7/39 enriched pathways are related to the immune or antiviral systems and 15/113 enriched pathways in the up-regulated proteins relate to immune systems or antiviral systems.

(c) Disordered axon guidance was represented by only one Reactome term in each of the up- and down-regulated protein groups, but together these account for 74/541 (14%) of the proteins in this pathway. This was prioritised as a novel signal of interest, likely to be relevant to AD pathophysiology but not currently targeted for therapy.

There is a minor typographical error on page 3. "Medium was refreshed on alternate day sand the cultures were used for analysis up to day 12 (representing three, five and seven days after lifting to the air-liquid interface)".

Thank you, we have corrected this typo in the updated version of our manuscript.

Competing Interests: No competing interests were disclosed.

Reviewer Report 01 October 2019

https://doi.org/10.21956/wellcomeopenres.16840.r36427

© 2019 Werner S. This is an open access peer review report distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

?

Sabine Werner

Institute for Molecular Health Sciences, Department of Biology, ETH Zurich (Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zürich), Zürich, Switzerland

The authors generated and characterized 3D organotypic cultures using keratinocytes with filaggrin knock-down or control keratinocytes. Although such cultures had been generated before, they had not been used for proteomics studies. The proteomics analysis provides some insight into the molecular mechanisms underlying the effect of filaggrin on keratinocyte function. The advantage of this system is the focus on the keratinocyte phenotype. The disadvantage is the lack of the influence of other cell types that are important for Atopic Dermatitis pathogenesis. Overall, this is an interesting study, although there is no functional follow-up of any of the differentially expressed proteins. In addition, the statistical analysis requires improvement.

Specific comments:

- 1. The filaggrin knock-down at the RNA level was only approximately 50%, whereas the knock-down at the protein levels seems more robust. How do the authors explain this inconsistency? Why are there no error bars in Fig. 2 NT-siRNA? The data should be confirmed by immunostaining of the cultures for filaggrin. Staining of the cultures for loricrin would be helpful to confirm abnormalities in the granular layer.
- 2. It is impossible to see obvious differences in Lucifer yellow penetration and there is also no statistically significant difference. This should be expressed more carefully.
- 3. The proteomics data provide a very important resource. It would have been helpful to show the validation of some of the data using independent samples and another method, e.g. Western blot and/or immunohistochemistry. This would be easy for selected proteins, such as the different keratins.
- 4. A comparison of the data with available transcriptomics data from AD patients would be interesting.
- 5. For the proteomics analyses, it is not clear how the false discovery rate was exactly determined (scrambled or reversed database?) and how false positives were removed. This requires clarification.
- 6. Statistical analysis to identify proteins with differential abundance between conditions lacks stringency and appears asymmetric with regard to positive and negative effect sizes. Lack of statistically significant hits upon multiple testing correction is a common problem with proteomics datasets. Which multiple testing correction algorithm was applied? Bonferroni or

Benjamini-Hochberg? Did the authors try e.g. a limma moderated t-test that has proven useful for proteomics data? Even without multiple testing correction, a statistical test appears more suitable than selecting differentially abundant proteins only based on consistency between comparisons/experiments. Moreover, the authors apply a cut-off of 2-fold (0.5) to identify proteins with lower abundance upon filaggrin knockdown and of 1.2-fold (1.2) for those with higher abundance in this condition. It appears this skewed effect size has been selected aiming at equalizing hit numbers for pathway enrichment. This should be reconsidered. The terms 'ratio' and 'fold-change' are not used properly, since the authors report actual ratios as fold-changes, e.g. a ratio of 0.5 would correspond to a fold-change of -2 and of 2 to a fold change of +2. Since identifying proteins with statistically significantly differential abundance between conditions is crucial, also for follow-up data analysis, the authors should re-evaluate this part of the study with help of an expert in proteomics statistics.

Is the work clearly and accurately presented and does it cite the current literature? $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Yes}}$

Is the study design appropriate and is the work technically sound? $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Yes}}$

Are sufficient details of methods and analysis provided to allow replication by others? $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Yes}}$

If applicable, is the statistical analysis and its interpretation appropriate? Partly

Are all the source data underlying the results available to ensure full reproducibility? $\ensuremath{\mathsf{Yes}}$

Are the conclusions drawn adequately supported by the results? Yes

Competing Interests: No competing interests were disclosed.

Reviewer Expertise: Skin Biology, Inflammatory Skin Disease, Wound Healing, Tissue Repair

I confirm that I have read this submission and believe that I have an appropriate level of expertise to confirm that it is of an acceptable scientific standard, however I have significant reservations, as outlined above.

Author Response 19 Nov 2019

Sara J. Brown, Ninewells Hospital, Dundee, UK

Thank you for your interest in the skin organoid model and our analyses. We believe that a focus on the keratinocyte phenotype is valuable, particularly in AD where the keratinocyte's contribution to barrier function is of particular interest. Whilst we agree that there are many other cell types contributing to AD pathogenesis, we consider that the isolation of keratinocytes may be viewed as an advantage in this experimental system because it provides an opportunity to investigate the specific contribution of keratinocyte biology to features of atopic inflammation and other pathomechanisms in this highly complex trait.

We agree that functional follow-up may be an important step and we have conducted extensive validation in other applications of the skin organoid and a simpler epidermal model.^{1,2} The detailed dataset and our analyses reported here in *Wellcome Open Research* are shared as a resource for the community, to allow others to review the differentially expressed proteins and follow up selected candidates as indicated. We have further clarified this as the principle aim of our publication in Version 2.

Specific comments:

The filaggrin knock-down at the RNA level was only approximately 50%, whereas the knock-down at the protein levels seems more robust. How do the authors explain this inconsistency?

We agree, there was a 0.5-fold reduction in *FLG* mRNA compared to 0.36- and 0.25-fold reduction in pro-filaggrin and filaggrin proteins respectively. These differing levels of reduction in expression reflect the use of siRNA which creates a transient knockdown. siRNA is our preferred methodology because we aim to maintain the primary cells at low passage and to minimise non-physiological experimental influences. The different degrees of knockdown reflect the long experimental time points (10 days post transfection for a mature organoid) and the inherent differences in mRNA and protein stabilities. *FLG* mRNA has a reported half-life of ~2.2 hours³ whereas the half-lives of profilaggrin and filaggrin are approximately 6 and 24 hours respectively.⁴ We have added this additional explanation to the updated manuscript. Since our main experimental aim was to reduce filaggrin at the protein level, we are satisfied that knockdown of the functional monomer is maintained for the duration of our experiment and this degree of reduction is in keeping with the reduction in expression observed in *FLG*-null heterozygotes or atopic skin.

Why are there no error bars in Fig. 2 NT-siRNA?

The filaggrin expression presented in Figure 2 has been calculated in a pair-wise manner (*FLG* -siRNA versus *NT*-siRNA control) for each independent biological donor (N=8) and the replicate data were then combined for statistical analysis. Since only one technical replicate was performed per donor, the *NT*-siRNA condition is calculated as 1 in each biological replicate and hence displays no error in the combined dataset. This internally controlled method of analysis accounts for differences in baseline filaggrin expression and technical variations between replicate experiments.

The data should be confirmed by immunostaining of the cultures for filaggrin.

Thank you for this suggestion. We agree that immunostaining can represent a valuable confirmatory approach, however the H&E stained section show a clear reduction in the granular layer and the filaggrin knockdown at protein level was confirmed by mass spec proteomics (mean 0.27-fold, N=4) which is likely to be more sensitive for the detection of quantitative differences than immunostaining.

Staining of the cultures for loricrin would be helpful to confirm abnormalities in the granular layer.

The electron microscopy (Figure 5) shows the granular layer in some detail, with a clear reduction in the number and size of granules. We therefore did not elect to stain the organoid cultures for loricrin specifically.

It is impossible to see obvious differences in Lucifer yellow penetration and there is also no statistically significant difference. This should be expressed more carefully.

Thank you for bringing this to our attention. We did observe a difference in Lucifer yellow dye penetration in 3/5 of the biological replicates at day 3 but we agree this is not apparent in the mature model at day 7 (example images shown in Figure 8A). We aimed to explain that our quantification (in Figure 8B) shows all of the individual data points and, whilst some experiments showed an increase in dye penetration in the immature organoid, we state "However, this delay in maturation of the 'outside-to-inside' barrier function was not consistently demonstrated in all biological replicates." In light of your comment we have added further clarification to the text.

The proteomics data provide a very important resource. It would have been helpful to show the validation of some of the data using independent samples and another method, e.g. Western blot and/or immunohistochemistry. This would be easy for selected proteins, such as the different keratins.

Thank you, we agree the proteomics data are a valuable resource and we are delighted to share this resource. We also agree it will be relatively easy for other groups to validate proteins of interest in their work; therefore, rather than carrying out validation ourselves for selected keratins (or multiple different proteins as we have for our parallel proteomics analyses, recently published¹) we prefer to share the data for further independent validation.

A comparison of the data with available transcriptomics data from AD patients would be interesting.

We agree that this would be a very interesting analysis; it is not within the remit of this study but we or others may pursue this in the future.

For the proteomics analyses, it is not clear how the false discovery rate was exactly determined (scrambled or reversed database?) and how false positives were removed. This requires clarification.

We apologise for the lack of clarity in this description. The false discovery rate was determined using a reversed database. The peptide and protein false discovery rate was set at 1%, and these identified peptides were denoted with REV_ and removed from further analysis. These details have been added to the revised manuscript.

Statistical analysis to identify proteins with differential abundance between conditions lacks stringency and appears asymmetric with regard to positive and negative effect sizes. Lack of statistically significant hits upon multiple testing correction is a common problem with proteomics datasets. Which multiple testing correction algorithm was applied? Bonferroni or Benjamini-Hochberg? Did the authors try e.g. a limma moderated t-test that has proven useful for proteomics data? Even without multiple testing correction, a statistical test appears more suitable than selecting differentially abundant proteins only based on consistency between comparisons/experiments.

We appreciate that there are no clear guidelines on methodology for the analysis of large proteomics datasets (or indeed many other large datasets) and different expert opinions exist regarding the most appropriate tools and thresholds to define 'significance'. We have benefited

from the considerable expertise within our multidisciplinary collaboration, leading to the rather simple data analysis that we have performed, whilst providing the full dataset for others to analyse as they may wish.

A full Bonferroni correction does not identify any differentially expressed proteins because of the large number detected in this global analysis. Because of the nature of our data, generated using biological replicate samples (primary cells from 4 separate human donors), and the focus on a common complex trait, we prefer to use the criterion of *consistency* across the biological replicates, with filtering for fold change to provide similar numbers of up- and down- regulated proteins, followed by network and pathway analyses.

Moreover, the authors apply a cut-off of 2-fold (0.5) to identify proteins with lower abundance upon filaggrin knockdown and of 1.2-fold (1.2) for those with higher abundance in this condition. It appears this skewed effect size has been selected aiming at equalizing hit numbers for pathway enrichment. This should be reconsidered.

Thank you for highlighting this question. We have stated clearly and openly that we *did* select these cut-offs aiming to equalize protein numbers in this right-skewed dataset. Using the thresholds of $\pounds 0.5$ and ${}^{3}1.2$ defines 1422 (~25%) and 1871 (~34%) of the total number of proteins. This is an established approach in proteomic analysis; we appreciate other valid approaches can be applied and we welcome further interrogation of our experimental data. We have further clarified this in the discussion.

The terms 'ratio' and 'fold-change' are not used properly, since the authors report actual ratios as fold-changes, e.g. a ratio of 0.5 would correspond to a fold-change of -2 and of 2 to a fold change of +2.

We apologise for the inconsistency in this terminology and we have corrected this detail throughout the manuscript.

References

1. Elias, M.S. *et al.* EMSY expression affects multiple components of the skin barrier with relevance to atopic dermatitis. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **144**, 470-481 (2019).

2. Elias, M.S. *et al.* Proteomic analysis of filaggrin deficiency identifies molecular signatures characteristic of atopic eczema. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* **140**, 1299-1309 (2017).

3. Nirunsuksiri, W., Zhang, S.H. & Fleckman, P. Reduced stability and bi-allelic, coequal expression of profilaggrin mRNA in keratinocytes cultured from subjects with ichthyosis vulgaris. *J Invest Dermatol* **110**, 854-61 (1998).

4. Markova, N.G. *et al.* Profilaggrin is a major epidermal calcium-binding protein. *Mol Cell Biol* **13**, 613-25 (1993).

Competing Interests: No competing interests were disclosed.

EMSY expression affects multiple components of skin barrier with relevance to atopic dermatitis.

EMSY expression affects multiple components of the skin barrier with relevance to atopic dermatitis

Check for updates

Martina S. Elias, PhD,^a Sheila C. Wright, HNC,^a Judit Remenyi, PhD,^a James C. Abbott, PhD,^b Susan E. Bray, PhD,^c Christian Cole, PhD,^b Sharon Edwards, MBChB,^d Marek Gierlinski, PhD,^b Mateusz Glok,^a John A. McGrath, FRCP,^e William V. Nicholson, PhD,^a Lavinia Paternoster, PhD,^f Alan R. Prescott, PhD,^g Sara Ten Have, PhD,^h Phillip D. Whitfield, PhD,ⁱ Angus I. Lamond, PhD,^h and Sara J. Brown, FRCPE^{a,j} United Kingdom

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT



Background: Atopic dermatitis (AD) is a common, complex, and highly heritable inflammatory skin disease. Genome-wide association studies offer opportunities to identify molecular targets for drug development. A risk locus on chromosome

11q13.5 lies between 2 candidate genes, *EMSY* and *LRRC32* (leucine-rich repeat-containing 32) but the functional mechanisms affecting risk of AD remain unclear.

- Imaging Facility is supported by a Wellcome Trust Technology Platform award (097945/B/11/Z). The UHI Lipidomics Research Facility acknowledges the support of the European Regional Development Fund, Scottish Funding Council, and Highlands and Islands Enterprise.
- Disclosure of potential conflict of interest: The authors declare that they have no relevant conflicts of interest.
- Received for publication March 12, 2019; revised May 7, 2019; accepted for publication May 14, 2019.
- Available online May 31, 2019.
- Corresponding authors: Sara J. Brown, FRCPE, or Martina S. Elias, PhD, Skin Research Group, Division of Molecular & Clinical Medicine, School of Medicine, University of Dundee, Dundee DD19SY, Scotland, United Kingdom. E-mail: m.elias@dundee.ac. uk. Or: s.j.brown@dundee.ac.uk.

The CrossMark symbol notifies online readers when updates have been made to the article such as errata or minor corrections

0091-6749

© 2019 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. on behalf of the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2019.05.024

From ^athe Skin Research Group, Division of Molecular and Clinical Medicine, School of Medicine, and ^bthe Data Analysis/Bioinformatics Group, ^gthe Dundee Imaging Facility, and ^bthe Centre for Gene Regulation and Expression, School of Life Sciences, University of Dundee; ^cNHS Research Scotland Biorepository Tayside, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, University of Dundee; ^dthe Department of Pathology, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, Dundee; ^cSt John's Institute of Dermatology, King's College London (Guy's Campus); ^fthe MRC Integrative Epidemiology Unit, Population Health Sciences, Bristol Medical School, University of Bristol; ⁱthe Lipidomics Research Facility, Division of Biomedical Sciences, University of the Highlands and Islands, Inverness; and ^jthe Department of Dermatology, Ninewells Hospital, Dundee.

Supported by a Wellcome Trust Senior Research Fellowship in Clinical Science, awarded to S.J.B. (reference 106865/Z/15/Z). The Brown laboratory has also received financial support from the Manknell Charitable Trust and the Tayside Dermatology Research Charity. L.P. is supported by an Academy of Medical Sciences Springboard award, which is supported by the Wellcome Trust; the Government Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy; the Global Challenges Research Fund; and the British Heart Foundation (SBF003/1094). L.P. works in the MRC Integrative Epidemiology Unit, which receives funding from the UK Medical Research Council (MC_UU_00011/1). The mass spectrometry proteomic analysis was supported by grants to AIL from the Wellcome Trust (105024/Z/14/Z, 108058/Z/15/Z). The Dundee

Objectives: We sought to apply a combination of genomic and molecular analytic techniques to investigate which genes are responsible for genetic risk at this locus and to define mechanisms contributing to atopic skin disease. Methods: We used interrogation of available genomic and chromosome conformation data in keratinocytes, small interfering RNA (siRNA)-mediated knockdown in skin organotypic culture and functional assessment of barrier parameters, mass spectrometric global proteomic analysis and quantitative lipid analysis, electron microscopy of organotypic skin, and immunohistochemistry of human skin samples. Results: Genomic data indicate active promoters in the genomewide association study locus and upstream of EMSY; EMSY, LRRC32, and intergenic variants all appear to be within a single topologically associating domain. siRNA-knockdown of EMSY in organotypic culture leads to enhanced development of barrier function, reflecting increased expression of structural and functional proteins, including filaggrin and filaggrin-2, as well as long-chain ceramides. Conversely, overexpression of EMSY in keratinocytes leads to a reduction in markers of barrier formation. Skin biopsy samples from patients with AD show greater EMSY staining in the nucleus, which is consistent with an increased functional effect of this transcriptional control protein. Conclusion: Our findings demonstrate an important role for EMSY in transcriptional regulation and skin barrier formation, supporting EMSY inhibition as a therapeutic approach. (J Allergy Clin Immunol 2019;144:470-81.)

Key words: Atopic dermatitis, atopic eczema, EMSY, filaggrin, genetics, genomics, organotypic, lipidomics, proteomics, siRNA knockdown

Atopic dermatitis (AD; or eczema¹) is a common inflammatory skin disease with strong heritability.² Genome-wide association studies (GWASs) have identified multiple loci affecting AD risk,³ including effects on the skin barrier and immune function,^{2,4} and it has been demonstrated in other complex traits that molecular mechanisms defined by GWAS loci might represent effective therapeutic targets.⁵

The most widely replicated genetic risk for AD lies within the epidermal differentiation complex on chromosome $1q21.3^{3.6.7}$; this includes *FLG*, which encodes the skin barrier protein filag-grin.⁸ Expression levels of filaggrin and its metabolites in the outer epidermis correlate with AD activity.^{9,10} However, this mechanism has not been successfully targeted in therapy development since its discovery more than 10 years ago.

An association peak within an intergenic region on chromosome 11q13.5 was identified in the earliest AD GWAS.⁶ This locus has been replicated in subsequent GWASs¹¹⁻¹³ and meta-GWASs.^{3,7} In addition to AD, the region is associated with multiple atopic phenotypes^{14,15} and other disorders characterized by epithelial barrier dysfunction, including polyallergen sensitization,^{14,16} asthma,¹⁷ allergic rhinitis,¹⁸ food allergy,^{19,20} eosinophil counts,²¹ eosinophilic esophagitis,²² inflammatory bowel disease,²³ and the gut microbiome.²⁴ The AD-associated single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) are in an intergenic region between *LRRC32* (leucine-rich repeat-containing 32), and *EMSY*.

LRRC32 encodes the TGF- β activator LRRC32 (UniProtKB Q14392), previously termed glycoprotein A repititions predominant (GARP), a membrane protein that binds latent TGF- β 1 on

Abbreviations used	
AD:	Atopic dermatitis
DMEM:	Dulbecco modified Eagle medium
EGF:	Epidermal growth factor
FLG:	Gene encoding filaggrin
GO:	Gene ontology
GWAS:	Genome-wide association study
Hi-C:	Genome-wide chromosome conformation capture and high-
	throughput sequencing to identify regions of DNA showing
	interaction in 3-dimensional space
LRRC32:	Leucine-rich repeat-containing 32 gene, encoding the
	glycoprotein A repetitions predominant (GARP) protein
NHK:	Normal human keratinocytes
NDF:	Normal dermal fibroblasts
qPCR:	Quantitative PCR
siRNA:	Small interfering RNA
SNP:	Single nucleotide polymorphism
TEWL:	Transepidermal water loss

the surfaces of activated regulatory T cells.²⁵ *LRRC32* has been proposed as a causal gene for atopic skin inflammation,²⁶ but the credible SNPs identified by GWASs at this locus are all intergenic,³ suggesting that regulatory rather than coding variants drive the association.

EMSY, also known as BRCA2-interacting transcriptional repressor and previously termed *C11orf30*, codes for the protein EMSY (UniProtKB Q7Z589), which is expressed in multiple human tissues, including cerebellum, breast, lung, ovary, uterus, and skin (GTEx RNA-seq, V7). EMSY has been characterized as a transcriptional regulator, either repressing transcription as part of a chromatin remodeling complex or activating transcription as part of a histone H3–specific methyltransferase complex.²⁷ *EMSY* amplification is associated with DNA damage and increased risk of malignancy in breast and ovarian tissue.²⁷ EMSY can also play a role in inflammation because the protein kinase AKT1 regulates the interferon response through phosphorylation of EMSY,²⁸ but its role in skin remains undefined.

We set out to investigate, using genetic and genomic data, whether *EMSY*, *LRRC32*, or both, showed evidence of activity in human skin cells. We then investigated the mechanism of effect using functional and multi-omics analysis of organotypic skin, followed by immunostaining of AD biopsy samples.

METHODS

Human tissues and cells

All human tissues were obtained with written informed consent from donors under the governance of and with ethical approval from the NHS Research Scotland Biorepository in Tayside. Primary keratinocytes and donor-matched primary fibroblasts were extracted from skin samples discarded from plastic surgery procedures. AD skin samples were identified from the hospital pathology database as consecutive unselected cases. Demographic details are provided in the Methods section in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org.

Cell and skin organotypic cultures

Normal human keratinocytes (NHKs) and normal dermal fibroblasts (NDFs) were isolated from healthy breast skin by means of sequential collagenase D and trypsin EDTA digestion, as previously described.²⁹ NHKs

were cocultured in RM medium (3:1 Dulbecco modified Eagle medium [DMEM]/Hams F12, 10% FCS, 0.4 µg/mL hydrocortisone, 5 µg/mL insulin, 10 ng/mL epidermal growth factor [EGF], 5 µg/mL transferrin, 8.4 ng/mL cholera toxin, and 13 ng/mL liothyronine; Sigma-Aldrich, Gillingham, Dorset, United Kingdom) along with mitomycin C-inactivated 3T3 feeder cells.³⁰ EGF was omitted for the first day of culture. NDFs were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% FCS under standard conditions.

Fibrin gel dermal equivalents were prepared by using a protocol adapted from published methods.³¹⁻³³ A volume of 0.5 mL fibrinogen (35 mg/mL in NaCl; Sigma-Aldrich) and 0.5 mL of thrombin (3 U/mL in 2 mmol/L CaCl₂/ 1.1% NaCl; Sigma-Aldrich) were combined on ice, supplemented with 200,000 NDFs and aprotinin (0.1 U/mL; Sigma-Aldrich), and transferred to a 12-well plate. After 30 minutes of incubation at 37°C, the gels were covered in medium (DMEM, 10% FCS, and 0.1 U/mL aprotinin) and cultured overnight (day 1). The following day, medium was replaced with RM medium excluding EGF, 0.1 U/mL aprotinin, and 2×10^6 suspended NHKs (day 2). This was refreshed daily for the next 2 days (day 3 and 4) with RM medium containing 0.1 ng/mL EGF and 0.1 U/mL aprotinin. On day 5, gels were carefully removed from wells by using a plastic spatula and lifted onto custom-made steel grids lined with nylon gauze (Millipore, Livingston, United Kingdom). RM medium supplemented with 0.1 ng/mL EGF and 0.1 U/mL aprotinin was added up to the base of the grid, enabling the fibrin gels to be nourished from below and the epidermis cultured at the air-liquid interface. Medium was refreshed every other day until day 12 when the cultures were analyzed. Where required, the epidermis was isolated from fibrin gel after hypertonic saline-induced split (4 hours, 1 mol/ L NaCl, 4°C).

Small interfering RNA-mediated knockdown

NHKs were reverse transfected immediately before inclusion in the organotypic cultures by using RNAiMax transfection reagent (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, Calif), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, small interfering RNA (siRNA) complexes were formed in Opti-MEM medium (20 μ mol/L siRNA and 5 μ L of RNAiMAX) and, after 20 minutes of incubation, combined with 2 \times 10⁶ suspended NHKs and transferred to the preprepared dermal substrate. A pool of 4 siRNA duplexes was used (EMSY: LQ-004081-00-0002, FLG: LQ-021718-00-0002, control: ON-TARGETplus nontargeting siRNA #4 D.001810-04-20; Dharmacon, Lafayette, Colo).

EMSY overexpression in primary keratinocytes

A second-generation lentiviral system was used, as follows. Pseudoviral particles were prepared with psPAX2 packaging (catalog no. 12260; AddGene, Watertown, Mass) and pMD2.G plasmid (catalog no. 12259; AddGene), which were cotransfected with the control pLenti-C-mGFP-P2A-puromycin–tagged cloning vector (catalog no. PS100093; OriGene, Rock-ville, Md) plasmid or with the Lenti-ORF clone of mGFP-tagged-human chromosome 11 open reading frame 30 (*C11orf30*; catalog no. RC216916L4; OriGene) plasmid with Lipofectamine-3000 transfection reagent (catalog no. L3000008; Invitrogen, Carlsbad, Calif), according to the manufacturer's protocol, into 293T packaging cells for 16 hours. The next morning, the cells were washed twice with PBS to remove excess plasmid DNA, and the medium was replaced with virus-producing medium (20% FBS/DMEM). Forty-eight, 72, and 96 hours after transfection, the first, second, and third viral supernatants were harvested. Viral supernatants were spun down at 1200 rpm for 15 minutes and filtered with a 0.45-µm filter.

Primary human keratinocytes from donor skin were transduced twice. The first transduction was in RM medium without EGF. After treatment, the keratinocytes with trypsin and 1×10^6 cells/well were mixed with $10 \,\mu$ g/mL Polybrene (hexadimethrine bromide; catalog no. H9268; Sigma-Aldrich) and 1 or 2 mL of viral supernatant and then plated onto 6-well plates and cultured overnight. The second transduction was performed in monolayer culture using RM medium without EGF, $10 \,\mu$ g/mL Polybrene, and 1 or 2 mL of viral supernatant. Cells were incubated for 90 minutes at 37°C, followed by centrifugation at 1200 rpm. To eliminate excess virus, cells were

washed twice with PBS, and the medium was replaced with RM media (3:1 DMEM/Hams F12, 10% FCS, 0.4 μ g/mL hydrocortisone, 5 μ g/mL insulin, 10 ng/mL EGF, 5 μ g/mL transferrin, 8.4 ng/mL cholera toxin, and 13 ng/mL liothyronine). Fresh RM medium was replaced every second day, and samples were harvested on day 10 after transduction as a differentiated culture.

Fluorescent dye penetration

Fifty microliters of 1 mmol/L Lucifer yellow dye (Sigma-Aldrich) was added to the epidermal surface of the organotypic culture and incubated at 37°C for 4 hours. Metal cloning rings were used to control uniform dosing on the epidermal surface. Lucifer yellow was removed, and the organotypic cultures were washed in PBS before formalin-fixed paraffin embedding under standard conditions. Four-micrometer sections were deparaffinized, counterstained with 4'-6-diamidino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride (1 μ g/mL for 10 minutes; Life Technologies, Carlsbad, Calif), and imaged with a confocal Zeiss LSM710 microscope (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Quantification of dye penetration in the upper dermis (average intensity in the upper 40 μ m) was performed with Zeiss Zen software and compared by using paired *t* tests.

Transepidermal water loss

Organotypic cultures were equilibrated at room temperature and atmospheric conditions for 30 minutes before transepidermal water loss (TEWL) was measured at 2 locations on the epidermal surface with an AquaFlux AF200 instrument (Biox Systems, London, United Kingdom) with a custom (5 mm in diameter) probe head. TEWL measurements were taken every second for a minimum of 60 seconds until a stable reading, as determined by using the software, was obtained.

Capacitance

Organotypic cultures were equilibrated at room temperature and atmospheric conditions for 30 minutes before measurement of epidermal surface capacitance as a measure of water content with a Corneometer (Courage and Khazaka, Cologne, Germany). Three measurements were recorded from each organotypic culture, and the mean was calculated.

Protein data analysis

Network analysis was performed by using Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (Qiagen Ingenuity, version 01-12; Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). Gene ontology (GO) enrichment analysis was performed in the Gene Ontology Consortium online tool by using PANTHER classification http://www.geneontology.org/page/go-enrichment-analysis (accessed August 28, 2018). A volcano plot was generated in R/ggplot2 by using human proteins detected in all 4 of the replicates to calculate the fold change (nontargeting control/EMSY knock-down) for each donor with log₁₀ transformation and a *t* test for significance.

Lipid staining

Frozen sections of skin organotypic samples were cut and air-dried onto slides before formalin fixation and rinsing with 60% isopropranol. Oil Red O (Sigma-Aldrich) working solution was freshly prepared, and sections were stained for 15 minutes, rinsed with 60% isopropanol, and then lightly counterstained with alum hematoxylin before a final rinse with distilled water.

Additional Methods are described in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org.

RESULTS

Genomic data support *EMSY* and *LRRC32* as candidate genes in skin

The AD-associated SNPs at the chromosome 11q13.5 locus are approximately 27 kb downstream of *EMSY* (Human Genome

UCSC Genome Browser Human and Ensembl (GRCh38/hg38)



FIG 1. Regulatory features of the AD risk locus and adjacent genes on chromosome 11q13.5. Genes (*blue*) flanking the locus with multiple disease-associated SNPs (*green*) were identified by using a GWAS. *EMSY* has a protein-coding region spanning 106 kb, with 20 exons producing 18 splice variants. *LRRC32* spans 13 kb, including 3 exons. The location of the credible set of AD-associated SNPs³ is marked. H3K27ac marks (*pink*) and DNase I hypersensitivity data (*gray*) are from the Encyclopedia of DNA Elements (ENCODE; accessed June 2018). Regulatory features in the same region of chromosome 11 are from Ensembl (GRCh38.12, accessed April 2019).

Nomenclature Committee: 18071, ENSG00000158636) and approximately 77 kb downstream of *LRRC32* (Human Genome Nomenclature Committee: 137207, ENSG00000137507). The credible set identified by mapping this locus lies entirely within an intergenic region (Fig 1). Encyclopedia of DNA Elements (ENCODE) and Ensembl data predict multiple regulatory features within the region of disease risk SNPs, and there are putative promoters upstream of each gene (Fig 1). Focusing on skin, there are histone H3K27ac marks indicating active enhancers or promoters in NHKs in the AD risk locus and at the 3' end of *EMSY* but not *LRRC32* (Fig 1).

Enhancer-promoter interactions can occur by proximity in 3-dimensional space³⁴ and show cell lineage specificity³⁵; therefore we reanalyzed 2 sets of genome-wide chromosome conformation capture and high-throughput sequencing (Hi-C) data from NHKs, to identify regions of DNA showing interaction in 3-dimensional space. Interrogation of Hi-C data³⁶ shows that the intergenic SNPs, as well as *EMSY* and LRRC32 all lie within a single topologically associated domain in keratinocytes (see Fig E1 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org), supporting a possible functional interaction. Analysis of promoter-capture Hi-C³⁷ in differentiating keratinocytes showed evidence of interaction between the promoter region of LRRC32 and the intergenic SNP locus, but these data were not sufficiently detailed to determine whether EMSY also shows conformational interaction (see Fig E1).

Gene expression data³⁸ and our own single-molecule RNA-sequencing analysis³⁹ confirm expression of each gene in the skin, but there is no significant difference in *EMSY* or *LRRC32* mRNA abundance in atopic skin compared with nonatopic control skin (P > .05, see Fig E2 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org). However, *EMSY* is more highly expressed in skin than *LRRC32* at the protein level (https://www.proteinatlas.org/), and it has not previously been studied in keratinocyte biology; therefore *EMSY* was selected for further detailed investigation.

EMSY knockdown in a skin organotypic model enhances barrier function

To investigate a functional effect of EMSY in skin, we used primary human keratinocytes seeded onto a dermal equivalent, which forms an organotypic model with stratified layers that effectively recapitulate the structure and gene expression patterns of human skin.⁴⁰ The model also demonstrates functional parameters controlling the entry and exit of small molecules, and this can be used to quantify effects on barrier formation and function.⁴¹ siRNA knockdown of EMSY expression was achieved by means of transfection of keratinocytes immediately before seeding onto the dermal equivalent. Knockdown was confirmed at the mRNA and protein levels, persisting to 10 days in organotypic culture (Fig 2, A-C). Equivalent effects were seen by using individual and pooled siRNAs (see Fig E3 in this article's Online at www.jacionline.org). Repository EMSY knockdown produced a marked phenotypic change (Fig 2, D), including thickening of the epidermal cell layer and stratum corneum (Fig 2, E). There was an increase in the number of layers within the stratum corneum and the frequency of corneodesmosomes (Fig 2, F). The stratum granulosum, the site of filaggrin expression,⁸ was also more prominent (Fig 2, D), and increased filaggrin expression was confirmed by using quantitative PCR (qPCR; n = 7 replicates, mean \pm SEM fold change = 2.00 \pm 0.41 compared with the nontargeting control) and Western blotting (n = 7,mean fold change = 1.97 ± 0.22 ; Fig 2, G).

In our skin culture model stratum corneum hydration, TEWL, and Lucifer yellow dye penetration progressively decrease as the skin barrier is formed (see Fig E4 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org). *EMSY* knockdown in the skin model resulted in a reduction in stratum corneum hydration (Fig 3, A), a reduction in TEWL (Fig 3, B), and a reduction in penetration of the Lucifer yellow dye (Fig 3, C and D), which is in keeping with enhanced and accelerated barrier development compared with control siRNA treatment.



FIG 2. Biochemical and histologic effects of *EMSY* knockdown in a skin organotypic model *in vitro*. **A**, qPCR showing knockdown of *EMSY* mRNA after 10 days in culture (7 days after lifting to the air-liquid interface) normalized to a nontargeting control-treated sample (n = 7, mean 36% reduction compared with the non-targeting control). **B** and **C**, Western blot showing knockdown of EMSY protein after 10 days in culture (Fig 2, *B*) and densitometry to quantify protein knockdown normalized to a nontargeting control (Fig 2, *C*; n = 7). **D**, Appearance of organotypic cultures showing an increased granular layer and thickened stratum corneum in response to *EMSY* siRNA knockdown; representative images were replicated in 10 independent donor experiments. *Scale bar* = 25 μ m. **E**, Relative thickness of the stratum corneum (*white arrows*) with an increase in the number of layers and number of corneodesmosomes (*black arrowheads*). **G**, Western blot showing filaggrin expression in skin organotypic cultures untreated (mock) and treated with nontargeting siRNA, *FLG* siRNA, and *EMSY* siRNA 7 days after lifting to the air-liquid interface. ***P* < .001 and ****P* < .0001, paired *t* test. *GAPDH*, Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; *NT*, nontargeting control siRNA. *Bars* show means and SEMs.



FIG 3. Functional effects of *EMSY* knockdown in the skin organotypic model. **A**, Water content of the stratum corneum measured by capacitance on the skin surface (n = 5). ****P*<.0001, paired ttest. **B**, Water evaporation from the epidermal surface measured as TEWL (n = 5). **C**, Visualization of fluorescent dye penetration through the epidermis and dermis after 4 hours in skin organotypic cultures developed for 3, 5, and 7 days after lifting to the air-liquid interface. Representative images are from experiments replicated in 5 independent donor experiments. **D**, Overexpression of *EMSY* in primary human keratinocytes and concomitant reduction in expression of differentiation markers (n = 5).



FIG 4. Functional effects of *EMSY* knockdown in a skin organotypic model. Overexpression of *EMSY* in primary human keratinocytes (**A**) and concomitant reduction in expression of differentiation markers at the mRNA (**B**) and protein (**C** and **D**) levels (n = 3). Quantification of protein blots by using densitometry is shown in Fig E5. *GAPDH*, Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase; *GFP*, green fluorescent protein.



FIG 5. Proteomic analysis of *EMSY* knockdown in a skin organotypic model. **A**, Volcano plot showing mean fold change in 4 biological replicate samples comparing the nontargeting (*NT*) control siRNA-treated model with *EMSY* siRNA knockdown. t Test results are color coded red (P < .05), orange (fold change ≤ 2.5 or ≥ 0.5), or green (P < .05 and fold change ≥ 2.5 or ≤ 0.5). **B**, Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (Qiagen) of proteins consistently upregulated or downregulated ($0.5 \geq$ fold change ≥ 2.5) in 3 or more of 4 biological replicates, showing proteins defective in monogenic skin diseases with similarities to AD, including ichthyoses,⁴²⁻⁴⁵ hyperkeratosis,⁴⁶ or skin fragility^{47,48} (*red asterisks*) and an enhancement of pathways predicted to inhibit the development of dermatitis, hyperkeratosis, and hair disorders (*blue cogwheels*).

EMSY overexpression reduces filaggrin expression

In contrast to the phenotype observed with *EMSY* knockdown, overexpression of *EMSY* in primary human keratinocytes resulted in a reduction in multiple markers of differentiation and barrier formation at the mRNA and protein levels (Fig 4 and see Fig E5 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org).

Proteomic analysis reveals pathways inhibiting the development of dermatitis

To assess in more detail the *EMSY* knockdown phenotype, we applied tandem mass spectrometric global proteomic analysis (MS/MS) to donor-matched control and EMSY knockdown organotypic experiments from 4 independent donors. Total epidermal protein extracts were fractionated by using high-pH



FIG 6. Lipid and ultrastructural analyses of EMSY knockdown in the skin organotypic model. **A**, Lipid staining of skin organotypic samples treated with nontargeting (*NT*) siRNA control and *EMSY* siRNA and Oil Red O stain neutral lipids **B**, Mass spectrometric lipid analysis showing a greater abundance of ceramides with longer chain length in *EMSY* siRNA–treated organotypic skin compared with a nontargeting siRNA control. The *x-axis* shows nonhydroxy fatty acid carbon chain length (n = 5 biological replicate samples). *Lines* show the best fit of the linear model and 95% Cls (*shaded areas*). *P* values are for the term in the linear model for lipid chain length. **C**, Transmission electron microscopy: osmium tetroxide postfixed and stained, showing increased size of desmosomal structures (*arrows*) in the *EMSY* knockdown skin model. *Scale bar* = 1 μ m.

reversed-phase chromatography before tandem mass spectrometry, which identified more than 9000 proteins per sample (see Fig E6 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline. org). qPCR and Western blotting confirmed knockdown of EMSY in each sample. A greater proportion of proteins showed increased rather than decreased expression on *EMSY* knockdown (Fig 5, *A*), indicating that EMSY's predominant role is as a transcriptional repressor in this tissue.

Data were filtered for proteins showing changes in the same direction consistently across all 4 biological replicates and fold changes of 2.5 or greater (n = 154 proteins) or 0.5 or less (n = 130 proteins) in at least 3 of 4 of the biological replicates. Consistent direction of change was used as a criterion to focus analysis on changes of relevance to *EMSY* knockdown and showing reproducibility across different donors to minimize any effect of interindividual differences.

GO analysis of the upregulated proteins showed enrichment for the biological processes termed establishment of the skin barrier (GO: 0061436), skin development (GO: 0043588), regulation of water loss through the skin (GO: 0033561), and cornification (GO: 0070268; each false discovery rate: $P \le .037$). GO analysis of the downregulated proteins showed enrichment of cellular components termed cytosol (GO: 0005829), the mitochondrial membrane (GO: 0031966), and the Golgi membrane (GO: 0000139; each false discovery rate: $P \le .010$). The full lists of GO terms defined by using this analysis are shown in Fig E7 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org.

Pathway analysis (Ingenuity, version 01-12; Qiagen) identified upregulation of pathways predicted to inhibit the development of dermatitis and ichthyosis (Fig 5, *B*).⁴²⁻⁴⁸ Differential expression levels of proteins from these pathways were tested for validation by using qPCR, Western blotting, and/or immunostaining of organotypic skin. All positive and negative findings and untested proteins are displayed in Fig E8 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org.

EMSY knockdown increases long-chain ceramides

Organotypic samples showed an increase in abundance of epidermal lipid staining with EMSY knockdown (Fig 6, A), which is in keeping with the increase in levels of proteins involved with lipid metabolism (eg, STS, ALOXE3, ALOX12B, and APOE). Mass spectrometric lipid analysis showed an increase in long-chain ceramides and esterified omega-hydroxy-ceramides species



Normal control skin

biopsy

AD skin

FIG 7. EMSY localization in skin of patients with and without AD. Immunohistochemistry showing EMSY staining in a predominantly basal distribution in normal human skin in contrast to nuclear staining extending throughout the epidermis in AD lesions. Representative images are taken from a tiled image of the whole specimen viewed by using Deep Zoom. *Scale bar* = approximately 20 μ m.

in organotypic samples with *EMSY* knockdown (Fig 6, *B*); these are the ceramides that have previously been reported to show a reduction in AD skin samples.⁴⁹

EMSY knockdown increases cell-cell adhesion structures

Ultrastructural analysis demonstrated an increase in desmosome size (Fig 6, *C*), which is consistent with the observed increase in desmocollin 1 levels. An increase in the number of layers within the stratum corneum was also observed, which is consistent with the increase in corneodesmosin levels (Fig 2, *F*, and see Fig E9 in this article's Online Repository at www. jacionline.org).

EMSY shows predominantly nuclear localization in the skin affected by AD

To investigate *EMSY* expression in human skin samples, we compared 18 normal control skin samples and biopsy specimens from 14 patients with spongiotic dermatitis, AD, or both. Immunohistochemistry showed considerable interindividual variability

in EMSY staining, despite careful standardization of staining conditions, and there was no consistent difference in total intensity between cases and control subjects (see Fig E10 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org). However, all 14 AD cases showed greater nuclear than cytoplasmic staining, and 12 (86%) of 14 cases showed predominantly nuclear staining extending throughout the epidermis compared with 2 (11%) of 18 control subjects (example images are shown in Fig 7, and all images are shown in Fig E10). Similarly, control organotypic samples showed EMSY staining in nuclei throughout the epidermis, whereas the organotypic cultures with *EMSY* knockdown showed expression predominantly in the basal epidermis in keratinocyte nuclei. Thus increased nuclear expression is consistent with increased activity of EMSY as a transcriptional regulator within keratinocytes in lesional skin of patients with AD.

DISCUSSION

GWASs have provided valuable insight into the pathogenic mechanisms of many common complex traits, and some have been exploited for targeted therapy development.^{5,50,51} However, many of the loci identified by GWASs are intergenic, and

the molecular mechanisms require detailed functional analysis performed in disease-relevant tissue to characterize important pathomechanisms.⁵² Increasing understanding of the regulatory features in intergenic DNA^{53,54} provides insight into possible effector genes, either locally or distant from variants identified by GWAS. Skin as an organ that can be cultured in vitro offers an opportunity to investigate genetic mechanisms using primary cells, quantification of barrier function, and detailed molecular analyses. Cells extracted from normal human skin have been used in our model to investigate the effect of a single candidate gene without the multiple genetic and epigenetic effects that would be coinherited in cells harvested from a patient with AD.² Use of primary cells more closely represents skin physiology than an immortalized cell line, and replication in multiple donors is used to control for interindividual variation.

Our findings from genomic data and in vitro and ex vivo analyses converge to provide an understanding of the role of EMSY in skin barrier function. The epigenetic regulatory mechanisms indicated by methylation and chromosomal confirmation (Fig 1) provide a possible mechanism by which the intergenic SNPs associated with AD can affect EMSY expression. However, additional epigenetic mechanisms,⁵⁵ including other forms of histone modification, micro-RNAs, and long noncoding RNAs, might also play roles in EMSY transcriptional control. The greater nuclear localization of EMSY in lesional skin of patients with AD indicates increased activity of this transcriptional repressor. This is in keeping with our findings in primary cell cultures, where EMSY overexpression leads to a reduction in levels of multiple proteins that have previously been shown to be biomarkers for AD.⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸ Improvements in analytic capacity have increased understanding of the importance of lipid composition in epidermal physiology and pathophysiology, including atopic disease,⁵⁹ and the observed increase in relevant lipid species emphasizes the role of EMSY in controlling multiple aspects of skin barrier function.

It is interesting to note that *EMSY* knockdown increases filaggrin expression, whereas *EMSY* overexpression leads to a marked reduction in profilaggrin levels. This might in part explain the observation that the genetic risk variants in chromosome 11q13.5 and *FLG* show a multiplicative effect in population analysis.⁶⁰ Chromosome 11q13.5 and the *FLG* locus also both show their strongest associations within a subgroup of early-onset and persistent AD in childhood,⁶¹ which is in keeping with their combined effect leading to a more severe phenotype.

EMSY loss-of-function mutations are rare: they are detected in 1/60,000 unrelated subjects in the Exome Aggregation Consortium,⁶² the minor allele frequency is approximately 0.001 in the Exome Variant Server,⁶³ and there are no homozygous loss-of-function genotypes identified in gnomAD.⁶⁴ This is consistent with our finding that even a modest reduction in expression (mean approximately 33% reduction in mRNA or protein in our experimental model) results in a marked phenotypic change in organo-typic cultures.

Together, these observations indicate that loss-of-function mutations are likely to have a deleterious effect, and more subtle modulation of EMSY expression is required for optimal skin barrier function. Therefore it is tempting to speculate that the control of FLG expression and skin barrier function through EMSY might be a more sensitive mechanism to exploit than targeting filaggrin directly. It might also be a

more tractable target because the therapeutic effect would be achieved by knockdown of EMSY rather than attempting to increase expression of filaggrin.

Loci reaching statistical significance in genome-wide analyses might reflect the combination of more than 1 functional association, and multieffect loci have been observed in patients with AD, as well as other complex traits.^{12,65} Our finding of a role for EMSY in keratinocytes does not preclude an additional effect of EMSY through expression in T cells,⁶⁶ which are known to play a key role in AD pathogenesis.² Intriguingly, immunohistochemistry also reveals EMSY staining within the nuclei of cells in the dermis (Fig 6 and see Fig E10). This might represent an inflammatory infiltrate, including T cells, and warrants further investigation. Similarly, the genomic promoter-capture Hi-C analysis (see Fig E1) provides more support for a possible promoter-promoter interaction between the GWAS locus and LRRC32 than EMSY, suggesting that an effect through LRRC32 expression in keratinocytes or T cells might also play a role in the pathogenesis of AD. Further work, including high-resolution 3C,⁶⁷ could be used to finely map these important regulatory interactions.

Expression quantitative trait locus analysis is an approach that has been used to investigate genes responsible for risk mechanisms attributable to intergenic loci.⁶⁸ However, expression quantitative trait locus analysis relies on the genetic variants having a quantitative effect on mRNA abundance of sufficient magnitude to be detected with a suitably stringent level of statistical significance.⁶⁹ Other mechanisms can affect disease risk without substantially altering the total amount of mRNA, such as protein localization at a functional site, as appears to be the case for *EMSY*. Furthermore, *EMSY* has at least 7 isoforms produced by alternative splicing, as well as 14 annotated phosphorylation or glycosylation sites (https://www.uniprot.org/uniprot/Q7Z589); it is likely that these mechanisms also contribute to functional regulation in different cell and tissue types.

Analysis of a single cell type, the keratinocyte, at different stages of terminal differentiation represents a reductionist view of the epidermis, but the skin organotypic model has proved to be a valuable model for investigation of molecular mechanisms controlling differentiation in this multilayered tissue.^{40,70} A limitation to the model is that the various dermal appendages (eg, hair follicles, sweat glands, and sebaceous glands) are absent, as are the dermal blood vessels and neurons, although these might play a role in skin inflammation.^{71,72} Immune cells of the hematopoietic lineage are also missing from this model, but there is increasing recognition of the role of keratinocytes in immune signaling,^{73,74} and the organotypic culture displays innate immunologic mechanisms.

The work presented here has identified EMSY as a therapeutic target: knockdown *in vivo* is predicted to improve skin barrier function and protect against AD. However, considerable further work is needed, including high-throughput screening to identify molecules capable of reducing the abundance of nuclear EMSY, followed by preclinical testing, before these findings can be assessed in clinical trials. The advent of biological therapy to target the immune component of AD has transformed care for patients with moderate-to-severe disease,⁷⁵ but therapies designed to improve skin barrier function are also required as an alternative or complementary approach for this complex and therapeutically challenging disorder.

We are very grateful to the anonymous skin donors who gave consent for their samples to be accessed for research under the governance of the NHS Research Scotland Biorepository Tayside. We thank Dr Andrew South, Dr Celine Pourreyron, Dr Michael Mildner, and Professor Erwin Tschachler for expert advice on skin organotypic culture methods; Dr Paul Appleton for technical expertise and advice on microscopy; Dr Lynda Weir for her contributions to antibody validation; Mr Seshu Tammireddy for his technical work in lipid analysis; Dr Adam Rubin and Professor Paul Khavari for clarification of their data stored on GEO; and Professor Jim Hughes and Dr Damien Downes for expert advice on Hi-C data analysis. We acknowledge Mohan Babu, University of Regina, for the production, and Addgene for storage and supply of the *EMSY* overexpression plasmid 83480 lentiCRISPR v2-Blast.

The mass spectrometry proteomics data have been deposited to the ProteomeXchange Consortium via the PRIDE partner repository (https:// www.ebi.ac.uk/pride/archive/) with the dataset identifier PXD014088; processed data are available in the Encyclopedia of Proteome Dynamics (https://www.peptracker.com/accounts/login/epd/); selected analysis results are available via FigShare (DOI 10.6084/m9.figshare.8088617 and 10.6084/ m9.figshare.8088611). Materials are available within ethical constraints and with an MTA by request to the corresponding authors.

Key messages

- Genetic risk loci offer the opportunity for insight into the cause of complex disease, but the mechanisms require detailed molecular investigation.
- The AD-associated locus on chromosome 11q13.5 lies between 2 candidate genes: *EMSY* and *LRRC32*.
- Our genetic, proteomic, and immunohistologic analyses have together demonstrated a role for *EMSY* expression in the control of skin barrier formation and function, which are of importance in patients with AD.
- Therefore EMSY represents a future therapeutic target in atopic disease.

REFERENCES

- Johansson S, Bieber T, Dahl R, Friedmann P, Lanier B, Lockey R, et al. Revised nomenclature for allergy for global use: report of the Nomenclature Review Committee of the World Allergy Organization, October 2003. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004;113:832-6.
- 2. Weidinger S, Novak N. Atopic dermatitis. Lancet 2016;387:1109-22.
- Paternoster L, Standl M, Waage J, Baurecht H, Hotze M, Strachan DP, et al. Multiancestry genome-wide association study of 21,000 cases and 95,000 controls identifies new risk loci for atopic dermatitis. Nat Genet 2015;47:1449-56.
- Brown SJ. Molecular mechanisms in atopic eczema: insights gained from genetic studies. J Pathol 2017;241:140-5.
- Finan C, Gaulton A, Kruger FA, Lumbers RT, Shah T, Engmann J, et al. The druggable genome and support for target identification and validation in drug development. Sci Transl Med 2017;9.
- Esparza-Gordillo J, Weidinger S, Folster-Holst R, Bauerfeind A, Ruschendorf F, Patone G, et al. A common variant on chromosome 11q13 is associated with atopic dermatitis. Nat Genet 2009;41:596-601.
- Paternoster L, Standl M, Chen CM, Ramasamy A, Bonnelykke K, Duijts L, et al. Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies identifies three new risk loci for atopic dermatitis. Nat Genet 2011;44:187-92.
- Irvine AD, McLean WH, Leung DY. Filaggrin mutations associated with skin and allergic diseases. N Engl J Med 2011;365:1315-27.
- Winge MC, Hoppe T, Berne B, Vahlquist A, Nordenskjold M, Bradley M, et al. Filaggrin genotype determines functional and molecular alterations in skin of patients with atopic dermatitis and ichthyosis vulgaris. PLoS One 2011;6:e28254.
- Brown SJ, Kroboth K, Sandilands A, Campbell LE, Pohler E, Kezic S, et al. Intragenic copy number variation within filaggrin contributes to the risk of atopic dermatitis with a dose-dependent effect. J Invest Dermatol 2012;132:98-104.

- Schaarschmidt H, Ellinghaus D, Rodriguez E, Kretschmer A, Baurecht H, Lipinski S, et al. A genome-wide association study reveals 2 new susceptibility loci for atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2015;136:802-6.
- Ellinghaus D, Baurecht H, Esparza-Gordillo J, Rodriguez E, Matanovic A, Marenholz I, et al. High-density genotyping study identifies four new susceptibility loci for atopic dermatitis. Nat Genet 2013;45:808-12.
- 13. Hirota T, Takahashi A, Kubo M, Tsunoda T, Tomita K, Sakashita M, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies eight new susceptibility loci for atopic dermatitis in the Japanese population. Nat Genet 2012;44:1222-6.
- Ferreira MA, Vonk JM, Baurecht H, Marenholz I, Tian C, Hoffman JD, et al. Shared genetic origin of asthma, hay fever and eczema elucidates allergic disease biology. Nat Genet 2017;49:1752-7.
- Zhu Z, Lee PH, Chaffin MD, Chung W, Loh PR, Lu Q, et al. A genome-wide crosstrait analysis from UK Biobank highlights the shared genetic architecture of asthma and allergic diseases. Nat Genet 2018;50:857-64.
- Amaral AF, Minelli C, Guerra S, Wjst M, Probst-Hensch N, Pin I, et al. The locus C11orf30 increases susceptibility to poly-sensitization. Allergy 2015;70:328-33.
- Demenais F, Margaritte-Jeannin P, Barnes KC, Cookson WOC, Altmuller J, Ang W, et al. Multiancestry association study identifies new asthma risk loci that colocalize with immune-cell enhancer marks. Nat Genet 2018;50:42-53.
- Ramasamy A, Curjuric I, Coin LJ, Kumar A, McArdle WL, Imboden M, et al. A genome-wide meta-analysis of genetic variants associated with allergic rhinitis and grass sensitization and their interaction with birth order. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2011;128:996-1005.
- Marenholz I, Grosche S, Kalb B, Ruschendorf F, Blumchen K, Schlags R, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies the SERPINB gene cluster as a susceptibility locus for food allergy. Nat Commun 2017;8:1056.
- 20. Asai Y, Eslami A, van Ginkel CD, Akhabir L, Wan M, Ellis G, et al. Genome-wide association study and meta-analysis in multiple populations identifies new loci for peanut allergy and establishes C11orf30/EMSY as a genetic risk factor for food allergy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2018;141:991-1001.
- Astle WJ, Elding H, Jiang T, Allen D, Ruklisa D, Mann AL, et al. The allelic landscape of human blood cell trait variation and links to common complex disease. Cell 2016;167:1415-29.e19.
- Sleiman PM, Wang ML, Cianferoni A, Aceves S, Gonsalves N, Nadeau K, et al. GWAS identifies four novel eosinophilic esophagitis loci. Nat Commun 2014;5: 5593.
- 23. de Lange KM, Moutsianas L, Lee JC, Lamb CA, Luo Y, Kennedy NA, et al. Genome-wide association study implicates immune activation of multiple integrin genes in inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Genet 2017;49:256-61.
- Bonder MJ, Kurilshikov A, Tigchelaar EF, Mujagic Z, Imhann F, Vila AV, et al. The effect of host genetics on the gut microbiome. Nat Genet 2016;48:1407-12.
- 25. Tran DQ, Andersson J, Wang R, Ramsey H, Unutmaz D, Shevach EM. GARP (LRRC32) is essential for the surface expression of latent TGF-beta on platelets and activated FOXP3+ regulatory T cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:13445-50.
- 26. Manz J, Rodriguez E, ElSharawy A, Oesau EM, Petersen BS, Baurecht H, et al. Targeted resequencing and functional testing identifies low-frequency missense variants in the gene encoding GARP as significant contributors to atopic dermatitis risk. J Invest Dermatol 2016;136:2380-6.
- Hughes-Davies L, Huntsman D, Ruas M, Fuks F, Bye J, Chin SF, et al. EMSY links the BRCA2 pathway to sporadic breast and ovarian cancer. Cell 2003;115:523-35.
- Ezell SA, Polytarchou C, Hatziapostolou M, Guo A, Sanidas I, Bihani T, et al. The protein kinase Akt1 regulates the interferon response through phosphorylation of the transcriptional repressor EMSY. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012;109:E613-21.
- Purdie KJ, Pourreyron C, South AP. Isolation and culture of squamous cell carcinoma lines. Methods Mol Biol 2011;731:151-9.
- Rheinwald JG, Green H. Serial cultivation of strains of human epidermal keratinocytes: the formation of keratinizing colonies from single cells. Cell 1975;6:331-43.
- Tanikawa DY, Alonso N, Herson MR, Mathor MB, Caldini EG, Lourenco SV, et al. Ultrastructural evaluation of human keratinocyte growth and differentiation on a fibrin substrate. Acta Cir Bras 2010;25:541-8.
- 32. Larcher F, Dellambra E, Rico L, Bondanza S, Murillas R, Cattoglio C, et al. Longterm engraftment of single genetically modified human epidermal holoclones enables safety pre-assessment of cutaneous gene therapy. Mol Ther 2007;15:1670-6.
- 33. Meana A, Iglesias J, Del Rio M, Larcher F, Madrigal B, Fresno MF, et al. Large surface of cultured human epithelium obtained on a dermal matrix based on live fibroblast-containing fibrin gels. Burns 1998;24:621-30.
- 34. Trynka G. Enhancers looping to target genes. Nat Genet 2017;49:1564-5.
- Javierre BM, Burren OS, Wilder SP, Kreuzhuber R, Hill SM, Sewitz S, et al. Lineage-specific genome architecture links enhancers and non-coding disease variants to target gene promoters. Cell 2016;167:1369-84.e19.
- 36. Rao SS, Huntley MH, Durand NC, Stamenova EK, Bochkov ID, Robinson JT, et al. A 3D map of the human genome at kilobase resolution reveals principles of chromatin looping. Cell 2014;159:1665-80.

- Rubin AJ, Barajas BC, Furlan-Magaril M, Lopez-Pajares V, Mumbach MR, Howard I, et al. Lineage-specific dynamic and pre-established enhancer-promoter contacts cooperate in terminal differentiation. Nat Genet 2017;49:1522-8.
- 38. Suarez-Farinas M, Tintle SJ, Shemer A, Chiricozzi A, Nograles K, Cardinale I, et al. Nonlesional atopic dermatitis skin is characterized by broad terminal differentiation defects and variable immune abnormalities. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2011;127:954-64.e1-4.
- 39. Cole C, Kroboth K, Schurch NJ, Sandilands A, Sherstnev A, O'Regan GM, et al. Filaggrin-stratified transcriptomic analysis of pediatric skin identifies mechanistic pathways in patients with atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2014;134:82-91.
- Sen GL, Reuter JA, Webster DE, Zhu L, Khavari PA. DNMT1 maintains progenitor function in self-renewing somatic tissue. Nature 2010;463:563-7.
- Mildner M, Jin J, Eckhart L, Kezic S, Gruber F, Barresi C, et al. Knockdown of filaggrin impairs diffusion barrier function and increases UV sensitivity in a human skin model. J Invest Dermatol 2010;130:2286-94.
- 42. Jobard F, Lefevre C, Karaduman A, Blanchet-Bardon C, Emre S, Weissenbach J, et al. Lipoxygenase-3 (ALOXE3) and 12(R)-lipoxygenase (ALOX12B) are mutated in non-bullous congenital ichthyosiform erythroderma (NCIE) linked to chromosome 17p13.1. Hum Mol Genet 2002;11:107-13.
- 43. Smith FJ, Irvine AD, Terron-Kwiatkowski A, Sandilands A, Campbell LE, Zhao Y, et al. Loss-of-function mutations in the gene encoding filaggrin cause ichthyosis vulgaris. Nat Genet 2006;38:337-42.
- 44. Smith FJ, Maingi C, Covello SP, Higgins C, Schmidt M, Lane EB, et al. Genomic organization and fine mapping of the keratin 2e gene (KRT2E): K2e V1 domain polymorphism and novel mutations in ichthyosis bullosa of Siemens. J Invest Dermatol 1998;111:817-21.
- 45. Wirth B, Herrmann FH, Neugebauer M, Gillard EF, Wulff K, Stein C, et al. Linkage analysis in X-linked ichthyosis (steroid sulfatase deficiency). Hum Genet 1988; 80:191-2.
- 46. Kogame T, Dainichi T, Shimomura Y, Tanioka M, Kabashima K, Miyachi Y. Palmoplantar keratosis in oculodentodigital dysplasia with a GJA1 point mutation out of the C-terminal region of connexin 43. J Dermatol 2014;41:1095-7.
- 47. Oji V, Eckl KM, Aufenvenne K, Natebus M, Tarinski T, Ackermann K, et al. Loss of corneodesmosin leads to severe skin barrier defect, pruritus, and atopy: unraveling the peeling skin disease. Am J Hum Genet 2010;87:274-81.
- 48. Christiano AM, Greenspan DS, Hoffman GG, Zhang X, Tamai Y, Lin AN, et al. A missense mutation in type VII collagen in two affected siblings with recessive dystrophic epidermolysis bullosa. Nat Genet 1993;4:62-6.
- 49. van Smeden J, Janssens M, Kaye EC, Caspers PJ, Lavrijsen AP, Vreeken RJ, et al. The importance of free fatty acid chain length for the skin barrier function in atopic eczema patients. Exp Dermatol 2014;23:45-52.
- Okada Y, Wu D, Trynka G, Raj T, Terao C, Ikari K, et al. Genetics of rheumatoid arthritis contributes to biology and drug discovery. Nature 2014;506:376-81.
- Sullivan PF, Agrawal A, Bulik CM, Andreassen OA, Borglum AD, Breen G, et al. Psychiatric genomics: an update and an agenda. Am J Psychiatry 2018;175:15-27.
- 52. Sud A, Kinnersley B, Houlston RS. Genome-wide association studies of cancer: current insights and future perspectives. Nat Rev Cancer 2017;17:692-704.
- Bulger M, Groudine M. Functional and mechanistic diversity of distal transcription enhancers. Cell 2011;144:327-39.
- Pennisi E. Genomics. ENCODE project writes eulogy for junk DNA. Science 2012;337:1159-61.
- Potaczek DP, Harb H, Michel S, Alhamwe BA, Renz H, Tost J. Epigenetics and allergy: from basic mechanisms to clinical applications. Epigenomics 2017;9: 539-71.
- 56. Palmer CN, Irvine AD, Terron-Kwiatkowski A, Zhao Y, Liao H, Lee SP, et al. Common loss-of-function variants of the epidermal barrier protein filaggrin are a major predisposing factor for atopic dermatitis. Nat Genet 2006;38:441-6.

- 57. Lee UH, Kim BE, Kim DJ, Cho YG, Ye YM, Leung DY. Atopic dermatitis is associated with reduced corneodesmosin expression: role of cytokine modulation and effects on viral penetration. Br J Dermatol 2017;176: 537-40.
- 58. Totsuka A, Omori-Miyake M, Kawashima M, Yagi J, Tsunemi Y. Expression of keratin 1, keratin 10, desmoglein 1 and desmocollin 1 in the epidermis: possible downregulation by interleukin-4 and interleukin-13 in atopic dermatitis. Eur J Dermatol 2017;27:247-53.
- Gruber F, Kremslehner C, Narzt MS. The impact of recent advances in lipidomics and redox lipidomics on dermatological research. Free Radic Biol Med 2019[Epub ahead of print].
- 60. O'Regan GM, Campbell LE, Cordell HJ, Irvine AD, McLean WH, Brown SJ. Chromosome 11q13.5 variant associated with childhood eczema: an effect supplementary to filaggrin mutations. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010;125: 170-4.e1-2.
- Paternoster L, Savenije OEM, Heron J, Evans DM, Vonk JM, Brunekreef B, et al. Identification of atopic dermatitis subgroups in children from 2 longitudinal birth cohorts. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2018;141:964-71.
- ExAC. Exome Aggregation Consortium. Available at: http://exac.broadinstitute. org/gene/ENSG00000158636. Accessed December 5, 2018.
- EVS. Exome Variant Server. Available at: http://evs.gs.washington.edu/EVS/. Accessed December 5, 2018.
- gnomAD. Genome Aggregation Database. Available at: http://gnomad. broadinstitute.org/gene/ENSG00000158636. Accessed December 5, 2018.
- Maurano MT, Humbert R, Rynes E, Thurman RE, Haugen E, Wang H, et al. Systematic localization of common disease-associated variation in regulatory DNA. Science 2012;337:1190-5.
- 66. Patil VS, Madrigal A, Schmiedel BJ, Clarke J, O'Rourke P, de Silva AD, et al. Precursors of human CD4(+) cytotoxic T lymphocytes identified by single-cell transcriptome analysis. Sci Immunol 2018;3.
- Davies JO, Telenius JM, McGowan SJ, Roberts NA, Taylor S, Higgs DR, et al. Multiplexed analysis of chromosome conformation at vastly improved sensitivity. Nat Methods 2016;13:74-80.
- Franke L, Jansen RC. eQTL analysis in humans. Methods Mol Biol 2009;573: 311-28.
- 69. Liu B, Gloudemans MJ, Rao AS, Ingelsson E, Montgomery SB. Abundant associations with gene expression complicate GWAS follow-up. Nat Genet 2019;51: 768-9.
- Kretz M, Siprashvili Z, Chu C, Webster DE, Zehnder A, Qu K, et al. Control of somatic tissue differentiation by the long non-coding RNA TINCR. Nature 2013; 493:231-5.
- Cevikbas F, Wang X, Akiyama T, Kempkes C, Savinko T, Antal A, et al. A sensory neuron-expressed IL-31 receptor mediates T helper cell-dependent itch: Involvement of TRPV1 and TRPA1. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2014; 133:448-60.
- Hendricks AJ, Vaughn AR, Clark AK, Yosipovitch G, Shi VY. Sweat mechanisms and dysfunctions in atopic dermatitis. J Dermatol Sci 2018;89:105-11.
- Raguz J, Jeric I, Niault T, Nowacka JD, Kuzet SE, Rupp C, et al. Epidermal RAF prevents allergic skin disease. Elife 2016;5.
- Blunder S, Ruhl R, Moosbrugger-Martinz V, Krimmel C, Geisler A, Zhu H, et al. Alterations in epidermal eicosanoid metabolism contribute to inflammation and impaired late differentiation in FLG-mutated atopic dermatitis. J Invest Dermatol 2017;137:706-15.
- 75. Simpson EL, Bruin-Weller M, Flohr C, Ardern-Jones MR, Barbarot S, Deleuran M, et al. When does atopic dermatitis warrant systemic therapy? Recommendations from an expert panel of the International Eczema Council. J Am Acad Dermatol 2017;77:623-33.

Identification of atopic dermatitis subgroups in children from two longitudinal birth cohorts.

Identification of atopic dermatitis subgroups in children from 2 longitudinal birth cohorts



Lavinia Paternoster, PhD,^a Olga E. M. Savenije, MD, PhD,^{b,c} Jon Heron, PhD,^d David M. Evans, PhD,^{a,e} Judith M. Vonk, PhD,^{c,f} Bert Brunekreef, PhD,^{g,h} Alet H. Wijga, PhD,ⁱ A. John Henderson, MD,^d Gerard H. Koppelman, MD, PhD,^{b,c*} and Sara J. Brown, MD, FRCPE^{j,k*} Bristol and Dundee, United Kingdom; Groningen,

Utrecht, and Bilthoven, The Netherlands; and Brisbane, Australia

Background: Atopic dermatitis (AD) is a prevalent disease with variable natural history. Longitudinal birth cohort studies provide an opportunity to define subgroups on the basis of disease trajectories, which may represent different genetic and environmental pathomechanisms.

Objectives: We sought to investigate the existence of distinct longitudinal phenotypes of AD and test whether these findings are reproducible in 2 independent cohorts.

Methods: The presence of AD was examined in 2 birth cohort studies including 9894 children from the United Kingdom (ALSPAC) and 3652 from the Netherlands (PIAMA). AD was defined by parental report of a typical itchy and/or flexural rash. Longitudinal latent class analysis was used to investigate patterns of AD from birth to the age of 11 to 16 years. We investigated associations with known AD risk factors, including *FLG* null mutations, 23 other established AD-genetic risk variants, and atopic comorbidity.

Results: Six latent classes were identified, representing subphenotypes of AD, with remarkable consistency between the 2 cohorts. The most prevalent class was early-onset-earlyresolving AD, which was associated with male sex. Two classes of persistent disease were identified (early-onset-persistent and early-onset-late-resolving); these were most strongly associated with the AD-genetic risk score as well as personal and parental history of atopic disease. A yet unrecognized class of mid-onsetresolving AD, not associated with *FLG* mutations, but strongly associated with asthma, was identified.

Conclusions: Six classes based on temporal trajectories of rash were consistently identified in 2 population-based cohorts. The differing risk factor profiles and diverse prognoses demonstrate the potential importance of a stratified medicine approach for AD. (J Allergy Clin Immunol 2018;141:964-71.)

Key words: Atopic dermatitis, eczema, environmental, genetic, latent class analysis, PIAMA, ALSPAC

In clinical practice, atopic dermatitis (AD; eczema) demonstrates a characteristic itchy erythematous rash¹ but it has a heterogeneous presentation with variations in timing of onset, persistence,^{2,3} distribution, severity, association with allergic sensitization,⁴ and comorbidity with other atopic diseases.^{5,6} Although the classification of eczema cases into atopic and nonatopic forms is commonplace (in part because the underlying etiology of these may be different⁴), the heterogeneity of longitudinal disease course in AD is less well studied. Most AD

Health Research and Development, the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research, the Lung Function of the Netherlands, the Netherlands Ministry of Spatial Planning, Housing, and the Environment, and the Netherlands Ministry of Health, Welfare, and Sport.

- Disclosure of potential conflict of interest: L. Paternoster's institution received a grant from the Medical Research Council for this work. A. J. Henderson's institution received a grant from the Medical Research Council and the Wellcome Trust. G. H. Koppelman's institution received grants from the Lung Foundation of the Netherlands, TEVA the Netherlands, the UBBO Emmius Foundation, and the TETRI Foundation for other works. S. J. Brown's institution received a grant from the Wellcome Trust for this work; the institution also received consultancy fees from Concept Life Sciences and grants from Tayside Dermatological Research Charity and the Wellcome Trust. The rest of the authors declare that they have no relevant conflicts of interest.
- Received for publication June 11, 2017; revised August 7, 2017; accepted for publication September 20, 2017.

Available online November 10, 2017.

Corresponding author: Lavinia Paternoster, PhD, MRC Integrative Epidemiology Unit at the University of Bristol, Bristol Medical School, Oakfield House, Oakfield Grove, Bristol BS8 2BN, United Kingdom. E-mail: l.paternoster@bristol.ac.uk.

From ^athe MRC Integrative Epidemiology Unit, School of Social & Community Medicine, University of Bristol, Bristol; ^bthe Department of Paediatric Pulmonology and Paediatric Allergology, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Beatrix Children's Hospital, Groningen; ^cthe University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen Research Institute for Asthma and COPD, Groningen; ^dthe School of Social & Community Medicine, University of Bristol, Bristol; ^ethe University of Queensland Diamantina Institute, Translational Research Institute, Princess Alexandra Hospital, Brisbane; ^fthe Department of Epidemiology, University of Groningen, University Medical Center Groningen, Groningen; ^gthe Institute for Risk Assessment Sciences, Utrecht University, Utrecht; ^hJulius Center for Health Sciences and Primary Care, University Medical Center Utrecht, Utrecht; ⁱthe National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, Center for Nutrition, Prevention and Health Services, Bilthoven; ^jthe Skin Research Group, School of Medicine, University of Dundee, Dundee; and ^kthe Department of Dermatology, Ninewells Hospital, Dundee.

^{*}Joint last authors.

This work and L.P. were supported by a UK Medical Research Council Fellowship (MR/ J012165/1). L.P. and D.M.E. work in the Medical Research Council Integrative Epidemiology Unit at the University of Bristol, which is supported by the Medical Research Council and the University of Bristol (MC_UU_12013/4). D.M.E. is supported by an Australian Research Council Future Fellowship (FT130101709). S.J.B. holds a Wellcome Trust Senior Research Fellowship in Clinical Science (106865/Z/15/Z). The UK Medical Research Council and the Wellcome Trust (grant reference 102215/2/13/2) and the University of Bristol provide core support for the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. The Prevention and Incidence of Asthma and Mite Allergy birth cohort was funded by the Netherlands Organization for

The CrossMark symbol notifies online readers when updates have been made to the article such as errata or minor corrections

⁰⁰⁹¹⁻⁶⁷⁴⁹

^{© 2017} The Authors. Published by Elsevier Inc. on behalf of the American Academy of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacj.2017.09.044
Abbreviati	ons used
AD:	Atopic dermatitis
ALPSAC:	Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children
FLG:	Gene encoding filaggrin
LLCA:	Longitudinal latent class analysis
OR:	Odds ratio
PIAMA:	Prevention and Incidence of Asthma and Mite Allergy

cases are diagnosed in early childhood and although most resolve during childhood, some persist into adulthood. We hypothesized that divergent temporal disease patterns may be caused by different genetic and environmental etiological mechanisms. Understanding these differences could influence how AD is defined and treated, paving the way for a phenotypedriven, more personalized approach to the management of childhood AD.

AD is a strongly heritable condition. A total of 31 risk loci have been identified in genetic association studies, including 24 loci that were discovered in white European populations.⁷⁻¹³ The cardinal feature of an itchy erythematous rash is central to all case definitions for AD, but large genetic studies have used a broad case definition, including self-reported AD over a wide age range of pediatric and adult patients. This broad case definition has been necessary to allow collection of the large number of cases required for genomewide analyses, but it does not allow for detailed substratification of AD and dictates that such studies are powered to detect variants common across subtypes of disease, while potentially missing variants with more specific effects on subtypes of the disease.

The aim of our study was to investigate the existence of longitudinal subphenotypes of AD and to test whether these findings are reproducible in 2 independent birth cohorts. We used longitudinal latent class analysis (LLCA), a statistical technique that can be used to model potential subgroups within a data set, to identify different longitudinal patterns of disease. We applied LLCA to cohorts from the United Kingdom and the Netherlands from birth to 16 years or 11 years, respectively. We tested each latent class for association with known genetic and nongenetic risk factors for AD and atopic comorbidities, to investigate the existence of distinct subgroups of disease having different etiological and prognostic profiles.

METHODS

Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children

The Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC) is a longitudinal population-based birth cohort study of 14,701 children from Avon, United Kingdom. The study protocol has been described previously¹⁴ and further details are in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org.

Information regarding the presence/absence of rash consistent with AD was extracted from questionnaires completed by the mothers when the children were aged between 6 months and 16.5 years (at 6, 18, 30, 42, 57, 69, 81, 103, 128, 140, 166, and 198 months). At each time point AD was defined as a positive response to 1 of the following questions: "Has your child had an itchy, dry, oozing or crusted rash on the face, forearms or shins?" (at age 6 months); "Has your child had a skin rash in the joints and creases of their body (e.g. behind the knees, elbows, under the arms) in the past 6-12 months?" (18-166 months); "Has your child had an itchy rash which was coming and going for at least 6 months in the past 12 months and confined to the creases of the knees/ankles/elbows or wrists?" (at 16 years).

Nongenetic risk factors were selected on the basis of existing evidence for association with AD^{15} and data availability in the 2 cohorts. Parental history of AD and asthma was parent-reported in questionnaires completed by the parents or guardians. Breast-feeding was coded as a binary variable of never versus any breast-feeding as reported by the mother when the child was 15 months old. Cat exposure was coded as a binary variable of 0 or 1 + cats in the home, as reported by the mother at 8 weeks' gestation. Children were classified as asthmatic at 7 and 13 years if a parent answered "yes" to "Has your child had asthma in the past 12 months?" Total IgE level was measured in venous blood at 7 years and total IgE level of more than 75 kU/L was defined as elevated.

DNA was obtained from blood and genotypes were determined according to methods described in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline. org. Individuals were categorized into 2 groups: those with and those without any of the 4 gene encoding filaggrin (*FLG*) null mutations tested (ie, $FLG^{-/-}$ and $FLG^{+/-}$ vs $FLG^{+/+}$).¹⁶ Genotypes for the remaining 23 established (and replicated) European AD risk variants¹³ were combined into a score, with the value representing a sum of the risk alleles carried across the 23 variants.

Prevention and Incidence of Asthma and Mite Allergy

Prevention and Incidence of Asthma and Mite Allergy (PIAMA) is a Dutch multicenter birth cohort of 3963 children from allergic and nonallergic mothers. The study protocol has been described previously¹⁷ and further details are in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org.

The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood–based questionnaires were used to report symptoms of AD between age 3 months and 11 years (3, 12, 24, 36, 48, 60, 72, 84, 96, 132 months). At each time point, AD was defined as a positive response to both of the following 2 questions: "Has your child had an itching rash that was variably present in the last 12 months?" (or ever at 3 and 12 months) and "Was this rash present around the eyes/ears, foreside ankles, inner side knees or inner side elbows?" (also neck at 3 and 12 months).

Parental history of asthma was taken from questionnaires that asked "Have you ever had asthma?" Any versus never breast-feeding was assessed by questions on infant feeding in the questionnaires administered at age 3 months and 1 year. Cat exposure was coded as a binary variable of 0 or 1 + cats in the home at 3 months after birth. Asthma at 7 and 11 years was defined as a parental report of a doctor's diagnosis of asthma at any time and a parental report of asthma in the last 12 months at age 7 and 11 years. Total IgE level was measured in venous blood at age 8 years and a level of more than 75 kU/L was defined as elevated.

DNA was obtained from blood and mouth swabs and genotypes were determined according to methods described in this article's Online Repository. *FLG* genotype categorization and the non-*FLG* genetic risk score were constructed, as for ALSPAC.

Statistical analysis

LLCA was used to investigate heterogeneity in patterns of AD. As the name suggests, this method is applied in longitudinal settings, ^{18,19} where the aim is to identify distinct subgroups in longitudinal multivariate categorical data. This is akin to cluster analysis, but is more appropriate for binary data and allows for assignment based on probability, rather than definitive partitioning of individuals into classes. Starting with a single latent class, additional classes are added until measures that estimate model fit are optimized. Several statistical criteria (including low Bayesian information criterion, Vuong-Lo-Mendell-Rubin like-lihood ratio test, and entropy) were assessed to determine the optimal number of classes; full details are given in this article's Online Repository at www. jacionline.org. Model fitting was carried out in Mplus version 7.0.²⁰

Model fit was primarily assessed using only those individuals for whom there was no missing AD symptom data. However, to optimize the use of available data and maximize the cohort size, results were compared with analyses that included individuals for whom data were available for 50% or more of the time points studied (≥ 6 of the 12 time points in the ALSPAC cohort and ≥ 5 of the 10 time points in the PIAMA cohort). Association analyses primarily focused on this larger (although incomplete) data set, but results were compared with models from the smaller but more complete data set. Associations of risk factors and comorbidities with the latent classes were tested using a manual implementation of the bias-adjusted 3-step analysis.²¹ This method accounts for uncertainty in class assignment (see this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org). Associations with established risk factors (sex, family history of atopy, breast-feeding, presence of pet cat in the household, *FLG* loss-of function mutation, genetic risk score of 23 established white European AD variants) were tested using multinomial regression, whereas atopic comorbidities (asthma at ages 7 and 11 or 13 years; elevated IgE level at age 7 or 8 years) were tested using logistic regression.

RESULTS LLCA in the ALSPAC cohort

The prevalence of AD in the ALSPAC cohort declined over time (Fig 1, A) from 27% in the first year of life to 7% at age 16.5 years. Data were available from all 12 time points for a total of 3480 individuals. The 6-class model was considered the best fit to the data (as defined by the lowest Bayesian information criterion); however, only small improvements were seen between the 4-class and the 6-class models (see Table E1 and Fig E1 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org). We present the results of the 6-class model as the primary analysis, but show the results for the simpler 4-class model in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org, which for most analyses produced very similar results.

A total of 9894 individuals had data available from at least 6 of the 12 time points and the model fit parameters were broadly consistent with the smaller but more complete data set (Table E1). Comparison of models from the larger incomplete and smaller but complete data sets showed that the prevalence patterns of AD by class were very similar (see Table E3 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org) and only 3% of children (116 of 3480) changed best-fit class between the 6-class models in each analysis (see Table E2 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org).

Fig 2, *A*, shows the estimated prevalence of a rash characteristic of AD at each time point across the 6 classes in the analysis of 9894 individuals. Descriptions of the classes alongside the labels we gave each class are given in Table I.

The estimated prevalence of a rash characteristic of AD at each time point for the 4-class model is displayed in Fig E3 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org. The 4 classes can be described as follows: unaffected individual or transient AD (61.9%); early-onset-persistent AD (10.7%); early-onset AD resolving by age 11 years (16.5%); later-onset AD after age 3.5 years (10.9%). These 4 classes show substantial overlap with the 6-class assignment (see Table E4 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org).

LLCA in the PIAMA cohort

The prevalence of AD in the PIAMA cohort declined only slightly from 18% in the first year of life to 14% by age 11 years (Fig 1, *B*). Data were available from all 10 time points for 2063 individuals. A total of 3652 individuals had data available from at least 5 of these time points, and we present the results from the analysis of this larger incomplete data set. LLCA model fit was similar to ALSPAC, with lowest Bayesian information criteria achieved between the 4-class and 6-class models (see Table E5 and Fig E2 in this article's Online Repository at www. jacionline.org), the resulting class patterns following a remarkably similar pattern to ALSPAC (Fig 2, *B*; see Fig E4 in this



FIG 1. Prevalence and frequency of AD in UK and Dutch longitudinal cohorts. Plot of frequency (right-hand axis) of AD cases (gray bars) and controls (white bars) and AD prevalence (black points and left-hand axis) over 12 time points in ALSPAC and 10 time points in PIAMA. AD is defined by the presence of typical rash.

article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org), with comparable class prevalences (Table I and Fig 1, *B*).

As for ALSPAC, we present association results for the 6-class model as the primary analysis because this showed best fit. Comparison of assignment between 4- and 6-class models is shown in Table E7 in this article's Online Repository at www. jacionline.org and association results from the 4-class model are also shown in this article's Online Repository.

Associations between latent classes with family history and selected environmental risk factors

The associations of 6 classes with potential AD risk factors are summarized in Table II. The results from the smaller but complete data set and the 4-class models are presented in Tables E9 and E10 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org. Similar conclusions could be drawn from these models, unless otherwise specified.

In ALSPAC, taking the "unaffected or transient AD" class as the baseline category, being female was a risk factor for the earlyonset-persistent, mid-onset, and late-onset classes, the strongest association being with the late-onset class (odds ratio [OR], 1.90; 95% CI, 1.48-2.44; $P = 4 \times 10^{-7}$). However, male sex was a risk factor for the early-onset-early-resolving class (OR, 1.33; 95% CI, 1.10-1.61; P = .004). A similar pattern was observed in PIAMA, where the strongest association with female sex was observed with the late-onset group (OR, 1.87; 95% CI, 1.21-2.90; P = .005) and there was evidence of an association between male sex and early-onset-early-resolving class.

Maternal history of AD was associated with all classes in ALSPAC, with the strongest association in the persistent class (OR, 3.16; 95% CI, 2.60-3.83; $P = 4 \times 10^{-31}$). A similar pattern (albeit with weaker evidence for all classes) was observed in ALSPAC for



FIG 2. Longitudinal classes identified using LLCA in 2 independent birth cohorts: A, ALSPAC (n = 9894) and B, PIAMA (n = 3652).

maternal history of asthma, where again the strongest association was with the persistent class (OR, 1.54; 95% CI, 1.22-1.95; $P = 3 \times 10^{-4}$). Paternal history of asthma showed a similar association with this class (OR, 1.59), but the smaller sample size meant there was less evidence for this result (P = .139). Paternal asthma also showed association with the early-onset-late-resolving class (OR, 2.53; 95% CI, 1.30-4.91; P = .006). In PIAMA the associations with maternal and paternal history of asthma were similar, with strong associations with the persistent and early-onset-late-resolving groups for maternal history (OR, 1.94, 95% CI, 1.11-3.40, P = .021, and OR, 3.14, 95% CI, 1.76-5.61, $P = 1 \times 10^{-4}$, respectively) and with the persistent group for paternal history (OR, 2.69; 95% CI, 1.66-4.36; $P = 6 \times 10^{-5}$).

In ALSPAC, breast-feeding was associated with a higher risk of persistent and early-onset-late-resolving AD (OR, 1.42, 95% CI, 1.11-1.81, P = .006, and OR, 1.53, 95% CI, 1.12-2.08, P = .008, respectively). There was little evidence of association with midor late-onset classes. In PIAMA, there was little evidence for breast-feeding being associated with any class.

Early-life exposure to a pet cat was not associated with any of the latent classes in the primary analyses for ALSPAC or PIAMA. However, this was the only risk factor in which a difference was seen in the complete-case results in ALSPAC, where there was some evidence of a protective effect of early-life cat exposure on the early-onset-early-resolving class only (OR, 0.64; 95% CI, 0.46-0.90; P = .010; Table E9). The same direction of effect was observed in PIAMA but with a weaker and less precise estimate (OR, 0.72; 95% CI, 0.50-1.04; P = .081).

Associations between latent classes and atopic traits and comorbidities

The associations of AD classes with elevated total IgE and asthma are displayed in Table III. Raised IgE level was associated with the AD classes showing prevalent disease at the time of testing, that is, age 7 to 8 years (the persistent, early-onset-late-resolving, and mid-onset classes in ALSPAC and the persistent class in PIAMA).

In ALSPAC, all classes showed association with asthma at age 7 and 13 years. The associations were strongest for the persistent class (7 years: OR, 5.50, $P = 5 \times 10^{-41}$; 13 years: OR, 7.19; $P = 3 \times 10^{-46}$) in which 29% reported asthma at age 7 years (compared with 8% of the normal/transiently affected class), increasing to 31% at 13 years (compared with 7% of the normal/transient class). The early-onset-early-resolving class showed the smallest increased risk of asthma at age 7 and 13 years (ORs, 1.56 and 1.79, respectively). In PIAMA, the persistent and early-onset-late-resolving group showed association with asthma at age 7 years (persistent OR, 14.27; $P = 5 \times 10^{-15}$). At age 11 years, all but the mid-onset-resolving group were associated, again the strongest

Class	Description of class in ALSPAC	ALSPAC prevalence	PIAMA prevalence
Unaffected individuals or transient AD	64% of this class never had reported rash, others had 1 or 2 isolated occasions of rash; $\sim 10\%$ reported rash consistent with AD at 6-18 mo and this declined with age	58.0%	62.9%
Early-onset-persistent AD	At age 30 mo, \sim 85% of this class had reported rash, increasing to >90% prevalence until 12 y; it then steadily declined to \sim 50% at 16.5 y	7.3%	4.9%
Early-onset-late-resolving AD	In this class the prevalence of rash rose steeply to >95% at 30 mo and then steadily declined to \sim 10% by 16.5 y	7.0%	3.8%
Early-onset-early-resolving AD	\sim 60% of children in this class had reported rash at 18 and 30 mo; this declined to 10% by 6-7 y	12.9%	15.4%
Mid-onset-resolving AD	In this class there was a 10%-20% prevalence of rash until 30 mo, steeply rising to 75% prevalence at 5-6 y, and steadily declining to <10% prevalence by 16.5 y	7.0%	6.5%
Late-onset-resolving AD	In this class, \sim 30% reported rash at 18 mo, declining to \sim 10% prevalence at 5-6 y, steadily rising to \sim 70% prevalence by 12 y and finally declining to 10% by 16.5 y	7.9%	6.5%

TABLE I. Descriptions and prevalences of the classes in 2 independent cohorts

association being with the persistent group (OR, 15.35; $P = 3 \times 10^{-11}$).

Associations between latent classes and genetic risk variants

In ALSPAC, all classes other than the mid-onset class showed association with *FLG* null mutations (Table IV). The strongest association was for the persistent group (OR, 4.31; 95% CI, 3.29-5.63; $P = 2 \times 10^{-26}$); the other associated classes had ORs of about half this (2.14-2.30). In PIAMA, only the early-onset-late-resolving class was associated with *FLG* null mutations (OR, 5.63; 95% CI, 2.65-11.95; $P = 7 \times 10^{-6}$); however, the approximate number of *FLG*^{-/+} or *FLG*^{-/-} individuals in the PIAMA analyses was very low (between 7 and 14 individuals per class), so power was limited to identify associations.

The combined genetic risk score encompassing all other AD variants was associated with all but the early-onset-early-resolving and the late-onset classes in the 6-class model in ALSPAC. The association was strongest with the persistent class (OR, 1.17; 95% CI, 1.12-1.22, for each additional risk allele; $P = 2 \times 10^{-13}$). A similar pattern was observed in PIAMA, with the persistent class showing the strongest association and an almost identical effect size to that seen in ALSPAC (OR, 1.17; 95% CI, 1.07-1.28; $P = 5 \times 10^{-4}$).

The associations for individual AD risk single nucleotide polymorphism are presented in Table E11 in this article's Online Repository at www.jacionline.org. These analyses are not well powered and should be interpreted with caution, but some patterns are noteworthy. Most variants had the strongest effects in the persistent class and 3 variants showed consistent associations in ALSPAC and PIAMA: These were rs17881320 in *STAT3*, rs479844 near *OVOL1*, and rs6010620 in *RTEL1*. One variant (rs1057258) showed evidence in ALSPAC for association in the opposite direction to that reported previously for AD with the late-onset and early-onset-early-resolving classes (OR, 0.73, 95% CI, 0.57-0.93, P = .011, and OR, 0.80, 95% CI, 0.65-0.99, P = .039, respectively). A consistent direction of effect (though with weak statistical evidence) was observed for the late-onset class and this single nucleotide polymorphism in PIAMA (OR, 0.74; 95% CI, 0.45-1.20; P = .218).

DISCUSSION

Our results provide novel insights into the heterogeneity of AD in childhood. We report 6 latent classes, representing subphenotypes of AD with remarkable consistency between 2 independent cohorts. The most prevalent class was early-onset-early-resolving AD (13%-15%), which was associated with male sex. This class has a favorable prognosis and is only very weakly associated with asthma in later life. Two classes of persistent disease were identified (early-onset-persistent and early-onset-late-resolving); these were most strongly associated with an AD-genetic risk score as well as personal and parental history of atopic disease. Importantly, these classes display strong comorbidity with asthma. A yet unrecognized class of mid-onset-resolving AD, not associated with FLG mutations, but strongly associated with asthma, was described. In this class, AD prevalence increases sharply from age 2.5 years peaking at approximately 6 years. The etiological factors in this class remain unclear because the subgroup was not strongly associated with many of the known risk factors, but does show strong association with asthma comorbidity.

The clinical application of this LLCA is based on the clear demonstration of distinct classes of AD phenotype with different disease trajectories. The substantial diversity of disease that is defined as "AD" (or "eczema") has long been recognized, and clearer subdivisions are an essential prerequisite for the development of stratified medicine approaches that will be needed for the optimal application of novel biological therapies in the more severe subgroups of AD. Therefore, further studies are needed to define the most appropriate combinations of biomarkers and risk factors to detect these subgroups prospectively and at an early age.

There was some evidence of differential strength and presence of associations with risk factors and comorbidities between the classes. The early-onset-persistent class showed the strongest associations (compared with other classes) with most wellestablished risk factors and markers of severe atopic phenotype, including *FLG* null mutations and a genetic risk score of other

Trait	Exposed/ Total	Wald <i>P</i>	Early-onset persistent	Early-onset late- resolving	Early-onset early- resolving	Mid-onset resolving	Late-onset resolving
ALSPAC			7.3%	7.0%	12.9%	7.0%	7.9%
Female	4805/9875	$6 imes 10^{-17}$	$\begin{array}{l} \textbf{1.56} \ (\textbf{1.29-1.89}) \\ P = 6 \times 10^{-6} \end{array}$	0.97 (0.77-1.22) P = .811	0.75 (0.62-0.91) P = .004	$\begin{array}{l} 1.79 \ (1.40 - 2.29) \\ P = 4 \times 10^{-6} \end{array}$	$1.90 (1.48-2.44) P = 4 \times 10^{-7}$
Maternal eczema	3154/9722	$3 imes 10^{-43}$	$3.16 (2.60-3.83) P = 4 \times 10^{-31}$	1.68 (1.32-2.14) $P = 2 \times 10^{-5}$	2.00 (1.65-2.44) $P = 4 \times 10^{-12}$	$\begin{array}{l} \textbf{1.66} \ (\textbf{1.29-2.13}) \\ P = 8 \times 10^{-5} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 1.75 \ (1.36 - 2.25) \\ P = 1 \times 10^{-5} \end{array}$
Maternal asthma	1554/9721	$2 imes 10^{-4}$	$\begin{array}{l} 1.54 \ (1.22 - 1.95) \\ P = 3 \times 10^{-4} \end{array}$	1.43 (1.08-1.91) P = .014	1.23 (0.95-1.58) P = .112	$\begin{array}{l} 1.10 \; (0.79 \text{-} 1.53) \\ P \; = \; .566 \end{array}$	1.02 (0.73 - 1.44) P = .891
Paternal asthma	245/1568	.030	1.59 (0.86-2.93) P = .139	2.53 (1.30-4.91) P = .006	$1.58 \ (0.86-2.89)$ P = .139	$0.94 \ (0.38-2.33)$ P = .893	1.72 (0.83 - 3.57) P = .146
Breast-feeding	7019/9198	$9 imes 10^{-4}$	1.42 (1.11-1.81) P = .006	1.53 (1.12-2.08) P = .008	1.22 (0.97-1.54) P = .093	$1.04 \ (0.78-1.37)$ P = .803	1.04 (0.78 - 1.38) P = .800
Pet cat	2963/9511	.179	$\begin{array}{l} 0.88 \ (0.71\text{-}1.09) \\ P = .226 \end{array}$	1.14 (0.89-1.45) P = .291	$0.92 \ (0.74-1.13)$ P = .427	$\begin{array}{l} 0.81 \ (0.61 \text{-} 1.06) \\ P \ = \ .125 \end{array}$	1.26 (0.98-1.62) P = .073
PIAMA			4.9%	3.8%	15.4%	6.5%	6.5%
Female	1759/3652	.025	$1.06 \ (0.75-1.49) P = .743$	0.63 (0.40-1.00) P = .051	0.89 (0.64-1.24) P = .494	$\begin{array}{l} 0.94 \ (0.65\text{-}1.37) \\ P \ = \ .753 \end{array}$	1.87 (1.21-2.90) $P = .005$
Maternal asthma	259/3645	.001	1.94 (1.11-3.40) P = .021	$3.14 (1.76-5.61) P = 1 \times 10^{-4}$	$\begin{array}{l} 1.33 \ (0.70\text{-}2.51) \\ P = .385 \end{array}$	0.96 (0.41-2.24) P = .932	1.38 (0.65 - 2.93) P = .406
Paternal asthma	272/3633	.002	$2.69 (1.66-4.36) P = 6 \times 10^{-5}$	$0.91 \ (0.34-2.46)$ P = .854	1.19 (0.63-2.25) P = .585	$\begin{array}{l} 1.72 \ (0.94\text{-}3.14) \\ P \ = \ .076 \end{array}$	1.17 (0.53-2.61) P = .697
Breast-feeding	2984/3614	.888	$1.00 \ (0.63-1.56)$ P = .983	1.34 (0.70-2.57) P = .377	1.19 (0.75-1.89) P = .461	0.97 (0.60-1.56) P = .886	0.88 (0.52-1.48) P = .634
Pet cat	1213/3651	.151	$\begin{array}{l} 0.73 \ (0.50\text{-}1.06) \\ P \ = \ .098 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 0.80 \; (0.50\text{-}1.29) \\ P \; = \; .367 \end{array}$	0.72 (0.50-1.04) P = .081	$1.0 \ (0.68-1.47)$ P = .996	0.67 (0.42 - 1.07) P = .094

TABLE II. Association results between risk factors and AD classes identified by LLCA

"Wald P" is for the overall omnibus test. Individual P values and effect sizes (OR and 95% CI) comparing each class with the "unaffected/transient" class are also shown; results P < .05 are shown in boldface.

TABLE III	Association	results betwee	en AD classes	s identified by	IICA and	comorbidities
	/ 0000101011					0011101010101000

Trait	Cases/Total	Wald <i>P</i>	Early-onset persistent	Early-onset late-resolving	Early-onset early-resolving	Mid-onset resolving	Late-onset resolving
ALSPAC			7.3%	7.0%	15.4%	7.0%	7.9%
Asthma at age 7 y	904/7859	$2 imes 10^{-50}$	5.50 (4.28-7.05) $P = 5 \times 10^{-41}$	$3.08 (2.22-4.27) P = 2 \times 10^{-11}$	1.56 (1.09-2.24) P = .015	2.23 (1.53-3.26) $P = 3 \times 10^{-5}$	1.89 (1.26-2.83) $P = .002$
Asthma at age 13 y	784/6752	$7 imes10^{-58}$	7.19 (5.48-9.42) $P = 3 \times 10^{-46}$	$\begin{array}{l} \textbf{3.59} \ \textbf{(2.51-5.12)} \\ P = 2 \times 10^{-12} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} \textbf{1.79} \ (\textbf{1.20-2.65}) \\ P = .004 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} \textbf{3.41} \ \textbf{(2.35-4.96)} \\ \textbf{\textit{P}} = \textbf{1} \times \textbf{10}^{-10} \end{array}$	$2.01 \ (1.30-3.12) \\ P = .002$
Elevated IgE level at age 7 y	2057/4790	$8 imes 10^{-16}$	2.62 (1.98-3.47) $P = 1 \times 10^{-11}$	$\begin{array}{l} 1.92 \ (1.38\text{-}2.68) \\ P = 1 \times 10^{-4} \end{array}$	1.15 (0.88-1.51) P = .310	1.55 (1.10-2.18) P = .013	$\begin{array}{l} 1.38 \ (0.99\text{-}1.93) \\ P = .059 \end{array}$
PIAMA			4.9%	3.8%	15.4%	6.5%	6.5%
Asthma at age 7 y	94/3349	$2 imes 10^{-15}$	14.27 (7.33-27.78) $P = 5 \times 10^{-15}$	5.92 (2.31-15.16) $P = 2 \times 10^{-4}$	3.03 (1.08-8.47) P = .035	0.60 (0.03-13.62) P = .750	1.73 (0.38-7.88) P = .478
Asthma at age 11 y	102/2639	$7 imes 10^{-11}$	$\begin{array}{l} 15.35 \ (6.86\text{-}34.35) \\ P = 3 \times 10^{-11} \end{array}$	9.12 (3.49-23.82) $P = 6 \times 10^{-6}$	$\begin{array}{l} \textbf{4.91} \ (\textbf{1.66-14.55}) \\ P = .004 \end{array}$	2.10 (0.42-10.53) P = .366	5.70 (1.98-16.43) P = .001
Elevated IgE level at age 8 y	723/1707	$1 imes 10^{-4}$	$\begin{array}{l} \textbf{3.00} \ (\textbf{1.85-4.86}) \\ P = 8 \times 10^{-6} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 1.58 \; (0.86\text{-}2.89) \\ P \; = \; .140 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 1.57 \; (0.97 \text{-} 2.56) \\ P \; = \; .067 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 1.42 \ (0.83\text{-}2.46) \\ P = .203 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 0.97 \ (0.53\text{-}1.77) \\ P = .914 \end{array}$

"Wald P" is for the overall omnibus test. Individual P values and effect sizes (OR and 95% CI) comparing each class with the "unaffected/transient" class are also shown; elevated IgE level is defined as total IgE level of >75 kU/L; results P < .05 are shown in boldface.

AD-associated variants, coexistent asthma, and elevated IgE and parental history of atopic disease. The associations with asthma at ages 7 and 11 and 13 years were strongest with the persistent class, but all AD classes showed evidence of some increased risk of asthma at these ages. Our data did not support the presence of a specific trajectory from AD to asthma (the so-called atopic march), which is in keeping with a previous report from the Manchester Asthma and Allergy Study (MAAS) and earlier analyses in ALSPAC.⁶ The associations observed with elevated total IgE level were most marked during active and persistent disease, in keeping with previous reports.²² Within the class of early-onset disease that resolved before the time of IgE measurement, a smaller proportion of individuals had IgE levels above the threshold defined as "elevated," in comparison with the class of early-onset disease that was still active. Further investigation with earlier IgE measures is required to explore whether such individuals would have had raised IgE level at the time of active disease.

Although being female was more strongly associated with the early-onset persistent and late-onset classes, there was some

TABLE IV. Association results between genetic risk factors and AD classes identified by LLCA

Study and genetic risk factor	No. with risk genotype/total	Wald P	Early-onset persistent	Early-onset late- resolving	Early-onset early- resolving	Mid-onset resolving	Late-onset resolving
ALSPAC			7.3%	7.0%	12.9%	7.0%	7.9%
FLG null mutation	813 of 7570	$4 imes 10^{-28}$	131 of 570 (23%)*	78 of 514 (15%)*	111 of 832 (13%)*	54 of 467 (12%)*	70 of 499 (14%)*
			$\begin{array}{l} 4.31 \ (3.29\text{-}5.63) \\ P = 2 \times 10^{-26} \end{array}$	2.23 (1.53-3.26) $P = 3 \times 10^{-5}$	2.14 (1.54-2.98) $P = 7 \times 10^{-6}$	$\begin{array}{l} 1.48 \ (0.92\text{-}2.39) \\ P = .109 \end{array}$	2.30 (1.57-3.38) $P = 2 \times 10^{-5}$
Genetic risk score (all other variants)	Total N = 6497	$8 imes 10^{-17}$	$\begin{array}{l} 1.17 \; (1.12 - 1.22) \\ P = 2 \times 10^{-13} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} \textbf{1.08 (1.04-1.13)} \\ P = 4 \times 10^{-4} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 1.02 \ (0.99\text{-}1.06) \\ P \ = \ .222 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} \textbf{1.06} \ (\textbf{1.00-1.12}) \\ P = .042 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{l} 1.01 \; (0.96\text{-}1.06) \\ P \; = \; .758 \end{array}$
PIAMA			4.9%	3.8%	15.4%	6.5%	6.5%
FLG null mutation	117 of 1516	$6 imes 10^{-4}$	7 of 74 (10%)*	14 of 60 (23%)*	11 of 159 (7%)*	7 of 96 (7%)*	10 of 95 (11%)*
			1.34 (0.49-3.67) P = .563	5.63 (2.65-11.95) $P = 7 \times 10^{-6}$	0.87 (0.25 - 3.03) P = .821	0.95 (0.26-3.45) P = .942	1.87 (0.76-4.62) P = .174
Genetic risk score (all other variants)	Total N = 1964	$6 imes 10^{-5}$	1.17 (1.07-1.28) $P = 5 \times 10^{-4}$	$\begin{array}{l} 1.0 \; (0.91 \text{-} 1.11) \\ P \; = \; .968 \end{array}$	1.16 (1.08-1.25) $P = 1 \times 10^{-4}$	1.11 (1.03-1.20) P = .004	$\begin{array}{l} 1.08 \; (0.98\text{-}1.18) \\ P \; = \; .111 \end{array}$

"Wald *P*" is for the overall omnibus test. Individual *P* values and effect sizes comparing each class with the "unaffected/transient" class are also shown; results *P* < .05 are shown in boldface; genetic risk score is defined by the total number of risk alleles across the 23 AD-associated loci (other than *FLG*) identified by genome-wide association study metaanalysis to date; OR represents the change in odds per risk allele for the genetic risk score or between carriers compared with noncarriers for the *FLG* mutations. *To demonstrate the approximate numbers of individuals with *FLG* null mutations in each class, individuals were assigned to the most likely class. Given that the actual association analysis accounted for uncertainty in assignment of classes, these values are approximations for purposes of highlighting where power might be low. *The approximate number with FLG null mutations/approximate total with FLG genotype data* (%), within each class are shown. The "unaffected/transient" groups had 8% (~369 of 4712) and 7% (~68 of 1032)

with FLG mutations in ALSPAC and PIAMA, respectively.

evidence that being male was differentially associated with earlyonset-resolving classes. It is tempting to speculate that the lateonset class might represent AD induced by behavioral changes in the adolescent child (including increased bathing/showering and the use of fragranced products), which might differ between males and females, but this hypothesis remains to be tested. The male preponderance in AD cases ascertained in infancy has previously been reported²³⁻²⁶ but the mechanisms accounting for this sex difference are unknown.

There is conflicting epidemiological evidence indicating that breast-feeding may be either a risk factor or a protective factor in the etiology of AD²⁷ and our analyses have not been able to add clarity to this important question. In the ALSPAC cohort, breast-feeding was associated with the 2 classes of most long-lasting disease (early-onset-persistent and early-onset-late-resolving AD) but in the PIAMA cohort there was little evidence of breast-feeding being associated with any of the latent classes. This apparent difference could be explained in several different ways: It may be stochastic (given that all 95% CIs overlap between the 2 cohorts); it may be a result of the substantially higher prevalence of breast-feeding in the Dutch population compared with the UK population; or it may result from reverse causation in the ALSPAC cohort, if, for example, mothers with a strong history of atopic disease are more likely to breast-feed their infants.

We found little evidence for early-life exposure to a pet cat being associated with any of the classes in the main analysis. However, in the complete-case data set in ALSPAC, there was some evidence that cat exposure may have a protective effect on early-onset-early-resolving AD, which is somewhat at odds with previous reports of cat exposure increasing the risk of AD.^{28,29} This may indicate a specific beneficial effect of early cat exposure on this more transient phenotype and warrants further investigation.

There was evidence that *FLG* null mutations were associated with all classes; however, as reported previously,^{30,31} the association was strongest in the group with early-onset-persistent

disease. The genetic risk score of the other established AD variants showed a similar pattern, whereby the association was strongest for the early-onset-persistent class, with a striking increase in the burden of risk of approximately 17% per additional risk allele. Of note, 3 variants showed consistent patterns of effects across both cohorts, with stronger associations in the early-onset persistent group, and weaker associations with the other classes. The functional mechanisms of these loci have not been fully defined, but rs17881320 is within STAT3 (encoding a signal transducer and activator of transcription, an acute-phase response protein); rs479844 is near to OVOL1 (which encodes zinc-finger containing transcription factor); and rs6010620 is within RTEL1 (regulator of telomere elongation helicase 1). This heterogeneity of effect of genetic variants on different disease profiles emphasizes the need for patient stratification in future genetic studies. Stratification may be used to increase the power to detect variants associated with specific classes; stratification could also allow the identification of phenotype-specific mechanistic pathways as future therapeutic targets.

The similarity and high frequency of AD symptom ascertainment in ALSPAC and PIAMA are strengths of our study. The phenotype definitions used within the cohorts comprised prospective questions to capture diagnostic features of eczema including the changing distribution of skin involvement from infancy to later childhood. One key difference is that PIAMA had a shorter follow-up (11 years vs 16 years), which could have limited the ability to detect classes with differences at later ages. Despite this, the class patterns are remarkably similar between ALSPAC and PIAMA (Fig 2). However, neither cohort allowed for investigation of variable AD patterns in adulthood, more subtle AD patterns (such as the transient cases that were indistinguishable from the unaffected individuals in our study), nor in people of ancestries other than white European. We also studied only a limited number of environmental factors and so this work could be extended to investigate the association between latent classes and other potential risk factors.

Although individuals are not assigned to classes with complete certainty (see Table E8 in this article's Online Repository at www. jacionline.org), the LLCA 3-step method models this uncertainty and allows for the inclusion of individuals with incomplete data to maximize sample size and minimize any loss to follow-up bias. We note that our analysis does not formally test for causal direction and some risk factors studied do not entirely precede the onset of disease. Therefore, although the observational associations are interesting, further work should be conducted to investigate causality. A further challenge is that by stratifying AD into smaller subphenotypes of disease, we inevitably lower the power of association testing. Few studies have such detailed longitudinal data and so to increase sample sizes in future studies, it will be necessary to extrapolate these data-driven phenotypes into settings where less detailed data are available, such as large data registries.³²

In conclusion, we have identified longitudinal subgroups of AD that have both shared and distinctly different risk factor profiles. Future studies of the etiology and treatment of this complex trait should take these subgroups of disease into account and, in turn, this may offer valuable stratified medicine approaches to refining prognostic predictions and therapeutic strategies.

ALSPAC: We are extremely grateful to all the families who took part in this study, the midwives for their help in recruiting them, and the whole ALSPAC team, which includes interviewers, computer and laboratory technicians, clerical workers, research scientists, volunteers, managers, receptionists, and nurses. Genome-wide genetic data were generated by Sample Logistics and Genotyping Facilities at Wellcome Sanger Institute and LabCorp (Laboratory Corporation of America) using support from 23andMe. PIAMA: We thank all the children and their parents for their cooperation. We also thank all the field workers and laboratory personnel involved for their efforts, and Marjan Tewis for data management. This publication is the work of the authors and L.P. will serve as guarantor for the contents of this article.

Clinical implications: AD ranges from a transient condition to lifelong morbidity. This study has identified distinct subphenotypes of AD in children, which could indicate the importance of a stratified approach to the management of this complex disease.

REFERENCES

- Williams HC. Clinical practice: atopic dermatitis. N Engl J Med 2005;352: 2314-24.
- Kim JP, Chao LX, Simpson EL, Silverberg JI. Persistence of atopic dermatitis (AD): a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Acad Dermatol 2016;75: 681-7.e11.
- Mortz CG, Andersen KE, Dellgren C, Barington T, Bindslev-Jensen C. Atopic dermatitis from adolescence to adulthood in the TOACS cohort: prevalence, persistence and comorbidities. Allergy 2015;70:836-45.
- Johansson EK, Ballardini N, Bergstrom A, Kull I, Wahlgren CF. Atopic and nonatopic eczema in adolescence: is there a difference? Br J Dermatol 2015;173: 962-8.
- Garcia-Aymerich J, Benet M, Saeys Y, Pinart M, Basagana X, Smit HA, et al. Phenotyping asthma, rhinitis and eczema in MeDALL population-based birth cohorts: an allergic comorbidity cluster. Allergy 2015;70:973-84.
- Belgrave DC, Granell R, Simpson A, Guiver J, Bishop C, Buchan I, et al. Developmental profiles of eczema, wheeze, and rhinitis: two population-based birth cohort studies. PLoS Med 2014;11:e1001748.
- Paternoster L, Standl M, Chen SM, Ramasamy A, Bonnelykke K, Duijts L, et al. Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies identifies three new risk loci for atopic dermatitis. Nat Genet 2011;44:187-92.
- Ellinghaus D, Baurecht H, Esparza-Gordillo J, Rodriguez E, Matanovic A, Marenholz I, et al. High-density genotyping study identifies four new susceptibility loci for atopic dermatitis. Nat Genet 2013;45:808-12.

- Weidinger S, Willis-Owen SA, Kamatani Y, Baurecht H, Morar N, Liang L, et al. A genome-wide association study of atopic dermatitis identifies loci with overlapping effects on asthma and psoriasis. Hum Mol Genet 2013;22:4841-56.
- Hirota T, Takahashi A, Kubo M, Tsunoda T, Tomika K, Sakashita M, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies eight new susceptibility loci for atopic dermatitis in the Japanese population. Nat Genet 2012;44:1222-6.
- Sun L-D, Xiao FL, Li Y, Zhou WM, Tang HY, Tang XF, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies two new susceptibility loci for atopic dermatitis in the Chinese Han population. Nat Genet 2011;43:690-4.
- Esparza-Gordillo J, Weidinger S, Folster-Holst R, Bauerfeind A, Ruschendorf F, Patone G, et al. A common variant on chromosome 11q13 is associated with atopic dermatitis. Nat Genet 2009;41:596-601.
- Paternoster L, Standl M, Waage J, Baurecht H, Hotze M, Strachan DP, et al. Multi-ancestry genome-wide association study of 21,000 cases and 95,000 controls identifies new risk loci for atopic dermatitis. Nat Genet 2015;47: 1449-56.
- 14. Boyd A, Golding J, Macleod J, Lawlor DA, Fraser A, Henderson J, et al. Cohort profile: the 'children of the 90s'-the index offspring of the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. Int J Epidemiol 2013;42:111-27.
- Purvis DJ, Thompson JM, Clark PM, Robinson E, Black PN, Wild CJ, et al. Risk factors for atopic dermatitis in New Zealand children at 3.5 years of age. Br J Dermatol 2005;152:742-9.
- Brown SJ, Relton CL, Liao H, Zhao Y, Sandilands A, Wilson IJ, et al. Filaggrin null mutations and childhood atopic eczema: a population-based case-control study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2008;121:940-6.e3.
- Wijga AH, Kerkhof M, Gehring U, de Jongste JC, Postma DS, Aalberse RC, et al. Cohort profile: the prevention and incidence of asthma and mite allergy (PIAMA) birth cohort. Int J Epidemiol 2014;43:527-35.
- Munafo MR, Heron J, Araya R. Smoking patterns during pregnancy and postnatal period and depressive symptoms. Nicotine Tob Res 2008;10:1609-20.
- 19. Granell R, Henderson AJ, Sterne JA. Associations of wheezing phenotypes with late asthma outcomes in the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children: a population-based birth cohort. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2016;138:1060-70.e11.
- Muthén LK, Muthén BO. Mplus user's guide. 7th Edition. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén; 1998-2012.
- Heron JC, Croudace TJ, Barker ED, Tilling K. A comparison of approaches for assessing covariate effects in latent class analysis. Long Life Course Stud 2015;6: 420-34.
- Flohr C, Johansson SG, Wahlgren CF, Williams H. How atopic is atopic dermatitis? J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004;114:150-8.
- 23. Dirven-Meijer PC, Glazenburg EJ, Mulder PG, Oranje AP. Prevalence of atopic dermatitis in children younger than 4 years in a demarcated area in central Netherlands: the West Veluwe Study Group. Br J Dermatol 2008; 158:846-7.
- Govaere E, Van Gysel D, Verhamme KM, Doli E, Oranje AP, De Baets F. The prevalence, characteristics of and risk factors for eczema in Belgian schoolchildren. Pediatr Dermatol 2009;26:129-38.
- Moore MM, Rifas-Shiman SL, Rich-Edwards JW, Kleinman KP, Camargo CA Jr, Gold DR, et al. Perinatal predictors of atopic dermatitis occurring in the first six months of life. Pediatrics 2004;113:468-74.
- Wen HJ, Chen PC, Chiang TL, Lin SJ, Chuang YL, Guo YL. Predicting risk for early infantile atopic dermatitis by hereditary and environmental factors. Br J Dermatol 2009;161:1166-72.
- Ip S, Chung M, Raman G, Chew P, Magula N, DeVine D, et al. Breastfeeding and maternal and infant health outcomes in developed countries. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep) 2007;1-186.
- 28. Bisgaard H, Simpson A, Palmer CN, Bonnelykke K, McLean I, Mukhopadhyay S, et al. Gene-environment interaction in the onset of eczema in infancy: filaggrin loss-of-function mutations enhanced by neonatal cat exposure. PLoS Med 2008; 5:e131.
- 29. Schuttelaar ML, Kerkhof M, Jonkman MF, Koppelman GH, Brunekreef B, de Jongste JC, et al. Filaggrin mutations in the onset of eczema, sensitization, asthma, hay fever and the interaction with cat exposure. Allergy 2009;64: 1758-65.
- 30. Henderson J, Northstone K, Lee SP, Liao H, Zhao Y, Pembrey M, et al. The burden of disease associated with filaggrin mutations: a population-based, longitudinal birth cohort study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2008;121:872-7.e9.
- 31. Brown SJ, Sandilands A, Zhao Y, Liao H, Relton CL, Meggitt SJ, et al. Prevalent and low-frequency null mutations in the filaggrin gene are associated with early-onset and persistent atopic eczema. J Invest Dermatol 2008;128: 1591-4.
- Koppelman GH, Gehring U. Data-driven asthma phenotypes in childhood: does the environment hold the clue? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2017;195:545-6.

Genome-wide comparative analysis of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis gives insight into opposing genetic mechanisms.

Genome-wide Comparative Analysis of Atopic Dermatitis and Psoriasis Gives Insight into Opposing Genetic Mechanisms

Hansjörg Baurecht,^{1,31} Melanie Hotze,^{1,31} Stephan Brand,² Carsten Büning,³ Paul Cormican,⁴ Aiden Corvin,⁴ David Ellinghaus,⁵ Eva Ellinghaus,⁵ Jorge Esparza-Gordillo,^{6,7} Regina Fölster-Holst,¹ Andre Franke,⁵ Christian Gieger,^{8,9,10} Norbert Hubner,⁶ Thomas Illig,^{9,11} Alan D. Irvine,^{12,13,14} Michael Kabesch,¹⁵ Young A.E. Lee,^{6,7} Wolfgang Lieb,¹⁶ Ingo Marenholz,^{6,7} W.H. Irwin McLean,¹⁷ Derek W. Morris,^{4,18} Ulrich Mrowietz,¹ Rajan Nair,¹⁹ Markus M. Nöthen,^{20,21} Natalija Novak,²² Grainne M. O'Regan,¹² Psoriasis Association Genetics Extension, Stefan Schreiber,^{5,23} Catherine Smith,²⁴ Konstantin Strauch,^{8,25} Philip E. Stuart,¹⁹ Richard Trembath,²⁶ Lam C. Tsoi,²⁷ Michael Weichenthal,¹ Jonathan Barker,²⁴ James T. Elder,^{19,28} Stephan Weidinger,^{1,32,*} Heather J. Cordell,^{29,32} and Sara J. Brown^{30,32,*}

Atopic dermatitis and psoriasis are the two most common immune-mediated inflammatory disorders affecting the skin. Genome-wide studies demonstrate a high degree of genetic overlap, but these diseases have mutually exclusive clinical phenotypes and opposing immune mechanisms. Despite their prevalence, atopic dermatitis and psoriasis very rarely co-occur within one individual. By utilizing genome-wide association study and ImmunoChip data from >19,000 individuals and methodologies developed from meta-analysis, we have identified opposing risk alleles at shared loci as well as independent disease-specific loci within the epidermal differentiation complex (chromosome 1q21.3), the Th2 locus control region (chromosome 5q31.1), and the major histocompatibility complex (chromosome 6p21-22). We further identified previously unreported pleiotropic alleles with opposing effects on atopic dermatitis and psoriasis risk in *PRKRA* and *ANXA6/TNIP1*. In contrast, there was no evidence for shared loci with effects operating in the same direction on both diseases. Our results show that atopic dermatitis and psoriasis have distinct genetic mechanisms with opposing effects in shared pathways influencing epidermal differentiation and immune response. The statistical analysis methods developed in the conduct of this study have produced additional insight from previously published data sets. The approach is likely to be applicable to the investigation of the genetic basis of other complex traits with overlapping and distinct clinical features.

Introduction

Atopic dermatitis (AD, synonymous with eczema [MIM 603165]) and psoriasis (psoriasis vulgaris [MIM 177900]) are the two most common chronic inflammatory skin con-

ditions. They are associated with a significantly reduced quality of life and multiple comorbidities.^{1,2} Both diseases result from the interaction of genetic and environmental factors and are characterized by epidermal defects as well as local and systemic immunological abnormalities.

¹Department of Dermatology, Allergology, and Venereology, University Hospital Schleswig-Holstein, Campus Kiel, 24105 Kiel, Germany; ²Department of Medicine II - Grosshadern, Ludwig-Maximilians-University (LMU), 81377 Munich, Germany; ³Department of Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Endocrinology, Charité, Campus Mitte, 10117 Berlin, Germany; ⁴Neuropsychiatric Genetics Research Group, Department of Psychiatry and Institute of Molecular Medicine, Trinity College Dublin, Dublin 2, Ireland; ⁵Institute of Clinical Molecular Biology, Christian-Albrechts-University of Kiel, 24105 Kiel, Germany; ⁶Max-Delbrück-Centrum (MDC) for Molecular Medicine, Berlin-Buch, 13092 Berlin, Germany; ⁷Pediatric Allergy, Experimental and Clinical Research Center, Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin, 10117 Berlin, Germany; ⁸Institute of Genetic Epidemiology, Helmholtz Zentrum München, German Research Cen-ter for Environmental Health, 85764 Neuherberg, Germany; ⁹Research Unit of Molecular Epidemiology, German Research Center for Environmental Health, 85764 Neuherberg, Germany; ¹⁰Institute of Epidemiology II, Helmholtz Zentrum München - German Research Center for Environmental Health, 85764 Neuherberg, Germany; ¹¹Hannover Unified Biobank, Hannover Medical School, 30625 Hannover, Germany; ¹²Department of Paediatric Dermatology, Our Lady's Children's Hospital, Crumlin, Dublin 12, Ireland; ¹³National Children's Research Centre, Dublin 12, Ireland; ¹⁴Department of Clinical Medicine, Trinity College Dublin, Dublin 2, Ireland; ¹⁵Department of Pediatric Pneumology and Allergy, University Children's Hospital Regensburg (KUNO), 93042 Regensburg, Germany; ¹⁶Institute of Epidemiology and PopGen Biobank, University Hospital Schleswig-Holstein, 24105 Kiel, Germany; ¹⁷Dermatology and Genetic Medicine, College of Life Sciences and College of Medicine, Dentistry & Nursing, University of Dundee, Dundee DD1 5EH, UK; ¹⁸Cognitive Genetics and Therapy Group, School of Psychology and Discipline of Biochemistry, National University of Ireland, Galway, Ireland; ¹⁹Department of Dermatology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI 48109-5675, USA; ²⁰Institute of Human Genetics, University of Bonn, 53127 Bonn, Germany; ²¹Department of Genomics, Life & Brain Center, University of Bonn, 53127 Bonn, Germany; ²²Department of Dermatology and Allergy, University of Bonn Medical Center, 53105 Bonn, Germany; ²³Department of Internal Medicine, University Medical Center Schleswig-Holstein, 24105 Kiel, Germany; ²⁴Division of Genetics and Molecular Medicine, St John's Institute of Dermatology, Kings College London, London SE1 9RT, UK; ²⁵Institute of Medical Informatics, Biometry and Epidemiology, Chair of Genetic Epidemiology, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität, 80539 Munich, Germany; ²⁶Queen Mary University of London, Barts and the London School of Medicine and Dentistry, London E1 4NS, UK; ²⁷Department of Biostatistics, Center for Statistical Genetics, University of Michigan School of Public Health, Ann Arbor, MI 48109-5314, USA; ²⁸Ann Arbor Veterans Affairs Hospital, Ann Arbor, MI 48105, USA; ²⁹Institute of Genetic Medicine, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne NE1 3BZ, UK; ³⁰Dermatology and Genetic Medicine, Medical Research Institute, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, University of Dundee, Dundee DD1 9SY, UK

³¹These authors contributed equally to this work ³²These authors contributed equally to this work

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2014.12.004. ©2015 The Authors

^{*}Correspondence: sweidinger@dermatology.uni-kiel.de (S.W.), s.j.brown@dundee.ac.uk (S.J.B.)

This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

Despite a lifetime prevalence of ~2% for psoriasis and 10%–20% for AD,^{3,4} these diseases rarely co-occur within an individual⁵—an observation attributed to opposing immune response patterns.⁶ However, it has been reported that both Th1-cell-dominated autoimmune and Th2-celldominated allergic diseases aggregate within families⁷ and that parental psoriasis might increase the risk of AD in offspring.⁸ Furthermore, genome-wide linkage and association studies have shown genetic risk loci in each disease that map to similar regions of the genome. The epidermal differentiation complex (EDC) on chromosome 1g21.3 includes AD and psoriasis risk loci in close proximity.9-12 Null mutations in the gene encoding filaggrin (FLG [MIM 135940]) represent the strongest known risk factor for AD^{13,14} and account for at least a proportion of AD risk within the EDC, but FLG-null mutations are not associated with psoriasis.^{15,16} A deletion of the late cornified envelope genes LCE3B-LCE3C (MIM 612614, 612615) represents a genetic substrate for psoriasis within the EDC,^{17,18} but this deletion is not associated with AD.¹⁹ The cytokine cluster encoded at 5q23.1-5q31.1 includes variants showing association with both diseases, 10, 20, 21 and an intergenic region of chromosome 20q13.2 has also shown association with both AD and psoriasis.^{22,23} Finally, a recent genome-wide association study (GWAS) on AD identified a strong association within the margins of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC)²⁰ on chromosome 6p21.3, less than 2.4 kb from a variant associated with HLA-Cw6 (MIM 142840),²⁴ the strongest known psoriasis-risk locus.

In order to gain insight into overlapping and specific genetic mechanisms, we systematically compared and contrasted AD and psoriasis via analytical techniques developed from meta-analysis.

Subjects and Methods

Study Subjects

Genome-wide genotype data were obtained on samples from six case-control cohorts (three each of AD and psoriasis), totaling 2,262 AD and 4,489 psoriasis case subjects and 12,333 control subjects (Table S1 available online).

The German AD case subjects were recruited from tertiary dermatology clinics at Munich, as part of the GENEVA study, University of Kiel, University of Bonn, and the University Children's Hospital of Charité Universitätsmedizin Berlin. AD was diagnosed by experienced dermatologists and/or pediatricians according to the UK Diagnostic Criteria.²⁵ German control subjects were obtained from the PopGen biorepository,²⁶ the population-based KORA study in southern Germany,²⁷ and the German part of ISAAC II to assess the prevalence of asthma and allergies in school-children.²⁸ The Irish AD case collection was recruited from the secondary and tertiary pediatric dermatology clinic at Our Lady's Children's Hospital, Crumlin, Dublin. Irish control individuals were obtained from healthy adult blood donors as part of the Trinity Biobank, Dublin.²⁹

The German psoriasis case subjects were recruited from the tertiary dermatology clinic at the University of Kiel and German controls were again obtained from the PopGen biorepository and the KORA study (independent from those used as controls for AD). The British psoriasis case-control study is part of the Welcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2^{24} and the US psoriasis study has been described elsewhere.²¹

ImmunoChip data on 2,425 AD case subjects, 3,580 psoriasis case subjects, and 9,061 control subjects were obtained from previous studies, ^{11,12} including data on a subset of case and control individuals also analyzed by GWAS. Results of analysis of the four most prevalent *FLG* (RefSeq accession number NM_002016.1) loss-of-function mutations were obtained for a total of 2,865 case subjects and 5,540 control subjects as data generated for previous studies;^{11,20} the *FLG* mutations in these analyses are as follows: p.Arg501* (c.1501C>T), p.Ser761Cysfs*36 (c.2282_2285del), p.Arg2447* (c.7339C>T), and p.Ser3247* (c.9740C>A) (R501X, 2282del4, R2447X, and S3247X, respectively).

The institutional review board in each contributing center approved these studies. All participants (or their parents or guardians) gave written informed consent.

Study Design

The study design is summarized in Figure 1.

Quality Control

Quality control and standard GWAS analysis of genotyped singlenucleotide variants (SNVs) was carried out with PLINK³⁰ and R. Samples with extensive missing data (rate >5%), excess of heterozygosity or homozygosity, and discrepant gender determined on the basis of average X-chromosomal heterozygosity compared to the gender recorded in the database were excluded. We then examined identity-by-state (IBS) sharing and estimated identity-bydecent (IBD) on a pruned SNV set between all pairs of individuals and deleted resulting duplicates or closely related samples with PI_HAT > 0.1875 (halfway between expected IBD for third- and second-degree relatives). Multidimensional scaling (MDS) of the pairwise IBS matrix was carried out to identify and delete outliers of unusual ancestry and to calculate genome-wide principalcomponent scores for each individual. We excluded 894 samples because of SNVs showing a missing rate of >5%, deviation of Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium $p_{HWE} < 10^{-8}$, or minor allele frequency (MAF) <5% (summarized in Table S2). After quality control, the resulting SNVs and samples were analyzed for association via logistic regression with age, sex, and principal-component scores as covariates. Results from each panel were investigated to determine whether established GWAS loci were identified for the respective trait of interest, and genomic control inflation factors were calculated.

Imputation of SNVs and Classical HLA Alleles

Any SNVs showing significant association were checked (e.g., by visual inspection of the intensity cluster plots and investigation of consistency of LD with surrounding markers) and those SNVs deemed unreliable were removed. The final data sets of high-quality SNVs were prephased with SHAPEIT³¹ and subsequently used to perform imputation with IMPUTE2,³² the 1000 Genomes reference panel (integrated variant set, release March 2012).³³ In the Irish AD collection (Table S1), case and control subjects were genotyped on different platforms, and therefore only the 131,692 SNVs in common between the platforms were used to inform imputation.

Postimputation SNVs with low imputation quality (info score < 0.4), call rate <95%, deviation from $p_{HWE}<10^{-8}$, or MAF < 5%



were excluded. A final data set of approximately 5.2 million SNVs in 2,079 AD case subjects, 3,867 control subjects, 4,212 psoriasis case subjects, and 8,032 control subjects were eligible for subsequent analysis (Table S3).

Classical alleles for *HLA-A*, *HLA-B*, and *HLA-C* were imputed for each case-control cohort separately by HLA*IMP^{34,35} and best guess genotypes with probability >0.9. Additional classical *HLA-DQA1*, *HLA-DQB1*, and *HLA-DRB1* alleles were imputed in each case-control cohort with the exception of the Irish samples, in which there were insufficient informative SNPs. Alleles with a frequency >1% were put forward for analysis. For each individual, alleles were coded as having no, one, or two copies of the respective allele via allele probability >0.9. We obtained high-quality data at the four-digit level with call rates of 92%–100% and accuracy of 92%–98%.

Statistical Analysis

Meta-GWAS was performed on each disease, via standard methodologies. To analyze these findings further, we developed two different meta-analysis-based approaches to filter SNVs and model the contrasting effects in each disease. The first was a compare and contrast meta-analysis (CCMA) approach inspired by a subsetbased method.³⁶ The second used transethnic meta-analysis implemented in the MANTRA software,³⁷ combining all six studies by using prior clustering to reflect the ethnic difference and the disease type. The MHC region was reserved for separate analysis because of its unique and complex variability and patterns of strong linkage disequilibrium (LD).

The CCMA approach is based on an adaptation of an idea of Bhattacharjee et al.,³⁶ who modeled association with heterogeneous traits. With METAL,³⁸ we calculated z-scores signed positive or negative with respect to the same reference allele for two metaanalyses, T_1 , combining AD studies only, and T_2 , combining psoriasis studies only. We then calculated the overall test statistic T_{max} with the formula $T_{max} = \max(|T_1|, |T_2|, |T_{12shared}|, |T_{12opposing}|)$, where $T_{12shared} = (T_1 + T_2)/\sqrt{2}$ and $T_{12opposing} = (T_1 - T_2)/\sqrt{2}$. We categorized the effect of each SNV as corresponding to an effect

Figure 1. Study Design

Abbreviations are as follows: CCMA, case control meta-analysis; MANTRA, metaanalysis of trans-ethnic association studies; BFD, Bayesian false discovery; PO, prior odds; *conditional analysis for the MHC was also carried out with imputed classical HLA-allele (detailed in the Subjects and Methods).

on AD only, to an effect on psoriasis only, to a shared effect (in the same direction on AD and psoriasis), or to opposing effects, according to which of the four test statistics $(|T_1|, |T_2|, |T_{12shared}|, |T_{12opposing}|)$ was the largest. In order to derive a p value for T_{max} , we worked out an empirical null distribution by simulating 10,000,000 realizations of two normally distributed random variables, Z_1 and Z_2 . Then we calculated $Z_{12shared} = (Z_1 + Z_2)/\sqrt{2}$, $Z_{12opposing} = (Z_1 - Z_2)/\sqrt{2}$, and $Z_{max} = \max(|Z_1|, |Z_2|, |Z_{12shared}|,$

 $|Z_{12opposing}|$). The emprical p values can be derived as $P_{emp} = (\#(Z_{max} > T_{max}) + 1)/(\# simulations + 1).$

In a separate simulation of 1,000,000,000 replicates, we derived a calibration curve for the p values and found it suitable up to a p value of 10^{-9} . Hence with the calibration curve we can derive Z_{max} thresholds corresponding to standard genome-wide "suggestive" (10^{-5}) and genome-wide "significant" (10^{-8}) thresholds, corresponding to T_{max} values of approximately 4.7 and 6.0, respectively (Figure S1).

In the second approach we used the MANTRA software³⁷ developed for transethnic meta-analysis. MANTRA uses a Bayesian partition model for grouping studies according to their ethnicity. We adopted this idea and worked out a prior distribution to cluster studies according to both our phenotypes of interest and the genetic distance between the studies derived from our MDS analysis based on the pairwise IBS matrix: $D_{Total} = D_{Disease} + D_{Ethnicity}$, where $D_{Ethnicity}$ is a diagonal matrix of Euclidean distances between study centers. To distinguish the two diseases (psoriasis and AD), we set the corresponding cells of the $D_{Disease}$ matrix to $D_{ij} = 2 \times$ max($D_{Ethnicity}$) and to account for the different subphenotype in AD (AD in general versus childhood AD), we set the corresponding cells of the $D_{Disease}$ matrix to $D_{ij} = \max(D_{Ethnicity})$, resulting in the prior components shown in Table S4.

We calibrated the resulting $log_{10}BF_{MANTRA} = log_{10}(Bayes Factors)$ from the MANTRA software in order to find a threshold for filtering SNVs, which were compared with the CCMA top SNVs and subsequently carried forward to multinomial regression modeling. To perform this calibration, we calculated the Bayesian False Discovery Probability proposed by Wakefield³⁹ with diverse prior odds (PO) in favor of H₀:

$$BFDP = \frac{BF_{MANTRA} \times PO}{1 + BF_{MANTRA} \times PO}.$$

Sensitivity analysis was performed with only the $D_{Ethnicity}$ as prior matrix and we observe high correlation ($r^2 > 0.99$) of the top-ranked SNVs (BFDP < 0.05; PO = 99) with our analysis (data not shown).

Finally, we carried forward a filtered set of SNVs from CCMA and MANTRA for modeling via a multinomial regression model, adjusted for sex and the first four genome-wide principal-component scores. The multinomial model involves three outcome categories: the "baseline" category into which all controls are categorized, a "psoriasis" case category, and an "AD" case category (modeled through regression coefficients β_{PSO} and β_{AD} , respectively). This analysis makes use of individual-level genotypes and is thus more computationally intensive (although arguably more powerful and more statistically satisfactory) than CCMA and MANTRA. We calculated p values for tests that were designed to be sensitive to the following situations: an overall SNV effect (on either or both diseases, in either direction), an individual SNV effect on one disease (but not on the other), a shared SNV effect (operating in the same direction for both diseases), and a contrasting SNV effect (operating in opposing directions between both diseases), by performing Wald tests of the following linear hypotheses:

Overall effect : $H_0: \beta_{PSO} + \beta_{AD} = 0, \quad H_1: \beta_{PSO} + \beta_{AD} \neq 0$ Psoriasis effect : $H_0: \beta_{PSO} = 0, \quad H_1: \beta_{PSO} \neq 0$ AD effect : $H_0: \beta_{AD} = 0, \quad H_1: \beta_{AD} \neq 0$ Shared effect : $H_0: \beta_{PSO} + \beta_{AD} = 0, \quad H_1: \beta_{PSO} + \beta_{AD} \neq 0$

Opposing effect : $H_0: \beta_{PSO} - \beta_{AD} = 0, \quad H_1: \beta_{PSO} - \beta_{AD} \neq 0$

The overall significance of the SNV was assessed through the 2 degree of freedom (df) test of overall effect, which compares the null hypothesis that the SNV has no effect on either psoriasis or AD with the alternative hypothesis that it has an effect on one or both diseases. The other four 1 df tests were used to categorize the effect (in analogy to CCMA) in four categories-AD only, psoriasis only, shared effect, and opposing effects-by categorizing according to the minimum of the p values: $p_{MNM} = min(p_{AD}, p_{PSO}, p_{PSO})$ p_{SHARED}, p_{OPPOSING}). The rationale for the use of the minimum of these 1 df tests for categorization is as follows: if a SNV is associated with one disease but not the other, the test of a nonzero regression coefficient for that disease (even while unnecessarily also allowing for a nonzero coefficient for the other disease, as is done in the psoriasis effect and AD effect tests), should be more powerful than a test that erroneously groups together the coefficients of the associated and the nonassociated disease (as is done in the shared and opposing effect tests). This is on account of the fact that grouping together these coefficients will incur a penalty in terms of increasing the variance, while not incurring any greater expected magnitude of effect since the expected value of the regression coefficient for the nonassociated disease is zero. If, on the other hand, the SNV has effects that operate in the same direction on both diseases, then a test based on adding together these effects (as is done in the shared effect test) should be more powerful than considering each effect on its own, or subtracting one effect from the other (as is done in the opposing effect test), because adding together the coefficients induces the greatest magnitude of effect. Finally, if the SNV has effects that operate in opposite directions in the two diseases, then a test based on subtracting one effect from the other (as is done in the opposing effect test) should be most powerful because it induces the greatest magnitude of effect.

All analyses if not explicitly stated were carried out with R. For the purposes of this analysis, we distinguished between a shared genetic "region" and a shared genetic "locus." We arbitrarily designated a shared region as a block of genomic DNA spanning 2 Mb with association signals for both traits. We defined a genetic locus as the lead SNV and all SNVs with $r^2 > 0.5$.

Predicted Protein Network Analysis and Gene Ontology Analysis

Functional protein association networks were investigated in silico and gene ontology analyses were performed with STRING_{9.1}.

Results

Filtering Variants to Define Risk Effects

Quality control and imputation generated 5.2 million SNVs with a minor allele frequency >0.01 for further analysis (Figure 1). GWASs within each cohort resulted in genomic inflation factors λ between 1.03 and 1.08. Meta-GWAS performed on each disease confirmed previously reported risk loci in AD and psoriasis and illustrated areas of colocalization on chromosomes 1, 5, and 6 (Figure 2A).

Excluding the MHC, 2,210 SNVs were identified with shared (by which we mean alleles having effects operating in the same direction in both diseases), opposing, and disease-specific SNVs with CCMA test statistic $T_{max} > 4.7$. This threshold was defined to correspond to a suggestive significance of $p < 10^{-5}$ in order to reduce the probability of false negatives. The 2,210 SNVs were condensed to 142 distinct loci after an LD-based clumping procedure³⁰ with the following parameters: distance ≤ 250 kb and $r^2 \geq 0.5$.

Analysis with MANTRA revealed 3,304 SNVs with Bayesian false discovery probability (BFDP) < 0.05 with prior odds (PO) 1/99 resulting in 76 distinct loci after clumping. The overlap of CCMA and MANTRA gave 2,183 SNVs and the union of both methods resulted in 3,331 SNVs that were carried forward for multinomial regression modeling (MNM), which was adjusted for sex and the first four genome-wide principal-component scores. The results are displayed in Figure 2B, in which disease-specific, shared, and opposing loci are coded by color. SNVs showing genome-wide significance in at least one of the three methods of analysis ($T_{max} > 6$, BFDP < 0.05 with PO = 1/999, or $p_{MNM} < 10^{-8}$) map to 144 distinct loci (Table S5). Comparison of effect classification (AD, psoriasis, shared, opposing) in CCMA and MNM (Figure S2) showed an agreement of 94.8% when excluding the MHC region (Figure S3). For further investigation, we considered only loci containing more than one SNV and an effect classified in the same direction by CCMA and MNM.

Validation of Previously Reported AD- and Psoriasis-Risk Loci

15 European and 9 Asian loci have previously been reported in GWASs on AD, and 44 European and 9 Asian loci have been reported in association with psoriasis (Table S6). In our disease-specific meta-analysis individuals of



white European descent, 14 of the European AD loci as well as 43 of the psoriasis loci are replicated. Furthermore, 4 AD and 4 psoriasis loci so far reported only in Asians showed evidence for association in European populations (p < 10^{-3}): *CCDC80* (MIM 608298)/*CD200R1L* at 3q13.2, *CARD11* (MIM 607210) at 7p22.2, *ZNF365* (MIM 607818) at 10q21.2, and *BCAS1* (MIM 602968) at 20q13.2 in AD; *CSMD1* (MIM 608397) at 8p23.2, *SERPINB8* (MIM 601697) at 18q22.1, *MAMSTR* (MIM 610349)/*RASIP1* (MIM 609623) at 19q13.33, and *ZNF816A* at 19q13.41 in psoriasis (Table S6).

New Opposing-Effect Loci Identified by Genome-wide Comparative Analysis

Excluding the MHC, 25 loci showed a genome-wide significant association with either skin disorder, defined by all three methods of analysis (CCMA $T_{max} > 6$ and MANTRA BFDP < 0.05 with PO = 1/999, and $p_{\rm MNM} < 10^{-8}$) including six loci that were coassociated with both AD and psoriasis. Each coassociated locus displayed opposing effects and two of these loci (2q31.2, 5q33.1) have not previously been reported as showing coassociation with AD and psoriasis (Table 1).

2q31.2 demonstrates an opposing effect at rs62176107 (MNM $p = 1.08 \times 10^{-34}$; Table S5); this variant is within exon 6 of *PRKRA* (MIM 603424) and also within microRNA 548n (MIR548N) and a noncoding transcript, AC009948.5. *PRKRA* encodes protein kinase interferon-inducible double-stranded RNA-dependent activator (PACT), a cellular dsRNA-binding protein originally identified as a binding partner and activator of PKR in response to extracellular stress.⁴⁶ More recently, it has been shown to be an essential factor in the PKR-independent initiation

Figure 2. Genome-wide Comparison of AD and Psoriasis

(A) Mirrored Manhattan plots showing results of AD meta-GWAS (top) and psoriasis meta-GWAS (bottom).

(B) Comparative analysis of AD and psoriasis in which SNVs are color coded to show AD-specific effect (black), psoriasis-specific effect (red), shared effects defined as alleles operating in the same direction (green), and opposing effects (blue). The genomewide significance level is marked at $p = 0.5 \times 10^{-8} (T_{max} = 6.0)$.

of RIG-I-induced antiviral response.⁴⁷ Of note, individuals with AD are known to be susceptible to viral skin infections, but cutaneous infections rarely occur in psoriasis.⁴⁸ MicroRNAs play a role in posttranscriptional regulation of gene expression by affecting the stability and translation of mRNAs, but the specific role of miRNA548n has not been defined. The most significantly associ-

ated ("lead") SNV at 2q31.2 (rs62176107, G>A, having the smallest p value from MNM) is a synonymous SNV with predicted effects on 12 transcripts, including *PRKRA* splice variants' UTR and intronic regions and a variant predicted to undergo nonsense-mediated decay (Ensembl release 75). Gene expression profiling data show downregulation of both *PRKRA* mRNA and miRNA548n in psoriatic lesions compared to nonlesional skin, but no significant differences in AD (Table S7).

The most highly significant variant at 5q33.1 (rs17728338) shows opposing effects on AD and psoriasis (MNM p = 3.96×10^{-38} ; Table S5) and lies 2 kb upstream of ANXA6 (MIM 114070) and 8 kb downstream of TNIP1 (MIM 607714). LD analysis in 1000 Genomes (release August 2009) via LocusZoom⁴⁹ showed that rs17728338 is located within a 25-kb block containing both TNIP1 and ANXA6. The locus has previously been associated with psoriasis in European and Chinese populations but has not been implicated in AD. TNIP1 is involved in TNF signaling and regulation of the transcription factor NF- κ B;^{21,50} it shows increased expression both in AD and psoriatic lesions compared to control skin (Table S7). In contrast, ANXA6, which encodes a calcium-dependent membrane and phospholipid binding protein, shows significant upregulation of expression in atopic skin compared to control skin (fold change 1.3, FDR p = 0.016) and lesional to nonlesional AD skin (fold change 2.4, p = 0.027), whereas expression is decreased in psoriatic versus healthy skin (fold change 0.7, $p = 6.38 \times$ 10^{-13}) (Table S7). Clearly, further fine mapping is necessary to identify the causal variant that exerts opposing effects on AD and psoriasis, but we speculate that ANXA6 might be a switch-point differentiating AD from psoriasis that

					Estimated Odds	Ratio (95% CI)	
Chr Band	Reference SNV Number(s)	Position (hg19)	Nearest Gene(s) or Transcript(s)	Effect Observed in GW Analyses	AD	Psoriasis	Previous Report(s) of Association at This Locus
1p31.3	rs77614545 (del)	67749581	retro-DNAJB6 and IL23R (MIM 607562)	psoriasis	0.99 (0.92-1.07)	1.21 (1.15–1.28)	psoriasis: 1p31.3 locus, IL28RA ^{21,24,40}
1q21.3 ^a	rs55879323	152168740	within FLG-AS1	opposing	0.76 (0.70-0.82)	1.05 (1.00–1.12)	AD and psoriasis: 1q21.3 locus, <i>HRNR</i> , <i>FLG</i> ; ⁴¹ <i>FLG</i> ; ^{20,42} <i>LCE3B</i> , <i>LCE3C</i> , ¹⁸ <i>LCE</i> gene cluster; ¹⁷ <i>LCE3D</i> ²⁴
	rs11205006, rs12144049	152440176, 152440910	RP1-91G5.3, CRNN (MIM 611312), LCE5A (MIM 612619)	AD	1.52 (1.41–1.64), 1.53 (1.42–1.64)	0.97 (0.92–1.03), 0.98 (0.92–1.03)	AD: 1q21.3 locus, <i>HRNR</i> , <i>FLG</i> ; ⁴¹ <i>FLG</i> ^{20,42}
	rs471144	152454255	LCE5A (MIM 612619)	AD	1.54 (1.37–1.73)	1.03 (0.94–1.14)	AD: 1q21.3 locus, <i>HRNR</i> , <i>FLG</i> ; ⁴¹ <i>FLG</i> ^{20,42}
	rs10888499	152532742	LCE3E (MIM 612617)	AD	1.49 (1.38–1.61)	0.98 (0.93-1.04)	AD: 1q21.3 locus, <i>HRNR</i> , <i>FLG</i> ; ⁴¹ <i>FLG</i> ^{20,42}
	rs4112788	152551276	LCE3D (MIM 612616)	psoriasis	0.97 (0.90-1.05)	1.22 (1.15-1.28)	psoriasis: LCE gene cluster; ¹⁷ LCE3D ²⁴
	rs1581803	152592281	LCE3A (MIM 612613)	psoriasis	0.97 (0.90-1.04)	1.22 (1.15-1.30)	psoriasis: LCE gene cluster ¹⁷
	rs77199844 (del)	152757094	LCE1E (MIM 612607)	[AD]	2.01 (1.72–2.35)	1.16 (1.01–1.33)	AD: 1q21.3 locus, <i>HRNR</i> , <i>FLG</i> ; ⁴¹ <i>FLG</i> ^{20,42} psoriasis: LCE gene cluster ¹⁷
	rs77199844 (del) 152757094 LCEIE (MIM 612607) rs4363385 152989321 SNORA31, SPRR3 (MIM 182271), SPRR1B (MIM 182266) 16.1 rs35741374 61072567 within lincRNA AC010733.4				1.23 (1.15–1.32)	0.89 (0.85-0.94)	AD: SPRR3 repeat number variant ⁴³
2p16.1	rs35741374	61072567	within lincRNA AC010733.4	psoriasis	1.09 (1.01-1.63)	1.20 (1.15–1.27)	psoriasis: <i>REL</i> ; ²⁴ NR ²³
2q31.2	rs62176107	179300971	exonic <i>PRKRA</i> and within miRNA548n and AC009948.5	opposing	0.55 (0.46-0.65)	1.42 (1.32–1.53)	-
5q31.1ª	rs1295686	131952222	intronic <i>IL13</i> (MIM 147683) and within AC004041.2	[opposing]	1.27 (1.17–1.38)	0.88 (0.82–0.94)	AD and psoriasis: <i>IL13</i> ; ²¹ <i>KIF3A</i> , <i>IL13</i> ; ²² <i>KIF3A</i> , <i>IL4</i> , <i>IL13-RAD50</i> ; ¹⁰ multiple effect locus <i>RAD50/IL13</i> ; ²⁰ <i>C5orf56</i>
	rs6596086	131995843	intronic <i>RAD50</i> (MIM 604040)	opposing	1.30 (1.20–1.41)	0.85 (0.8-0.91)	AD and psoriasis: <i>IL13-RAD50</i> ; ¹⁰ multiple effect locus <i>RAD50/IL13</i> ²⁰
5q33.1	rs17728338	150478318	ANXA6 (MIM 114070)	opposing	0.70 (0.59–0.84)	1.77 (1.61–1.95)	psoriasis: TNIP1 ^{21,42}
5q33.3	rs10515778, rs7715173, rs7719425 ^b	158658012, 158664631, 158670938	within CTB-11122.1	psoriasis	1.07 (0.98–1.17)	1.29 (1.21–1.38)	psoriasis: 5q33.3 locus, <i>IL12B</i> ^{17,21,24,44} ; AD: <i>PTTG1</i> ⁴²
	rs11135056, rs4921442 ^b	158687281, 158694100	intronic UBLCP1 (MIM 609867)	psoriasis	0.97 (0.89–1.05)	1.45 (1.35–1.56)	_
	rs2546890	158759900	within AC008697.1	psoriasis	1.01 (0.94–1.06)	1.39 (1.32–1.47)	
	rs5872599 (indel)	158859989	lincRNA AC008703.1, <i>IL12B</i> (MIM 161561)	psoriasis	0.82 (0.73-0.93)	1.54 (1.45–1.64)	_
6q21	rs9487605	111582885	intronic KIAA1919	psoriasis	1.06 (0.98–1.14)	1.27 (1.20-1.35)	-
	rs240993	111673714	intronic REV3L (MIM 602776)	psoriasis	1.05 (0.97-1.13)	1.29 (1.22–1.36)	-
	rs9481169	111929862	TRAF3IP2 (MIM 607043)	psoriasis	0.98 (0.86-1.11)	1.58 (1.45–1.72)	psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: <i>TRAF3IP2</i> ^{24,44,45}

Table 1.	Loci Showing Genome-wide Si	unificant Association with Either AD or Psoriasis Defined	by All Three Methods of Comparative Analysis

(Continued on next page)

lable I.	Continued						
	Bofournes CMV			Effort Ohromiad	Estimated Odds	Ratio (95% CI)	Bundour Bonoef(s) of Association at
Chr Band	Number(s)	Position (hg19)	Nearest Gene(s) or Transcript(s)	in GW Analyses	AD	Psoriasis	rrevious keport(s) or Association at This Locus
6q23.2	rs643177, rs582757 ^b	138195693, 138197824	TNFAIP3 (MIM 610669)	psoriasis	1.05 (0.97–1.14)	1.27 (1.20–1.34)	psoriasis: TNFAIP3 ^{21,24}
11q13.5	rs2212434, rs7126418 ^b	76281593, 76292573	c110rf30 (MIM 608574)	AD	1.29 (1.21–1.39)	1.05 (1.00–1.11)	AD: <i>c110rf30-LRRC32</i> ; ^{10,41} <i>c110rf30</i> ; ²² 11q13 locus ²⁰
12q13.3	rs36207871 (del)	56684496	intronic CS (MIM 118950)	psoriasis	0.94 (0.83–1.06)	1.47 (1.33–1.67)	psoriasis: 12q13.3 locus, <i>IL23A</i> , <i>STAT2</i> ; ²¹ <i>IL23A</i> ²⁴
	rs11575234	56744276	intronic STAT2 (MIM 600556)	psoriasis	0.90 (0.79–1.02)	1.47 (1.32–1.64)	psoriasis: STAT2 ²¹
Genome-v (GRCh37/i ^a 1q21.3 ar nearby var	wide significance is defined a: hg19) Assembly accessed 21 nd 5q31.1 were further invest riants when examined by step struke are accimand to the cam	CCMA $T_{max} > 6$ and MAN March 2014; this variant of igated via stepwise condition wite conditional analysis.	TRA BFDP < 0.05 with PO = 1/999 and m FLG-AS1 extends across <i>HRHR</i> and <i>FLG</i> ; RP nal analysis (the results are shown in Table	uultinomial model p < 1-91G5.3 extends acro 2); square brackets ind	10 ⁻⁸ ; genes and trass <i>CRNN</i> ; AC00404 ss <i>CRNN</i> ; AC00404 licate results from th	inscripts identified fr 1.2 extends across <i>R</i> , ie univariate analysis	om UCSC Genome Browser Human Feb. 2009 4 <i>D50</i> and <i>lL13</i> ; CTB-11122.1 overlaps <i>RNF145</i> . that were subsequently accounted for by other

reflects the importance of calcium-dependent effects in keratinocyte differentiation.

Opposing effect loci were also identified within regions characterized by complex patterns of LD within the EDC (Figure S4), the cytokine cluster on 5q31.1 (Figures S4 and S5), and the MHC. These regions were therefore investigated further via conditional analysis.

Stepwise Conditional Analysis within 1q21.3 and 5q31.1 Identifies Opposing and Disease-Specific Risk Variants

Coverage of the EDC was achieved via GWAS data (Figure 3), whereas ImmunoChip data provided better coverage for the cytokine cluster on 5q31.1 (Figures 4 and S5).

Within 1q21.3 we identified seven LD blocks with disease-specific or opposing signals (Figure 3A). Stepwise conditional analysis on the four most prevalent FLGnull mutations and variants tagging the LCE3B-LCE3C deletion identified one AD-specific locus mapping to FLG, a psoriasis-specific locus mapping to LCE3B-LCE3C, and a locus with opposing effects on both diseases mapping to RPTN (MIM 613259)/HRNR/FLG-AS1 (Figure 3B and Table 2). After conditioning on the four FLG-null mutations and the LCE3B-LCE3C deletion, the G allele of the lead MNM SNV rs12130219 decreases the risk for AD $(OR_{ADcond}\,=\,0.812\text{, }p_{ADcond}\,=\,0.0018)$ and increases the risk for psoriasis (OR_{PSOcond} = 1.119, $p_{PSOcond} = 3.68 \times$ 10^{-4}) (Table 2). Filaggrin, repetin, and hornerin are all members of the S100 fused-type protein family and each contribute to the cornified cell envelope, a functional component of the epidermal barrier. Both FLG and HRNR show reduced expression in AD⁵¹⁻⁵³ whereas RPTN shows no significant difference (Table S7). In psoriasis HRNR expression can be downregulated⁵³ or upregulated,⁵⁴ RPTN expression might be upregulated, and FLG expression might be downregulated⁵⁵ or dysregulated¹⁵ (Table S7). The function of FLG-AS1 (FLG antisense RNA1) is currently undefined, but its proximity to FLG and HRNR suggests a role in coordinating keratinocyte terminal differentiation. FLG-AS1 expression is increased in psoriasis lesional compared with nonlesional skin, whereas in AD lesional skin, expression is reduced (Table S7). Together, our results confirm the role of the LCE3B-LCE3C deletion in psoriasis and support the presence of genetic risk mechanisms for AD within the EDC in addition to the predominant effect of FLG-null mutations, with opposing effects on psoriasis.

Conditional analysis at 5q31.1 revealed three independent loci specifically contributing to AD risk: *IL13* (MIM 147683, rs848, OR_{ADfull} = 1.12, p = 0.0204), *KIF3A* (MIM 604683, rs 2299009, OR_{ADfull} = 1.16, p = 4.1 × 10⁻⁴), and *SLC22A4* (MIM 604190)/*C5orf56* (rs74458173, OR_{ADfull} = 1.57, p = 2.0 × 10⁻⁴) (Figure 4A, Table 2). None of these loci showed significant effects on psoriasis. However, a fourth independent locus has opposing effects on AD and psoriasis. The most highly significant variant maps





(A) Multinomial regression model with GWAS and ImmunoChip data. Seven blocks of linkage disequilibrium are indicated by curly brackets; black circles indicate AD-specific association, red circles indicate a psoriasis-specific association, blue circles represent opposing effects in AD and psoriasis, and green circles indicate shared effects. Vertical lines have been drawn to mark the positions of known genes and transcripts (identified from UCSC Genome Browser, GRCh37/hg19 accessed Feb. 2009) and the horizontal dotted lines indicate thresholds of suggestive and genome-wide significance ($p = 10^{-5}$ and 10^{-8}). The horizontal gray bands at the bottom indicate the coverage of the region by GWAS SNVs (upper row) and ImmunoChip SNVs (lower row).

(B) Conditional regional association plot of stepwise logistic regression using GWAS and ImmunoChip data. The different colored symbols indicate association results after each step of analysis, as follows. Unconditioned results are shown by black dots to indicate association with AD and red dots to indicate association with psoriasis; blue triangles and blue crosses represent results after conditioning on the known disease-associated variants, *FLG* in AD and *LCE3B-LCE3C* deletion in psoriasis; SNVs indicated by the same symbol are in LD

(legend continued on next page)

to *RAD50* (MIM 604040, rs6596086, $OR_{ADfull} = 1.17$, OR_{P} . _{SOfull} = 0.88, p = 6.3 × 10⁻⁷); this variant is associated with increased risk of AD but is protective against psoriasis (Figure 4B, Table 2).

Analysis of the MHC Confirms Multiple Psoriasis-Risk Loci and Identifies Opposing Effects

In the extended HLA region, we took forward 23,479 SNVs with $T_{max} > 4.7$ or BFDP < 0.05 (PO = 1/99) and 75 variables representing the classical HLA alleles obtained from HLA imputation for multinomial modeling, of which 18,515 SNVs were classified as specific to psoriasis by CCMA and MNM. To reduce the data set for post hoc analysis, we considered only SNVs with effect classification in the same direction by CCMA and MNM, meeting the $p < 10^{-5}$ threshold in MNM. Within the psoriasis-specific markers, we excluded all tagging SNVs ($r^2 > 0.8$ with the lead SNV), resulting in 1,503 SNVs, including those previously reported for AD.²⁰

The strongest and most significant association was observed for psoriasis, a variant (rs111576655 $OR_{PSOfull} =$ 3.32, $p = 3.2 \times 10^{-65}$) tagging the well-known psoriasisrisk allele HLA-C*06:02 (OR_{PSOfull} = 3.59, p = 8.7 × 10^{-154}). Conditional analysis revealed two additional independent loci contributing to psoriasis risk at MICA (MIM 600169, rs201374403, $OR_{PSOfull} = 1.65$, $p = 1.0 \times 10^{-26}$) and HLA-A (MIM 142800, rs113573479, OR_{PSOfull} = 1.41, $p = 2.7 \times 10^{-17}$), as well as two loci with opposing effects at HLA-C (MIM 142840, rs1793889, OR_{ADfull} = 0.6, OR_{PSO-} $_{\text{full}} = 1.18$, $p = 1.1 \times 10^{-9}$) and *HLA-DRB1* (MIM 142857, rs28383201, $OR_{ADfull} = 0.61$, $OR_{PSOfull} = 1.18$, $p = 6.5 \times$ 10^{-9}) (Figure 5, Table 3). Conditional analysis with imputed classical alleles identified five independent HLAclass I alleles contributing to psoriasis risk in addition to HLA-C*06:02 and two alleles with opposing effects: HLA-C*03:03 (OR_{ADfull} = 0.71, OR_{PSOfull} = 1.27, p = 2.3 × 10^{-5}) and HLA-DQA1*02:01 (OR_{ADfull} = 0.64, OR_{PSOfull} = 1.09, $p = 6.0 \times 10^{-8}$; $r^2 = 0.405$ with rs28383201) (Table 3).

Ontology and Network Analysis of Genes Indicate Effects in the Skin Barrier and Immune Response

Genes implicated from genome-wide and conditional analyses (identified from Tables 1, 2, and 3) were investigated via predicted protein network and gene ontology (GO) analysis. The results are summarized in Figure S6. The GO term "keratinocyte differentiation" (GO:0030216) is enriched in genes implicated in AD and psoriasis risk (FDR p = 4.3×10^{-4} in AD; p = 6.9×10^{-4} in psoriasis; and p = 2.7×10^{-3} in opposing effects). The GO term "response to interferon-gamma" (GO:0034341) is also significantly enriched in psoriasis (FDR p = 1.9×10^{-3}).

Discussion

This genome-wide comparative analysis confirms a high degree of genomic coincidence between AD and psoriasis, suggesting that common molecular mechanisms are involved. This agrees with the central role of epidermal barrier defects and T-cell-dominated inflammation in both diseases.⁴⁸ Within the six regions of colocalization, we demonstrate coassociated and independent diseasespecific loci. Of note, all coassociated loci display opposing (antagonistic) effects on AD and psoriasis, in agreement with the epidemiological observations of lower-thanexpected coincidence between these diseases in the population.⁵ Within these loci, specific variants including chromosome 2q31.2 (rs62176107), chromosome 5q33.1 (rs17728338), and within RAD50 on chromosome 5q33.3 (rs6596086) demonstrate opposing effects on risk of AD and psoriasis. This raises the intriguing possibility that the same biological mechanisms might act differentially on AD versus psoriasis. However, our current data cannot distinguish this specific opposing mechanism from the possibility that each lead variant is in LD with other variants having opposing effects in each disease.

The majority of the opposing effect loci are implicated in pathways related to adaptive immunological functions, which potentially mirrors the polarized immune mechanisms.⁶ It might further be speculated whether the presence of multiple opposing alleles reflects balancing selection as a response to heterogeneity in environmental pressures. Balancing selection is particularly common within the extended MHC region and has been proposed as a potential explanation for antagonistic effects at multiple loci in different autoimmune diseases.⁵⁶

Two of the loci displaying opposing effects (ANXA6/ TNIP1 and PRKRA) have not previously been reported in association with psoriasis and/or AD. Formal external validation is limited by the requirement for additional independent, population-matched GWAS data for AD and psoriasis, but data available from RNA sequencing and microarray analyses provide some support for the differential expression of ANXA6/TNIP1 and PRKRA in AD and psoriasis, relative to normal or uninvolved skin. The lead variant within PRKRA might mediate opposing effects in AD and psoriasis via miRNA processing and/or cellular response to environmental stress, and we hypothesize that this reflects the striking differential susceptibility to viral and bacterial skin infections observed in AD and psoriasis. The opposing effect of variation in ANXA6 suggests a role for calcium-dependent effects in defining patterns of skin inflammation.

On chromosome 1q21.3, apart from well-established AD-associated *FLG* mutations and psoriasis-associated

with the lead SNV of each stepwise conditional analysis (defined as $r^2 \ge 0.5$). Vertical lines are drawn to mark the positions of known genes and transcripts (identified from the UCSC Genome Browser GRCh37/hg19 accessed Feb. 2009), and horizontal dotted lines indicate significance thresholds of p = 0.005, 10^{-5} , and 10^{-8} . The horizontal gray bands at the bottom indicate the coverage of the region by GWAS SNVs (upper row) and ImmunoChip SNVs (lower row).





(A) Multinomial regression model with GWAS and ImmunoChip data. Black circles indicate AD-specific association, red circles indicate psoriasis-specific association, blue circles represent opposing effects in AD and psoriasis, and green circles indicate shared effects. Vertical gray shading marks the positions of known genes (identified from the UCSC Genome Browser GRCh37/hg19 accessed Feb. 2009), and horizontal dotted lines indicate suggestive and genome-wide significance thresholds ($p = 10^{-5}$ and 10^{-8} , respectively); results are shown for SNVs in LD with the lead SNV (defined as $r^2 \ge 0.5$). The horizontal bands at the bottom indicate the coverage of the region by GWAS SNVs (upper row) and ImmunoChip SNVs (lower row).

(B) Conditional regional association plot of the EDC by multinomial regression of GWAS and ImmunoChip data. Different symbols indicate association results after each step of analysis, as follows. Unconditioned results are shown by blue circles representing opposing effects in AD and psoriasis; black dots show AD-specific association results after conditioning on the lead SNV in *RAD50* (a gene reported to

(legend continued on next page)

deletion of *LCE3B-LCE3C*, *FLG-AS1* is a plausible candidate to mediate differential AD/psoriasis risk via the network of regulatory elements coordinating gene expression.⁵⁷ Natural antisense transcripts contribute to gene regulation via a variety of transcriptional and posttranscriptional mechanisms⁵⁸ and include effects on human epidermal differentiation.⁵⁹ The proximity of *FLG-AS1* to *FLG* and *HRNR*, combined with data showing coordinated differential expression of these genes, supports a role in control of keratinocyte terminal differentiation.

On chromosome 5q31.1, antagonistic signals for AD and psoriasis have previously been attributed to IL13.^{10,11,21} We here show that IL13 polymorphisms specifically influence AD risk, whereas opposing signals map to RAD50. The Rad50 protein, a component of the MRN complex (Mre11, Rad50, and Nbs1), is involved in DNA double-strand break repair but has no known function directly related to AD or psoriasis. However, RAD50 mRNA shows significantly increased expression in psoriasis lesional skin and a trend to reduced expression in AD lesional skin (Table S7). Of note, RAD50 is located in the center of the Th2-cytokine cluster and its 3' end is part of a locus control region regulating expression of these cytokine genes.⁶⁰ AD and psoriasis represent opposing extremes of Th2 cell dysregulation, and therefore we hypothesize that RAD50 polymorphisms might exert opposing effects on AD and psoriasis through variation in DNA repair resulting in a differential skew in Th2 cell response.

Our dissection of the MHC locus confirms the presence of multiple independent psoriasis-risk loci. Markers tagging HLA-Cw*0602 generate the strongest effects, which is in line with previous reports.^{17,21,24,44,61} CD8⁺ T cells are increased in the epidermis of lesional psoriatic skin, and the association of psoriasis susceptibility primarily with class I HLA alleles might reflect the critical role of psoriasis-associated (auto-)antigen presentation to pathogenic CD8⁺ T cells.⁶² CD8⁺ T cells are also increased in the epidermis of AD skin, but with strikingly different cytokine profiles compared to psoriasis.⁶³ The opposing effects of class II HLA alleles in AD and psoriasis might represent the differential responses to pathogenic and allergenic peptides presented to CD4⁺ T cells.⁶⁴ GWASs in AD by univariate and multivariate models have reported association signals in the MHC class I and II regions^{22,65} and two specific HLA class II haplotypes, HLA-DRB1*0701 (a protective effect) and HLA-B*4402 (a risk effect).²⁰ Our analysis confirms the association of classical HLA class II alleles with AD, but in the conditional analysis, only HLA-DQA1* 02:01 remained, showing a significant protective effect on AD and a significant opposing effect on psoriasis. A further opposing locus mapped to HLA-C*03:03 (Table 3).

The reported observation of AD occurring within the offspring of parents with psoriasis⁸ is not supported by our findings, and the observation that both Th1-cell-dominated autoimmune and Th2-cell-dominated allergic diseases can show aggregation within families⁷ also presents a discrepancy with our analyses. It is possible that there are shared risk loci for AD and psoriasis that were not detected in our current study because of lack of power, if the shared effect is not strong; alternatively, there might be hereditary risk factors associated with predisposition to any chronic inflammatory (auto-)immune disease. It is also possible that diagnostic misclassification occurs, particularly in pediatric cases, where the clinical signs of psoriasis are more difficult to distinguish from AD than is the case in adult disease,⁶⁶ or by recall bias for disease in parents.

It is interesting to estimate the extent to which our findings can explain the mutual exclusivity of AD and psoriasis, but an accurate assessment is hindered by the lack of published data on the proportion of AD and psoriasis cases where the diseases do and do not co-occur. Henseler et al. report a 25-fold lower prevalence of AD occurring in psoriasis cases⁵ and assuming a prevalence of 10% and 2% for AD and psoriasis, respectively,^{3,4} we estimate that the effects at the six opposing loci listed in Tables 1, 2, and 3 would result in a reduction in prevalence of AD from 10% to 8% within the group of individuals with psoriasis. This 2% reduction contrasts with the 25-fold reduction reported by Henseler et al.,⁵ which is equivalent to a reduction of 9.6%, from 10% in the population to 0.4%. Our results have therefore explained approximately 21% (2/9.6 × 100) of the mutual exclusivity of AD and psoriasis.

Taken together, our comparative analyses of AD and psoriasis support a paradigm in which genetic factors determining keratinocyte differentiation and cutaneous barrier function have particularly strong effects on AD risk, whereas in psoriasis genetic factors influencing (auto-)antigen recognition are of paramount importance. Furthermore, multiple pleiotropic loci with antagonistic effects contribute to opposing mechanisms of adaptive immunity in both AD and psoriasis.

The meta-analysis-inspired methodology developed in the course of this study has demonstrated the power to leverage additional information from GWAS and highdensity SNV data and to dissect cross-phenotype associations. AD and psoriasis are particularly well suited to the compare/contrast approach, but this methodology will

be associated with AD and psoriasis); black squares indicate the residual AD-specific association after conditioning on the lead SNVs in *RAD50* and *IL13* (genes reported to be associated with AD); and black triangles indicate the residual AD-specific association after additionally conditioning on the lead SNV in *KIF3A* (a gene reported to be associated with AD). SNVs indicated by the same symbol are in LD with the lead SNV of each stepwise conditional analysis (defined as $r^2 \ge 0.5$). Vertical gray shading marks the positions of known genes (identified from the UCSC Genome Browser GRCh37/hg19 accessed Feb. 2009), and horizontal dotted lines indicate significance thresholds of p = 0.005, 10^{-5} , and 10^{-8} ; results are shown for SNVs in LD with the lead SNV (defined as $r^2 \ge 0.5$). The horizontal bands at the bottom indicate the coverage of the region by GWAS SNVs (upper row) and ImmunoChip SNVs (lower row).

Data					Condidato	AD		Psoriasis			AD		Psoriasis		
Source	Effect	SNV	Pos (hg19)	Allele	Genes	OR (95% CI)	р	OR (95% CI)	р	p _{overall} ^a	OR (95% CI)	р	OR (95% CI)	р	Poverall ^a
Chrom	osome 1q2	1.3													
						Uncondition	ed Analysis				Conditional	Analysis ^b			
GWAS	Opposing	rs12130219	152162106	<u>G</u> /A	FLG-AS1/ RPTN/HRNR	0.66 (0.60–0.73)	1.1×10^{-16}	1.15 (1.09–1.224)	4.0×10^{-6}	1.2×10^{-23}	0.812 (0.71–0.93)	0.0018	1.119 (1.05–1.19)	3.68×10^{-4}	2.4×10^{-6}
GWAS	AD	rs12144049	152440910	<u>C</u> /T	FLG	1.53 (1.42–1.64)	2.7×10^{-30}	0.98 (0.92–1.03)	0.4140	3.0×10^{-30}	-	-	-	_	
GWAS	Psoriasis	rs1581803 ^c	152592281	<u>G</u> /T	LCE3B/ LCE3D	0.97 (0.90–1.04)	0.4396	1.22 (1.16–1.30)	1.5×10^{-12}	1.6×10^{-12}	-	-	-	_	
GWAS	Opposing	rs35722864	153040505	G/GA	SPRR cluster	0.81 (0.75–0.88)	1.0×10^{-7}	1.129 (1.07–1.20)	2.1×10^{-5}	4.8×10^{-13}	0.851 (0.71–0.93)	0.0019	1.074 (1.01–1.14)	0.0211	1.3×10^{-4}

						Conditional	Models ^d				Full Model				
Ichip	Opposing	rs6596086	131952222	<u>C</u> /T	RAD50	1.31 (1.22–1.41)	1.7×10^{-13}	0.86 (0.80–0.92)	1.7×10^{-5}	5.7×10^{-21}	1.17 (1.07–1.28)	4.04×10^{-4}	0.88 (0.81–0.96)	0.0023	6.3×10^{-7}
Ichip	AD	rs848	131996500	<u>A/</u> C	IL13	1.20 (1.10–1.30)	5.6×10^{-5}	0.96 (0.89–1.04)	0.3375	4.14×10^{-5}	1.12 (1.02–1.23)	0.0197	0.96 (0.88–1.05)	0.3515	0.0204
Ichip	AD	rs2299009	132042813	<u>G</u> /T	IL4/KIF3A	1.14 (1.06–1.23)	7.9×10^{-4}	0.99 (0.92–1.06)	0.7392	0.0018	1.16 (1.07–1.25)	2.03×10^{-4}	0.99 (0.92–1.06)	0.6657	4.1×10^{-4}
Ichip	AD	rs74458173	131621731	<u>A</u> /C	SLC22A4	1.57 (1.26–1.96)	6.1×10^{-5}	1.02 (0.80–1.30)	0.8590	2.14×10^{-4}	1.57 (1.26–1.96)	5.71×10^{-5}	1.02 (0.80–1.30)	0.8683	2.0×10^{-4}

Full model incorporates the combined effects of independent SNVs identified by stepwise analyses. ^ap_{overall} represents the overall opposing signal calculated using the T_{120pposing} statistic and derive the p value from the normal distribution. ^bConditional analysis of chr1q21.3 was conditioned on *FLG* for AD and *LCE3B/LCE3D* for psoriasis. ^crs1581803 tags the previously reported psoriasis SNV rs4112788 ($r^2 = 0.995$). ^dStepwise conditional analysis at chr5q31.1 was carried out using multinomial regression models and resulted in three additional signals for AD; this table shows only independent loci ($r^2 < 0.5$) and the SNV with the strongest association; the effect allele is underlined.



Figure 5. Conditional Regional Association within the Major Histocompatibility Complex at 6p21–22 via GWAS and ImmunoChip Data

Symbols indicate association results after each step of analysis, as follows. Unconditioned psoriasis-specific results are shown by red dots; red triangles show psoriasis-specific association results after conditioning on C*06:02 (known to be strongly associated with psoriasis); red ×s indicate psoriasis-specific association after conditioning on C*06:02 and *MICA*; blue +s indicate the association after conditioning on C*06:02, *MICA*, and *HLA-A* with opposing effects on AD and psoriasis; and blue squares indicate the residual association after conditioning on C*06:02, *MICA*, *HLA-A*, and *HLA-DRB1* with opposing effects on AD and psoriasis. SNVs indicated by the same symbol are in LD with the lead SNV of each stepwise conditional analysis (defined as $r^2 \ge 0.5$). Vertical shading marks the positions of known genes (identified from the UCSC Genome Browser GRCh37/hg19 accessed Feb. 2009) and HLA classes; horizontal dotted lines indicate significance thresholds of $p = 10^{-5}$ and $p = 10^{-8}$; results are shown for SNVs in LD with the lead SNV (defined as $r^2 \ge 0.5$). The horizontal bands at the bottom indicate the coverage of the region by GWAS SNVs (upper row) and ImmunoChip SNVs (lower row).

be applicable to many other complex traits with overlapping and disease-specific phenotypic features. Characterizing shared and opposing molecular mechanisms across complex phenotypes will expand our understanding of biology and disease and will have implications for treatment and drug discovery.

Supplemental Data

Supplemental Data include Supplemental Consortia Information, six figures, and seven tables and can be found with this article online at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2014.12.004.

Consortia

Membership of the PAGE (Population Architecture using Genomics and Epidemiology) consortium is as follows: Trilokraj Tejasvi, Johann E. Gudjonsson, John J. Voorhees, Jun Ding, Yanming Li, Hyun M. Kang, Goncalo R. Abecasis, Dafna D. Gladman, Fawnda J. Pellett, Vinod Chandran, Cheryl F. Rosen, Proton Rahman, Sulev Koks, Külli Kingo, Tonu Esko, Andres Metspalu, Peter Gregersen, Andrew Henschel, Marin Aurand, Bruce Bebo, and Henry W. Lim.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the individuals who provided clinical data and DNA for research. This study makes use of genome-wide analysis data generated by the Wellcome Trust Case-Control Consortium (WTCCC); a full list of investigators is available at http://www. wtccc.org.uk. Funding for the WTCCC was provided by Wellcome Trust awards 076113 and 085475. This work was additionally supported by the Wellcome Trust through an Intermediate Clinical Fellowship (WT086398MA) to S.J.B., Senior Research Fellowship in Basic Biomedical Science (087436/Z/08/Z and 102858/Z/13/Z) to H.J.C., Programme Grant (092530/Z/10/Z) to W.H.I.M. and A.D.I., and Strategic Award (098439/Z/12/Z) to W.H.I.M. The KORA research platform was initiated and financed by the Helmholtz Zentrum München - German Research Center for Environmental Health, funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research and by the State of Bavaria. KORA research was supported within the Munich Center of Health Sciences (MC

	Conditional Model					Models ^a					Full Model						
					HLA Allele/	AD		Psoriasis				AD			Psoriasis		
Data Source	Effect	SNV	Pos (hg19)	Allele	Candidate Genes	OR (95% CI)	р	OR (95% CI)	р	- P _{overa}		OR (95%)	CI) p		OR (95% C) p	Poverall
GWAS	PSO	rs111576655	31242731	<u>A</u> /T	C*06:02	0.84 (0.74–0.95)	0.0053	4.41 (4.10–4.74)	3.1×10^{-37}	⁶ 9.8 ×	10^{-380}	1.12 (0.81–1.54)	0.5071		3.32 (2.90–3.81)	2.3×10^{-69}	3.2×10^{-65}
GWAS	PSO	rs201374403	31383754	<u>T</u> /TAG	MICA	0.78 (0.7–0.88)	6.4×10^{-5}	1.68 (1.56–1.8)	7.9×10^{-48}	2.2 ×	10^{-53}	0.81 (0.67–0.96)	0.0174		1.65 (1.50–1.81)	1.8×10^{-23}	$5 1.0 \times 10^{-26}$
GWAS	PSO	rs113573479	29842444	<u>A</u> /G	HLA-A	0.89 (0.81–0.97)	0.0109	1.39 (1.30–1.49)	6.6×10^{-25}	1.0 ×	10^{-26}	0.92 (0.81–1.04)	0.1948		1.41 (1.30–1.52)	2.8×10^{-12}	72.7×10^{-17}
GWAS	opposing	rs28383201	32574869	<u>C</u> /G	HLA-DRB1	0.59 (0.51–0.68)	4.6×10^{-13}	1.15 (1.06–1.24)	4.5×10^{-4}	3.3 ×	10^{-16}	0.61 (0.52–0.71)	3.4 × 1	10^{-10}	1.18 (1.08–1.28)	1.0×10^{-4}	6.5×10^{-14}
GWAS	opposing	rs1793889	31222181	<u>A</u> /G	HLA-C	0.60 (0.50–0.73)	2.5×10^{-7}	1.18 (1.07–1.31)	0.0011	1.1 ×	10^{-9}	0.60 (0.50–0.73)	2.5 × 1	LO ⁻⁷	1.18 (1.07–1.31)	0.0011	1.1×10^{-9}
					Conditional	/lodels ^a					Full N	Iodel					
Data			HLA Allele	•	AD		Psoriasis				AD			Pso	riasis		
Source	Effect	HLA Allele	Prequency Ps/AD/Cor	in ntrols	OR (95% CI)	р	OR (95%	CI) p	Poveral	I	OR (9	95% CI)	р	OR	(95% CI)	p	p _{overall}
GWAS	PSO	C*06:02	0.271/0.075	/0.089	0.81 (0.71–0.9	1) 8.48 \times 10 ⁻	4.28 (3.98	-4.61) 2.9 × 1	10^{-362} 1.30 ×	10^{-368}	0.97 (0.82–1.15)	0.7475	3.59	0 (3.26–3.95)	2.1×10^{-159}	8.7×10^{-154}
GWAS	PSO	A*02:01	0.28/0.227/	0.239	0.95 (0.88-1.0	3) 0.1793	1.32 (1.24	-1.40) 4.1 × 1	10^{-20} 1.1 ×	10^{-20}	0.99 (0.90–1.08)	0.7739	1.32	2 (1.24–1.41)	1.8×10^{-17}	1.1×10^{-16}
GWAS	PSO	B*57:01	0.13/0.017/	0.032	0.61 (0.46-0.8	0) 3.83 × 10 ⁻	⁴ 1.63 (1.44	-1.84) 8.0 × 1	0^{-15} 5.8 ×	10^{-20}	0.60 (0.42-0.85)	0.0039	1.58	3 (1.38–1.81)	3.8×10^{-11}	1.1×10^{-13}
GWAS	PSO	C*12:03	0.048/0.044	/0.038	0.87 (0.74-1.0	3) 0.1169	1.74 (1.54	-2.00) 5.2 × 1	0^{-18} 3.5 ×	10^{-19}	0.86 (0.72-1.04)	0.1295	1.85	6 (1.62–2.11)	7.5×10^{-20}	1.8×10^{-20}
GWAS	PSO	B*27:05	0.032/0.02/	0.025	0.80 (0.63-1.0	1) 0.0619	1.59 (1.37	-1.86) 2.9 × 1	10^{-9} 3.2 ×	10^{-10}	0.74 (0.55–1.00)	0.0499	1.50	0 (1.28–1.76)	7.3×10^{-7}	1.8×10^{-7}
GWAS	PSO	A*01:01	0.221/0.154	/0.166	1.03 (0.94-1.1	3) 0.5475	1.25 (1.17	-1.35) 2.3 × 1	0^{-10} 1.7 ×	10^{-9}	1.08 (0.96–1.21)	0.2013	1.23	8 (1.14–1.33)	6.8×10^{-8}	4.0×10^{-7}
GWAS	opposing	C*03:03	0.037/0.025	/0.038	0.66 (0.54-0.8	1) 9.71 × 10	-5 1.30 (1.13	-1.49) 2.5 × 1	0^{-4} 5.9 ×	10^{-8}	0.71 (0.56–0.90)	0.0040	1.27	7 (1.10–1.47)	0.0011	2.3×10^{-5}
GWAS	opposing	DQA1*02:01	0.186/0.055	/0.098	0.64 (0.54-0.7	6) 3.44 × 10⁻	7 1.09 (1.01	-1.19) 0.0385	6.0 ×	: 10 ⁻⁸	0.64 (0.54-0.76)	3.4×10^{-7}	1.09	0 (1.01–1.19)	0.0385	6.0×10^{-8}

Table 3. Conditional Analysis of the MHC Region on 6p21–22 Showing Psoriasis-Specific and Opposing Risk Effects in AD and Psoriasis

Effect allele is underlined. Abbreviations are as follows: PSO, psoriasis; AD, atopic dermatitis. Table shows only independent loci ($r^2 < 0.5$) and the SNV with the strongest association. ^aStepwise conditional analysis was carried out with multinomial regression models and resulted in three psoriasis-specific and two opposing signals. Health), Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität, as part of LMUinnovativ. The project received infrastructure support through DFG Clusters of Excellence "Inflammation at Interfaces" (grants EXC306 and EXC306/2) and the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research within the framework of e:Med research and funding concept (sysINFLAME, 01ZX1306A). M.M.N. is a member of the Cluster of Excellence "ImmunoSensation." The NCRC-ADC is supported by the National Children's Research Centre, Dublin. We also acknowledge use of Trinity Biobank samples from the Irish Blood Transfusion Service. This work was supported by the NIH (R01AR042742, R01AR050511, R01AR054966, R01AR062886-01, R01AR062382) and by the Babcock Memorial Trust. J.T.E. is supported by the Ann Arbor Veterans Affairs Hospital.

Received: September 5, 2014 Accepted: December 5, 2014 Published: January 8, 2015

Web Resources

The URLs for data presented herein are as follows:

1000 Genomes, http://browser.1000genomes.org

Ensembl Genome Browser, http://www.ensembl.org/index.html Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man (OMIM), http://www. omim.org/

PLINK, http://pngu.mgh.harvard.edu/~purcell/plink/ R statistical software, http://www.r-project.org/ RefSeq, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/RefSeq STRING 9.1, http://www.string-db.org/

References

- 1. Deckert, S., Kopkow, C., and Schmitt, J. (2014). Nonallergic comorbidities of atopic eczema: an overview of systematic reviews. Allergy *69*, 37–45.
- 2. Griffiths, C.E., and Barker, J.N. (2007). Pathogenesis and clinical features of psoriasis. Lancet *370*, 263–271.
- 3. Parisi, R., Symmons, D.P., Griffiths, C.E., and Ashcroft, D.M.; Identification and Management of Psoriasis and Associated ComorbidiTy (IMPACT) project team (2013). Global epidemiology of psoriasis: a systematic review of incidence and prevalence. J. Invest. Dermatol. *133*, 377–385.
- 4. Deckers, I.A., McLean, S., Linssen, S., Mommers, M., van Schayck, C.P., and Sheikh, A. (2012). Investigating international time trends in the incidence and prevalence of atopic eczema 1990-2010: a systematic review of epidemiological studies. PLoS ONE *7*, e39803.
- 5. Henseler, T., and Christophers, E. (1995). Disease concomitance in psoriasis. J. Am. Acad. Dermatol. *32*, 982–986.
- Eyerich, S., Onken, A.T., Weidinger, S., Franke, A., Nasorri, F., Pennino, D., Grosber, M., Pfab, F., Schmidt-Weber, C.B., Mempel, M., et al. (2011). Mutual antagonism of T cells causing psoriasis and atopic eczema. N. Engl. J. Med. *365*, 231–238.
- 7. Hemminki, K., Li, X., Sundquist, K., and Sundquist, J. (2009). Shared familial aggregation of susceptibility to autoimmune diseases. Arthritis Rheum. *60*, 2845–2847.
- Maas, T., Nieuwhof, C., Passos, V.L., Robertson, C., Boonen, A., Landewé, R.B., Voncken, J.W., Knottnerus, J.A., and Damoiseaux, J.G. (2014). Transgenerational occurrence of allergic disease and autoimmunity: general practice-based epidemiological research. Prim. Care Respir. J. 23, 14–21.

- Cookson, W.O., Ubhi, B., Lawrence, R., Abecasis, G.R., Walley, A.J., Cox, H.E., Coleman, R., Leaves, N.I., Trembath, R.C., Moffatt, M.F., and Harper, J.I. (2001). Genetic linkage of childhood atopic dermatitis to psoriasis susceptibility loci. Nat. Genet. 27, 372–373.
- Paternoster, L., Standl, M., Chen, C.M., Ramasamy, A., Bønnelykke, K., Duijts, L., Ferreira, M.A., Alves, A.C., Thyssen, J.P., Albrecht, E., et al.; Australian Asthma Genetics Consortium (AAGC); Genetics of Overweight Young Adults (GOYA) Consortium; EArly Genetics & Lifecourse Epidemiology (EAGLE) Consortium (2012). Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies identifies three new risk loci for atopic dermatitis. Nat. Genet. 44, 187–192.
- Ellinghaus, D., Baurecht, H., Esparza-Gordillo, J., Rodríguez, E., Matanovic, A., Marenholz, I., Hübner, N., Schaarschmidt, H., Novak, N., Michel, S., et al. (2013). High-density genotyping study identifies four new susceptibility loci for atopic dermatitis. Nat. Genet. 45, 808–812.
- 12. Tsoi, L.C., Spain, S.L., Knight, J., Ellinghaus, E., Stuart, P.E., Capon, F., Ding, J., Li, Y., Tejasvi, T., Gudjonsson, J.E., et al.; Collaborative Association Study of Psoriasis (CASP); Genetic Analysis of Psoriasis Consortium; Psoriasis Association Genetics Extension; Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2 (2012). Identification of 15 new psoriasis susceptibility loci highlights the role of innate immunity. Nat. Genet. 44, 1341–1348.
- Palmer, C.N., Irvine, A.D., Terron-Kwiatkowski, A., Zhao, Y., Liao, H., Lee, S.P., Goudie, D.R., Sandilands, A., Campbell, L.E., Smith, F.J., et al. (2006). Common loss-of-function variants of the epidermal barrier protein filaggrin are a major predisposing factor for atopic dermatitis. Nat. Genet. *38*, 441–446.
- Rodríguez, E., Baurecht, H., Herberich, E., Wagenpfeil, S., Brown, S.J., Cordell, H.J., Irvine, A.D., and Weidinger, S. (2009). Meta-analysis of filaggrin polymorphisms in eczema and asthma: robust risk factors in atopic disease. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *123*, 1361–1370, e7.
- Hüffmeier, U., Traupe, H., Oji, V., Lascorz, J., Ständer, M., Lohmann, J., Wendler, J., Burkhardt, H., and Reis, A. (2007). Loss-of-function variants of the filaggrin gene are not major susceptibility factors for psoriasis vulgaris or psoriatic arthritis in German patients. J. Invest. Dermatol. *127*, 1367–1370.
- Zhao, Y., Terron-Kwiatkowski, A., Liao, H., Lee, S.P., Allen, M.H., Hull, P.R., Campbell, L.E., Trembath, R.C., Capon, F., Griffiths, C.E., et al. (2007). Filaggrin null alleles are not associated with psoriasis. J. Invest. Dermatol. *127*, 1878–1882.
- Zhang, X.J., Huang, W., Yang, S., Sun, L.D., Zhang, F.Y., Zhu, Q.X., Zhang, F.R., Zhang, C., Du, W.H., Pu, X.M., et al. (2009). Psoriasis genome-wide association study identifies susceptibility variants within LCE gene cluster at 1q21. Nat. Genet. 41, 205–210.
- de Cid, R., Riveira-Munoz, E., Zeeuwen, P.L., Robarge, J., Liao, W., Dannhauser, E.N., Giardina, E., Stuart, P.E., Nair, R., Helms, C., et al. (2009). Deletion of the late cornified envelope LCE3B and LCE3C genes as a susceptibility factor for psoriasis. Nat. Genet. *41*, 211–215.
- Bergboer, J.G., Zeeuwen, P.L., Irvine, A.D., Weidinger, S., Giardina, E., Novelli, G., Den Heijer, M., Rodriguez, E., Illig, T., Riveira-Munoz, E., et al. (2010). Deletion of Late Cornified Envelope 3B and 3C genes is not associated with atopic dermatitis. J. Invest. Dermatol. *130*, 2057–2061.

- Weidinger, S., Willis-Owen, S.A., Kamatani, Y., Baurecht, H., Morar, N., Liang, L., Edser, P., Street, T., Rodriguez, E., O'Regan, G.M., et al. (2013). A genome-wide association study of atopic dermatitis identifies loci with overlapping effects on asthma and psoriasis. Hum. Mol. Genet. 22, 4841–4856.
- 21. Nair, R.P., Duffin, K.C., Helms, C., Ding, J., Stuart, P.E., Goldgar, D., Gudjonsson, J.E., Li, Y., Tejasvi, T., Feng, B.J., et al.; Collaborative Association Study of Psoriasis (2009). Genome-wide scan reveals association of psoriasis with IL-23 and NF-kappaB pathways. Nat. Genet. 41, 199–204.
- 22. Hirota, T., Takahashi, A., Kubo, M., Tsunoda, T., Tomita, K., Sakashita, M., Yamada, T., Fujieda, S., Tanaka, S., Doi, S., et al. (2012). Genome-wide association study identifies eight new susceptibility loci for atopic dermatitis in the Japanese population. Nat. Genet. 44, 1222–1226.
- Stuart, P.E., Nair, R.P., Ellinghaus, E., Ding, J., Tejasvi, T., Gudjonsson, J.E., Li, Y., Weidinger, S., Eberlein, B., Gieger, C., et al. (2010). Genome-wide association analysis identifies three psoriasis susceptibility loci. Nat. Genet. 42, 1000–1004.
- 24. Strange, A., Capon, F., Spencer, C.C., Knight, J., Weale, M.E., Allen, M.H., Barton, A., Band, G., Bellenguez, C., Bergboer, J.G., et al.; Genetic Analysis of Psoriasis Consortium & the Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium 2 (2010). A genome-wide association study identifies new psoriasis susceptibility loci and an interaction between HLA-C and ERAP1. Nat. Genet. 42, 985–990.
- Williams, H.C., Burney, P.G., Pembroke, A.C., and Hay, R.J. (1994). The U.K. Working Party's Diagnostic Criteria for Atopic Dermatitis. III. Independent hospital validation. Br. J. Dermatol. *131*, 406–416.
- 26. Krawczak, M., Nikolaus, S., von Eberstein, H., Croucher, P.J., El Mokhtari, N.E., and Schreiber, S. (2006). PopGen: populationbased recruitment of patients and controls for the analysis of complex genotype-phenotype relationships. Community Genet. 9, 55–61.
- Wichmann, H.E., Gieger, C., and Illig, T.; MONICA/KORA Study Group (2005). KORA-gen—resource for population genetics, controls and a broad spectrum of disease phenotypes. Gesundheitswesen 67 (1), S26–S30.
- 28. Weiland, S.K., von Mutius, E., Hirsch, T., Duhme, H., Fritzsch, C., Werner, B., Hüsing, A., Stender, M., Renz, H., Leupold, W., and Keil, U. (1999). Prevalence of respiratory and atopic disorders among children in the East and West of Germany five years after unification. Eur. Respir. J. 14, 862–870.
- 29. O'Donovan, M.C., Craddock, N., Norton, N., Williams, H., Peirce, T., Moskvina, V., Nikolov, I., Hamshere, M., Carroll, L., Georgieva, L., et al.; Molecular Genetics of Schizophrenia Collaboration (2008). Identification of loci associated with schizophrenia by genome-wide association and follow-up. Nat. Genet. 40, 1053–1055.
- 30. Purcell, S., Neale, B., Todd-Brown, K., Thomas, L., Ferreira, M.A., Bender, D., Maller, J., Sklar, P., de Bakker, P.I., Daly, M.J., and Sham, P.C. (2007). PLINK: a tool set for wholegenome association and population-based linkage analyses. Am. J. Hum. Genet. *81*, 559–575.
- Delaneau, O., Marchini, J., and Zagury, J.F. (2012). A linear complexity phasing method for thousands of genomes. Nat. Methods 9, 179–181.
- Marchini, J., Howie, B., Myers, S., McVean, G., and Donnelly, P. (2007). A new multipoint method for genome-wide association studies by imputation of genotypes. Nat. Genet. *39*, 906–913.

- 33. Abecasis, G.R., Auton, A., Brooks, L.D., DePristo, M.A., Durbin, R.M., Handsaker, R.E., Kang, H.M., Marth, G.T., and McVean, G.A.; 1000 Genomes Project Consortium (2012). An integrated map of genetic variation from 1,092 human genomes. Nature 491, 56–65.
- Dilthey, A.T., Moutsianas, L., Leslie, S., and McVean, G. (2011). HLA*IMP—an integrated framework for imputing classical HLA alleles from SNP genotypes. Bioinformatics 27, 968–972.
- 35. Leslie, S., Donnelly, P., and McVean, G. (2008). A statistical method for predicting classical HLA alleles from SNP data. Am. J. Hum. Genet. *82*, 48–56.
- 36. Bhattacharjee, S., Rajaraman, P., Jacobs, K.B., Wheeler, W.A., Melin, B.S., Hartge, P., Yeager, M., Chung, C.C., Chanock, S.J., and Chatterjee, N.; GliomaScan Consortium (2012). A subset-based approach improves power and interpretation for the combined analysis of genetic association studies of heterogeneous traits. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 90, 821–835.
- 37. Morris, A.P. (2011). Transethnic meta-analysis of genomewide association studies. Genet. Epidemiol. *35*, 809–822.
- 38. Willer, C.J., Li, Y., and Abecasis, G.R. (2010). METAL: fast and efficient meta-analysis of genomewide association scans. Bio-informatics *26*, 2190–2191.
- Wakefield, J. (2009). Bayes factors for genome-wide association studies: comparison with P-values. Genet. Epidemiol. 33, 79–86.
- 40. Liu, Y., Helms, C., Liao, W., Zaba, L.C., Duan, S., Gardner, J., Wise, C., Miner, A., Malloy, M.J., Pullinger, C.R., et al. (2008). A genome-wide association study of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis identifies new disease loci. PLoS Genet. 4, e1000041.
- Esparza-Gordillo, J., Weidinger, S., Fölster-Holst, R., Bauerfeind, A., Ruschendorf, F., Patone, G., Rohde, K., Marenholz, I., Schulz, F., Kerscher, T., et al. (2009). A common variant on chromosome 11q13 is associated with atopic dermatitis. Nat. Genet. *41*, 596–601.
- 42. Sun, L.D., Xiao, F.L., Li, Y., Zhou, W.M., Tang, H.Y., Tang, X.F., Zhang, H., Schaarschmidt, H., Zuo, X.B., Foelster-Holst, R., et al. (2011). Genome-wide association study identifies two new susceptibility loci for atopic dermatitis in the Chinese Han population. Nat. Genet. *43*, 690–694.
- 43. Marenholz, I., Rivera, V.A., Esparza-Gordillo, J., Bauerfeind, A., Lee-Kirsch, M.A., Ciechanowicz, A., Kurek, M., Piskackova, T., Macek, M., and Lee, Y.A. (2011). Association screening in the Epidermal Differentiation Complex (EDC) identifies an SPRR3 repeat number variant as a risk factor for eczema. J. Invest. Dermatol. *131*, 1644–1649.
- 44. Ellinghaus, E., Ellinghaus, D., Stuart, P.E., Nair, R.P., Debrus, S., Raelson, J.V., Belouchi, M., Fournier, H., Reinhard, C., Ding, J., et al. (2010). Genome-wide association study identifies a psoriasis susceptibility locus at TRAF3IP2. Nat. Genet. 42, 991–995.
- 45. Hüffmeier, U., Uebe, S., Ekici, A.B., Bowes, J., Giardina, E., Korendowych, E., Juneblad, K., Apel, M., McManus, R., Ho, P., et al. (2010). Common variants at TRAF3IP2 are associated with susceptibility to psoriatic arthritis and psoriasis. Nat. Genet. 42, 996–999.
- Patel, C.V., Handy, I., Goldsmith, T., and Patel, R.C. (2000). PACT, a stress-modulated cellular activator of interferoninduced double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase, PKR. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 37993–37998.

- Kok, K.H., Lui, P.Y., Ng, M.H., Siu, K.L., Au, S.W., and Jin, D.Y. (2011). The double-stranded RNA-binding protein PACT functions as a cellular activator of RIG-I to facilitate innate antiviral response. Cell Host Microbe *9*, 299–309.
- Guttman-Yassky, E., Nograles, K.E., and Krueger, J.G. (2011). Contrasting pathogenesis of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis—part I: clinical and pathologic concepts. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *127*, 1110–1118.
- Pruim, R.J., Welch, R.P., Sanna, S., Teslovich, T.M., Chines, P.S., Gliedt, T.P., Boehnke, M., Abecasis, G.R., and Willer, C.J. (2010). LocusZoom: regional visualization of genome-wide association scan results. Bioinformatics *26*, 2336–2337.
- Elder, J.T., Bruce, A.T., Gudjonsson, J.E., Johnston, A., Stuart, P.E., Tejasvi, T., Voorhees, J.J., Abecasis, G.R., and Nair, R.P. (2010). Molecular dissection of psoriasis: integrating genetics and biology. J. Invest. Dermatol. *130*, 1213–1226.
- Henry, J., Hsu, C.Y., Haftek, M., Nachat, R., de Koning, H.D., Gardinal-Galera, I., Hitomi, K., Balica, S., Jean-Decoster, C., Schmitt, A.M., et al. (2011). Hornerin is a component of the epidermal cornified cell envelopes. FASEB J. 25, 1567–1576.
- 52. Guttman-Yassky, E., Suárez-Fariñas, M., Chiricozzi, A., Nograles, K.E., Shemer, A., Fuentes-Duculan, J., Cardinale, I., Lin, P., Bergman, R., Bowcock, A.M., and Krueger, J.G. (2009). Broad defects in epidermal cornification in atopic dermatitis identified through genomic analysis. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. *124*, 1235–1244, e58.
- 53. Wu, Z., Hansmann, B., Meyer-Hoffert, U., Gläser, R., and Schröder, J.M. (2009). Molecular identification and expression analysis of filaggrin-2, a member of the S100 fused-type protein family. PLoS ONE *4*, e5227.
- Takaishi, M., Makino, T., Morohashi, M., and Huh, N.H. (2005). Identification of human hornerin and its expression in regenerating and psoriatic skin. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 4696– 4703.
- 55. Kim, B.E., Howell, M.D., Guttman-Yassky, E., Gilleaudeau, P.M., Cardinale, I.R., Boguniewicz, M., Krueger, J.G., and Leung, D.Y. (2011). TNF-α downregulates filaggrin and loricrin through c-Jun N-terminal kinase: role for TNF-α antagonists to improve skin barrier. J. Invest. Dermatol. *131*, 1272–1279.
- 56. Wang, K., Baldassano, R., Zhang, H., Qu, H.Q., Imielinski, M., Kugathasan, S., Annese, V., Dubinsky, M., Rotter, J.I., Russell, R.K., et al. (2010). Comparative genetic analysis of inflammatory bowel disease and type 1 diabetes implicates multiple loci with opposite effects. Hum. Mol. Genet. 19, 2059–2067.

- 57. de Guzman Strong, C., Conlan, S., Deming, C.B., Cheng, J., Sears, K.E., and Segre, J.A. (2010). A milieu of regulatory elements in the epidermal differentiation complex syntenic block: implications for atopic dermatitis and psoriasis. Hum. Mol. Genet. *19*, 1453–1460.
- Faghihi, M.A., and Wahlestedt, C. (2009). Regulatory roles of natural antisense transcripts. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 10, 637–643.
- 59. Kretz, M., Siprashvili, Z., Chu, C., Webster, D.E., Zehnder, A., Qu, K., Lee, C.S., Flockhart, R.J., Groff, A.F., Chow, J., et al. (2013). Control of somatic tissue differentiation by the long non-coding RNA TINCR. Nature *493*, 231–235.
- 60. Lee, G.R., Spilianakis, C.G., and Flavell, R.A. (2005). Hypersensitive site 7 of the TH2 locus control region is essential for expressing TH2 cytokine genes and for long-range intrachromosomal interactions. Nat. Immunol. *6*, 42–48.
- 61. Knight, J., Spain, S.L., Capon, F., Hayday, A., Nestle, F.O., Clop, A., Barker, J.N., Weale, M.E., and Trembath, R.C.; Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium; Genetic Analysis of Psoriasis Consortium; I-chip for Psoriasis Consortium (2012). Conditional analysis identifies three novel major histocompatibility complex loci associated with psoriasis. Hum. Mol. Genet. 21, 5185–5192.
- Gunderson, A.J., Mohammed, J., Horvath, F.J., Podolsky, M.A., Anderson, C.R., and Glick, A.B. (2013). CD8(+) T cells mediate RAS-induced psoriasis-like skin inflammation through IFN-γ. J. Invest. Dermatol. *133*, 955–963.
- Hijnen, D., Knol, E.F., Gent, Y.Y., Giovannone, B., Beijn, S.J., Kupper, T.S., Bruijnzeel-Koomen, C.A., and Clark, R.A. (2013). CD8(+) T cells in the lesional skin of atopic dermatitis and psoriasis patients are an important source of IFN-γ, IL-13, IL-17, and IL-22. J. Invest. Dermatol. *133*, 973–979.
- 64. Mangalam, A.K., Taneja, V., and David, C.S. (2013). HLA class II molecules influence susceptibility versus protection in inflammatory diseases by determining the cytokine profile. J. Immunol. *190*, 513–518.
- 65. Okada, Y., Han, B., Tsoi, L.C., Stuart, P.E., Ellinghaus, E., Tejasvi, T., Chandran, V., Pellett, F., Pollock, R., Bowcock, A.M., et al. (2014). Fine mapping major histocompatibility complex associations in psoriasis and its clinical subtypes. Am. J. Hum. Genet. *95*, 162–172.
- 66. Kapila, S., Hong, E., and Fischer, G. (2012). A comparative study of childhood psoriasis and atopic dermatitis and greater understanding of the overlapping condition, psoriasis-dermatitis. Australas. J. Dermatol. *53*, 98–105.